Rapid Assessment Program



A Rapid Marine Biodiversity Assessment of the Calamianes Islands, Palawan Province, Philippines

RAP Bulletin of Biological

17

ANN ANU CU

CONSERVATION INTERVIDIO MAMAIN COUNCIL FOR SUSTAINABLE OFVEROPMENT

CONSERVATION PRIORITIES: THE ROLE OF RAP

Our planet faces many serious environmental problems, among them global climate change, soil erosion, and pollution. At Conservation International (CI), we believe that the one problem that surpasses all others in terms of importance is the loss of biodiversity, particularly because most severe and irreversible consequence is the extinction of species. Around the world, humans are responsible for a worsening trend of net loss in the amount of wild, natural habitats that cover the planet. Many of these areas are lost even before it was possible to document the rich array of organisms that thrived there, and determine their potential benefit to humankind, perhaps as sources for new medical treatments or economic livelihood. CI's Rapid Assessment Program (RAP) was developed as a methodology to quickly characterize the biodiversity found in previously unexplored areas in order to make a case for their conservation.

RAP was conceived by Murray Gell-Mann of the MacArthur Foundation and former staff of CI, including one of its founders, Spencer Beebe, and the late Ted Parker who led the first RAP surveys into the tropical forests of the Andes. The pace of forest destruction called for an inventory technique that could be deployed rapidly and yield quick results. RAP was formulated specifically to provide a first-cut analysis of biodiversity, one step ahead of the bulldozers.

An important conservation implication of losing forests never before inventoried was that a country or region had no way of knowing if its network of protected areas really included the best representative samples of overall biodiversity. Ideally, protected areas should be designated to capture the most representative and richest sites if they are to have maximum biodiversity conservation impact. One of RAP's most important contributions is to ensure that a country or region has sufficient knowledge of its biodiversity to make intelligent decisions about habitat conservation and development.

RAP forms part of a strategic approach used for setting conservation investment priorities. At a global level, we have targeted the "hotspots," twenty-five regional land areas that hold a third or more of all terrestrial diversity and are at a great risk. Our global priorities also focus on major tropical wilderness areas and the "Megadiversity" country concept, which highlights the importance of the national entities that harbor high biodiversity. We are now undertaking a series of priority-setting exercises for other major categories of ecosystems, among them marine systems, freshwater aquatic systems, deserts, and dry forests.

The next level of priority-setting is the bioregional workshop, a process where experts assemble their combined knowledge of an area to map regional conservation priorities using a geographic information system (GIS). We have also taken a taxon-based approach, working with the Species Survival Commission of IUCN to produce action plans for key groups of organisms. Where there are significant gaps in regional knowledge, RAP surveys provide the information necessary for these strategic priority-setting activities.

RAP, which assesses terrestrial, aquatic and marine ecosystems, assembles teams of international and host-country experts to generate first-cut assessments of the biological value of poorly known areas. An area's importance can be characterized by its total biodiversity, its degree of endemism, the uniqueness of an ecosystem, and the degree of risk of extinction or habitat degradation.

Before any field assessment, RAP teams consult available satellite or aerial images of an area targeted for a survey, and often carry out overflights, to pinpoint the areas most in need of field assessment. Ground travel often requires a combination of vehicles, boats, pack animals, swimming and walking to access remote sites where few, if any, roads exist. Surveys typically last from two to eight weeks.

In-country scientists form a central part of RAP teams, and surveys provide baseline information which stimulate long-term scientific studies. Local experts are especially critical to an understanding of areas where little exploration has been undertaken, as well as to facilitate the input of local communities and officials. In some cases, RAP has conducted training programs for in-country scientists, thereby helping to build in-country capacity for field biology. Subsequent research and protection of habitats following a RAP survey depend on the initiatives of these local conservationists.

RAP reports are available to the host governments and local people where surveys take place, as well as to all interested conservationists, scientists, institutions, and organizations. We hope that these reports will catalyze effective conservation action on behalf of our planet's biological diversity, the legacy of life that is so critical to us all.

Russell A. Mittermeier, Ph.D. President

Anthony Rylands, Ph.D. Director for Conservation Biology

Rapid Assessment Program





RAP Bulletin of Biological Assessment

A Rapid Marine Biodiversity Assessment of the Calamianes Islands, Palawan Province, Philippines

> CONSERVATION INTERNATIONAL PALAWAN COUNCIL FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The *RAP Bulletin of Biological Assessment* is published by: Conservation International Department of Conservation Biology 1919 M St., N.W., Suite 600 Washington, DC 20036 USA

202-912-1000 telephone 202-912-0772 fax www.conservation.org

Editors: Timothy B. Werner and Gerald R. Allen *Design*: Consolidated Graphic Communications *Maps*: ALMEC (base map), S. Gordon, and S. Musinsky *Cover Photograph*: R. Steene

Conservation International 1s a private, non-profit organization exempt from federal income tax under section 501 c (3) of +heInternal Revenue Code

ISBN 1-881173-36-4

©2000 by Conservation International All rights reserved

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 00-108637

The designations of geographical entities in this publication, and the presentation of the material, do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of Conservation International or its supporting organizations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, or area, or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Any opinions expressed in the *RAP Bulletin of Biological Assessment* are those of the writers and do not necessarily reflect those of CI.

Se Printed on recycled paper

RAP Bulletin of Biological Assessment was formerly *RAP Working Papers*. Numbers 1-13 of this series were published under the previous title.

Suggested citation:

Werner, T. B. and G. R. Allen (eds.). 2000 A Rapid Marine Biodiversity Assessment of the Calamianes Islands, Palawan Province, Pulippines. RAP Bulletin of Biological Assessment 17. Washington, D.C.: Conservation International.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

4	Participants	24
5	Organizational Profiles	24
6	Acknowledgmenus	- - 77
7	Executive Summary	- 41
10	Overview	31
10	Introduction	
10	Marine RAP	43
11	Physical Environment	65
11	Socio-economic Environment	66
12	Site Selection and Methods	75
13	Site Descriptions	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
18	Results and Discussion	01
21	Conservation Issues and Recommendations	95
23	References	10
		12

Technical Reports					
Corals (Zooxanthellate Scleractinia) of the Calamianes Islands. Palawan Province, Philippines					
Molluscs of the Calamianes Islands. Palawan Province. Philippines					
Reef and shore Fishes of the Calamianes Islands. Palawan Province, Philippines					
Fisheries of the Calamianes Islands, Palawan Province, Philippines					
Appendices					
ł	Coral species recorded from the Philippines or likely <i>to</i> occur there				
2	Coral species recorded at individual sites				
3	Molluscs recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands				
4	Reef fishes recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands				
5.	Recent developments				
Μ	ap				
	Tex Co Ca Ma Pro Ree Pa Fis Pro A Fis Pro 1 2 3 4 5. M				

PARTICIPANTS

Gerald R. Allen, Ph.D. (Ichthyology and Science Team Leader) Conservation International 1919 M. St., N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DC 20036 USA

Mailing address: 1 Dreyer Road Roleystone, WA 6111 Australia Fax: (61) (8) 9397 6985 Email: tropical_reef@bigpond.com

Redempto Anda (Logistical Coordinator) Conservation International Philippines Program 2-FI. Lustre Building Malvar St. 4300 Puerto Princesa City, Palawan Philippines Fax: (63) (48) 433-4249 Email: ci-pal@mozcom.com

Victoria Bungabong (Marine Biologist) Conservation International Philippines Program 7 Cabanatuan Road Phil-Am Homes Quezon City Philippines Fax: (63) (2) 412-8195 Email: ciphil@csi.com.ph

Marnee Comer (Environmental Data) Palawan Council for Sustainable Development PLM Building, Apt. A Rizal Avenue Ext. Puerto Princesa City 5300 Palawan, Philippines Fax: (63) (48) 433-7279 Douglas Fenner, Ph. D. (Reef Corals) Australian Institute of Marine Sciences P.M.B No. 3 Townsville, Queensland 4810 Australia Email: d.fenner@aims.gov.au

Jose Ingles, Ph.D. (Fisheries) Institute of Marine Fisheries and Oceanology University of the Philippines at Visayas Itoito Philippines Fax: (63) (33) 315-8381 Email: portunus@miagao.i-next.net

Roffy Martinez (Fisheries) Institute of Marine Fisheries and Oceanology University of the Philippines at Visayas Iloilo Philippines Fax: (63) (33) 315-8381

Roger Steene (Photographer) P.O. Box 188 Cairns, Queensland 4870 Australia

Rene Ledesma (Environmental Data) Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources 860 Arcadia Building Quezon Avenue, Quezon City Philippines Fax: (63) (33) 373-7449

John Pontillas (Environmentai Data) Palawan Council for Sustainable Developmer PLM Building, Apt. A Rizal Avenue Ext. Puerto Princesa City 5300 Palawan, Philippines Fax: (63) (48) 433-7279 Sarah Curran (Environmental Data) Palawan Council for Sustainable Development PLM Building, Apt. A Rizal Avenue Ext. Puerto Princesa City 5300 Palawan, Philippines Fax: (63) (48) 433-7279

John E. N. Veron, Ph.D. (Reef Corais) Australian Institute of Marine Sciences P.M.B. No. 3 Townsville, Queensland 4810 Australia Email: j.veron@aims.gov.au

Fred E. Wells, Ph.D. (Malacology) Department of Aquatic Zoology Western Australian Museum Francis Street Perth, WA 6000 Australia Email: wellsf@museum.wa.gov.au

Timothy Werner, M.[°]e. (RAP Survey Team Leader) Conservation Biology Department Conservation International 1919 M. St., N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DC 20036 USA Fax: (1) 202-912-1030 Email: t.werner@conservation.org

ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILES

CONSERVATION INTERNATIONAE

Conservation International (CI) is an international, non-profit organization based in Washington, DC. CI acts on the belief that the Earth's natural heritage must be maintained if future generations are to thrive spiritually, culturally, and economically. Its mission is to conserve biological diversity and the ecological processes that support life on earth, and to demonstrate that human societies are able to live harmoniously with nature.

Conservation International

1919 M Street, N.W., Suite 600
Washington D.C. 20036 USA
(1) 202-912-1000 (telephone)
(1) 202-912-0772 (fax)
http://www.conservation.org

PALAWAN COUNCIL FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Palawan Council for Sustainable Development (PCSD) is a policy making body created under the Philippines Republic Act 7611 or the Strategic Environmental Plan for Palawan. Its primary mandate is the implementation of the Environmentally Critical Areas Network (ECAN) strategy for the entire province by delineating important areas for conservation and providing a framework for sustainable development. The PCSD Staff (PCSDS) is the Council's technical arm created under the Office of the President that advises the PCSD and implements its policy decisions.

Palawan Council for Sustainable Development

PLM Building, Apt. A Rizal Avenue Ext. Puerto Princessa City 5300 Palawan, Philippines http:// www.psdn.org.ph

AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF MARINE SCIENCE

The mission of the Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS) is to generate the knowledge to support the sustainable use and protection of the marine environment through innovative, world-class scientific and technological research. It is an Australian Commonwealth Statutory Authority established by the Australian Institute of Marine Science Act of 1972 in recognition of a national need to manage Australia's marine environment and marine resources.

Australian Institute of Marine Science

Cape Ferguson, Queensland PMB No 3, Townsville MC QLD 4810 (07) 4753 4444 (telephone) (07) 4772 5852 (fax) http://www.aims.gov.au Dampier, Western Australia PO Box 264, Dampier WA 6713 (08) 9183 1122 (telephone) (08) 9183 1085 (fax)

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM

The Western Australian Museum was established in 1891 and its initial collections were geological, ethnological and biological specimens. The 1960s and 1970s saw the addition of responsibility to develop and maintain the State's anthropological, archaeological, maritime archaeological and social and cultural history collections. The collections, currently numbering over two million specimens/artifacts, are the primary focus of research by the Museum's own staff and others. The aim is to advance knowledge on them and communicate it to the public through a variety of media, but particularly a program of exhibitions and publications.

Western Australian Museum

Francis Street Perth, WA 6000 Australia (08) 9427 2716 (telephone) (08) 9328 8686 (fax) http://www.museum.wa.gov.au

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

For all their support. assistance, and participation, we thank the staff of the Palawan Council for Sustainable Development, especially its then Director, Mr Art Ventura, and the Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources We would also like *to* acknowledge the late Governor Salvador P Socrates of Palawan. and Mayor Edward Hagedorn of Puerto Princesa for their time and guidance. We are especially grateful to Dr Perry Ong, Dr Edgardo Gomez, Dr Perry Aliño, Dr Helen Yap. Dr Cynthia Bautista, Dr John McManus, Dr Vaughan Pratt, and Dr Miguel Fortes for their invaluable help and direction, and also to staff members of CI-Philippines, including Ms Lina Bruce. Mr Tony de Castro, and Ms Junie Talipan, and the Palawan NGO Network Inc (PNNI) To all the people of the Calamianes Islands, in particular the management and staff of Bayside Diver's Lodge, Mr John Patrick S Matta, Captain Dennis Hunter, Mr Arnold Vicenteno, Mr Reynario Labrador. Mrs Nora Labrador, and to the many barangay Captains, our heartfelt thanks Ms Fumiko Fukuoka of CI-Japan was a key link for us with the Japanese agencies whose assistance we would like to acknowledge, especially ALMEC and JICA Mr Tim Wright sent a copy of his Master's thesis on Calamianes Natural History For their help on the report's map, we thank Mr Sean Gordon and Ms. Sara Musinsky, and also Ms Jenny Albinson for help wnth *the* manuscript. We thank Dr. Sheila McKenna and Dr Anthony Rylands for assisting with the final production phase

This survey and report were made possible by the support of the Rufford Foundation, the Henry Foundation, and the Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund of Japan (now the Japan Bank for International Cooperation).

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of a rapid field assessment of the marine biodiversity of the Calamianes Island,. Philippines The Calamianes, forming the northernmost section of Palawan Province, lie between the South China and Sulu Seas, centered at 12°N latitude and 120°E longitude The group contains three relatively Barge islands. Busuanga, Culion and Coron, and a host of smaller satellite islands The Bard and surrounding seas occupy approximately 3,600 square km. The islands form an integral part of the "coral triangle", comprising the countries of Philippines, Indonesia, Malaysia, Papua New Guinea, Japan, and Australia This region supports the world's richest coastal marine biodiversity, mostly concentrated in extensive coral reef, mangrove and seagrass habitats

The survey was implemented by the Marine Rapid Assessment Program (RAP) of Conservation International (CI) in collaboration with the Palawan Council of Sustainable Development (PCSD), the Institute of Marine Fisheries and Oceanology of the University of the Philipines-Visayas, and the Philippines Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources.

Overview of Marine RAP

The goal of Marine RAP is to rapidly generate and disseminate information on coastal and near-shore. marine biodiversity for conservation purposes, with a particular focus on recommending priorities for conservation area establishment and management Marine RAP deploys multi-disciplinary teams of marine scientists and coastal resource experts to determine the biodiversity significance and conservation opportunities of selected areas This is accomplished through underwater inventories generally lasting *three* weeks Marine RAP surveys produce species lists that serve as indicators of overall biological richness, as well as recording several measurement 40 assess overall ecosystem health During each survey, RAP supports parallel assessments of local numan community needs and concerns, which become incorporated into the final recommendations.

By comparing the results obtained from many surveys. Marine RAP is ultimately focused on ensuring that ε representative sample of marine biodiversity is conserved within protected areas and through other conservation measures.

Calamianes Islands

The Calamianes Group is one of the least densely populated areas of the Philippines with approximately 60,000 inhabitants. Adjacent fishing grounds formerly supported large stocks of commercial species, but are now severely depleted by overfishing. Most residents still make their living from subsistence fishing and farming, but these activities have stretched natural resources to the limit. The primary challenge in the Calamianes is to conserve the small amount of terrestrial and marine habitat that still remains In good shape as a platform for future recovery, There is also a genuine need to introduce economic options that will relieve pressure on the natural environment. Expanded tourism is seen as the best possibility, but careful consideration of its consequences needs to be integrated with conservation management. This course of action is especially pertinent in view of the recommendations of the Department of Tourism-Japan International Cooperation Agency's 1996 study, which call for significant expansion of the Calamianes tourist industry.

The Calamianes Survey

The Marine RAP survey of the Calamianes assessed 38 sites over a 16-day period (6-21 February, 1998). General site areas were selected prior to the actual survey in order to maximize the diversity *c* habitats visited, thus facilitating a species list that incorporates maximum biodiversity. At each site, an underwater inventory was made of three faunal groups selected to serve as indicators of overall coral reef biodiversity: scleractinian corals, molluses, and reef fishes, Additional observations were made on the environmental condition of each site, including evaluation of various threat parameters Observations and data on local fisheries data were also gathered.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

Despite heavy fishing pressure and environmental degradation, the Calamianes Group is characterized by a relatively diverse marine fauna. Notable results from the survey include:

- Corals: Most sites had significant live scleractinian coral cover, and overall species diversity was impressive.
 Approximately 300 coral species were recorded, including at least 20 undescribed taxa, raising the total number of zooxanthellate corals found in the Philippines to at least 462 species. The number of new species is phenomenal considering the brief observation period and the considerable amount of previous collecting in the Philippines.
- Molluscs: Diversity was comparatively high with 648 species belonging to 96 families being recorded. This total surpasses those from past RAP surveys in Indonesia and Papua New Guinea. However, stocks of commercially valuable species such as octopus, giant clams, and various ornamental seashells were seriously depleted.
- Reef Fishes: A total of 736 species were recorded, but extrapolation techniques utilizing six key indicator families reveal that at least 888 species can be expected to occur in the area. The number of gobies (101) was particularly impressive. Although small reef fishes were generally abundant with regards to both number of species and individuals, large fishes were conspicuously scarce.
- *Fisheries*: Results from the current survey and an historical review of catch rates reveal that fisheries stocks have declined dramatically following peak production in the 1970s. Productivity in 1997 was only half the 1991 level and further decline is anticipated. The poor state of fish stocks is directly attributable to over-fishing, destructive fishing methods, including the use of explosives and cyanide, and general habitat degradation. Groupers (family Serranidae), a good indicator of fishing pressure, were generally scarce and were mainly under 20 cm length.

CONSERVATION RECOMMENDATIONS

The results of the Marine RAP survey firmly establish the Calamianes Islands as a primary target for marine conservation, especially in view of its extraordinary diversity of corals, molluses, and other organisms, rapidly diminishing natural habitats and over-exploitation of marine resources. There is an urgent need for immediate action to prevent further degradation of the environment and to conserve a still relatively rich biodiversity. As a result of our survey we make the following specific recommendations.

1) Evaluate and control impacts of land-based activities. A variety of threats to coastal environments originate from land-based sources. Depletion of terrestrial resources places additional stress on already limited marine resources. In addition, the common practice of slash-and-burn agriculture denudes natural vegetation, leading to erosion and consequent silt deposition on adjacent reefs. Terrestrial RAP surveys should be undertaken in order to properly evaluate the extent of human impact on the remaining natural ecosystems of Palawan Province.

2) Establish a network of marine protected areas. The Palawan Council for Sustainable Development (PCSD) is urged to work closely with municipal governments to implement the ECAN zoning scheme whereby critical core conservation areas are designated. Based on the results of the current RAP survey the following areas are recommended as core zones or existing zones that need to be extended to incorporate them: Twin Peaks area (RAP site 26), Coron Island; Halsey Harbour (sites 31-33), Culion Island; scenic bay adjacent to site 24 at southwest end of Coron Island; Lagat Island (site 3), Kalampisauan Island (site 13), northwestern Busuanga; Buluang Bay (site 14), northwestern Busanga; Gutob Peninsula (site 15), northwestern Busuanga; and Saddle Rock (site 35), off western Culion Island.

3) Facilitate studies (biological and non-biological) that are essential for planning the conservation of marine environments. Additional surveys, both marine and terrestrial, are urgently required in order to fully assess the biological importance and conservation potential of north Palawan Province. The present survey covered only the northern extremity of the huge area, extending from El Nido to northern Busuanga, which is targeted for major tourism development. Additional Marine RAP surveys are recommended for the area encompassing the Tres Reyes Rocks, Bulalacao and adjacent small islands, Linapacan Island, and northern Palawan Island. There is also a critical need for biological studies of potentially rare and endangered marine wildlife such as sharks, endemic reef fishes and corals, dugongs, and sea turtles. Financial support of university students would provide an incentive for these studies.

4) Implement or strengthen conservation programs for rare and endangered marine wildlife. The Calamianes Islands, and Palawan in general, harbor a rich assortment of rare and endemic marine species, including several that appear to be threatened. This important component of the fauna needs to be clearly identified, and appropriate conservation measures taken to insure that critical habitats are protected.

5) Develop tourism in a fashion that supports marine conservation. The Department of Tourism (DOT) in cooperation with the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) has proposed an environmentally sustainable tourism development plan for northern Palawan Province. It proposes major development along the eastern and western coasts of Palawan Island, and on the northwestern coast of Busuanga. The proposal for the latter area includes 1.135 hotel rooms located in two complexes with supporting tourist infrastructure (aquarium, shops, restaurants, recreational facilities, etc.). If this plan proceeds it will have a profound impact on the local economy, and there is potential for deleterious impacts on marine ecosystems. It is vital to insure that local inhabitants receive direct economic benefits from any tourism development, thus taking pressure off marine resources that are now heavily relied on. There also need to be safeguards to prevent pollution, siltation, and any other form of environmental degradation that often results from

uncontrolled development. If properly managed the surrounding reef areas will serve as a magnet for sustaining long-term tourism.

6) Implement an environmental awareness campaign.

This activity has proven successful in many parts of the Pacific. Local residents need to become aware of the uniqueness of their special wildlife and its dependence on particular natural habitats, as well as the advantages of conservation, and the consequences if no action is taken. This can be achieved in a variety of ways such as primary and secondary school curricula, guest speakers at town meetings, posters, end videos.

7) Promote community participation in conservation planning and management. Most coral reefs lie within the three nautical mile limit of municipal waters, which are under the jurisdiction of local communities. Therefore, Calamianes islanders have an opportunity to implement and manage conservation initiatives that will play a critical role in maintaining marine biodiversity in surrounding waters.

8) Enforce existing laws. Despite considerable legislation that prohibits illegal fishing methods and for the protection of rare and endangered fauna, there appears to be little effective enforcement at the local level. This problem is rampant throughout the Philippines and needs to be addressed if truly effective conservation practices can be implemented. Local and national governments need to allocate funds for patrol boats, trained personnel, and other resources. Additionally, effective enforcement needs to be backed up by adequate penalties in the form of heavy fines, confiscation of boats and fishing equipment, and/or jail sentences.

9) Enact more effective laws that actually regulate fishing activities. Like most of the Philippines the Calamianes has an open access fishing policy. National law defines the various fishing grounds; there are no local laws governing actual extraction of resources. Therefore a critical need exists for legislation that governs local fishing with the long-term goal of sustaining resources. This would include laws dealing with type and quantity of gear, and catch quotas for various species based on sound biological information.

10) Establish a long-term environmental monitoring program. Now that Palawan Province has been targeted for extensive tourism development it is important to identify and conserve remaining natural ecosystems. These precious resources must be sustained as they will provide the impetus for much of the anticipated tourism. It is also important to gather baseline biological and ecological data before the developmental surge commences, and natural ecosystems should be periodically monitored to insure they remain fully intact.

11) Promote cooperation among relevant government departments. Government departments frequently operate it isolation from one another. One of our recommendations is that the government commits to developing an integrated coastal management strategy that improves inter-agency coor dination.

12) Make fishing laws consistent between municipalities. Municipal governments in the Calamianes and northern Palawan need to coordinate efforts in formulating effective conservation and fisheries management policies. The region needs to be considered as a whole rather than a series of isolated municipalities that often have conflicting laws governing the use of marine resources.

13) Review policies governing public access to pearl farms. The proliferation of pearl farms has resulted in diminished access to local fishing grounds, thus placing additional fishing pressure on remaining areas. The implications of an open access policy need to be carefully considered. The main question is whether the local populace would derive more benefit from open access or whether in the long term these farms are more important by functioning as marine reserves.

14) Address safety issues when fishing boats are converted to tourism use. Although there are national regulations governing health and safety issues aboard passenger vessels, there are no local laws covering areas such as passenger capacity, number of life vests, and required navigational equipment. Boat operators should be compelled to comply with safety regulations before their vessels are registered.

INTRODUCTION

The Calamianes Group occupies the northernmost section of Palawan Province in she southwestern Philippines. The largest province in the Philippines, Palawan has continuously been labeled the country's "last frontier." or the last province to experience intense natural resource exploitation, which has resulted in the Philippines archipelago being named one of the most threatened areas ("hotspots") for biodiversity conservation is? the world. The Calamianes consist of three main islands: Busuanga, Culion, Coron. and a host of smaller satellite islands covering an area of approximately 2,200 square km or 30% of the province.

Palawan, and the **Calamianes Islands in** particular, supports some of the most extensive and relatively intact marine environments in the Philippines. The region also supports one of the country's most productive fishing grounds. Compared to other parts of the Philippines the area is sparsely populated, having about 60,000 inhabitants. In spite of its low population density, there has been intense fishing pressure in the area, particularly in Coron Bay, along with extensive use of illegal fishing methods, including explosives, muro-ami, and cyanide.

This report presents the results of a Conservation International Marine RAP (Rapid Assessment Program) survey of marine biodiversity in the Calamianes Islands, focusing on selected faunal groups, specifically reef-building (scleractinian) corals, molluscs, and fishes. An additional chapter presents the results of a fisheries survey that combined both underwater research and consultation with local communities and government officials. The purpose of this report is to document local marine biodiversity and the current state of fisheries exploitation in order to guide regional planning in economic development and marine conservation, especially in light of the recent proposal to transform the Calamianes Islands into a major destination for overseas tourists.

Marine RAP - Rationale and Methodology

There is an obvious need to identify areas of global importance for wildlife conservation. However, there is often a problem in obtaining the required data, considering that many of the more remote regions are inadequately surveyed. Scarcity of data. in the form of basic taxonomic inventories, is particularly true for tropical ecosystems. Hence. Conservation International has developed a technique for rapid biological assessment. The method essentially involves sending a team of taxonomic experts into the Geld for a brief period, often 2-4 weeks, in order to obtain an overview of the flora and fauna. Although most surveys to date have involved terrestrial systems, the method is equally applicable for marine and freshwater environments.

One of the main differences in evaluating the conservation potential of terrestrial and tropical marine loaalities involves the emphasis placed on endemism. Terrestrial conservation initiatives are frequently correlated with a high incidence of endemic species at a particular locality or region. Granted other aspects need to be addressed. but endemism is often considered as one of the most important criterion for assessing an area's conservation worth. Indeed, it has become a universal measure for evaluating and comparing conservation "hot spots". In contrast, coral reefs and other tropical marine ecosystems frequently exhibit relatively loa levels of endemism. This is particularly true throughout the "coral triangle" (the area inc'uding northern Australia, the Malay-Indonesian Archipelago, Philippines, and western Melanesia), considered to be she world's richest area for marine biodiversity. The considerable homogeneity found in tropical inshore communities is in large part due to the pelagic larval stage typical of most organisms. For example reef fish larvae are commonly pelagic for periods ranging from 9-100 days (Leis, 1991). A general lack of physical isolating barriers and numerous island "stepping stones" have facilitated the wide dispersal of larvae throughout the Indo-Pacific.

The most important feature to assess in determining the conservation potential of a marine location devoid of significant endemism is overall species *richness* or biodiversity. Additional data relating to relative abundance *are also* important. Other factors requiring assessment are more subjective rind depend largely on the observer. Obviously, extensive biological survey experience over a broad geographic range yields the best results. This enables the observer to recognize any unique assemblages within the community, unusually high numbers of normally rare taxa, or the presence of any unusual environmental features. Finally, any imminent threats such as explosive fishing. use of cyanide, over-fishing. and mangrove logging need to be considered.

The most direct approach for assessing coral reef biodiversity is to inventory all species present at a given locality. However. due to the complexity of the coral reef fauna. it is virtually impossible to undertake a comprehensive survey of this nature. The best approach is to concentrate on a few "key" groups, which function a5 indicators of overall biodiversity. Reef-building corals and fishes are perhaps the best ali-round indicators. Corals provide the major environmental framework for fishes and a host of other organisms. Without reef-building corals. there is limited biodiversity, This is dramatically demonstrated is. areas consisting primarily of sand, rubble, or seaweeds. Fishes are also an excellent survey group as they are the reef's most obvious inhabitants and account for a large proportion of its overall biomass. Furthermore. fishes depend on a huge variety of plants and invertebrates for their nutrition. Therefore, areas with 2 rich fish fauna invariably support a wealth of plants and invertebrates.

Due to space limitations and general logistics, RAP surveys are *most* efficient if the working held-parry is confined to 3-4 taxonomic specialists. In addition to corais and fishes, it is desirable ω survey one or two additional groups. Molluses were selected for the Calamianes and other RAP surveys, but additional phyla or classes such as algae, sponges, soft corais, and echinoderms *are* worthy of future consideration.

Physical Environment

Including surrounding reefs. the Calamianes Group covers an area of approximately 3,600square km. The islands, although not particularly high, are generally mountainous. Coastlines are highly indented is, such a fishion that no part of the interior is more than 11 km from the sea. Due to the complex coastline, the littoral zone is very extensive. There is an abundance of reefs, particularly coastal fringing reefs. These range in width from about 20-200 m and typically descend gradually to a depth of about 2-10 m before dropping steeply into depths of about 15-30m. The maic environmental variable is degree of protection and consequent siltation. The most highly protected reefs (e.g., Halsey Harbor) generally exhibit the most siltation.

Marine environments in the Calamianes are very diverse and some of the most extensive in the Philippines. These include mangrove forests, seagrass beds, and a large portion of the province's coral reefs that comprise 36% of the nation's total coral reef area (Pido *et al.*, 1996). According to tide information printed on British Admiralty Chart No. 3819 (Mindoro Strait) the maximum difference between high and low water at Coron is 1.8 m with an average of about 1.0 m. We did not encounter significant current at most diving sites. However, the captain of *Busuanga Dream* pointed out several areas that are known for severe currents including the southernmost tip of Coron and Culion islands, Dicabaito Island, and the passage between Busuanga and Coron islands. Sea temperatures during the survey period were generally 27-28°C. We did not encounter any severe thermoclines or areas of cold up-welling.

The climate of the Calamianes (and the entire Philippines region) is monsoonal with a prevailing northwesterly rainbearing monsoon from June to November, reaching peak intensity in August. The weather is dry and virtually rainless from late December to mid May. Cyclones arrive in the islands almost exclusively between July and December, with the highest probability between September-November. About 19% of typhoon intensity cyclones passing through the Philippines directly affect the Calamianes (Wright, 1975).

Socio-economic Environment

The population is composed of a mixture of indigenous people and immigrants from other parts of the Philippines, especially the Visayas. Fifty-two languages and dialects are spoke: in Palawan, making it the most linguistically diverse province in the Philippines. These are two closely related groups of indigenous people, the Tagbanua and *the* Calamian. Their languages are almost entirely mutually intelligible (Wright, 1975). Tagalog (known as Filipino, the national language) and English are taught in local schools, and Tagalog is in general usage. The indigenous languages are used predominantly in the sural and isolated areas. The Cuyonon language, originally the language of the island of Cuyo (to the southeast of the Calamianes) is also widely spoken.

Barangays (local settlements) are located almost exclusively along the coast, although a large portion of the population actually live in the interior on small farms. Approximately 60% of the population live along the coast and fishing is a key activity, both for subsistence and commercial purposes. The waters of Palawan are extremely important for local and national fish consumption, producing 65% of all fish consumed in Manila (DOT, 1999).

Although fishing is the dominant economic activity, tourism is steadily increasing. On a larger scale, the Shell company's multi-billion dollar Malampaya Gas Project (on Palawan Island) is scheduled to begin operation in: 2002. In the nearshore waters of the Calamianes, pearl farms are common (seven on Busuanga alone), and several experimental seaweed farming projects have been established recently.

In recognition of the outstanding biodiversity values of Palawan, the province was declared a Biosphere Reserve by UNESCO, and it is attempting to pursue an environmentally sustainable development plan under the auspices of the Palawan Council for Sustainable Development, a body created and administered by the Office of the President of the Philippines. Presently, tourism is seen as one of the only major development schemes that is in line with the PCSD's Strategic Environmental Pian and the province's designation as a UNESCO biosphere reserve.

The road map for the PCSD is the Strategic Environment Plan (SEP, enacted as Republic Act No. 7611 in 1992; see details at http://www.chanrobles.com/republicactno7611.htm). The goal of the SEP is:

To improve the living conditions of the people of Palawan and to increase the economic contribution that Palawan can make to the Republic of the Philippines by developing its resources of land and water in ways that are environmentally sustainable, socially equitable and economically practicable.

The objectives of the SEP are to:

- Establish an Environmentally Critical Areas Network (ECAN) for ensuring protection of vulnerable areas;
- implement positive development planning by intensified use of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and provisions for coastal developmental activities harmful to the environment;
- 3) intensify lowland and low hills agricultural development;
- foster proper use and care of common resources by local communities; and
- 5) rehabilitate degraded catchments and restore overused and badly damaged lands.

The ECAN strategy includes the designation of marine "core zones", areas in which commercial fishing and other marine exploitation schemes would be prohibited. There is great potential for such zones to not only protect the immediate biodiversity found within them, but also to produce the offspring of marine species that might increase their overall numbers in adjacent fishable waters.

In addition to the PCSD, a number of other agencies have key roles to play in local conservation and the sustainable development of marine species and waters. These include the Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources (BFAR), the Department of Tourism (DOT), and the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR). Although the province has its separate strategic environmental plan, DENR still oversees nationally designated protected areas falling within the province, including Ancestral Domain claims. The principal such area in the Calamianes is Coron Island. How administration of ancestral domain areas fits within the framework of PCSD's SEP was not clear to our team, but clearly coordination between these bodies is essential.

The role of DOT has recently become critical in Palawan as the primary government agency working with the Japanese Bank for International Cooperation. These agencies are working on a major plan for improving infrastructure in northern Palawan to support tourism development. If this project is implemented, it is large enough to significantly impact local biodiversity, and needs to assimilate substantial environmental safeguards. Ultimately, at least as far as coral reefs are concerned, municipalities and barangays need to be key conservation allies. The majority of the province's coral reefs lie within the three nautical mile limit of municipal waters, and these waters legally fall under the jurisdiction of local communities. Applying *bantay dagat* and similar local conservation techniques will play a critical role in maintaining marine biodiversity in the Calamianes Islands.

SITE SELECTION AND METHODS

Sites were selected through a pre-survey analysis that included reviews of literature, aerial survey data, nautical charts, and consultation with marine biologists familiar with the region. The survey team concentrated much of their effort along western Busuanga, the area identified by Palawan Province and the Philippines Department of Tourism for major tourism development. Exact site selection was made upon arrival at the general site area, and was further influenced by weather and sea conditions.

At each site, the Biological Team conducted underwater assessments that produced species lists for key coral reef indicator groups. General habitat information was also recorded, as was the extent of live coral cover at several depths. The main survey method consisted of direct underwater observations by diving scientists who recorded species of corals, molluses, and fishes. Visual transects were the main method for recording fishes and corals in contrast to molluses, which relied primarily on collecting live animals and shells (most released or discarded after identification). Relatively few specimens were preserved for later study and these were invariably species that were either too difficult to identify in the field or were undescribed. Further collecting details are provided in the chapters dealing with corals, molluses and fishes.

Concurrently, the Fisheries Team used a 50 m line transect placed on top of the reef to record fish biomass, and made observations on key indicator species, groupers in particular, in order to assess local fishing pressure. Additional fisheries data were obtained through interviews with coastal inhabitants and review of documents from the three municipalities covered by the survey: Busuanga, Coron and Culion. Finally, both teams reported any sightings of sharks, sea turtles and dugongs.

The expedition took place aboard two separate vessels, *Nautika* and *Busuanga Dream*. The original intention was to use *Nautika* (a 100-foot long, steel-hulled, live-aboard dive boat) for the entire survey, but a mechanical breakdown on the seventh day of the expedition forced us to use a second vessel. Unfortunately, the *Busuanga Dream* (a 60-foot wooden outrigger formerly used for fishing) was not suitable for rough sea conditions and was considerably slower than *Nautika*. Therefore, it was necessary to alter the original plan and confine the remaining survey activities to the main Calamianes Group, thus eliminating the El Nido area and Linapacan from the itinerary. Both vessels were well equipped for diving, having ample scuba tanks and an efficient air compressor. We dived from auxiliary skiffs while aboard *Nautika*, and at most sites directly from *Busuanga Dream* during the latter half of the trip.

SITE DESCRIPTIONS

A total of 38 sites were biologically assessed over 13.5 days. The survey sites were located off the northern, western and southern coasts of Busuanga Island (including off-shore islands as far away as Tara), the northern, western and southern coasts of Culion Island, and western Coron Island. Strong winds and high waves prevented the Team from visiting the windward (eastern) sides of the three main islands. Various reports on the eastern coasts of these three islands however indicate extensive damage from dynamite fishing. Several RAP Team members provided information used to produce these descriptions, including Dr. Veron who provided the basic summaries of coral diversity.

1. West side of Tara Island (12° 17.13' N, 112° 21.10' E)

Time: 0900, dive duration 86 minutes; depth range 1-28 m; temperature 28°C, visibility approximately 15 m, decreasing to 6-8 m at 27 m; current slight throughout dive. *Site description*: gently sloping bottom to 9 m, then sharp (50°) slope to sandy area at 17m; moderate coral cover on shallow reef flat; coral damaged and patchy below 15 m; good variety of small fishes in shallows: *Diadema setosum* (long-spined sea urchin) relatively common in shallows next to shore; visual estimate of hard coral cover = 25%, dead coral (most covered with algae) = 40%, rubble = 15% and soft coral = 5%. High coral species diversity on the reef flat down to depth of 7 m. Extensive damage by explosives.

2. Southwest end of Tara Island (12°15.83' N, 120 21.96' E)

Time: 1200 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility approximately 10 m; temperature 28°C; no current. *Site description*: seaward slope of approximately 45° to about 14 m, then nearly 100% rubble; estimated hard coral cover = 25-30%, dead corai cover = 20-30%; also abundant soft corals; very little siltation noted; *Diadema* in low numbers; one small *Tridacna* seen; large amount of rubble could be consequence of anchor damage and explosive fishing. Moderate reef-building coral species diversity in shallow areas, and extensive areas of *Seriatopora hystrix*.

3. Southwest end of Lagat Island (12° 14.17' N, 120 21.90' E)

Time: 1600 hours, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-30 m; visibility approximately 10-15 m; temperature 28°C; no current. *Site description*: Shaliow reef flat at 4 m sloping at 15° to 10 m, then steeper slope (about 60°) to 20-30 m; good coral cover on shallow reef - visual estimate of 40-50% live coral; coral cover dominated by short sturdy forms; rubble on lower slope mainly encrusted with algae; relatively high density of small reef fishes noted; no siltation; low numbers of *Diadema* urchins; nine medium-sized *Tridacna* seen; possible anchor and explosive damage noted. Very high reef-building coral species diversity, especially of *Acropora, Porites* and fungilds.

4. Coconogan Point, Busuanga Island (12°12.92' N, 120 13.00' E)

Time: 0755 hours, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-30 m; visibility 20 m on slope, 10 m in shallows; temperature 28°C; no current. *Site description:* shallow fringing reef with sharp 70° slope starting at about 3 m; slope drops to depth of 20-30 m on sandy bottom; scattered small coral heads with interesting fishes at base of slope; large patches of damaged and dead coral with surface algae throughout the site reflecting possible anchor damage; visual estimate of hard coral cover = 45%, soft coral = 20%, dead coral = 30%, and at least 5% rubble; an impressive dive site regarding aesthetic qualities - both above and below water; good shelter from prevailing winds. Dense *Porites* stands in shallow water.

5. Southwest end of Cabilauan Island (12° 08.85' N, 120° 11.68' E)

Time: 1140, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-20 m; visibility about 7 m; temperature 27°C; no current. *Site description:* sheltered coastal lagoon with mangrove shore; shallow reef from shore to depth of 3-4 m, then sloping (60°) to sand bottom; estimated live corai cover in shallows = 20-25%; large amounts rubble covered with *Padina* and *Halimeda* algae on slope; some seagrass patches in shallows near mangrove shore. Very protected environment. Low species diversity but high coral cover to a depth of 10 m. Very large stands of *Montipora* forming delicate whorls. Extensive *Porites* and *Anacropora* in shallow water.

6. Northwest end of Cabilanan Island (12° 11.38' N, 120° 08.86' E)

Time: 1520 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility 6-10 m; no current; temperature 28°C. Site description: sheltered reef with abrupt slope (60°) next to shore, ending on level sand bottom at depth of 25 m; visual estimate of live coral cover = 30%, soft coral = 10%; plentiful dead coral and rubble covered with algae; also small amount of *Padina* and unidentified fleshy algae; no fresh anchor or explosive damage; *Sargassum* common in narrow band of shallow water next to shore; minimal siltation; medium to small *Tridacna* and thorny oysters common. Coral cover up to 20%. Moderate species diversity. Very large stands of *Anacropora puertogalerae* and *A. spinosa*.

7. Northwest side of Dimaquiat Island (12° 14.55' N, 120° 05.67' E)

Time: 0730 hours, dive duration 80 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility approximately 15 m; no current; temperature 27°C. *Site description*: shallow (2-3 m) reef flat and gentle slope (10°) from shore to depth of 14 m, then abrupt 10-12 m drop to level sand-rubble bottom in 25 m depth; hard coral cover = 25-35%, and soft coral cover = 25%; dead coral and rubble covered with algae and no signs of recent damage; min imal siltation; abundance of small reef fishes; three cuttlefish recorded. Moderate diversity of massive scleractinian corals, especially favilids and *Porites* in shallows.

8. Southwest (5 km) of Alarogao Pt., Busuanga Island (12° 14.26' N, 120° 02.70' E)

Time: 1050 hours, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-20 m; slightly turbid with visibility about 6 m; no current; temperature approximately 28° C. *Site description*: sheltered reef adjacent to dense seagrass beds; shallow (1 m) reef flat next to shore gradually increasing in depth to 3-4 m. then sloping at 45° to about 12-15 m depth: visual estimate of hard coral cover = 30-35%, soft coral cover = 20%, mainly dead coral and rubble on lower slope: dead coral is old and overgrown with algae, no recent coral damage; very little siltation; a large rope net was found intangled over area covering approximately 6-9 m². Moderate coral diversity to a depth of 10 m.

9. South end of Tanobon Island (12° 20.41' N, 119° 57.52' E)

Time: 1500 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-27 m; visibility approximately 13 m; no current; temperature 27°C. *Site description*: white sand beach with coral extending to within 3 m of shore; shallow fringing reef to 8-10 m, then steep (75°) reef slope to 20 m depth; abundant algal growth on rubble near shore; rich coral growth between 2-12 m depth; estimated hard coral cover = 50%, soft coral = 25% and 20% dead coral with algal growth; large patches of rubble and dead coral, possibly evidence of past explosive fishing; over 100 small *Tridacna* seen. Moderate coral diversity on slopes. Upper slopes are dominated by branching *Porites* and branching *Montipora*.

10. Southeast end of Dimipac Island (12° 21.97' N, 119° 54.86' E)

Time: 0715 hours, dive duration 80 minutes; depth range 1-25 m: visibility approximately 20 m; no current; temperature 27°C. *Site description*: reef located off rocky portion of island, extending approximately 150 m offshore; reef flat gently slopes at 5° to depth of 10 m, then forms steep slope of 45° to 14 m depth; coral cover on crest is approximately 35% hard coral, 20% soft coral. 25% 'dead algal-covered coral, and 40% rubble: coral cover on reef flat approximately 20% hard coral, 20% soft coral, 30% algal-covered dead coral and 30% rubble: reef slope generally covered with rubble; occasional coral bleaching was noted (probably cyanide); *Diadema* sp. and *Padina* sp. were noted growing on dead corals and rubble. Dominant corals in shallows: *Montipora hispida* and *Porites* species, Moderate coral species diversity dominated by massive colonies.

11. Illutuc Bay, Busuanga (12° 16.30' N, 119° 53.31' E)

Time: 1130 hours, dive duration 10 minutes (abandoned due to sighting of dangerous box jellyfish); depth range 1-2 m; visibility about 1 m; no current; temperature approximately 30°C. *Site description*: sheltered inner harbor environment; heavy siltation and extremely turbid water; flat mud bottom with abundance of burrowing gobies; several mollusc species collected at this site. Low coral diversity inside bay entrance but a much higher diversity outside the entrance where the water was clear. A high diversity of Acropora species.

12. Mouth of Illutuc Bay, Busuanga (12° 15.93' N, 119° 52.31' E)

Time: 1200 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-14 m; visibility approximately 4-6 m; no current; temperature 27°C. *Site description*: reef on northern side of entrance to Eutuc Bay; reef flat extends approximately 100 m from shore to depth of 2.5 m, then slopes steeply (80°) to depth of 4 m; outer more exposed (to surf) part of reef extends about 150 m offshore and gently slopes to crest of 1.5-2.0 m depth, then slopes (45°) to depth of 12 m; bottom of channel leading into Eliutuc Bay mainly sand and rubble; hard coral cover relatively sparse, ranging between 2.5-10% cover, richest in less exposed positions; soft coral cover ranging between 2.5-25%, most abundant on upper edge of slope; algal-covered dead coral and rubble cover ranging between 10-90%, dominating the substratum of shallow reef flat; strong siltation evident and *Diadema* sp. abundant.

13. South side of Kalampisauan Island, Busuanga (12° 14.51' N, 119° 51.16' E)

Time: 1615 hours, dive duration 70 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility 15 m: no current; temperature 28°C. *Site description*: extensive reef adjacent to rocky cliffs along shore: reef gently slopes (5°) seaward for 50 m *to* depth of 6 m, then drops (35°) to rubble bottom at 15 m depth; reef cover consists of 25-35% hard coral. 25-35% soft coral; and up 40 45% dear; *coral* and rubble; shallower section of reef forms gullies and ridges; occasional bleaching of hard corals (probably cyanide) and algae infestation on live coral heads was noted; three *Tridacna* sp. (30-40 cm) seen; also one unidentified shark (only one seen on survey). High coral species diversity over a large area.

14. Buluang Bay, Bususanga (12° 13.09' N, 119° 51.51' E)

Time: 0700 hours, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-20 m; maximum visibility of 18 m, reduced in deeper water; no current; temperature 27.5°C. *Site description*: reef gradually slopes from shore to depth of about 9 m, then slopes to about 20 m depth, but bottom topography characterized by maze of hummocks and intervening depressions; abundant coral cover consisting of up to 65-70% hard and soft varieties; rubble also common at base of slope and in bottom of depressions; nudibranchs relatively abundant at this site. High coral species diversity over a large area.

15. West side of Gutob Peninsula (12° 11.74' N, 119° 51.59' E)

Time: 1055 hours, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-17 m; visibility 15 m; no current; temperature approx. 28°C. *Site description*: reef begins about 40 m from shore and slopes at angle of 10° to depth of 8 m, then slopes with groove and buttress structure at 30° to 12-17 m depth; deeper area characterized by several large pinnacles or hummocks; reef flat covered with 45% hard coral, 25% soft coral, and 30% dead coral; up to 100% hard-soft coral cover on some sections of slope; some *Halimeda* growing on dead corals and *Caulerpa*

on reef slope. Very high coral species diversity, with many species forming very large colonies.

16. Detobet Point, Busuanga Island (12° 08.74' N, 119° 51.24' E)

Time: 1520 hours, dive duration 70 minutes; depth range 1-15 m; turbid conditions with visibility at 5-7 κ : no current: temperature 28°C. *Site description*: narrow band of barren beach rock next to shore, then reef gradually sloping to depth of 3 m before dropping (60° slope) to about 12-15 m on sandy bottom; percentage of live coral cover ranges between 15 (deeper section of slope) to 40 + (upper edge of slope); soft corals also common forming up to 50% cover (upper edge of slope); dead coral largely overgrown with algae. but some freshly dead patches noted (possibly due to cyanide fishing); siltation minimal; some evidence of anchor damage. Moderate to low coral species diversity.

17. Islet south of Talampulan Island (12° 06.14' N, 119° 50.71' E)

Time: 0825 hours, dive duration 85 minutes; depth range 1-28 m; visibility 8-10 m; no current; temperature 28° C. *Sire description*: reef flat gradually extends seaward on 10° slope to depth of about 4 m, incorporating gullies and algal-covered boulders; then slopes (about 50°) down to sand-rubble bottom in 28 m; reef top composed of about 40-60% hard corals, remaining dead coral largely encrusted with algae: evidence of both old and recent cyanide use; anchor damage also noted; *Tridacna* * prelatively common. Moderate coral species diversity in shallows.

18. West end of Maltatayoc Island (12° 02 81' N, 119° 52.09' E)

Time: 1140 hours, dive duration 90 minutes: depth range 1-30 m; visibility 8-10 m; no current; temperature 28°C. *Sire description*: shallow reef extends seaward to 3-4 m depth, terminating in gullies and algal-covered boulders; edge of shallow reef drops at 50° to 25-30 m depth ending on sand-rubble bottom; best coral cover in 3-8 m depth with estimated coral cover up to 80% (including 50% hard corals); lower part of slope mainly rubble and sand; most of dead coral encrusted with algae; some evidence of cyanide use, both old and recent. Moderate coral species diversity. The rubble has a wide range of fungiids.

19. Southeast end of Lajo Island (11° 59.19' N, 119° 57.64' E)

Time: 1523 hours. dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility 6 m; no current; temperature 28°C. *Site description*: area of freshwater runoff due to spring at shoreline; limited reef development about 50 m from *shore*: patchy mangroves along shore with some *Enhalus* seagrass in shallows; shallow flat between shore and reef mainly consisting of sand, rubble, and patches of dead coral; offshore reef gradually slopes to depth of about 25 m; slope is badly damaged with *mostly* dead coral and rubble (less than 5% live coral): in addition to *Enhalus acoroides*, four other seagrass species were seen: *Thalassia hemprichii, Halophila ovalis*,

Cymodocea rotundata and C. serrulata; several fishing lines were entangled on reef; hundreds of *Diadama setosum* seen in shallow water. Low coral species diversity, but an interesting turbid water environment.

20. Isolated rock off southern tip of Galoc Island (11° 55'85' N, 119° 49.20' E)

Time: 0825 hours, dive duration *90* minutes; depth range 1-20 m; visibility 12 m; slight eastward current; temperature 27°C. *Site description*: isolated rock rises from depth of about 10 m, breaking surface: fringing reef around periphery of rock to depth of 10 m, then gradually slopes to 20 m depth; visual estimates of 20% hard coral, 25% soft coral, 40% dead coral, and 20% rock and rubble in area above 10 m depth; sea whips relatively common throughout site; distinct evidence of dynamite damage; also extensive coral bleaching and algal growth. Low coral specie?;diversity.

21. Southeast tip of Galoc Island - 2 dives on consecutive days (11° 56'62' N, 119° 50.02' E)

Time: 1130 hours. dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-23 m: visibility 10 m: no current; temperature 27°C. *Site description:* fringing reef in sheltered bay; reef begins near shore and gradually slopes to depth of 4 m. then steeper slope to bottom of bay; most of corals concentrated in shallow water (to 8-10 m), but on northeastern side of bay ieef slopes down to 25 m depth: maximum live coral cover about 25-35% except as high as 60% in shallows (1-4 m); reef on western side of bay interrupted by large sea grass bed; seagrasses noted were *Halodule uninervis, Cymodocea serrulata* and *Halophila ovalis;* bay has high novelty value for fishes and corals - several species seen here and nowhere else during survey; three large (50 cm) *Tridacna* sp. noted and several smaller ones in shallows. Moderate diversity in coral species,

22. Southwest tip of Galoc Island - 2 dives on consecutive days (11° 56.81' N, 119° 49.47' E)

Time: 1530 hours. dive duration 90 minutes: depth range 1-25 m; visibility 8-10 m; no current; temperature 27°C. Site description: fringing reef surrounding protected embayment end extending seaward for 150 m; reef flat slopes gently (approximately 10°) with occasional deep depressions and gulie., then approximately 50 m from shore it plunges moderately (20°), forming reef terraces to a depth of 25 m; dead coral with algal growth dominates benthic cover: 50% on reef Cat, 45% on crest an 360% on reef slope: live coral cover on reef flat is composed of 30% soft coral and 20% hard coral. The outer edge of the flat is approximately covered with 30% soft coral and 25% hard coral: outer slope cover was 20% hard coral and 10% soft coral: rubble dominates the lower slope: noted bleaching in some corals especially in staghorn Acropora; also some bleaching due to possible cyanide usage, Moderate coral species diversity,

23. Southern tip of Galoc Island (11° 56.44' N, 119° 49.34' E)

Time: 1630 hours, dive duration 80 minutes; depth range 1-20

m; visibility 5-7 m; slight current; temperature 27°C. Site description: rocky cliff next to shore continues underwater to depth of 3-4 m then reef forms zone of guilles and algai-covered boulders, with eventual transition to large rocky outcrops and low coral heads, ending in rubble at depth of 20 m; shallows largely rock with some dead coral and rubble; dead coral not recent and encrusted with algae; soft coral cover as high as 75% in some sections; hard coral cover generally very low (5-10%), largely short sturdy colonies of Acropora; no evidence of recent cyanide use. Moderate coral species diversity.

24. Southwestern tip of Coron Island near Calls Point (11° 48.83' N, 120° 15.33' E)

Time: 1100 hours, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility 20+ m; slight current; temperature 27°C. Site description: scenic above water with steep cliffs plunging into sea, but outside reef totally destroyed by blast fishing; a narrow, wave-washed fringing reef then slopes at 70° to sand rubble bottom in 25 m depth; more than 90% dead coral with large amounts of *Padina* and algae - a very depressing reef; in contrast, a scenic amphitheater-like bay situated adjacent to site is far more interesting than outer fringing reef; contains large patches of live coral and good variety of fishes; has shallow sill across entrance and deep (28 m) lagoon occupying much of inner part of bay. Moderate to high coral species diversity.

25. Coron Island, south of Banol Point (11° 55.76' N, 120° 11.81' E)

Time: 1530 hours, dive duration 70 minutes; depth range 1-30 m; visibility 8-10 m; no current; temperature 28°C. *Site description*: similar bottom topography to previous site; reef slopes steeply (60°) to beyond 30 m depth; entire reef destroyed (reduced to rubble) by explosive fishing; live hard coral cover less than 5% on reef crest and 100% dead elsewhere; no soft corals either. Low coral species diversity, with only massive corals.

26. Twin Peak Islands, western Coron Island (11° 57.40' N, 120° 12.57' E)

Time: 0830 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-35 m; visibility 15+ m; no current; temperature 28°C. Site description: excellent dive site with spectacular drop-off, abundant black coral, and good variety of fishes and corals; reef surrounds two small rocky islets a short distance from Coron Island; reef top occupies about a hectare and around much of the periphery slopes off on the edge at 45° to depth of 12 m, but in some sections forms a spectacular 90° drop beginning in only 1 m depth; inner, more protected reef facing Coron Island generally covered with 90% hard coral and 10% rubble on western portion and approximately 60% hard coral and 40% dead coral with algae on eastern side; outer portion facing the Coron Bay generally covered with 70% hard coral and 30% rubble; reef flat covered with 55% hard coral and 45% rubble. Diadema setosum observed in crevices on reef flat. One of the highest ranking sites for coral species diversity.

27. Southwestern tip of Tangat Island (11° 57.59' N, 120° 03.56' E)

Time: 1500 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility 6 m; no current; temperature 28°C. *Site description*: fringing reef on edge of steep, high cliffs forming southwestern Tangat Island; narrow fringing reef about 20 m in width with outer edge in about 2.5 m depth, then dropping steeply at 45-90° to depth of about 20 m, ending on sand-rubble bottom; upper edge covered with 50% hard coral, 30% dead coral with algae, and 20% rubble; upper slope covered with 40% dead coral, 25% hard coral, 25% rubble, and 10% sand; lower slope covered with 50% dead coral with algae, 35% rubble, 10% sand, and 5% hard coral; *Padina* on rubble; occasional coral bleaching noted, especially on staghorn *Acropora*. Low diversity in coral species except for pectiniids.

28. West side of Calumbuyan Island (12° 00.53' N, 119° 56.42' E)

Time: 0830 hours, dive duration 75 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility 6-10 m; moderate current at beginning of dive, but none towards end; temperature 27°C. *Site description*: fringing reef extends approximately 100 m from shore; outer edge at depth of 2.5 m, then descends to 60 feet at 45 to 50° slope; upper edge covered with 70% hard coral 15% dead coral with algae, 10% rubble, and 5% soft coral; upper slope covered with 60% hard coral, 20% dead coral with algae, 10% soft coral, and 10% rubble; lower slope composed of 40% dead coral, 40% rubble, 10% hard coral, 5% soft coral, and 5% sand; interesting flat-bottom area in seaward direction from slope, consisting of abundant sponges, fans, and sea whips - obviously exposed to periodic strong currents. Moderate coral cover over most of the slope, but very high cover in some of the shallows.

29. North side of Popototan Island (12° 00.04' N, 119° 51.34' E)

Time: 1120 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-22 m; visibility 6 m; no current; temperature 28°C. Site description: fringing reef extends approximately 250 m from shore; shoreline is rocky and reef flat shows gradual transition from bare shallow beach rock to live reef towards outer margin; some Sargassum noted on sand bottom near shore; water depth on reef top gradually increases to 8 m, then abruptly drops to 20 m depth on 45° slope; benthic cover on crest composed of 60% hard coral, 20% dead coral with algae, 10% soft coral, 5% rubble, and 5% sand; mid- to upper-slopes composed of 35% hard coral cover, 30% dead coral with algae, 20% rubble, and 15% soft coral; lower slope composed of 55% dead coral with algae, 30% rubble and sand, and 15% hard coral; lots of suspended particles in water; Padina noted on dead corals; two crown of thorns starfish seen; one bottle of ammonium nitrate used for dynamite recovered. Moderate coral species diversity.



Northwest Coron Island, looking towards Busuanga Island.



Coral reef, west coast of Culion Island



 $Spectacular\ coastline\ of\ southwestern\ Coron\ Island$



Golden dottyback, Pseudochromis diadema.



New species of Ecsenius blenny



Illegal net-fishing, Coron Bay



Brittlestar on sponge.



Secluded bay on Coron Island



RAP scientist G. Allen recording fish species, Busuanga Island.



Violet nudibranch. Chromodoris bullochi.



1998 Calamianes Marine RAP Science Team. Coron Island. Back row (L Po R): T. Werner. R. Ledesma, G. Allen. R. Steene, D. Fenner Middle row (L to R): R. Martinez. V. Bungabong, J. Veron, F.Wells Front row (L to R): J. Pontillas. J. Ingles, S.Curran, M. Comer

30. Culion Island, 10 km north of Halsey Harbor (11° 57.27' N, 119° 53.52' E)

Time: 1600 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-22 m; visibility 10 m; no current; temperature 28°C *Site description*: protected cove with fringing reef, reef flat extends approximately 150 meters from snore, gradually increasing to depth or 6 m at upper edge of stope, then plunging to 15-18 m depth on stope ranging between 15-90" well-developed gullies present on some sections near outer edge of reef, upper edge of reef generally composed of 75% dead coral with algae, 20% hard coral, and 5% soft corat; upper stope composed of 70% dead cora! uith algae. and 10% each ot nard coral, soft corat and rubble; tower slope composed or 75% dead coral with algae, 15% hard coral. and 10% rubble. limited anchor damage and coral bleaching noted Moderate coral species diversity of mostly favilds

31. Research Channel, Culion Island (11° 45.54' N, 119° 55.90' E)

Time: 1000 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-32 m; visibility 10-12 m; no current; temperature 27°C. *Site description*: fringing reef on north side of Research Channel near entrance; reef extends approximately 150 m from shore and forms drop-off at depth of 6-7 m feet then plunges at angle of 45-70° to depth of 12 m, gradually increasing depth on channel bottom to at least 35 m; outer edge of fringing reef composed of 78% dead coral with algae and 8% rubble, and 12% is hard coral; slope generally composed of 58% dead coral with algae, 23% rubble, and 20% hard coral; some bleaching was noted on several corals; reef was definitely damaged by explosives; much of the rubble and dead coral covered with *Padina* and *Halimeda*. Low diversity in coral species with communities dominated by rapidly growing *Acropora, Montipora* and *Porites*.

32. Rhodes Island in Halsey Harbour, Culion Island (11° 45.52' N, 119° 58.08' E)

Time: 1300 hours, dive duration 85 minutes; depth range 1-28 m; visibility about 6 m; no current; temperature 28°C. *Site description*: fringing reef in middle part of Halsey Harbor; fringing reef approximately 150 m in width, with water depth increasing gradually to depth of 6 m, then plunging steeply (45-60°) to 20-25 m depth; upper edge of slope dominated by dead coral with algae (65% cover) and only 30% live hard coral; slope composed of 40% rubble, 35% hard coral, and 25% dead coral with algae; excellent site for corals - at least five potential new species found; area has good potential as protected area for giant clams (*Tridacna*) due to their abundance; *Padina* plentiful in some sections; siltation relatively high and lots of suspended particles in water. High coral species diversity of mostly non-*Acropora* species make it very unusual and taxonomically very interesting.

33. South branch of Halsey Harbour, Culion Island $(11^\circ$ 44.07' N, 119° 57.03' E)

Time: 1600 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-23 m; visibility about 5 m; no current; temperature 28°C. *Site*

description: narrow channel at entrance to southern branch of Halsey Harbour; site is very protected and bordered by mountainous terrain (under initial state of de-vegetation for agriculture); fringing reef on either side of channel is 25-50 m wide and drops steeply to the channel bottom in 23 m depth; silt-sand bottom of channei has excellent population of burrowing gobies; outer edge of reef top composed of 40% rubble, 25% dead coral with algae, and 35% hard coral; upper slope composed of 40% hard coral, 40% rubble, 20% dead coral with algae; reef has been dynamited and lots of anchor damage evident. A lot of coral bleaching; *Padina* noted on dead corals and rubble; heavy siltation at this site and suspended particles plentiful in water. High faviid diversity.

34. Southwestern tip of Culion Island (11° 40.67' N, 119 56.60' E)

Time: 0920 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility about 25 m; no current: temperature 28°C. *Site descriptSon*: sheltered bay with fringing reef; reef extends approximately 50 to 100 m offshore gradually increasing in depth to edge of drop-off at 6 m, then plunging to 15-20 m depth at an angle of 30-45°, ending on sand-rubble bottom; excellent coral area close to shore in 1-3 m depth consisting of 100% live cover (dominated by *Montipora platiformes/hispida* and digitiform *Acropora*); edge of drop-off and upper slope covered with dead coral with algae (52.5%) and rubble (25%), and hard coral (22.5%); lower slope covered by 75% dead coral with algae, 10% rubble, and 15% hard coral; *Padina* on dead corals and coral bleaching encountered occasionally on staghorn *Acropora*. Eow diversity in cora! species. Appears to have incurred recent damage.

35. Saddle Rock, Culion Island (11° 46.07' N, 119° 53.51' E)

Time: 1400 hours, dive duration 70 minutes; depth range 1-15 m; visibility about 20 m; no current; temperature 28°C. Site description: site located on isolated rocky island off south-western Culion Island; excellent site with abundant corals on fringing reef. Reef is basically anchored to submerged rocky portion of Saddle Rock: a broad fringing reef gently slopes offshore at approximately 5° to depth of 8 m on northwestern portion and has excellent 80% live coral cover and remaining reef cover consisting of 10% solid rock. 5% dead corai with algae and 5% rubble: at depth of 12 m the cover consists of 50% hard coral. 30% dead coral with algae, and 20% rubble; below about 15 m the bottom is largely rubble. High coral species diversity.

36. Southwest side of Lusong Island (11° 58.69' N, 120° 01.12' E)

Time: 0940 hours, dive duration 80 minutes; depth range 1-25 m; visibility 10-15 m; no current; temperature 28°C. *Site description*: narrow (25-50 m) fringing reef along rocky coast; edge of reef drops steeply (70°) from depth of 3 m to 18 m, then gradually descends to sand-rubble bottom; upper edge of reef covered with about 45% hard coral, 45% dead coral with algae, and 10% rubble; upper slope composed of 45% hard coral, 40% dead coral with algae, and 12% rubble; lower slope covered with 58% dead coral with algae, 25% hard coral, and 17% rubble; parts of upper slope show evidence of explosive

fishing; also some anchor damage noted. Moderate coral diversity dominated by *Echinopora* species.

37. Northwest end of Chindonan Island (11° 55.57' N, 120° 02.14' E)

Time 1245 hours, dive duration 90 minutes; depth range 1-22 m, visibility B0 m, no current; temperature 28°C *Site description* picturesque fringing reef in sheltered bay, partly surrounded by mangroves. reef varies in width between 25-75 m sloping to depth of about 3 m before dropping steeply (70-80°) to 15-18 m depth. top edge of reef generally covered with 50% hard coral and 50% rubble; upper slope *is* badly damaged by explosives with 80% rubble and only 18% hard cord, Power slope also covered with rubble (85%), and smaller amounts of live coral (11%) or dead cord with algae (4%); relatively strong siltation at this site Dense stands of *Pontes cylindrica*.

38. Siete Pecados Islands, Coron Island (11° 59.06' N, 120° 13.47' E)

Time 0800 hours, dive duration 90 minutes: depth range 1-35 m; visibility 25 m; no current; temperature 28°C *Site description* cluster of small mushroom-shaped islets surrounded by excellent fringing reef. shallow reef flat has diversity of soft and hard corals with patches of sand and seagrass (*Enhalus*); steep drop-off around edge of reef, sloping at 50-80° to sand-rubble bottom in 30 m depth, very rich coral on upper slope and edge of drop-off with 100% cover in some sections; large black coral bushes on steeper sections of slope and crinoids also abundant, small fishes very abundant and school of 12 Bumphead parrotfishes sighted Moderate coral specnes diversity

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Detailed results are given in the separate chapters for corals, molluscs, fishes, and fisheries, but the key findings of *the* survey are summarized here.

Corals:

- The Philippines has the highest h o w diversity of reef corals. The present survey raised the known species total from 349 to at least 462, and at least 30 additional species can be expected
- Approximately 20 undescribed species were identified during the survey, a phenomenal number for such a restricted area.
- Judging from the results of this survey and past work, it is likely that the northern Palawan region has a higher coral diversity than other parts of the Philippines
- In view of the heavy impact of fisheries, including destructive fishing methods such as cyanide, explosives, and muro-ami, most of the sites had a significant amount of live coral and overall coral diversity for the Calamianes was impressive

• The biologically richest and most aesthetic sites were site numbers 3, 15, 26 and 38 Site 32 had many rare and previously undescribed species Southwest Coron Island revealed excessive damage from explosives

Molluscs:

- A total of 648 species belonging to 96 families were recorded during the expedition including 469 gastropods, 163 bivalves, 7 chitons, 5 cephalopods, and 2 scaphopods
- The most diverse families were gastropods: Conidae (44 species); Cypraeidae (36); Thaididae (30); and Mitridae (24). Veneridae (37) was the most diverse bivalve family.
- Mollusc diversity was higher than for any previous RAP expedition and similar surveys conducted in Australia, being marginally higher than Milne Bay, Papua New Guinea (638 species) and the Montebello Islands, Western Australia (631)
- A single specimen of octopus was found at one station, indicative of high fishing pressure Similarly, low numbers of other fished species such as spider shells, conchs and abalone were also encountered
- Aside from the small *Tridacna crocea*, and to a lesser extent *T. squamosa*, very few live giant clams were seen during the expedition While the species are recorded from a number of stations, the majority of *the* records were based on dead shells, and populations appear to have been overfished Similarly, few ornamental seashells of the type sold commercially were found during the survey
- The two richest sites for mollusc diversity were 1 and 17: site 11 had the lowest diversity

Fishes:

- A total of 736 species belonging to 250 genera and 70 families were observed or collected during the present survey An extrapolation method using six key index families (Chaetodontidae, Pomacanthidae, Pomacentridae, Labridae, Scaridae, and Acanthuridae) indicates a total fauna consisting of at least 888 species
- Species numbers at visually sampled sites ranged from 106 to 208, with an average of 158 per site.
- The islands off northeaster Busuanga including Tara, Dimaquiat, Tanobon, and Dimipac were generally the richest areas for fishes in the Calamianes Group with an average of 189 species per snte The lowest diversity was in the northwest sector of Coron Bay where an average of 115 species per snte was recorded
- Although reef fish biodiversity 1s high 1n the Calamianes Group, habitat diversity was relatively 1cw More often than not the reefs were typically well-sheltered and subject to varying degrees of siltation with minimal current activity

including a blenny (*Ecsenius colei*), and dottyback (*Labracinus atrofasciatus*). In addition, at least three undescribed species, a dottyback (*Pseudochromis*), damselfish (*Altrichthys*) and blenny (*Ecsenius*) were collected during the survey.

· The Calamianes Group is home to several rare fish species

• The ten richest sites for species diversity were 1, 2, 9, 10, 17, 21, 22, 24, 30, and 31; the lowest (<120 spp.) were 5, 11, 12, 19, and 37.

Fisheries:

- The history of fisheries in the region is characterized by a steady and rapid decline of resources since a peak period between 1970-1980. There has been a trend to utilize various types of gear until stocks reach an unprofitable level forcing a switch to alternative gear and/or more distant fishing grounds.
- Underwater observations at thirty sites indicate that most reefs have suffered various degrees of habitat destruction. primarily from blast fishing. *muro-ami*, cyanide use, and anchor damage. Furthermore, the reefs are characterized by severe depletion of market-sized fishes. including a notable lack of large piscivorous species such as groupers, barracudas, jacks and sharks. (The only shark recorded was at site 13). Likewise, lobsters appear to have been fished to the brink of extinction.
- The fisheries of the Calamianes area face a bleak future mainly due to the heavy exploitation of available resources. This situation has resulted in reduced catch rates and consequent decline in total production. The 1997 fish production estimate was only 50% of the 1991 level and further decline is anticipated.
- · Development of tourism offers a viable alternative to fishing

as a source of livelihood. Not only would it offer employment opportunities, but would effectively reduce fishing pressure and offer a means of resource protection (at least in the immediate vicinity of tourist facilities).

Sightings of large marine animals:

Only a single shark was sighted during the survey, an obvious sign of heavy fishing pressure. Reef sharks are generally territorial, long-lived, slow to mature, and exhibit low fecundity. Consequently they are easily fished out. Wright (1975) reported that Whale Sharks (*Rhincodon typus*) were rarely seen in the Calamianes, but over a two-day period in February 1974 as many as six were observed together along with a whale and manta rays.

During the current RAP survey we did not observe any turtle nesting activity, but Wright (1975) noted that sea turtles nested at West Nalaud Island and the young turtles were often harvested and sold to aquarium fish traders.

Both biological and fisheries teams recorded dugong and marine turtle sightings during the present survey. These observations are summarized in Table 1.

Biological diversity

The biological results (Table 2) of the present survey indicate that the Palawan area, including the Calamianes Group, is among the richest in the Philippines for marine biodiversity and probably represents a discrete and important biogeographic subprovince characterized by regional endemism. The subprovince has a distinct geological basis for its separation from most other parts of the Philippines, which was first recognized more than a century ago (Huxley, 1868).

Huxley's Line forms a modification of the well-known Wallace's line, a boundary originally proposed to delineate the

DATE	SITE NO.	LOCATION	SIGHTINGS	NO. AND LENGTH
7/2/98	4	Coconogon Pt.	Hawksbill Turtle	1 (85 cm)
7/2/98	6	Cabilauan Is.	Hawksbill Turtle	1 (36 cm)
8/2/98	7	Dimaquiat Is.	Green Turtle	2 (75 cm)
8/2/98	9	Tanobon Is.	Turtle tracks only	
9/2/98	10	Dimipac Is.	Green Turtle	2 (30-100 cm)
9/2/98	10	Dimipac is.	Hawksbill Turtle	1 (not given)
9/2/98	12	Caluit Bay	Dugong	1 (adult)
9/2/98	13	Kalampisauan Is.	Green Turtle	1 (80 cm)
10/2/98	15	Gutob Peninsula	Green Turtle	1 (45 cm)
10/2/98	16	Detobet Pt.	Dugong	l (adult)
11/2/98	17	Talampulan Is.	Dugong	l (adult)
12/2/98	21	Galoc Is.	Green Turtle	1 (60 cm)
12/2/98	22	Galoc Is.	Green Turtle	1 (70 cm)
17/2/98	28	Calumbuyan Is.	Hawksbill Turtle	1 (80 cm)
17/2/98	29	Popototan Is.	Green Turtle	1 (120 cm)
19/2/98	none	Halsey Harbour	Dugong	1 (adult)

Table 1. Summary of turtle and dugong sightings. All team members kept on watch for these animals while diving and while traveling on the surface. The length of dugongs and turtles was estimated.

separation of western and eastern components of the terrestrial biota of the Southeast Asian region (Huxley, 1868: foldout chart; Simpson, 1977; Fig. 1). Huxley's line passes between Bali and Lombok in the south and separates the Calamianes and Palawan from Mindoro, western Mindanao, and the rest of the Philippines in the north. The Indonesian islands west of Bali (Java, Sumatra, etc.), southern Borneo, and the Philippine islands, including Palawan, Calamianes, Mindoro, and western Mindanao, originated on the Eurasian plate and existed at least than 50% at nearly every site with the exception of Polillo, Quezon (Gomez *et al.*, 1994).

Muro-ami, cyanide, and explosives are among the most destructive of fishing practices resulting in wholesale degradation of coral environments. The muro-ami method involves setting a net over a coral reef into which a group of 10-30 swimmers drive the fishes. The swimmers are equipped with weighted (usually rocks) lines that are bounced up and down

Table 2. Summary of Calamianes marine fauna recorded during the RAP survey.

FAUNAL GROUP	NO. FAMILIES	NO. GENERA	NO. SPP.
Reef corals*	19	74	305
Molluscs	96	223	648
Fishes	70	250	736

*includes Hydrocorals and Octocorallia

as early as the early Tertiary, c. 50 mya. (Hall, 1995,1996). The Indonesian chain of islands from Bali east to Wetar (and beyond), and the other Philippine islands originated on the Philippine Sea Plate to the east over a considerable period of time, and some, such as Bali-Wetar chain, formed as recently as about 15 mya and their formation is continuing. Complex tectonic movements over 50 mya resulted in extensive shifts in position of the various islands, including approximation of islands from the different plates (e.g., Mindoro and Luzon) and formation of hybrid islands resulting from the suturing of islands from the two areas (e.g., eastern and western Mindanao).

Relatively rich marine biodiversity (Table 2) was reported during the present RAP despite a lack *cf* habitat diversity. Most sites consisted of reasonably well-sheltered fringing reefs that were less than 35 m deep and lacked significant ocean currents. Atoll, barrier, and platform reefs, typical of many Indo-Pacific localities were not encountered. Nor were steep outer reef drop-offs, which usually contribute a substantial element to overall biodiversity.

Although situated within the "coral triangle," an area famous for its unsurpassed marine biodiversity, the Philippines has experienced a rapid decline in marine resources/fisheries production, particularly over the past three to four decades, Much of the blame is attributed to the widespread use of destructive fishing methods (McAllister, 1988). Moreover, considerable reef destruction resulted from the well-documented decrease of inland forest cover during the Marcos regime. This situation caused huge quantities cf'silt, the product of erosion, to be carried out to sea by rivers where it eventually settled on coral reefs,

Gomez *et al.* (1994) reviewed the status of Philippine reefs. Surveys initiated in the 1970's have documented their rapid degradation. Based on estimates of the percentage of live coral cover approximately 70% of the country's reefs were classified as fair to poor (0-49% cover), with only 5.5% included in the excellent (75-100% cover) category (Gomez, 1991). An analysis of 85 sites at 14 locations around the country revealed that hard coral cover was substantially less on the reef in an effort to drive out the fishes.

In the 1980s the use of cyanide emerged as a favorite method of capturing specimens for the aquarium and live food-fish trades. McAllister (1988) conservatively estimated that 75,000 kg or 1,500 drums of cyanide were being sprayed onto Philippines coral reefs each year. Thankfully, cyanide-monitoring test units are currently in operation at strategic sites and should markedly reduce the use of this chemical. Although it is illegal to use cyanide, very few apprehensions occur and in the previous decade less than 1% of those arrested were actually convicted (McAllister, 1988).

During the present Calamianes survey we saw evidence of the major destructive fishing methods, which leave their characteristic marks in the form of bleached coral skeletons and rubble patches. Two sites (24 and 25) along the southwestern coast of Coron Island were *the* worst affected, essentially reduced to rubble to a depth of at least 20 meters. We also encountered an illegal drag-netting operation in Coron Bay.

In spite of intensive use of destructive fishing practices in the Calamianes Group oaer the pas: decades, much of the observed degradation was either limited in area or was relatively old, with many reefs showing good signs of recovery, evidenced by significant amounts of live coral cover. These observations are very encouraging and clearly signal that it is not too late to implement conservation measures.

Key sites

The RAP team was particularly impressed by the conservation potential of several sites, based on their wealth of organisms and scenic beauty. The top-ranked area was at Twin Peaks Islands (site 26) on the northwest coast of Coron Island near the entrance to Cayangan Lake. The reef was mainly undamaged and contained a notable abundance of corals and fishes. Moreover, the site contains remarkable scenery, both above and below the surface.

The Siete Pecados Islands (site 38), also on the northwest coast of Coron Island, is similar to the Twin Peaks area, but

slightly less attractive, underwater. The site is e popular dive destination and is designated as e Marine Core Zone under the ECAN zonation scheme of Coron municipality.

Halsey Harbour on Culion Island has well-developed reefs that support an extraordinary diversity of non-*Acropora* corals, including several species that were previously unknown to science. This large bay is sparsely populated and has good potential as a Marine Core Zone. Likewise, the incredibly scenic bay near site 24 on she southwest coast of Coron Island could be an excellent destination for tourists. A narrow passage leads to a tranquil lagoon (nearly 30 m deep) surrounded by sheer rocky cliffs that rise precipitously from the sea for hundreds of feet.

Recent developments

In June 1998, bleaching occurred on several reefs throughout the Philippines, including reefs in Palawan. Some sites recommended for protection as a result of the 1998 RAP were briefly revisited over a two-day period in December 2000. The observations are reponded in Appendix 5.

CONSERVATION ISSUES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Like many other areas of the Philippines, the Calamianes urgently require effective conservation measures. The area stil supports a high level of marine biodiversity and some reefs are in relatively good shape. However, it is imperative to enact conservation measures immediately to halt further degradation. It may be too late already for some species of sharks. rays, and groupers that have declined dramatically from over-fishing and the illegal *use* of explosives and cyanide. Fortunately, the human population density of the Calamianes is one of the low*est* in the Philippines. There is rea! hope that reefs can recover if fishing activities can be effectively managed. Plans for increased tourism will certainly affect environmental management policies and need to be carefully considered before the implementation stage.

Taking these factors into account, we make the following recommendations to conserve critical natural environments that are necessary to sustain the area's marine biodiversity.

1) Evaluate and control impacts of land-based activities.

The intimate linkage between marine and terrestrial conservation must be emphasized. In the Calamianes, and Palawan Province in general, coastal communities that once derived most of their protein from the sea are now turning to terrestrial sources as fish stocks dwindle. On Coron Island, for example, where over two-thirds of the island's coral reefs have been damaged by cyanide fishing, the Tagbanua people now harvest birds, monkeys, and wild pigs. Conversely, when terrestrial resources are depleted, people turn to the sea, placing further stress on the limited marine resources. The common practice of slash and burn agriculture has all but depleted the natural forest of the Calamianes, resulting in severe erosion in some areas and consequent heavy silt deposition on adjacent reefs. Hence watersheds and agricultural practices need to be properly managed, with provision for reforestation wherever possible. In addition, terrestrial RAP surveys need to be implemented throughout Palawan Province to help define terrestrial core zones under the ECAN scheme.

2) Establish a network of n arine protected areas. A solid infrastructure already exists is r she establishment of protected areas Palawan Province was declared a Biosphere Reserve by UNESCO, and is presently laying the groundwork for an environmentally sustainable development plan under the auspices of the Palawar Council for Sustainable Development (PCSD). Acting under the authority of the Strategic Environmental Plan, the PCSD is empowered to work with local governments to establish an Environmentally Critical Areas Network (ECAN) zonation scheme, which recommend strategic core areas to function as protected zones to help sustain biodiversity. Based on results of the RAP survey the Twin Peaks area (RAP site 26) should be one of the most important marine conservation priorities because of its excellent biodiversity and overall reef condition. It is located near the entrance of Cavangan Lake, an area of considerable conservation interest, and only 1-2 km south of Siete Pecados, a popular dive destination and an area designated as a Marine Core Zone under B e ECAN scheme. It would therefore be advisable to expand the existing core zone to include the Twin Peaks area. Other sites worthy of core zone designation included Halsey Harbour and southern Coron. At sites 31-33. situated at the entrance and inner sections (near Rhodes Island) of Halsey Harbor at Culion Island, several new coral species were discovered and tie reef community was generally weil-developed. Although the outer reef slope off the southwest end of Coror, Island (site 24) was terribly damaged (by explosives), there is a wonderfully scenic amphitheatrelike bay adjacent to the site. The bay incorporates shallow sand flats and reef as well as a crater-like lagoon with depths to 28 m. A feu other sites wish core zone potential due primarily to their rich diversity of corals and fishes include the following: Lagat Island (site 3), Kalampisauan Island (site 13), Buluang Bay (site 14), Gutob Peninsula (site 15). and Saddle Rock (site 35).

3) Facilitate studies (biological and non-biological) that are essential for planning the conservation of marine environments. A future RAP survey is recommended to assess areas not included during 1998, including the western half of Coron Bay the east coast of Coron Island, and Busuanga Island from Bocao Point to Coconogon Point. It would also be highly desirable to survey Linapacan Island and northernmost Palawan, including the El Nido area. Additional sites of interest will certainly be documented with further survey work. Two areas in particular are worthy of investigation. These include the Tres Reyes Rocks and Malaposo Island (off southern Bulalacao). Both of these areas are reported as having well-developed coral reefs and, like the Siete Pecados Islands, have been designated as Marine Core Zones. Unfortunately, we were prevented from visiting these areas during our survey due to high seas and exceptionally strong winds. In addition, there is considerable need for more information on potentially rare and endangered marine wildlife such as sharks, several endemic reef fishes and corals, dugongs, and sea turtles. One way to fill this information gap would be to work with various universities, encouraging and financially supporting students to undertake graduate research work involving the biology, distribution, and conservation of these species. Another worthwhile venture would be to convene a workshop that collates existing geophysical, political, ecological, cultural, and socio-economic information, which all relevant experts and

stakeholders might review together to achieve consensus on a strategy and to identify information gaps.

4) Implement or strengthen conservation programs for rare and endangered marine wildlife. The Calamianes area harbors a number of rare endemic marine species. These need to be identified and conservation action should be taken to protect their remaining populations and critical habitats. For example, during the current RAP, several new corais were identified, which are possibly restricted to the Calamianes. In addition, at least five endemic fishes, including three new species, were recorded. At least one of these (*Labracinus atrofasciatus*) is extremely rare and appears to be highly restricted in terms of habitat preference. It was previously known from a single specimen collected nearly 70 years ago at Culion Island. About 10 individuals were sighted during the 1998 survey, most on the shallow fringing reef at Lajo Island (site 19).

5) Develop tourism in a fashion that supports marine conservation. The northwest coast of Busuanga, particularly Gutob Bay and the peninsula immediately to the west, has been proposed as a site for major tourism development by the Philippines Department of Tourism (DOT, 1999). While considerable analysis is still required to determine the regional significance of the Calamianes' coral reef species diversity, we do know that the region is a global priority for conservation mainly because it supports the greatest diversity of reef corals yet known. Although the RAP results indicate a more diverse coral fauna in other areas of the Calamianes, the northwestern section of Busuanga (sites 13-17) was relatively diverse for corals, molluses, and fishes combined. Kalampisauan Island (site 13) was particularly notable for its combination of high fish and coral diversity. The west coast of Busuanga also supports a significant dugong population, perhaps the largest in the Calamianes. Therefore we recommend that at least part of this area be considered as a marine core zone. Although it encroaches on the area recommended for tourism development by DOT, there is no reason why tourism and reef conservation could not be developed in a complimentary fashion. However, there will need to be strict guidelines to avoid adverse affects on coral reefs due to developmental activities such as land clearing, sewage disposal, and habitat alteration. One aspect of tourism that has proved beneficial in other locations is the unofficial policing provided by the constant presence of tourists and tour operators, which discourages illegal and destructive fishing practices and other conservation breaches.

The social implications of major tourism development are probably more serious. According to PNNI (a local NGO), the people of western Busuanga were not even aware that their area was being proposed as a major overseas tourist destination. This is a serious oversight and needs to be addressed. It is essential that local communities benefit from any tourism development. If this fails to happen their economic livelihoods will rely on further exploitation of natural resources in an already highly stressed environment. There is also concern that the proposed development will bypass Coron, and that its local economy will also rely on overexploitation of terrestrial and marine resources. Coron is presently the gateway to the Calamianes, but this would change with the construction of the proposed international airport. A pleasant waterfront town with views of spectacular limestone peaks, Coron has great tourist potential, but currently suffers from the consequences of poor sanitation. For example, during our stay at the main waterfront hotel we were constantly exposed to a malodorous stench resulting from a mix of human waste and garbage that is discharged directly into the adjacent sea. Tourism development therefore needs to ensure that there are benefits to the local population, and that it does not result in increased pressures on the environment.

6) Implement an environmental awareness campaign. All too often local inhabitants are ignorant of the special plants and animals that share their environment. Even if they are familiar with them, in the case of endemic species they usually have no idea that the only existing populations are restricted to their area. Therefore education, concerning the special nature of their natural heritage and the urgent need to protect it, is essential. There are a variety of options for accomplishing this task, depending on local circumstances. These include incorporating biodiversity and conservation into primary and secondary school curricula, distribution of graphic posters that convey important conservation messages, slide shows and free public lectures, and booklets. Fortunately, there are many successful examples of educational programs to draw from within the international conservation community to guide one for Palawan.

7) **Promote community participation in conservation planning and management.** Municipalities and barangays must play a major role in conservation planning and management. Most coral reefs lie within the three nautical mile limit of municipal waters, which are under their jurisdiction. Their proximity and legal claim over these waters identifies them as a key target group for implementing marine conservation measures.

8) Enforce existing laws. Although existing laws govern land use, wildlife conservation, and fishing, there is an obvious need for more effective enforcement to curb a variety of illegal activities. During our brief stay in the Calamianes we witnessed illegal trawling operations and the use of highly destructive muro-ami fishing methods. We also witnessed numerous reefs that were partly or wholly destroyed by blast fishing and cyanide fishing. Clearly, these illegal activities must cease if conservation measures are to be successfully implemented. Local and national governments need to allocate funds for patrol boats, trained personnel, and other required resources. Moreover, effective enforcement needs to be backed up by adequate penalties in the form of heavy fines, confiscation of boats and fishing equipment, and/or jail sentences.

9) Enact more effective laws that actually regulate fishing activities. Unfortunately, fishing policies are usually formulated to address the current fisheries situation, with little or no regard to future implications. In essence, the industry has been governed by a "self-regulating" cycle of collapse. slow recovery, and overfishing. What is really needed are sound management guidelines that tightly regulate the type and

quantity of gear allowed. as well as strict catch quotas for various types of fishes, based on sound biological information Certain non-sustainable methods such as spearfishing or live hsh-collecting with the use of either SCUBA or hookah equipment should be totally banned, regardless of core zone status, and illegal use of explosives and cyanide should also be eliminated

10) Establish a long-term environmental monitoring program. Periodic marine biological surveys are recommended to monitor the status of reef environments and of rare. endangered, or locally endemic species As in other parts of the western Pacific, marine biologists could assist in the design of simple and inexpensive, but effective monitoring protocols which local residents, NGOs. and government officers could conduct on their own A monitoring program 1s especially recommended for any areas that are slated for major tourism development such as the northwest coast of Busuanga It is important to gather critical baseline information including environmental a ariables as well as a basic inventory of major groups of organisms such as corals, molluscs, crustaceans, echinoderms, and fishes In this way, any future deleterious alteration of reef ecosystems can be more easily recognized and necessary remedial action initiated to prevent further degradation

11) Promote cooperation among relevant government departments. Marine environments and conservation issues involve an overlap of agency responsibilities and jurisdictions All too often government departments, both local and national, seem to operate independently from one another, even though coastal management requires close collaboration between multiple agencies We therefore recommend that the government of the Calamianes commit to developing an integrated coastal management strategy, which should lead to better inter-agency coordination It is particularly important to coordinate the recommendations and actions of the Palawan Council for Sustainable Development, Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources, Department of Tourism. and the Department of Environment and Natural Resources, as well as municipal government bodies

12) Make fishing laws consistent between municipalities The municipal governments of the Calamianes and other parts of northern Palawan should coordinate efforts to establish consistent fishing regulations The existing situation, in which some forms of non-sustainable fishing practices (e g . use cf hookah) are allowed in one municipality but are illegal in another, is confusing and detrimental to conservation of the overall Calamianes region

13) Review policies governing public access to pearl farms. The proliferation of pearl farms on Busuanga and other areas of northern Palawan has reduced the area for traditional fishing, thus placing additional pressure on remaining areas. Local fishers probably should be granted free fishing access to pearl farm waters, but a study

needs ω be commissioned to determine the effect this action would have on the local subsistence economy One important aspect that needs to be considered if free access were granted would be the elimination of **the** existing "marine reserve" function of pearl farms.

14) Address safety issues when fishing boats are converted to tourism use Although there are national regulations governing health and safety issues aboard passenger vessels, there ace no local laws covering limits on passenger capacity, number of life tests, and required navigational equipment Boat operators should be compelled *to* comply with safety regulations before their vessels are registered

References

- Department of Tourism (DOT) 1999 Special Assistance Project Formation for the Sustainable Environmental Management Project in Northern Palawan Final Report Vol. II: Main Report Department of Tourism, The Government Of the Republic of the Philippines
- Gomez, E D 1991 Coral reef ecosystems and resources of the Philippines Conopy International 16(5) 1-12
- Gomez, E D, P M Alinõ, H T Yap, and W. Y. Licuanan. 1994 A review of the status of Philippine reefs. Marine Pollution Bulletin 29(1-3) 62-68
- Hall, R 1995 Plate tectonic reconstructions of the Indonesian Region Indonesian Petroleum Association, Proceedings of the 24th Annual Convention 1-8, 5 pls
- Hall, R 1996 Reconstructing Cenozonc SE Asia Geological Society Special Publication 106 153-184
- Huxley, T H 1868 On the classification and distribution of the Alectoromorphae and Heteromorphae Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 1868 294-319, foldout
- Leis, J M 1991 Chapter 8 The pelagic stage of reef fishes the larval biology of coral reef fishes In Sale P.F (ed) The Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs San Diego, USA Academic Press
- McAllister, D E 1988 Environmental, economic, and social costs of coral reef destruction in the Philippines Galaxea 7 161-178
- Pido, M D, R S Pomeroy, B M Katon, M. B. Carlos, and A C Sandalo 1996 The management systems of marine fisheries and other coastal resources in Palawan, Philippines Concepts, experiences and lessons Research Report No 4.Fisheries Co-Management Project Makati City, Philippines ICLARM.
- Simpson, G G 1977 Too many lines the limits of the Oriental and Australian zoogeographic regions Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 12112) 107-120
- Wright, T M 1975 Calamian field station Unpublished Master of Arts thesis (Geography) Honolulu University of Hawani

TECHNICAL REPORTS

CORALS (ZOOXANTHELLATE SCLERACTINIA) OF THE CALAMIANES ISLANDS, PALAWAN PROVINCE, PHILIPPINES

J. E. N. Veron and Douglas Fenner

Summary

- The Philippines has the highest recorded diversity of shallow-water scleractinian corals. Parts of Indonesia are comparable, but relevant studies arc incomplete. The present survey raised the known species total from 349 to at least 462. and at *least* 30 additional species can be expected.
- At leas: 21 undescribed species were identified during the survey; an unexpectedly high number for such a restricted area.
- Judging from the results of this survey and past work it is likely that the northern Palawan region has a higher coral diversity than other parts of the Philippines.
- Despite the heavy impact of fisheries, including destructive fishing methods such as cyanide, explosives, and *muro-ami*, most of the sites had a significant amount of live coral and overall coral diversity for the Calamianes w as impressive,

Methods

The coral survey team consisted of two persons. One of us (JENV) was mainly occupied with collecting and photographing new, rare, or unusual species. This was accomplished by randomly swimming around the site, with the aim of covering all habitat situations to a maximum depth of about 40 m. The other person (DF) primarily recorded as many species as possible. The basic method consisted of underwater observations, usually during a single, 60-90 minute dive at each site. The name of each species identified was marked on a plastic sheet on which species names were printed. A direct descent

was made in most cases to the base *c* the reel, to or beyond the deepest coral visible The bulk of the dive consisted of a slow ascent along the reef in a *zigzag* path to the shallowest point of she reef All habitats encountered were surveyed, including sandy areas, walls, overhangs, slopes, and shallow reef. Areas typically hosting few or no corals, such as sedgrass beds and mangroves, were not surveyed

Results

A total of 305 species in 74 genera of stony corals (293 species and 49 genera of zooxanthellate Scleractinia) were recorded (Appendices 1, 2) Most of these are illustrated in Veron (2000) *The* coral fauna consists mainly of Scleractinia The genera with the largest numbers of species found were *Acropora, Montipora, Pavona, Fungia, Leptoseris, Porites, Lobophyllia, Favia, Echinopora*, and *Astreopora* These 10 genera account for about 46% of the total observed scleractinians (Table 1

IN MARKE IT OCHCIA WITH THE PICACOL HUTHOUT OF SUVE	Tabl	le	Ϊ.	Genera	with	the	greatest	number	of	specie	es
---	------	----	----	--------	------	-----	----------	--------	----	--------	----

RANK	GENUS	NO. SPP.
1	Acropora	40
2	Montipora	23
3	Pavona	12
4	Fungia	11
4	Leptoseris	11
6	Porites	10
7	Lobophyllic	9
8	Favia	8
ı 9	Echinopor a	6
9	Astreopora	4

Acropora and Montipora are invariably the two most speciose genera on western Pacific reefs, whereas the remaining generr, show considerable variation in ranking depending on geographic location (Table 2) **Table 2.** Genera with the greatest number of species for various sites in the West Pacific: eastern and western Australia (E. Aus. and W. Aus.), Philippines (Phil.), Japan (all from Veron, 1993), and the Calamianes Islands (Calam.), Philippines (present survey).

RANK	GENUS	% OF FAUNA				
		E. AUS.	W. AUS.	PHIL.	JAPAN	CALAM.
1	Acropora	19	18	17	19	13
2	Montipora	9	10	10	9	8
3	Porites	5	4	6	6	3
4	Favia	4	4	4	4	3
5	Goniopora	4	4	3	4	1
6	Fungia	4	3	4	3	3
7	Pavona	2	3	3	3	4
8	Leptoseris	2	2	2	3	4
9	Cycloseris	3	2	3	2	1
10	Psammocora	2	3	2	2	2

Discussion

A total of 349 species of zooxanthellate sc eractinian corals *aere* previously recorded from the Philippines [Appendix 1) These records were primarily from Veron and Hodgson (1989), which accommodates h e extensive work of Nemenzo and his colleagues An updated last was compiled in Veron (1993) This number has subsequently been greatly increased from a spectrum of taxonomic studies associated with the recently published book *Corals of the World* (Veron, 2000) During the present survey, an unexpected high number (at least 21) of undescribed species was discovered and several records previously considered ai doubtful were confirmed Most of the species labeled "sp " in Appendix 1 are likely to be undescribed: some of these await confirmation or further study

The total number of recorda of Philippines cords now stands at 462 A further 37 species are expected to occur in the Philippines on biogeographic grounds, but *they* have not been verified. **A** total of 499 species is thus likely to occur in the Philippines.

Although it is difficult to compare the species diversity of the Philippines with other regions *or* countries due to lack of accurate information for many other areas (Indonesia in particular) it would appear that the Philippines has the world's richest coral fauna (Table 3).

Judging from the results of this survey and past uork it is likely that the northern Palawan region has a higher diversity than other parts of the Philippines. although further surveys are required, particularly an Luzon Strait and the area encompassing the entire eastern coast of the archipelago The discovery of 21 new species (Table 4) during the present survey is very significant, considering this number is more than the average described worldwide for an entire year

Aside from the discovery of new species, one of the most interesting finds was the documentation of two very distinct

Table 3. Comparison of coral faunas of various regions

REGION	APPROXIMATE NUMBER OF SPR. RECORDED
Philippines	462
Eastern Papua New Guinea	380
Ryukyu Islands/Yaeyama Islands	370
Great Barrier Reef, Australia	350
Northwest Shelf, W. Australia	300
Marshall Islands	250
Red Sea	180
Andaman and Nicobar Islands	110
Carribean Sea	60
Hawaiian Islands	46

Table 4. New species observed/collected during the 1998 Calamianes RAP survey. These were recently described by Veron (2000).

SPECIES	SPECIES
Family Acroporidae	Family Mussidae
Acropora fenneri	Acanthastrea faviaformis
Acropora filiformis	Acanthastrea regularis
Acropora gomezi	Lobophyllia serratus
Anacropora pillai	Micromusa diminuta
Montipora hodgsoni	Montastrea colemani
Montipora palawanensis	Family Favildae
Montipora porites	Favites micropentagona
Montipora verruculosus	Favites paraflexuosa
Family Oculinidae	Platygyra acuta
Galaxea longisepta	Platygyra discus
Family Pectiniidae	Goniastrea minuta
Echinophyllia tylorae	
Mycedium steeni	

polyp types in what appears to be a single genus of a relatively rare coral (*Nemenzophyllia*). The two types are different enough to warrant assignment to separate genera, yet based on skeletal characteristics they clearly belong to one genus. The phylogenetic implications of this unique phenomenor, are as yet unknown.

Approximately two-thirds of reefs surveyed were constructed on terrigenous substrates with very little cementation by coralline algae. Thus, reef habitats in the Calamianes are primarily of the continental variety as opposed to oceanic. This finding supports the geological data for the origin of this region (see discussion section at end of introductory chapter).

The surveyed reefs presented a wide range of coral development, although most were of the fringing type. Despite the heavy impact of fisheries, including destructive fishing methods such as cyanide, explosives, and *muro-ami*, most of the sites had a significant amount of live coral, and overall coral diversity for the Calamianes was impressive. There were, however, occasional sites that were devastated, particularly those lying along the southwestern coast of Coron Island (Stations 24–25). The best sites for overall diversity and aesthetic quality were Stations 3, 15, 26, and 38. Additionally, Station 32 near Rhodes Island (Halsey Harbour), rated highly due to the number of rare and new discoveries made there.

A list of coral species observed *et* the various stations is included in Appendix 2. The list was compiled by D. Fenner and is not intended to be comprehensive for each site, but rather to serve as a guide to the mainly common species that were observed. For this reason, the table should not be used to compare overal! species richness between sites.

References

- Veron, J. E. N. 1993. A biographic database of hermatypic corals; species of the central Indo-Pacific, genera of the world. Austalian Institute of Marine Science Monograph Series 19.
- Veron, J. E. N. 2000. Corals of the World. Volumes 1-3 Townsville, Australia: Australian Institute of Marine Science.
- Veron, J. E. N. and G. Hodgson. 1989. Annotated checklist of the hermatypic corals of the Philippines. Pacific Science 43: 234-287.

TECHNICAL REPORTS

MOLLUSCS OF THE CALAMIANES ISLANDS, PALAWAN PROVINCE, PHILIPPINES

Fred E. Wells

Summary

- A total of 648 species of molluses belonging to 96 families were reported during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Group. All of the species with well-known distributions are widespread in the Indo-West Pacific: none are endemic to the Philippines.
- A total of 38 stations were investigated, with a mean of 57.9 ± 2.8 (SE) species collected pes station. The richest stations were the middle of the west side of Tara Island (Station 1) and a small island south of Talampulan Island (Station 17), both with 93 species. The least diverse station was Illutue Bay (Station 11) with 11 species.
- 'The diversity of molluscs collected on the Calamianes expedition is higher than on any of the author's previous expeditions to Papua Sew Guinea, Western Australia, Christmas Island, and Cocos (Keeling) Islands.
- More species of molluses can be expected from the Calamianes with increased collecting effort. Moreover, rapid survey techniques are no?conducive to the collection of small, cryptic species.
- A scarcity & octopus and ornamental shells is Indicative of high fishing pressure. Aside from the small *Tridacnea* crocea, and to a lesser extent *T. squamosa*, very few living giant clams were seer during the expedition.
 While the species were recorded from a number of stations, the majority of the records were based on deac shells, and populations appear to have been overfished.
- Excessive removal of ornamental shells has caused substantial damage *to* coral reef ecosystems in other areas of the Philippines, and very few specimer. shells were found during the Calamianes RAP.

Introduction

This is the second report from the Marine Rapid Assessment Program (RAP) in the Indo-Pacific region. The first was undertaken in Milne Bay, Papua New Guinea in October 1997 (Wells, 1998).

As indicated in the report from the first survey, molluscs were chosen in addition to corals and coral reef fishes to serve as an example of the diversity of other invertebrates and to provide information against which to compare the data obtained from corals and fishes. Specifically, molluscs were chosen because:

- They have by far the largest diversity of any phylum in the marine environment;
- the group is relatively well known taxonomically and there are reliable guides to the larger species; and
- they are ecologically and economically important.

Diversity of molluscs is exceedingly high in the tropical waters of the Indo-West Pacific, particularly in coral reef environments. Gosliner *et al.* (1996) estimated that approximately 60% of all marine invertebrate species in the area are molluscs. While molluscan diversity is known to be high on coral reefs, no estimates are available for the total number of species in any Indo-West Pacific coral reef system. In fact, there are few estimates available of the number of molluscs living in any particular area.

In recent years the Western Australian Museum has conducted a number of coral reef surveys in Western Australia and adjoining areas such as Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands, both in the Indian Ocean. Data in the reports published from this work provide a basis of comparison with the work undertaken in the Calamianes Group.

Materials and Methods

Molluscs were collected at all 38 sites visited during the survey Scuba dives were made at most sites and ai many habitats as possible were inventoried to provide as complete an indication or diversity as could be made an a short investigation At some stations intertidal collecting by hard was undertaken at low tide, particularly during morning spring tides in the first week of the expeliitor Fin e restrictions and the absence of suitable strandline5 on the beaches prevented beach collecting of dead shells io obtain additional records In all cases representatives of each species were returned to the boat where they were identified using standard shell books, particu arly Springsteen and Leobrera (1986). Other references consulted during the trip Mere Cernohorsky (1972), Wells and Bryce 11989, 1993). and Lamprell and Whitehead (1992) Additional publications on particular groups were consulted after the expedition was completed

Results and Discussion

Biodiversity of molluses

A total of 648 species of molluses belonging to 96 families were collected during the expedition There were 469 gastropods, 163 bivalves, 7 chitons, 5 cephalopods and 2 scaphopods; no aplacophorans were collected The preponderance of gastropods is in accord with previous studies using the same methodology, except that the lack of extensive sandy mudflats surveyed in the Calamianes areas meant that the proportion of bivalves was lower than on some of the previous trips Four of the most diverse families were gastropods Conidae (44 species). Cypraeidae (36); Thaididae (30); and Mitridae (24) Veneridae (37) was the most diverse bivalve family and the second most diverse overall All of the species with well-known distributions are widesprea3 in the Indo-West Pacific; none are endemic to the Philipp nes

4 total of 38 stations were investigated, with a mean of 579 \pm 28 (SE) species of molluses collected per station. The richest stations were the middle of the west side of Tara Island (Station 1) and a small island south of Talampulan Island (Station 17), both with 93 species; the least diverse station was Illutue Bay (Station 11) with 11 species

The diversity of molluscs collected on the Calamianes expedition is higher than on any previous expedition undertaken by the author, being marginally higher than in Milne Bay, Papua New Guinea (638 species) and the Montebello Islands. Western Australia (631) (Table 1) Both Milne Bay and the Montebellos have a high degree of habitat complexity that was reflected in all of the animal groups sampled, not just molluscs Habitat diversity at stations sampled in the Calamianes Group was lower Most stations were fringing reefs along the coast, no open water atoll reefs were sampled during the survey This combination of high mollusc diversity despite the low habitat diversity suggests that the Calamianes Group has a higher diversity of molluscs in each habitat than occurs in either Milne Bay or in the Montebellos

The data discussed above can be compared to provide information on the *relative* diversity of molluscs m different areas because the same person collected them (with additional help on some expeditions), using the same methodology However, the 648 species of molluscs recorded from the Calamianes Group should not *be* considered the *total* number of species *to* be found on coral reefs in the area. particularly as the survey did not include offshore atoll reefs. The majori*ty* of molluscs living on Indo-West Pacific coral reefs are small and/or cryptic, and no short-term expedition will record all species. To do so would require an intensive survey over a number of years.

During a survey such as this, all species collected on the first day of the expedition are new *re*cords for the survey. On the second and subsequent days the number of new records declines as progressively more species are recorded from two or more sites. This decrease in new records provides a mechanism for estimating the total numbet of species of molluscs chat would be recorded in the Calamianes area if additional time were available for the survey. A logarithmic regression was calculated on the data using the equation: $y = A + B \ln x$.

Calculated coefficients a ere:

A = 113.93, B = 196.13, r = 0.9957

The r-value indicates that the regression explains over 99% of the variation. Thus, an expedition lasting 30 days would be expected to collect a total of 781 species. A 100-day trip would collect 1017. This suggests that the 651 species collected over the 15 days of the expedition produced a costeffective sampling of the molluscs present in the area. If the expedition time were doubled, the number of species of the more conspicuous molluscs collected would predictably have risen by only 20%.

While there is no overall list of the molluscs of the Philippines. two publications indicate that the group is highly diverse in the archipelago. Just after the turn of the century, Hidalgo (1904–05) recorded 3,i 28 species of molluscs from the Philippines. This figure included non-marine molluscs and erroneous records: but nevertheless serves as a meaningful indicator of a diverse fauna. More recently, Springsteen and Leobrera (1986) figured nearly i,700 marine mollusc species. Some are deepwater species or are characteristic of non-coral reef shallow habitats such as mangroves. However. Springsteen and Leobrera point out that their book is not intended io be comprehensive and many more species are known to occur in the area.

There was a suite of common species found at most stations. These species are characteristic of shallow-water open coral reef systems. The most commonly encountered species was the scallop *Pedum spondyloidaeum*, which lives in scleractinian corals. This *species* was found at 35 of the 38 stations. Other species recorded at 24 or more stations were the bivalves *Tridacnea crocea*, *Tridacna squamosa*, and *Barbatia ventricosa*, and the gastropods *Rhinoclavis asper*, *Lambis lambis*, *Conus musicus*, and *Drupella cornus*.

Drupella cornus and other members of its genus feed actively on corals. Several outbreaks of Drupella have caused considerable damage on coral reefs. particularly in the Ningaloo Marine Park in Western Australia. Such damage was not observed in the Caiamianes Group, with only isolated small patches of corals showing evidence of having been eaten by Drupella.

Table	eres .	Results of	previous	surveys	of molluses	using the	e same	collecting	technique
			1			6.2			

LOCATION	NO. COLLECTING DAYS	NO. MOLLUSC SPP.	REFERENCE
Calamianes Group	16	648	This report
Milne Bay	19	637	Wells, 1998
Montebello Islands	19	631	Wells, Slack-Smith & Bryce, 2000
Abrolhos Islands	Accumulated data	492	Wells & Bryce, 1997
Christmas Island	12 plus accumulated		Wells & Slack-Smith 1988
	data	490	
Ashmore Reef	12	433	Wells, 1993
Kimberleys (1988)	19	413	Wells, 1988
Cocos (Keeling) Islands	20	380 on survey; total	Wells, 1994
		known fauna of 610 spp.	
Kimberleys (1991)	19	317	Wells, 1992
Scott/Seringapatam Reef	8	279	Wells & Slack-Smith, 1986
Rowley Shoals	7	260	Wells & Slack-Smith, 1986
Kimberleys (1994)	13	232	Wells & Bryce, 1995

Exploitation of molluscs in the Calamianes Group

A single specimen of octopus was found at one station, Low abundance of octopus is a reflection of very high fishing pressure, seen in the constant presence of octopus fishermen at many sites throughout the survey. Octopus fishermen operate individually from small rafts, swimming the rafts along the reefs and using lures to attract them off the bottom. Each raft is operated ail day for a total catch of 3-5 kg; down considerably from catches a few years ago (J. Ingles, pers. comm.). Several rafts are based on one mother boat that procheds along the reef on successive days. Although there is relatively low human population density in the Calamianes, local fishing pressure is intensified by fishermen from other areas. One or more octopus fishermen were encountered on most days of the expedition. Low abundances of other fished species such as spider shells, conchs and abalone were similarly encountered.

Aside from the small *Tridacnea crocea*, and to a lesser extent *T. squamosa*, very few living giant clams were seen during the expedition. While the species are recorded from a number of stations, the majority of records were based on dead shells. and populations appear to have been overfished.

Low quality seashells are collected worldwide and used for production of trinkets and other products. The fishery for such shells is extremely high in some areas of the Philippines, and extensive damage to reefs has resulted. However, such damage has not yet occurred in the Calamianes Group.

The specimen shell fishery is relatively small when compared to the fishery for low quality shells, but some individual specimen shells can command high prices (in excess of US\$ 1,000). Very few specimen shells were found during the expedition to the Calamianes Group. While no evidence was found of specific fishing for specimen shells, it is likely that octopus fishers and other fishermen working on the reefs opportunistically collect them.

Acknowledgments

The diversity of molluscs recorded in the present survey was enhanced by the assistance of the other team members in collecting live and dead shells for me during the survey. I sincerely thank them for this assistance and enjoyed being on the expedition with them. In addition, I thank Mr. Andrew Reeves and Dr. Patrick Berry for access to the collections of the Western Australian Museum while I was on a leave of absence.

References

- Allen. 6 R. and R. Steene. 1996. Indo-Pacific Coral Reef Guide. Singapore: Tropical Reef Research.
- Cernohorsky, W O. 1972. Marine shells of the Pacific Sydney: Pacific Publications.
- Gosliner, T. M. D. W. Behrens, and G. C. Williams. 1996 Coral reef animals of the Indo-Pacific. Monterey, California: Sea Challengers.
- Hidalgo y Rodríguez, Joaquín González. 1904–05. Catálogo de los Moluscos Testáceos de las Islas Filipinas, Joló y Marianas. Imprinta de la Gaceta de Madrid, Madrid.
- Lamprell, K. and T. Whitehead. 1992. Bivalves of Australia Volume 1. Bathurst, New South Wales: Crawford House Press.
- Springsteen, F. J. and F. M. Leobrera. 1986. Shells of the Philippines. Manila, Philippines: Carfel Seashell Museum.

Wells. E E. 1986. Zoogeographic affinities of prosobranch gastropods on offshore coral reefs in northwestern Australia. Venger 29: 191–199. Wells, F. E. 1988. Survey of the invertebrate fauna of the Kimberley Islands. Ms. report, Western Australian Museum, Perth. Pp 1-51.

Weils, F. E. 1990. Comparative zoogeography of marine molluses from northern Australia, New Guinea and Indonesia. Veliger 33: 140–144.

Wells, F. E. 1992. Part IV. Molluses. In: Morgan, G. J. (ed.). Survey of the aquatic fauna of the Kimberley Islands and Reefs, Western Australia. Perth: Western Australian Museum. Pp 30-42.

Vells, F. E. 1993. Moliuses of Ashmore Reef and Cartier Island. In: Berry, P. F. (ed.). Marine faunal surveys of Ashmore Reef and Cartier Island, North-western Australia. Records of the Western Australian Museum. Supplement 44: 25-43.

Wells, F. E. 1994. Marine Molluscs of the Cocos (Keeling) Islands. Atoll Research Bulletin 410: 1–22.

Wells, F. E. 1998. Part 3. Molluscs of Milne Bay Province, Papua New Guinea. In: Werner, T. B., and G. R. Allen (eds.). A rapid biodiversity assessment of the coral reefs of Milne Bay Province, Papua New Guinea. RAP Working Papers 11. Washington, D.C.: Conservation International. Pp. 35-38.

Welis, F. E. and C. W. Bryce. 1989. Seashells of Western Australia. Perth: Western Australian Museum.

Wells, F. E. and C. W. Bryce. 1993. Seaslugs of Western Australia. Perth: Western Australian Museum. Wells, F. E. and C. W. Bryce. 1995. Molluscs. In: Wells, F. E R. Hanley and D. I. Walker (eds.). Survey of the marine biota of the Southern Kimberley Islands, Western Australia. MS report to the National Estates Grant Programme. Western Australian Museum, Perth.

Wells, F. E. and C. W. Bryce. 1997. A preliminary checklist of the marine macromolluscs of the Houtman Abrolhos Islands, Western Australia. In: Wells, F. E. (ed.).
Proceedings of the seventh international marine biological workshop: The marine flora and fauna of the Houtman Abrolhos Islands, Western Australia. Perth: Western Australian Museum. Pp. 362-384.

Weils, F. E. and S. M. Slack-Smith. 1986. Part IV. Molluscs. In: Berry, P. F. (ed.). Faunal survey of the Rowley Shoals and Scott Reef, Western Australia. Records of the Western Australian Museum Supplement 25: 41-58.

Wells, F. E. and S. M. Slack-Smith. Part V. Molluscs. In: Berry, P. F. (ed.). Faunal survey of Christmas Island (Indian Ocean). Report to Australian National Parks & Wildlife Authority. Pp. 36-48.

Wells, F. E., S. M. Slack-Smith and C. W. Bryce. 2000. Molluscs. In: Berry, P. F. and F. E. Wells (eds.). Survey of the marine fauna of the Montebello Islands, Western Australia and Christmas Island, Indian Ocean. Records of the Western Australian Museum. Supplement 59: 29-46.

TECHNICAL REPORTS

REEF AND SHORE FISHES OF THE CALAMIANES ISLANDS, PALAWAN PROVINCE, PHILIPPINES

Gerald R. Allen

Summary

- A list of fishes was compiled for 38 sites. The survey involved 58 hours of scuba diving to a maximum depth *cf* 35 m.
- The Calamianes Group has a relatively diverse reef fish fauna. A total of 736 species were observed or collected during the present survey. An extrapolation method using six key index families (Chaetodontidae, Pomacanthidae, Pomacentridae, Labridae, Scaridae, and Acanthuridae) indicated a total fauna of at least 888 species.
- Species numbers at visually sampled sires ranged from 106-208, with an average of 158 per site.
- The islands off northeastern Busuanga including Tara, Dimaquiat, Tanobon, and Dimipac were generally the richest areas for fishes with an average of 189 species per sire. The lowest diversity was in the northwest sector of Coron Bay where an average of 115 species per site was recorded.
- The fish fauna of the Calamianes Group consists mainly of widely distributed Indo-Pacific species that are associated with coral reefs.
- Gobies (Gobiidae), damselfishes (Pomacentridae), and wrasses (Labridae) are the dominant groups in the Calamianes Islands in terms of number of species (101, 95, and 83 respectively) and number of individuals. The number of gobies is particularly remarkable considering that this group is difficult to survey with visual techniques, and many more species can be expected.
- The overwhelming majority of reef fishes in the Calamianes are either carnivores or planktivores, feeding on a wide variety of invertebrates and fishes, *The*

remaining 25% of the fauna are either herbivorous or omnivorous.

- Although reef fish biodiversity is high in the Calamianes Group, habitat diversity was relatively low. More often than not, the reefs were typically well-sheltered and subject to varying degrees of siltation with minimal ocean currents.
- The Calamianes Group is home to several rare or endemic fish species including two blennies (*Ecsenius kurti* and *Istiblennius colei*), and a dottyback (*Labracinus atrofasciatus*). In addition, three undescribed species were collected: a dottyback (*Pseudochromis*), a damselfish (recently described as *Altrichthys curatus*), and a blenny (*Ecsenius*).

Introduction

This section of the report contains comprehensive documentation of the reef and shore fish fauna of the Calamianes Group based on results of Conservation International's Marine RAP survey during February 1998. The background of this project and description of the 38 survey sites are provided in the introduction to this report.

The principle aim of the fish survey was to provide a comprehensive inventory of the reef species inhabiting the Calamianes Group. This segment of the fauna includes fishes living on or near coral reefs down to the limit of safe sport diving or approximately 45 m depth. However, the maximum depth for this particular survey was 35 m, due to a lack of steep outer slopes typically found in other coastal areas of the Indo-Pacific. Survey activities therefore excluded deepwater fishes and offshore pelagic species such as flyingfishes, tunas, and billfishes.

The results of this survey facilitate a comparison of the faunal richness of the Calamianes with other parts of Southeast Asia and adjoining regions. However, the list of fishes presented below is still incomplete, due to the time restriction of the survey (13.5 days) and the secretive nature of many small

reef species. Nevertheless, a basic knowledge of the cryptic component of the fauna in other areas and an extrapolation method that uses key "index" families can allow for an estimation of the overall species total.

Methods

The fish portion of this survey involved 58 hours of scuba diving by the author to a maximum depth of 35 m. A list of fishes was compiled for 38 sites. The basic method consisted of underwater observations, in most cases made during a single, 60-90 minute dive at each site. The name of each species encountered was written on a plastic sheet attached to a clipboard. The technique typically involved a rapid descent to 20-35 m and then a slow, zigzag path was traversed on the ascent back towards the shallows. The majority of time was spent in the 2–12 m depth zone, which consistently harbors the largest number of species. The visual transect at each site included a representative sample of all bottom types and habitat situations, for example rocky intertidal, reef flat, drop-offs, caves (using a flashlight if necessary), rubble and sand patches, etc. Only the names of fishes that could be identified with absolute certainty were recorded. However, there were very few (less than about 2% of those observed) which could not be identified to species level.

The visual survey was supplemented with 10 small collections procured with the use of the ichthyocide rotenone and several specimens that were collected with a multi-prong spear propelled by a rubber sling. The purpose of the rotenone collections was *to* flush out small, crevice and subsanddwelling fishes (for example eels and tiny gobies) that are never recorded with the visual technique. A total of 51 species were added by using this method.

Results

The total fauna recorded during this survey of the Calamianes Islands consists of 736 species belonging to 250 genera and 70 families (Appendix 4). Nearly all of the fishes appearing in the list are illustrated in Alien (1991, 1993, 1997), Myers (1989), Kuiter (1992), or Randall *et al.* (1990).

General faunal composition

The fish fauna of the Calamianes consists mainly of species associated with coral reefs. The most abundant families in terms of number of species are gobies (Gobiidae), damselfishes (Pomacentridae), wrasses (Labridae), cardinalfishes (Apogonidae), butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae), blennies (Blenniidae), groupers (Serranidae), parrotfishes (Scaridae), surgeonfishes (Acanthuridae), and snappers (Lutjanidae). These 10 families collectively account for about 66.5% of the total observed fauna (Table 1).

RANK	FAMILY	NO. SPECIES	% TOTAL SPP.
1	Gobiidae	+ 102	13.7
2	Pomacentridae	96	13.2
3	Labridae	83	13.3
4	Apogonidae	61	8.2
5	Chaetodontidae	33	4.5
6	Blenniidae	29	3.9
7	Serranidae	26	3.7
8	Scaridae	25	3.4
9	Acanthuridae	19	2.6
10	Lutjanidae	16	2.2

Table 1. Ten Largest Families of Calamianes Group.
Table 2. Emily rankings in terms of number of species for various localities in *the* Indo-Pacific region. Data for Milne Bay is from Allen (1998), for Flores from Allen and Kuiter (1994, unpublished), for Komodo from Allen (1995, unpublished), for the Chagos Islands from Winterbottom *et ai.* (1989), and for the Marshall Islands from Randall and Randall (1987).

FAMILY	CALAMIANES IS.	MILNE BAY, PNG	FLORES, INDONESIA	KOMODO, INDONESIA	MARSHALL IS.	CHAGOS IS.
Gobiidae	1 st	2 nd	1 st	3 rd	1 st	1 st
Pomacentridae	2 nd	1^{st}	3 rd .	1 st	3 rd	4 th
Labridae	3 rd	3^{rd}	2 nd	2^{nd}	2^{nd}	2 nd
Apogonidae	4^{th}	4^{th}	4 th	4 th	6 th	8 th
Chaetodontidae	5^{th}	7^{th}	7^{th}	6 th	11^{th}	8^{th}
Blenniidae	6 th	6 th	6 th	8^{th}	9^{th}	6 th
Serranidae	$7^{ ext{th}}$	4 th	5 th	5^{th}	4 th	3 rd
Scaridae	$8^{ m th}$	10^{th}	10 th	10^{th}	12 th	10 th
Acanthuridae	9 th	8^{th}	8^{th}	7^{th}	8^{th}	7^{th}
Lutjanidae	10 th	9 th	9 th	9 th	7^{th}	18 th

The relative abundance of Calamianes fish families is similar to other reef areas in the Indo-Pacific, although the ranking of individual families is variable as shown in Table 2

Habitats and fish biodiversity

The species occurring at an individual locality are largely dependent on the availability of shelter and food Coral and rocky reefs exposed to periodic strong currents *are* by far the richest habitat in terms of fish biodiversity These reefs provide an abundance of shelter for fishes of all sizes and the currents are vital for supporting numerous planktivores, the smaller of which provide food for larger predators The highest numbers of fish species are usually found at sites that incorporate the following features (1) predominantly coral or rock reef substratum, (2) relatively clear water, (3) periodic strong currents, and (4) presence of additional habitats (sand-rubble, sea-grass, mangroves, etc.) in close proximity (i.e., within easy swimming distance of the primary coral reef habitat) The number of species found at each site during the current survey is indicated in Table 3 The number of species at each site ranged from 106–208, with an average of 158 per site

SITE	NO, SPP.	CFDI	SITE	NO. SPP.	CFDI
1	106	124	20	151	07
1	208	124	20 31	106	105
4	208	152	<u>41</u>	196	105
3	1/8	110	44	191	105
4	176	95	23	142	85
5	107	47	24	186	108
6	136	78	25	110	39
7	164	102	26	149	88
8	167	82	27	127	68
9	a 84	117	28	167	94
10	204	129	29	178	413
11	5	0	30	200	100
12	111	55	31	211	119
13	127	88	32	129	56
14	177	94	33	111	46
15	174	125	34	166	97
16	164	103	35	126	87
17	179	115	36	125	70
18	162	108	37	106	51
19	102	53	38	163	84

 Table 3. Number of species observed and Coral Fish Diversity Index

 (CFDI) values for each site (CFDI assessment is discussed in the text below)

Station 11 was disregarded in this calculation as the dive was terminated after only a few minutes due to the sightings of the dangerous box jellyfish.

Types of substrata

Coral and rocky reefs are by far the richest habitat in terms of fish biodiversity. The best sites for fishes (Table 4) were invariably locations where coral reef was the dominant substratum, although these areas usually included a mixture of other bottom types, particularly sand or rubble. Mangroves, seagrass beds. and pure sand-rubble areas were the poorest areas for fish diversity. Silty bays and harbors, although supporting a variety of hard corals, also had impoverished fish communities. The five sites where less than 120 species were recorded (5, 11, 12, 19, 37) invariably consisted of highly sheltered embayments with relatively heavy siltation.

Table 5 presents a comparison of the fish fauna of major areas surveyed within the Calamianes Group. The highest average number of species (189) was recorded for the island areas lying off the northeastern coast of Busuanga. The lowest value was for sites within Coron Bay.

Index of fish diversity (CFDI)

in response to the need for 2 convenient method ∞ 'assessing and comparing overall coral *reef* fish diversity in the Indo-Pacific, region I have devised a rating system based on the number of species present belonging to the following six families: Chaetodontidae, Pomacanthidae, Pomacentridae, Labridae, Scaridae, and Acanthuridae. These families are particularly good indicators of fish diversity for the following reasons:

- They are taxonomically well documented;
- They are conspicuous diurnal fishes that are relatively easy to identify underwater;
- They include the "mainstream" species, which truly characterize the fauna of a particular reef (collectively, they usually comprise more than 50% of the observable fishes);
- The families, with the exception of Pomacanthidae, are consistently among the 10 most speciose groups of reef fishes inhabiting a particular locality in the tropical Indo-west Pacific region; and
- Labridae and Pomacentridae in particular are very speciose and use a wide range of associated habitats in addition to coral-rich areas.

The Coral Fish Diversity Index (CFDI) method consists first of counting the total number of species present in each of the six families. It is applicable at several levels:

- Single dive sites;
- Relatively restricted localities such as the Calamianes Islands; and
- · Countries, major island groups, or large regions.

SITE NO.	LOCATION	TOTAL FISH SPP	CFDI
31	Research Channel, Culion Is.	211	119
2	SW end of Tara Is.	208	132
10	SE end of Dimipac Is.	204	129
30	NW coast of Culion Is.	200	100
1	W side of Tara Is.	196	126
21	SE end of Galoc Is.	196	105
22	SW end of Galoc Is.	191	105
24	Calis Point, SW end of Coron Is.	186	108
9	S end of Tanobon Is.	384	117
17	Islet S of Talampulan Is.	179	115

Table 4. Ten richest fish sites recorded during the Calamianes survey

Table 5. Average number of fish species recorded for major areas in the Calamianes Islands during the 1998 survey

AREA	AVERAGE NO.	
	SPP.	
Northeastern Is. (Tara, Dimaquiat, Tanobon, Dimipac)	189	
Northeastern Busuanga	147	
West coast of Busuanga and Culion*	161	
Western Coron Is. (Sites 24, 25, 26, 38)	152	
Northwestern Coron Bay (Sites 19, 27, 36, 37)	115	

* Represents 50% of total survey sites

CFDI values can be used to make a reasonably accurate estimate of the total coral reef fish fauna of a particular locality by means of a regression formula. This feature is particularly useful for large regions, such as Indonesia and the Philippines, where reliable totals are lacking. Moreover, the CFDI predictor value can be used to gauge the thoroughness of a particular short-term survey that is either currently in progress or already completed. For example, due to time restraints and heavy reliance on visual observations, 736 species were recorded during the present survey. However, according to the CFDI predictor formula, an approximate total of 888 species could be expected, indicating that 83% of the fauna was actually surveyed.

The above-mentioned regression formula was obtained from an analysis of 35 Indo-Pacific locations that have been comprehensively studied and for which reliable species lists exist. The data were first divided into two groups: those from relatively restricted localities (surrounding seas encompassing less than 2,000 km²) and those from much larger areas (surrounding seas encompassing more than 50,000 km²). Simple regression analysis revealed a highly significant difference (P = 0.0001) between these two groups. Therefore, the data were separated and subjected to an additional analysis. The Macintosh program Statview was used to perform simple linear regression analyses on each data set in order to determine a predictor formula, using CFDI as the predictor variable (x) for estimating the independent variable (y) or total coral reef fish fauna. The resultant formulae were obtained: 1. total fauna of areas with surrounding seas encompassing more than $50,000 \text{ km}^2 = 4.234(\text{CFDI}) - 114.446 \text{ (d.f.} = 15; \text{R}^2 = 0.964; \text{P}$ = 0.0001); 2. total fauna of areas with surrounding seas encompassing less than 2,000 km² = 3.39 (CFDI) - 20.595 $(d.f. = 18; R^2 = 0.96; P = 0.0001).$

CFDI values obtained for individual sites, relatively restricted areas (e.g., Calamianes Islands), or larger regions or countries can be readily interpreted by referring to Table 6, which is based on numerous surveys in the Indo-Pacific by the author and various colleagues.

Summary of CFDI Assessment

A selection of CEDE values for individual dive sates in the "coral triangle," including several from the current survey, are compared in Table 7. Only one site (2) was ranked in the excellent category and no extraordinary sites were recorded Most sites were assessed as being moderate to good (see Table 3 above) compared to other areas in the Indo-Pacific The overall CFDI total for the Calamianes Group is 268. which compares favorably with other restricted Indo-Pacific localities, being ranked fifth overa 1 (Table 8). Owing to the short-term nature of RAP surveys and the occurrence of many cryptic fishes that are never seen unless chemical ichthyocides are used it is not possible to obtain a complete species inventory. However, with the use of the regression formulas given above it is possible to extrapolate faunal totals from CFDI values. This method reveals that at least 888 species of reef.

and shore fishes can be expected to occur in the Calamianes. Using CFDI values to compare more *exte*nsive regions it can be seen from Table 9 that the Philippines possesses the world's third richest reef fish fauna with an estimated species total of 1.525 specks, of which approximately 58 percent occur in the Calamianes Islands. The total number of reef fishes from the Philippines remains unknown and there is a critical need for a comprehensive survey of past collecting supplemented by modern surveys.

Zoogeographical affinities of the Calamianes fish fauna

The reef and shore fishes d the Philippine islands belong to the overall Indo-west Pacific faunal community. They are very similar to those inhabiting other areas within this vast region, stretching eastward from East Africa and the Red Sea to the islands of Micronesia and Polynesia. Although most families, and many genera and species are consistently present across the region, the species composition varies greatly according to locality.

The Calamianes Group is an integra! part of the Indo-Australian Archipelago, the richest faunal province on the globe in terms of biodiversity. The region forms the center of what is sometimes referred to as the coral triangle. Species richness generally declines with increased distance from the Indonesian center of this region, although a secondary region of speciation in the Red Sea-We stem Indian Ocean counters this effect. The damselfish family Pomacentridae provides an excellent example of this phenomenon (Table IO). Approximately 138 species occur in the Indonesian Archipelago, 122 in the Philippines, 109 in New Guinea, and only 15 and 16 respectively at Hawaii arid Pitcairn Island. which lie on the outermost fringe of *the* region (Allen, 1991). The total of 97 species in an area the size of the Calamianes Group is Indicative of an overall rich reef-fish fauna.

Behavioral modes and feeding relationships

The majority of Calamianes fishes are diurnal coral reef species. which either live on or near the bottom. or forage on planktonic items a short distance above it (Figs. 1–2). Approximately 10% of the species are nocturnally active. One constraint of rapid survey techniques is that cryptic species, living either in caves and fissures or beneath the substratum. cannot be comprehensively sampled. At some localities the cryptic component accounts for as much as 20% of the total fauna, compared to the figure of 4.3% obtained during the present survey.

The association of consumers and consumed organisms, involving an incredibly diverse array of plants, invertebrates, and vertebrates, results in a complex, highly intertwined foodweb. The overwhelming majority of Calamianes fishes are either carnivores and/or planktivores, feeding on a wide range of invertebrates and fishes (Fig. 3). About 25% of the Calamianes species are either herbivorous or omnivorous. This breakdown is typical for coral reef fish communities in general.

RELATIVE BIODIVERSITY	SINGLE SITE	RESTRICTED AREA	COUNTRY - REGION
Extraordinary	>150	>330	>400
Excellent	130-149	260-329	330-399
Good	100-129	200-259	220-329
Moderate	70-99	140-199	160-219
Poor	40-69	50-139	80-159
Very Poor	<40	<50	<80

Table 6. Interpretation of CFDI values in terms of relative categories of biodiversity.

Table 7. CFDI values for selected single dive transects undertaken by the author at various localities.

TRANSECT SITE	CFDI	% TOTAL SPP.	TOTAL SPP.
Boirama Is., Milne Bay Province, PNG	160	59.3	270
Wahoo Reef, Milne Bay Province, PNG	159	64.9	245
Dondola Is., E. Sulawesi, Indonesia	158	59.4	266
Kri Is., Raja Ampat Is., Irian Java, Indonesia	156	57.1	273
Irai Is., Milne Bay Province, PNG	156	58.2	268
Seraia Besar, W. Flores, Indonesia	136	64.4	211
Tara Island, Calamianes Is., Philippines	132	64.5	208
SE end Kenau Is., Banggai Is., Indonesia	132	61.4	215
Pulau Besar, Maumere, Flores, Indonesia	130	54.4	239
Dimipac Is., Calamianes Is., Philippines	129	63.2	204
Tandah Putih, Peleng Is., Banggai Is.	126	67.0	188
SW Tara Is., Calamianes Is., Philippines	126	64.3	196
Unauna Is., Togean Islands, Indonesia	125	54.3	230
N. Komodo Is., Indonesia	122	60.4	202
Kimbe Bay, W. New Britain, PNG	120	64.9	185
Halsey Harbour, Culion Is., Philippines	119	56.1	211
Padoz Reef, Madang, PNG	111	56.3	197
Tripod Reef, Madang, PNG	105	63.6	165
Pig Is. Lagoon, Madang, PNG	102	58.0	176
Jais Aben Reef, Madang, PNG	94	57.3	164
E. Rinca Is., Indonesia	61	50.8	120
CRI Reef, Madang, PNG	58	43.9	132
Kimbe Bay, W. New Britain, PNG	57	63.3	90
Pulau Sedona, Bintan Is., Riau Is., Indonesia	41	51.9	79

LOCALITY	CFDI	NO. REEF FISHES	EST. REEF FISHES
Maumere Bay, Fiores, Indonesia	333	1111	1107
Milne Bay, Papua New Guinea	318	1084	1057
Togean and Banggai Is., Indonesia	308	819	1023
Komodo Is., Indonesia	280	722	928
Calamianes Is., Philippines	268	736	888
Madang, Papua New Guinea	257	787	850
Kimbe Bay, Papua New Guinea	254	687	840
Manado, Sulawesi, Indonesia	249	624	823
Capricorn Group, Great Barrier Reef	232	803	765
Ashmore/Cartier Reefs. Timor Sea	225	669	742
Kashiwa-Jima Is., Japan	224	768	738
Scott/Seringapatam Reefs, W. Australia	220	593	725
Samoa Is.	211	852	694
Chesterfield Is., Coral Sea	210	699	691
Sangalakki Is., Kalimantar, Indonesia	201	461	660
Bodgaya Is., Sabah, Malaysia	197	516	647
Izu Is., Japan	190	464	623
Christmas Is., Indian Ocean	185	560	606
Sipadan Is., Sabah, Malaysia	184	492	603
Rowley Shoals, W. Australia	176	505	576
Cocos (Keeling) Atoll, Indian Ocean	167	528	545
North-West Cape, W. Australia	164	527	535
Tunku Abdul Rahman Is., Sabah, Malaysia	139	357	450
Lord Howe Is., Australia	139	395	450
Monte Bello Is., W. Australia	119	447	382
Bintan Is., Indonesia	97	304	308
Kimberley Coast, W. Australia	89	367	281
Cassini Is., W. Australia	78	249	243
Johnston Is., Central Pacific	78	227	243
Midway Atoll, U. S. A.	77	250	240
Rapa (Polynesia)	77	209	240
Norfolk Is., Australia	72	220	223

Table 8. Coral fish diversity index (CFDI) values for restricted localities, number of coral reef fish species as determined by surveys to date, and estimated numbers using the CFDI regression formula (refer to text for details).

LOCALITY	CFDI	NO. REEF FISHES	ESTIM. REEF FISHES
Indonesia	418	?	1656
Australia (tropical)	401	17 34	1584
Philippines	387	?	4525
Papua New Guinea	362	1494	1419
S. Japanese Archipelago	348	1315	1359
Great Barrier Reef, Australia	343	1325	1338
Taiwan	319	1172	1237
Micronesia	315	1170	1220
New Caledonia	300	1097	1156
Sabah, Malaysia	274	840	I046
Northwest Shelf, W. Australia	273	932	1042
Mariana Is.	222	848	826
Marshall Is.	221	795	822
Ogasawara Is., Japan	212	745	784
French Polynesia	205	730	754
Maldive Is.	219	894	813
Seychelles	188	765	682
Society Is.	160	560	563
Tuamotu Is.	144	389	496
Hawaiian Is.	121	435	398
Marquesas Is.	90	331	267

 Table 9. Coral fish diversity index (CFDI) values for regions or countries with figures for total reef fish fauna (if known), and estimated fauna using CFDI regression formula.

201

	LOCALITY	NO. SPP.
20161	Indonesia	138
	Philippines	122
	New Guinea	109
	Komodo, Indonesia	100
	Calamianes Group, Philippines	97
	Milne Bay, PNG	97
	N. Australia	95
	W. Thailand	60
	Fiji Islands	60
	Bintan I., Indonesia	48
	Maldives	43
	Red Sea	34
	Society Islands	30
	Hawaii	15

Table 1. Number of damselfish (Pomacentridae) species at selected localities







Habitats and fish biodiversity

Although habitat diversity is relatively low in the Calamianes. the area has a relatively rich marine icthyofauna in comparison to other coral reef areas in the Indo-Pacific region It is mainly composed of widely distributed elements that are recruited as postlarvae after a variable pelagic stage The total species present at a particular locality is ultimately dependent on the availability of food and shelter and the diversity of substrata Coral reef habitats with a rich assemblage of hard and soft corals, interspersed with sections of sand, rubble, and weed generally harbor the richest fish communities The lowest diversity occurs in areas of more or less uniform sand, rubble, or weed-covered bottoms Most Calamianes reef fishes have relatively widespread distributions within the Indo-Pacific region Nearly all corai reef fishes have a pelagic larval stage of variable duration, depending on the species Therefore, the dispersal capabilities and length of larval life of a given species is usually reflected in the geographic distribution. The main zoogeographic categories for Calamianes fishes are presented in Figure 4. The largest segment of the fauna consists of species that are broadly distributed in the Indo-west and Central Pacific region from East Africa to the islands of Oceania. The remaining species have more restricted distributions within the Indo-Pacific region or occur circumtropically





General observations on Calamianes reef fish biodiversity

Although reef fish biodiversity is high in the Calamianes Group, habitat diversity was relatively low. More often than not reefs were well-sheltered and subject to varying degrees of siltation with minimal oceanic currents. For example, the diving teams did not experience any significant currents, and they saw relatively few gorgonian fans and large sponges. These animals are usually reliable indicators of periodic strong currents. Moreover, there was a scarcity of planktivorous reef fishes, with the exception of certain labrids (Cirrhilabrus and Paracheilinus spp.). Instead, the fauna was dominated by fishes that are indicative of highly sheltered conditions exposed to siltation. A list of some of the most prominent Calamianes species in this category is presented in Table 11. In most areas previously surveyed by the author these species occupy a rather limited and specialized habitat situation, but in the Calamianes they were universally common.

Several fishes that are typically common in pristine seaward reef environments were conspicuously absent. For example fairy basslets (*Pseudanthias*) and damselfishes of the genus *Chromis* were extremely scarce. Although 15 species of *Chromis* were recorded, most of these were seen in low numbers and many were observed only during the first few days of the survey off northeastern Busuanga. Surgeonfishes (Acanthuridae) were also relatively scarce, particularly the genera *Acanthurus* and *Naso*. Surgeonfishes are an excellent "indicator" of good circulation and minimal siltation. The family is invariably poorly represented in areas of high turbidity such as the Kimberley coast of northern Western Australia or the islands and reefs in the vicinity of Singapore. Hawkfishes (family Cirrhitidae) were also rare compared to other "coral triangle" localities.

Despite relatively high reef fish biodiversity, the actual number of individuals observed appeared to be low. Swarms of

FA M& /	SPECIES
Serranidae	Cepholopholis boenack
	Diploprion bifasciatum
Apogonidae	Apogon wassinki
Caesionidae	Caesio cuning
Nemipteridae	Scolopsis ciliatus
-	Scolopis trivittatus
Chaetodontidae	Chaetodon octofasciatus
Pomacanthidae	Chaetodontoplus mesoleucus
Pomacentridae	Chrysiptera parasema
	Chrysiptera rollandi
	Chrysiptera springeri
	Pomacentrus burroughi
Labridae	Choerodon anchorago
Scaridae	Scarus quoyi
Siganidae	Siganus virgulatus

Table 11. Common fishes of the Calamianes Group associated with sheltered reefs.

plankton feeding *Chromis* and *Pseudanthias*, which literally fill the water column on exposed outer reefs throughout the Indo-Pacific, were seldom seen. The nucleus of the fauna was composed of approximately 50 species seen on most dives with the remainder consisting of occasional or rare sightings of a wide array of species. Approximately 33% of the fishes noted during the survey were rare in occurrence and a significant number were based on single sightings.

The goby fauna of the Calamianes is particularly impressive, considering that visual survey techniques are not suitable for comprehensive documentation of this family. It is possible that only half of the species were actually observed. The only way to properly document these small, cryptic fishes is with extensive use of ichthyocides.

Further surveys will certainly increase the Calamianes species total. The present survey was reasonably comprehensive for the northern and western sections of the Island group, but the survey team was unable to sample the southeastern coast of Busuanga and eastern shores of Coron and Culion Islands due to strong winds and lack of an adequate research vessel. It would also be desirable to survey Bulalacao and Linapacan islands. It is conservatively estimated that at least 100 additional species of reef fishes can be expected to occur in the combined area.

Coron Lakes

Several slightly brackish to freshwater lakes are situated on Coron Island in the center and along the northwestern coast. Although the present survey was concerned with the coral reef and shore environments, the biological team also visited Lake Cayangan, one of the largest and most easily accessed lakes that is regularly visited by tourists. The environment was characterized by very clear and warm (approximately 30°C) water with a silty bottom and a shoreline consisting of jagged limestone cliffs. A pair of gastropod molluscs (a thiarid and a neritid), a small yellow spor

the only obvious life forms. marized in Table 12. Althou insignificant it is certainly w vey of all of Coron's lakes i rately assess its conservation but nevertheless fascinating

Endemism

In view of the broad dispersal capabilities via the pelagic larval stage of most reef fishes, minimal endemism can be expected in the Calamianes Group. Therefore, it is surprising that at least four species are still known only from records from the Calamianes and nearby Cuyo islands. However, future surveys of surrounding areas are needed to determine their definitive distribution status. Species that are either endemic to the Calamianes Group or are mainly known from there are discussed below.

Labracinus atrofasciatus (Herre, 1933). This species was determined from a single specimen collected nearly 70 years ago at Culion Island. About 10 individuals of this extremely rare species were seen during the survey. Most of these were at site 19 (Lajo Island). Members of the family Pseudochromidae exhibit oral egg incubation and some species have very limited geographic ranges.

Pseudochromis sp. Specimens collected during the RAP survey were initially identified as *Pseudochromis colei* (a poorly known Philippines endemic), but subsequent laboratory examination reveals it is actually an undescribed species. It is relatively common on rubble bottoms in the Calamianes, having been observed at 12 of 38 sites. The species, which was recently described by Gill and Allen (in press), is also known from the northwest tip of Panay Island, about 160 km due east of the Calamianes.

Altrichthys curatus Allen, 1999. This recently described new genus and species of damselfish was discovered during the RAP survey. A closely related species, *A. azurelineatus*, also found in the Calamianes, is the only other known member of the new genus. Both species exhibit extraordinary reproductive biology documented for the first time during the present survey. It involves the lack of a pelagic larval stage and strong parental care of offspring (Allen, 1999).

Acanthochromis polyacanthus. This is another damselfish that ranges widely in the "coral triangle," and is the only other representative of the family (out of approximately 345 species worldwide) that does not have a pelagic larval stage. Both members of the new genus are confined to the Philippines. *Altrichthys curatus* is also known from the nearby Cuyo Islands. Both *A. azurelineatus* and *A. curatus* are common in the Calamianes, residing in shallow water with abundant branching corals.

SPECIES	BEHAVIOR/GENERAL HABITAT
Uridentified catfish	Solitary, swimming on bottom
Zenarchopterus sp. (Hemiramphidae)	Schooling near surface
Unidentified atherinid	Schooling near surface
Apogon uninotatus (Apogonidae)	Solitary in shoreline crevices
Cheilodipterus quinquelineatus (Apogoni	tae) Solitary or in groups in crevices
Acentrogobius viganensis (Gobiidae)	Solitary, resting on bottom
Pandaka pygmaea (Gobiidae)	Solitary or in groups in crevices

Table 12. Fish Fauna of Lake Cayangan.

Ecsenius kurti Springer 1988. This blenny was previously known only from the Cuyo Islands, which lie about 65 km southeast of the Calamianes and are also part of northern Palawan Province. The first underwater photographs of this attractive species were obtained during the survey. The genus *Ecsenius* lays demersal eggs that are guarded by the parents. Many species exhibit limited distributions.

Ecsenius sp. This brightly colored blenny is a new species that was commonly encountered throughout the Calamianes. It belongs to a well-studied genus (Springer, 1988), but has previously escaped detection. Photographs were sent to Victor Springer of the Smithsonian Institution, who confirmed that the species is new. Four specimens were collected during the surve; these formed the basis of the description recently prepared by Springer and Allen (in press). It is interesting to note that Springer did not collect this fish in the nearby Cuyo Islands during extensive collecting there in 1978.

Istiblennius colei (Herre, 1934). Originally described from Culion Island, this species has also been collected at Panay. According to Springer and Williams (1994), "this species is known only from the type series of its two nominal synonyms, collected more than 50 years ago. Considering all the collecting activity that has occurred in the Philippines in the past 20 years, it seems amazing that this clearly shallow-dwelling, once common species has not been re-collected. We fear it may be extinct." A single specimen was collected during the present survey with rotenone from the intertidal zone at Buluang Bay, western Busuanga.

In addition to the regional endemics mentioned above, an apparently rare species of labrid was photographed at Tangat Island (site 27). It is provisionally identified as *Halichoeres chlorocephalus*, a species that was recently described from five specimens collected at Papua New Guinea (Allen, 1998).

Overview of the Philippines fish fauna

The Philippine Islands possess one of the worlds richest fish faunas. Only Indonesia has more species of reef fishes. Fortunately, the area has long attracted the attention of foreign biologists. As a result there is considerable taxonomic knowledge of Philippine fishes, more so than any other country in southeastern Asia. Herre (1953) included a review of ichthyological activity on Philippine fishes between 1885 and 1948. Several important checklists were published during this period including that of Jordan and Richardson (1909) in which 830 species are listed, and one by Roxas (1937) who listed 1,918 species.

One person more than any other is largely responsible for our present knowledge of the fauna. The American ichthyologist, Dr. Albert Herre, lived to the impressive age of 94 years, dedicating a significant portion of his life to the study of Philippine fishes. Herre, a graduate of Stanford University, served as Director of Fisheries for the Philippines between 1920–1928. Although this was a relatively brief period, it provided the impetus for studies of Philippine fishes lasting for several decades. While at the Bureau of Fisheries he spent between 2–5 months in the field each year, collecting in all parts of the Philippines, including the Calamianes Group. He also made collecting trips to the Philippines and adjacent regions in 1929, 1931, 1933, 1936–37, 1940–41, and 1947–48. Consequently, he published numerous papers on Philippine fishes including important monographs on major groups such as butterflyfishes, damselfishes, and gobies. During his tenure as Director of Fisheries Herre built up the institution's collections and library resources to the extent they were considered the finest in Asia. Unfortunately, everything was destroyed during the Battle of Manila in 1945.

In 1953, at the age of 85, Herre published his Check list of Philippine Fishes, an invaluable annotated synthesis of the fauna containing nearly 1000 pages. Although this list forms the foundation of our present knowledge of Philippine fishes, it is cumbersome and is becoming dated. One problem is that it includes all types of fishes without division into the major ecological components. I have extracted the following totals after a time-consuming review of the 2,177 included species: 225 deep sea and deep continental shelf species; 75 open sea-pelagic species; 385 estuarine and coastal non-reef associated species; 170 freshwater species; and 1,300 coral reef species. It is interesting to note that the estimated CFDI total of 1,380 (Table 11) closely matches the number of coral reef fishes listed by Herre. The other major problem with his list is that it employs out-dated taxonomy. Numerous changes have occurred since 1953, not only with higher classification but also at the species level. In particular, Herre's list includes misidentifications and many of the listed species are now considered junior synonyms. Moreover, numerous new records for the Philippines have appeared in the literature since 1953. There is clearly a need for a comprehensive modern synthesis of the Philippines fish fauna.

In recent years there have been relatively few major works on Philippine fishes with the notable exceptions of the treatment of commercial fishes by Rau and Rau (1980) and Schroeder's (1980) weil-illustrated volume on shore fishes of the western Sulu Sea.

References

- Allen, G. R. 1991. Damselfishes of the World. Mentor, Ohio: Aquarium Systems.
- Aller, G. R. 1993. Reef fishes of New Guinea. Madang, Papua New Guinea: Christensen Research Institute Publ. No. 8.
- Allen, G. R. 1997. Marine Fishes of tropical Australia and South-east Asia. Perth: Western Australian Museum.
- Ailen, G. R. 1998. Reef and shore fishes of Milne Bay Province, Papua New Guinea. In: Werner, T. B. and G. R Allen (eds.). A rapid biodiversity assessment of the coral reefs of Milne Bay Province, Papua New Guinea. RAP Working Papers 11. Washington, D.C.: Conservation International. Pp. 39-49.
- Allen, G. R. 1999. Altrichthys, a new genus of damselfish (Pomacentridae) from Philippine seas with description of a new species. Revue Francaise Aquariologie 26(1-2): 23-28.
- Gill, A. C. and G. R. Allen. In press. *Pseudochromis eichleri*, a new species of pseudochromine dottyback from the

Philippine Islands (Perciformes: Pseudochromidae) Raffles Bulletin of Zoology.

Herre, A. W. 1933. Twelve new Philippine fishes. Copeia 1933 (1): 17-25.

Herre, A. W. 1934. Notes on fishes in the Zoological Museum of Stanford University, I: The fishes of the Herre Philippine Expedition of 1931. [Privately printed by the author].

Herre, A. W. 1953. Check list of Philippine fishes. United States Fish and Wildlife Service Research Report 20: 1–77.

Herre, A. W. 1964. Albert W. Herre (1868–1962): a brief autobiography (foreword by G. S. Myers). Division of Systematic Biology, Stanford University Circular No. 10: 1–20.

Jordan, D. S. and R. E. Richardson. 1909. A check-list of Philippine fishes. Philippines Bureau of Science Monographic Publications on Fishes No. 1.

Myers, R. F. 1989. Micronesian Reef Fishes. Guam: Coral Graphics.

Nelson, J. S. 1984. Fishes of the World. New York: John Wiley and Sons.

Kuiter, R. H. 1992. Tropical Reef Fishes of the Western Pacific - Indonesia and Adjacent Waters. Jakarta: Percetakan PT Gramedia Pustaka Utama. Randall, J. E., G. R. Allen, and R. C. Steene. 1990. Fishes of the Great Barrier Reef and Coral Sea. Bathurst, Australia: Crawford House Press.

Randail, J. E. and H. A. Randall. 1987. Annotated checklist of fishes of Enewetak Atoll and Other Marshall Islands. In Vol 2. The natural history of Enewetak Atoll. Office of Scientific and Technological Information, United States Department of Er ergy. Pp. 289–324.

Rau, N. and A. Rau. 1980. Commercial fishes of the Philippines. German Agency for Technical Cooperation, Eschborn, Germany.

- Springer, V. G. 1988. The Indo-Pacific blenniid fish genus *Ecsenius*. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 465: 1–134.
- Springer, V. G. and G. R. Allen. In press. *Ecsenius ops*, from southeastern Indonesia, and *E. tricolor*, from western Philippines and northwestern Kalimantan, new species of blenniid fishes in the stigmatura species group. Revue Francaise Aquariologie.
- Springer, V. G. and J. T. Williams. 1994. The Indo-Pacific blenniid fish genus *Istiblennius* reappraised: a revision of *Istiblennius, Blenniella*, and *Paralticus*, new genus. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 565: 1–193.
- Schroeder, R. E. 1980. Shore fishes of the western Sulu Sea Manila: National Media Production Center.

Winterbottom, R., A. R. Emery, and E. Holm. 1989. An annotated checklist of the fishes of the Chagos Archipelago. Central Indian Ocean. Royal Ontario Museum Life Sciences Contributions 145: 1–226.

TECHNICAL REPORTS

FISHERIES OF THE CALAMIANES ISLANDS, PALAWAN PROVINCE, PHILIPPINES

Jose Ingles

Summary

- The status of Calamianes fisheries was assessed by several methods, including a historical review, interviews with fishers, and direct underwater observations of existing reef conditions and resources.
- The fishery consists of two main sectors, an artisanal one involving local residents engaged in subsistence-level activities and a commercial sector involving vessels from other areas.
- Hook-and-line, traps, spears and jigs for octopus are the dominant types of artisanal fishing gear used in the Calamianes Group.
- The index of fisher density to available coastline ranges from 2.00 for Culion to 3.35 for El Nido. These figures are low compared to other parts of the Philippines.
- Major components of the commercial fishing fleet in the study area include live fish capture with chemicals, purse seines, *muro-ami* vessels, *largo viejo*, Darish seines and bagnets. Ring nets, trawlers, and tuna longliners were also reported, but not observed.
- The history of fisheries in the region is characterized by a rapid decline of resources since a peak period between 1970-1980. There has been a trend to utilize various types of gear until stocks reach an unprofitable level forcing a switch to alternative gear and/or more distant fishing grounds.
- Soft bottom habitats and pelagic waters formed the basis of Calamianes' fisheries during the initial phase of its development, but subsequent resource depletion has caused a shift to coral reef exploitation.
- Underwater observations at 30 sites indicated that most reefs have suffered some form of habitat degradation, primarily from blast fishing, *muro-ami*, cyanide use, and

anchor damage. Furthermore, the reefs are characterized by severe depletion of market-sized fishes, including a notable lack of large piscivorous species such as groupers, barracudas, jacks and sharks. Likewise, lobsters appear to have been fished to the brink of extirpation.

- An expanding pearl culture industry is present in the Calamianes, but has yet to prove profitable. A reduction of traditional fishing grounds is a negative result of this activity.
- Fisheries of the Calamianes face a bleak future mainly due to the heavy exploitation of available resources. This situation has resulted in reduced catch rates and consequent decline in total production. The 1997 fish production estimate was only 50% of the 1991 level and further decline is anticipated.
- Development of tourism offers a viable alternative to fishing as a source of livelihood. Not only would it offer employment opportunities, but it would also effectively reduce fishing pressure and offer a means of resource protection.

Introduction

This study was commissioned by Conservation International primarily to collect and collate existing data on fisheries in the Calamianes Group as a complement to taxonomic inventories of the islands' coastal areas. It will serve as baseline data for the formulation of measures and activities geared towards the conservation of marine flora and fauna with the ultimate objective of preserving the area's biodiversity.

Tourism development (specifically, ecotourism) is being considered as one of the activities to meet the objective of conservation and at the same time harness the economic potential of existing natural resources. A study commissioned by the Department of Tourism identified western Busuanga and El Nido as the sites most suited for the development of sustainable tourism in northern Palawan (JICA-DOT 1997). The harvesting of marine resources is the main economic activity in the area; therefore a comprehensive study of fisheries is necessary.

Scope of Work

The area of coverage includes the Calamianes group of islands composed of the municipalities of Busuanga, Coron, Culion, Linapacan and El Nido. This study incorporates historical information on fisheries of northern Palawan and field data collected during the Marine RAP between February 4-21, 1998. The latter survey includes an underwater assessment of various reef areas and collection of fisheries data from local fishing villages. Collection of basic fisheries data relied heavily on random interviews and was supported, whenever possible, with the collection of existing data from municipalities or barangays (the basic political unit).

Objectives of the Study

The general objective of this report is to characterize the fisheries in the study area including the current status and historical development of the small-scale (artisanal) and commercial fishing *sectors*.

The specific objectives of this study were to make a quantitative assessment of the fish biomass of the reef areas, and to determine current levels of production and exploitation. To determine the degree of fishing activity. a quantitative assessmen: was made of the groupers (family Serranidae, sub-family Epinephelinae), a high-priced group that is the target of the live-fish trade.

Limitations of the Study

This study dealt with fisheries information taken from various sources. The analysis relied heavily on statistics published yearly by the **Bureau** of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources from 1946-1988. Data compiled by *each* municipality, as recorded in their municij al fisheries profile or municipal development plans, were also used. Howeve; n uch of this information is outdated and its level of reliability is suspect. In one particular instance, total fisheries production of Coron is given a 36,000 metric tons! Similarly, entries of landings for Coron are incomplete and in certain years reflect *only* one or two types of fishing gear.

As pari of the visual census, counts and sizes of fisheryimportant groups were given greater attention than non-commercial species, Data on *the* underwater assessment were limited to the family level as *the* marine taxonomic team undertook species identification.

The fish biomass data reflects a "snapshot" of prevailing conditions at the time of sampling i, February. This is generally considered a lean time of year as far as fishing activities are concerned. Therefore, the results presented here may underestimate the normal annual activity. The density of groupers is not affected by seasonality, as this group is highly territorial and not known to migrate like some other commercially important fishes.

Existing Literature on Fisheries

There is a general scarcity and a low level of reliability for the existing information on the fisheries of the Calamianes Group. Only two previous studies made direct assessments of the fisheries of northern Palawan. The first was the work of Baum and Maynard (1976) who conducted a baseline fisheries study around Coron and its largest fishing village, Barangay Tagumpay. Along with three other areas in the country, this study was conducted as a prerequisite for the implementation of a foreign-assisted grant called the Northern Palawan Fisheries Development Project. The study was undertaken at the peak of fishery production in the area. It also employed a holistic approach to the study of small-scale fisheries, the first such study that dealt not only with the usual characterization of the fishery, but also included socio-economic and cultural aspects of resource users.

The study area was also the focus of an assessment of 24 fishery statistical area, in the Philippines made by Munro (1986). However, data for northern Palawan was treated under the statistical area of Cuyo Pass. On the basis of *data* collected in 1981, northern Palawan was identified as an area where further fishery development showed great economic potential. The study specifically alluded to the reef fishery as a segment of production that could be increased.

Additional research in the area was undertaken by Aprieto *et al.* (1974), who conducted test bottom trawls in northwest Palawan to determine the extent of trawlable areas. Because of its hard-bottom configuration characteristic of uneven reef terrain, only 23% of the area surveyed proved suitable for trawling. Even so, echogram surveys showed that fishes were relatively few in number and scattered within the trawlable areas. As a result, trawl fishing in these waters was considered to be uneconomical and technically unfeasible.

The prospecting of areas for pelagic fishing that occurred in the mid-1970's included northern Palawan. Aerial surveys revealed only two sightings of schooling fishes (Cintas, 1975). Nonetheless, tuna and pelagic fishing developed in the Sulu Sea area. The Linapacan passage between Linapacan and Culion and Linapacan and northern Palawan is a known migration route of yellow fin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*). Each year this species migrates from the China Sea to the Sulu Sea from June to August, and returns using the same route from August to October (Morgan and Valencia, 1983).

The most recent sources of information come from unpublished manuscripts and gray literature such as those collected by local agricultural officers (called Municipal agricultural officers or MAOs). These data are used in the preparation of municipal development plans or *In* updating municipal profiles. The fishery information contained in these sources includes *the* number of fishers, fishing craft, type of gear, and a rough estimate of total production. While the JICA-DOT (1997) study also characterized the region's fisheries, the data relied on existing information contained in the Palawan Council for Sustainable Development (PCSD) fisheries profile that used outdated (1988) data. It was not until oil prospecting began in northern Palawan in the late 1970's that environmental assessments of the area were first undertaken. At that time the government introduced requirements for the submission of an environmental clearance certificate (ECC) for any major project development. In order to comply, an environmental impact assessment (EIA) of the project was conducted, necessitating the collection of baseline data.

Examples of major studies in the Calamianes include those conducted by MERF (Marine Environment and Resources Foundation Inc.) in 1994, the Malampaya Gas Pipeline Project (in 1997, both commissioned by Shell Philippines), and the environmental impact assessment of Club Paradise beach resort in 1991. These studies contained data on water quality and environmentally sensitive habitats such as coral reefs, mangrove swamps, and seagrass beds. More recently, the JICA-assisted project of the Department of Tourism on the development of a sustainable tourism pian for the area also undertook a marine assessment of northern Palawan (JICA-DOT 1997).

The MERF study (1994) was among the first and by far the most comprehensive. A qualitative and quantitative assessment of the coastal marine communities in Busuanga, Culion, Linapacan, in the northern tip of Palawan, El Nido (formerly Bacuit) and south as far as Malampaya Sound was undertaken. Coral and fish were surveyed at 11 locations including eight sites for seagrass and 25 sites for mangroves.

Baseline data for the Malampaya Gas project concentrated more on specific areas along the pipeline route where structures and activities during the construction might affect the environment as well as fishery activities. Nonetheless, for areas near northern Palawan, the study relied heavily on baseline data collected in 1994 by MERF.

Sampling Methods

Two separate methods were employed to meet the objectives of the study: 1) collection of relevant fisheries data to characterize the development of the fishery and evaluate its present status; and 2) an on-site field survey to directly assess the status of coral reef fisheries resources.

The field survey had two main objectives: 1) to assess coral reefs within the study area in order to document, describe, and

determine the impact of fishery exploitation; and 2) to conduct interviews in fishing villages in order to obtain relevant fisheries information to supplement the field survey results. Results of the interviews also heiped to validate existing fisheries information.

At each reef site, the general area was first surveyed to determine if enough reef formation existed to accommodate the 50 x 5 meter belt transect. The method followed was that of English et al. (1994) on visual census of fishes, with some modifications. Transect sites were randomly selected at two different depths, 3 meters and 10 meters. About 15-30 minutes after setting the transect, the number and mean lengths of target fish species were recorded. Fish abundance was tallied along a fivemeter belt transect (2.5 m on each side). Where fish were abundant, a log-4 abundance scale as proposed by English et al. (1994) was used. An underwater video operated by another diver followed close behind to document the fishes on the transect. This procedure allowed the verification of counts, and aided the identification of species. Invertebrate counts including crown-of-thorns starfish, and estimates of coral cover were also made. The only deviation to the method described by English et al. (1994) was that the number of transects laid per site was limited to one instead of the recommended two or three due to lack of sufficient area of constant depth.

Three groups that support specific fisheries on the reefs were initially chosen as possible indicators of fishing intensity: lobsters, groupers and octopus. At every site, the densities of indicator species were determined by counting the number of individuals observed within 10-15 meters on either side of the 5meter belt transect. Density is expressed as number of individuals per 1.000 square meters.

Fish biomass at each dive site was computed by converting the number and mean weights into total weights expressed as tons/km². Fish biomass was computed from the average sizes of fish groups. Lengths were converted to weights using available length-weight relationships for the species that represent the group. In the absence of length-weight relationships for some groups (e.g., Balistidae. Monacanthidae), the cubic law was used to estimate weights from lengths where the slope was set to b=3 and *the* intercept value set to zero (a=0.05).

General observations σ each reef site were also recorded including physical features, degree of destruction by fishing activities (such as blasting), pollution, bleaching, diseases and

Table 1. Physical characteristics of Cuyo Pass, the area in which the Calamianes Group is included (source: Munro, 1986).

PHYSICAL FEATURES	CUYO PASS	PHILIPPINES
Length of Coastline	370	7978
Length of Baseline (km)	861	22860
Length of 200 isobath (km)	1359	17219
Area of neritic zone (km ²)	29097	224434
Area of oceanic zone (km ²)	24259	288506
Total fishing area (km ²)	53356	512940
Dendricity Index	2 33	2 87
Shelf width index	21.41	53 <i>03</i>

Interviews and relevant data were obtained from all possible sources in the different fishing villages and municipalities between diving activities. The main objectives of the informal interviews were to obtain information about the condition of local fisheries, to assess the status of fishing development within each area, to document the type of fishing practices used, and to record responses as to the problems and issues that confront the local fishery. Normal protocol was observed. Courtesy calls to barangay heads or officials were made at the start of village visitation and then followed by random interview of any fishermen operating a particular type of fishing gear. In general, older experienced fishers were chosen for interviews because they were considered more likely to best elucidate the historical development of local fisheries.

Study Area

The study area encompassed the municipalities of Busuanga, Coron, Culion, Linapacan and El Nido (see map). Viewed by many as the last frontier for Philippine fisheries, northern Palawan lies 150 km southwest of Manila between the coordinates 11°00.00' to 12°30.00' N and 119°00.00' to 120°35.00' E.

These areas, including the Cuyo group of islands lying east of Northern Palawan, fall under the statistical area called the Cuyo Pass. In the Philippines, there are 24 areas of roughly similar ecological characteristics that serve as categories for fisheries statistical values. Munro (1986) gives the morphological indices of this fishing ground in Table 1. The most noteworthy feature of the Cuyo Pass fishing ground is its widt shelf area (fourth largest in the country), giving rise to a very large neritic zone (29,097 km²). Combined with its oceanic area (24,259 km²), the total area of this fishing ground is 53,356 km², making Cuyo Pass the nation's third largest after west Palawan and the Suiu Sea. The types of fishing habitats within the study area vary from soft bottom substrates (e.g., Coron Bay) typically inhabited by demersal fishes, to hard substrates (reef areas), as well as vast areas encompassing the pelagic fishery. Linapacan Passage (between Linapacan and Culion Islands) is a known migration path of yellow fin tuna (Morgan and Valencia, 1983).

The most noticeable feature of the study area is the ubiquitous presence of coral reefs. Fringing reefs occur on almost every stretch of coastline of both the main and offshore islands. Likewise, there are numerous shoals and submerged reef patches, which are especially numerous along the western section of the Calamianes Group, rendering these areas potentially hazardous to navigation.

From a fisheries point of view, northern Palawan was formerly referred to as the "Alaska of the Philippines" due to its highly productive fishing grounds including Malampaya Sound, Taytay Bay, Imuruan Bay and Bacuit Bay. Anecdotes such as "boiling water" in Malampaya Sound (referring to the legions of shrimps jumping in the water when it was disturbed) only partially describe what used to be incredibly high productivity.

Development of Northern Palawan Fisheries

Artisanal fisheries sector

For the purposes of this report, artisanal fishing refers to small-scale fishing activities conducted in near-shore areas using low capital and low technology inputs. It is similar to municipal fisheries in that the size of boat used is less than three gross tons. It is different from sustenance fisheries in which the catch is used for local consumption and the excess bartered for other goods.

The traditional fishing gear used by small-scale fishers includes hook-and-line, spears and traps. Fishing craft are mainly small, paddle- or wind-driven, and no longer than

Table 2. Types and number of fishing gear observed in areas visited during the survey. Numbers were provided by interviewees. H&L - hook and line; BSGN - bottom set gillnet; BSLL - bottom set longline; DGN - drift gillnet; HKH - hookah; SP - spears; FT - fish traps; DIGN - drive-in gillnet; TMN - trammel net; BS - Beach seine; BGN - baby bagnet; FC - fish corral. Asterisk (*) indicates units used in *largo viaje* (commercial hook-and-line) operation.

AREA VISITED	H&L	JIGS	BSGN	BSLL	DGN	нкн	SP	FT	DIGN	TMN	BS	BGN	FC
Tara, Coron	250	70	. 20	in die stat state in die state			100					18	
Bay-ang, Turda, Coron	10	10	j 8				10			-			
Buenavista, Coron	35	35						5					
Cheey, Busuanga	50	1			- 30		10	4	20		2		
Dimipak, Buluang, Busuanga	- 20		7		1			20					
Decabobo, Coron	25		15		2		- 15	15					
Buluang, Busuanga	120	120	; 1										
Okam, Okam	30	20							i				
Salvacion	70		: 20									-	
Panlaitan, Busuanga	150		25	15		50							
Lajo Island					1					Ì			5
Galoc, Busuanga	250	50	10	001	10	20		10		20			
Lajala, Coron	50		5		10	5				10			
Tagumpay, Coron	100		20	1	10	i	50	1				10	
Baybay, Tagumpay, Coron	60	1	15				30			10			
Maguinit, Tagumpay, Coron	*60						15						
Total	1280	270	181	115	62	75	230	54	20	40	2	28	5

Table	9	Length	of	coastline	, number	of fi	shers,	number	0f	fishing	craft,	and.	density	of	fishers	per
length	of	coastline	e fo	or the fiv	e municij	paliti	es that	were st	irv	eyed.						

MUNICIPALITIES	LENGTH OF COASTLINE (km)	NUMBER OF FISHERS	NUMBER OF FISHING CRAFT	FISHERS/km OF COASTLINE
El Nido	no data	2,236 ^c	804 ^d	-
Coron	489.07	996	1,348	2.04
Culion	450.98	900 ^a	829	2.00
Linapacan	211.29	707 ^b	550 [°]	3.35
Busuanga	247.94	643	799	2.59

^aestimate given by M. Dante Garcia, Municipal Agricultural and Technician, Culion ^bSource: Linapacan municipal profile (1997) but data refer to 1991

^cSource: PCSD Profile (1997) but data refers to 1991 ^dSource: PCSD Profile (1997) but refers to 1994 data

eight meters in length. Because simple technology is utilized, only near-shore resources are accessible and exploited. Motorization of the fleet has proceeded at a very slow pace up to the present time. The ratio of boats without engines to those which are motorized is about 3:1 (see below for further details). The use of engines allows access to more distant fishing grounds, but even motorized operations are confined to relatively shallow waters (< 50 m).

As demand for fish increased, fishing evolved from sustenance to small-scale fisheries where fishing is a source of commercial livelihood. In the Calamianes Group, growth in the fisheries sector (as measured by the increase in number of fishers) is higher than that of the agricultural or services sector, owing to the limited agricultural possibilities in the upland areas and limited jobs in the services sector.

Thirteen different types of artisanal fishing gear are used in the areas that were visited by the survey team (summarized in Table 2). In northern Busuanga and Culion Islands hook-andline, traps, spears and jigs for octopus appear to be the dominant types of fishing gear. While hook-and-line appears to be used universally, some types of gear are associated with the ethnic origin of the fisher. For instance, jigs for octopus are used almost exclusively by the Tagbanuas in northern Busuanga, while hookah is generally used by the "bisaya" or the Cebuano speaking group. The location of the fishing village relative to the physical character of the fishing ground may also dictate the type of gear used. For example, in northern (e.g., Cheey, Tara) and western Busuanga (e.g., Galoc, Panlaitan), drift gillnets for flying fishes are important as the villages are exposed to wide oceanic areas of the South China Sea, while spears are widely used in other reef areas. Gillnets appear to have gained wide acceptance as a method of artisanal fishing. Many different types of gillnets and netting techniques are used within the study area depending on the target species. The bottom-set gilinet exploits demersal fishes, drift gilinets catch flying fishes and sardines, and drive-in gillnets are designed for near shore species such as mullets and grunts. Trammel nets, also in use, are limited to the Coron area. This last-mentioned gear, made up of three gill net panels of two different sizes, is used to exploit seagrass fishes, mainly rabbitfishes (Siganus).

The type of gear used by the artisanal fishing sector has not changed much through the years. Hook-and-line and spear fishing remain the most common gear in use today. Popularity of traps, however, has declined owing to lower catches and a higher cost of raw materials. The popularity of hook-and-line and spear fishing is mainly due to its low capital input. Spear fishing is the least expensive method as it does not require a boat.

However, changes in fishing techniques using traditional gear were also observed. This was particularly visible with regards to spear fishing. Introduction of air compressors allows fishers to stay underwater for much longer periods. Called *hookah*, this accessory combined with the motorization of the fishing fleet, gives fishers access to deeper and more distant areas otherwise inaccessible to traditional spear fishermen. In effect, it is now possible to totally annihilate the few remaining fishes in an already over-fished reef area.

Table 3 lists the number of fishers from the five municipalities with El Nido having the highest and Busuanga, the least. The data presented in Table 3 are not directly comparable as they represent different time periods. The index of fisher density to available coastline ranges from 2.00 for Culion to 3.35 for Linapacan. In all instances, the number of fishers per kilometer of coastline is still very small, suggesting an availability of enough areas for each fisher. But low values such as these are highly influenced by the numerous islets and the complexity of the coastal area (e.g., Linapacan). Furthermore, some areas along the coastline are used for tourism (beach resorts) and pearl farms, and are therefore inaccessible to fishers. The index therefore would actually be slightly higher if these conditions were taken into consideration in the computation. Even so, the values are still very low compared to many traditional areas of the country where density of fishers per kilometer range between 30 in Ormoco Bay (Ingles, 1992) to as high as 246 in Manila Bay (Armada, 1994).

The number of fishing craft varies considerably between municipalities. Also, the number of craft in relation to the number of fishers reveals some discrepancies. For Coron and Busuanga, the number of craft is higher than the number of fishermen. This information is dubious and probably the



Figure 1. Fishery production of the commercial sector landed ai Coron Gaps pertain to years in which no data were collected Sources **BFAR** statistics 1947–1987; MERF (1994) and this study

number of craft was overestimated by including those used for non-fishing activities (e.g., tourist boats, services, etc.). A closer look at the distribution of boats and fishers per barangay revealed that this discrepancy occurred only in Coron town

Commercial fishing sector

Under the newly enacted fisheries code (Republic Act 8550), the commercial fishing sector includes boats larger than three gross tons that operate in waters beyond B0 kilometers from shore The following represent the components of the commercial fishing fleet in the study area purse seine, *muro-ami largo viejo*, Danish seine and bagnet Ring nets. trawlers, and tuna longliners were also reported to be operating in the area but were not observed

Commercial fishing first started in northern Palawan at wellknown traditional fishing grounds such as Malampaya Sound, Taytay Bay, Bacuit Bay and Coron Bay. The historical exploitation of fishery resources in the area closely followed the development of Manila Bay's commercial fisheries Any new developments in the fishing industry generally start at Manila Bay and spread to the Visayas When resources decline in these areas, the fleet then converges on Palawan Hence, all commercial fishing vessels operating in Palawan waters have originated in places such as Malabon, Navotas in Metro Manila and from the provinces of Cavite, Batangas, and Quezon Manacop and Laron (1953) gave the earliest account of commercial fishing (bagnets operating even before World War II). When bottom trawls were introduced in 1951. some bagnet units were converted to or were used in combination with otter trawls This paved the way for trawling operations in Malampaya Sound, Bacuit Bay and Imuruan Bay

Commercial fishing was suspended during the war years (1941-1945) but resumed immediately thereafter During this time fisheries supplied only the needs of the local populace of Palawan Although catches were phenomenal. Palawan was considered to be a remote locality and to fish there required large vessels to accommodate additional inputs of ice, fuel and supplies It was not until the mid 1960's that fleets of bagnets (known as tres palos or 3-masted Soars) from Manila and neighboring provinces of Cavite and Rizal started fishing in northern Palawan (Coron and Liminangcong) because of declining catches in other areas Fishing was highly seasonal When the catch from the traditional grounds of Luzon and Visayas declined, the commercial fishing fleet, notably bagnets and sapiao (lever nets). shifted their operation to northern Palawan (Manacop and Laron 1953) The problem of distance was solved by the use of carrier boars

The commercial fishing sector grew rapidly and probably

Table 4. Percentage of the total commercial fisheries production of Coron Bay (to 1974) and Cuyo Pass (1980–1993) by various types of fishing gear. Source: BFAR (various years).

GEAR TYPE	1960	1965	1969	1974	1980	1985	1993
Bagnet Trawl Seines <i>Muro-ami</i> Hook and lane Gillnet Troll	52 80 3 27 0.57 29.50 14 m	0.10 9780 197	99.60 0.15 0.20	82.00 18 <i>00</i>	76 90 5.?5 17.00 1.24	68.70 1.57 24.40 3.09 2.16	17.10 1.63 20.20 12.50 0.41 4.71

reached its highest level in the decade between 1970–1980 when boats numbered about 400 units (personal observation). In 1976, bagnet units owned and solely based in Coron numbered 115 (Baum and Maynard, 1976). By 1994 there were only 42 bagnets (MERF, 1994), and in 1998 only 10 units remained (this study). From its early development in 1950 to the present, the commercial fishing sector has undergone changes in the type of fleet, featuring an historical sequence of bagnet, trawl, bagnet, Danish seine, *muro-ami* and, lastly,

largo viaje. The general trend has been a declining catch. In the absence of any regulatory measures to curb open access, the commercial fishing fleet in northern Palawan followed a boom or bust history (Figure 1). The fish production of Coron Bay clearly shows a highly fluctuating pattern. Catches varied between 500–4,500 tons from 1955-1985. A sudden increase occured thereafter, with the highest level attained in 1987 (13,000 tons). The 1997 production estimate is about 3,090 tons.

Table 5. Fishing methods u	ised in	the	Calamianes	Islands.
----------------------------	---------	-----	------------	----------

F (Y	ISHING SEAR YPE	DESCRIPTION	TARGET SPECIES	NOTES		
	Simple Handline	A single hook attached to a line and sinker. Usually operated with a non- motorized boat. Near-shore operation along coral reef edge.	Piscivores (mostly groupers, snappers, threadfin breams, jacks and conger eels).	In Coron, some fishers join the <i>largo viaje</i> , a large boat, in order to fish distant reef patches.		
	Multiple Handline	20-30 hooks using lures are attached to a main line with sinker.	Pelagic species including anchovies, crevalle, and big- eye scad.	In Coron, this gear is used to catch fusiliers using sergestid shrimps as bait.		
r	Troll	Used together with sailboats, it is of similar construction to the multiple handline. The only difference is that the gear is towed.	Pelagic species like bullet tuna, bonito, mackerels, jacks, and leatherjackets.	Highly seasonal in use and was not observed but report- ed during the Marine RAP survey.		
ng Ge	Bottom Set Longline	1,000–2,000 hooks attached to a main line set along the reef edge either using fish as bait or false lures made of color- ful silk cloth.	Demersal fishes like threadfin breams, snappers, groupers, conger eel\. and grunts.	Only a few operations (e.g., Culion Island) were observed in the area.		
al Fishi	Octopus lures	Called <i>bitsoy</i> , these are large shining hooks with silvery rotating pieces attached to fish or crab figurines and dragged along the bottom by a fisher swimming on the surface using a small baniboo raft.	Octopus only, of varied sizes.	As reported during inter- views, the catch-per-fisher has dramatically declined from as high as 70 kg per fisher per day to about 1.0 kg during the study period.		
Artisar	Hookah	The use of air compressors in connec- tion with spear fishing or for the collec- tion of aquarium fishes. In the study area, this is also used to collect live groupers using cyanide poison to stun the fish.	Reef fishes, mainly groupers, haemulids, snappers, parrot- fishes, and surgeonfishes.	This is a controversial fish- ing method that has been banned in other areas main- ly for health reasons (decompression sickness).		
and an other states of the second	Gillnets	Monofilament netting material made of nylon thread varying in mesh size depending on the target species. These are set at the bottom at dawn or dusk and hauled in three hours later.	Catch is made up of crepus- cular predators, mainly jacks, grunts, snappers, bar- racudas and others like the slipmouths, whiting, and crabs.	This is one of the most pop- ular gears after the handline, but requires a boat as an accessory.		
the same of the second se	Trammel Net	This is basically a gillnet made of three panels, with a smaller mesh placed in between two large meshes.	Mainly rabbitfishes of the genus <i>Siganus</i> .	Popular along the eastern coast of Busuanga, particu- larly in areas with substan- tial seagrass beds.		
And a constrained and a constrained and a constrained on the second second second second second second second s	Beach Seine	A seine that is set to encircle fish along the immediate shoreline using very fine mesh nets. A truly communal fishing gear that members of the community help set and retrieve.	Mainly larvae and juveniles of sardines and anchovies but also sergestid shrimps.	There are only few areas where beach seine operation is possible. In some areas of the country (e.g., Guimaras province), this gear is banned.		

	FISHING GEAR TYPE	DESCRIPTION	TARGET SPECIES	NOTES
g Gear	Purse Seine	Lights are used to attract fish that are then captured in a net that surrounds them. Boat weight ranges between 90–500 GT.	Highly schooling fishes like tunas. <i>scads</i> , anchovies, sar- dines and squids.	In the study area, the fleet observed is based in Manila and operates in these waters during a particular season.
	Ring Net	Gear is similar but smaller than a purse seine, and uses a tom weight to close the net. Hauling of net is manual.	Same as catch of purse seine.	Ring nets operate near the shore and usually exploit fishes attracted to the fish aggregating devices (FADs).
 	Bag Net	The ne: is like an inverted mosquito ne: set at the bottom of the boat. Fish are attracted using lights.	Small pelagics like anchovies, sardines, bullet tunas and round scads.	There are few units left because of resource deple- tion in she near-shore areas.
nercial	Traw]	A Sag net towed along the sea floor that catches everything along its path.	Demersal fishes like goat- fish. slipmouths, whitings, jacks. shrimps, cram and squids.	This gear is banned in many areas and the remaining units based in northern Palawan operate in deep waters between 100–200 m.
C o m m	Danish seine	Called <i>hulbot-hulbot</i> , the net is similar to a trawl but instead of being dragged, a scareline is set in front to drive the fish within the immediate area of the net's mouth.		Very popular and very effi- cient as far as the amount of fish caught. In most areas of the country, this gear is banned solely on the basis of its use of fine mesh nets.
Methods	Muro-Ami	A surrounding net with a bag that is set to enclose large areas of fringing reefs or entire reef patches. Fishes are driven towards the net by 10–30 swimmers who pound the reef with weights attached to ropes. A modification uses a curtain of bubbles instead of swimmers.	All reef fishes.	This gear is banned but there are still 46 units oper- ating in the reef areas west of Palawan up to the Kalayaan Islands.
F s h o	Blast Fishing	Mainly used in areas with a high densi- ty of fishes like reef areas and near FADs. The explosives are manufac- tured simply using ordinary fertilizers.	Reef fishes and schooling pelagics.	The massive destruction of hard corals has been attrib- uted to blast fishing. In one particular dive near Coron, the team experienced a blast while underwater.
[] e g a	Use of Poisons	Use of poisons and noxious substances like cyanide and plant extracts.	Reef fishes.	·

The dominance of particular types of fishing gear at different times accounts for the fluctuating pattern. For instance, the decline of bagnet production saw the emergence of bottomotter trawls operating in the vicinity of Coron Bay to the northern part of eastern Cuyo Pass. In the beginning, only large boats (20-50 GT) operated. After a few years, smaller vessels called *baby trawls* proliferated in the area. There were 192 units based in Coron in 1988 (MERF, 1994). The benthic fish resources (including shrimp) of shallow soft bottom areas were heavily exploited.

The constant increase in fuel prices starting in 1974 nearly terminated the trawl industry. Small boats were the first to go. By the late 1980's, in the face of declining profit (due to dwindling catch and an increase in operating costs) and a concerted effort within the artisanal fishing sector to protect its territory, trawl fishing also disappeared.

The collapse of the trawl fleet led to the introduction of Danish seines because of their low overhead costs and efficiency in catching both demersal and pelagic species. Thus, large and small Danish seines proliferated of which four units are still used in the study area.

The decline of trawlers also saw the re-emergence of *muro-ami*. This method has been operating since 1950 but bagnets and trawls always overshadowed its contribution to fish production. For instance, in 1960, *muro-ami* contributed

29.5% of Coron's overall fish production (Table 4). By 1965, its contribution was reduced to only 1.97% and disappeared entirely by 1970. But in 1985, following the decline of pelagic and demersal resources, reef fishes finally gained market acceptance. With this development, *muro-ami* fishing (with a catch composed exclusively of reef fishes) became highly profitable.

In 1997, records from the licensing division of the Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources (BFAR, unpublished data from 1997) listed 34 units of *muro-ami* operating almost exclusively within Palawan and western Mindoro waters. Most of the catch however was taken from northwestern and western Palawan waters and landed at the Navotas fish port.

With the demise of the bagnet, purse seines and ring nets became the major types os commercial gear. However there are few units (approximately 20) operating in the Calamianes Islands and all are based in Manila. Their fishing activities are highly seasonal (carried out during the northeast monsoon), exploiting principally round scads (Decapterus spp.) and, from February to May, squids (Loligo and Dorytheutis).

In 1990, the commercial sector suffered its most serious setback when the artisanal sector started protecting its fishing grounds. As a result of municipal laws and the creation of the *Bantay Dagat* (watchers of the sea) management mechanism, commercial fishing boats were effectively excluded from municipal waters.

This development has forced the commercial fishing sector to operate within the limits of its fishing grounds (i.e., outside the declared municipal waters). This meant that only sufficiently large fishing vessels that could reach offshore fishing grounds could operate. The muro-ami fleet focused its fishing activity in numerous reef patches west and northwest of Palawan and at the Kalayaan Islands and Reed Banks. The pelagic fishing fleet had to convert bagnets into ring nets. But because of the huge investments required for pelagic fishing ventures, many of the bagnets simply ceased operation or the units transferred to areas where they could operate near shore. The ring nets and purse seine fishing grounds lie north and commercial fleet, and only the Danish seines were not able to adapt because their operation is limited to near-shore waters. As a result two units, both operating illegally, remain in municipal waters.

In summary, prospects for the commercial fishing sector of northern Palawan remain bleak. The Coron-based fishing fleet has few remaining units (10 bagnets, four Danish seines, and one *muro-ami*). The rest of the commercial fleet is composed of purse seines, ring nets and *muro-ami* that are all based in Metro Manila. These units visit the area only during the fishing season.

Thus far, only the 12 large hook-and-line vessels (called *largo viaje*) appear to be earning profits. *Largo viaje* refers simply to a large boat that acts as the mother ship to a group of small hand-lining craft. Hook-and-line is the only example of an artisanal method that eventually became commercial, making its initial appearance in the mid-1980's. The method targets

the larger reef carnivores and war started by operators from Metro Maniia and Batangas who used large boats to bring groups of handline fishers in their small boats to distant fishing grounds. They would remain for at least a week or until a substantial catch was made. The *largo viaje* method evolved from the need for small-scale fishers to circumvent the depleted near-shore resources. The fleet based in Coron currently operates in the Kalayaan and Reed Banks during summer months and shifts to the Linapacan area during monsoon periods.

Other Non-capture Fishery Activities

Fish processing, pearl culture, and seaweed cultivation are included among fishery activities in the Calamianes Group. Fish processing is a well-developed industry in most fishing villages, especially those far from market centers. All types of fisheries products including rabbitfishes, flyingfishes, threadfin bream and squids are dried before being sold. Apparently this form of processing is the consequence of a lack of support services and fisheries infrastructure, particularly ice-making facilities. Although ice plants presently exist (2 units in Coron and 4 units in Culion), distant villages cannot utilize them. Thus, fish are simply dried (salted and unsalted) and then sold to roving fish merchants.

Pearl culture appears to *be* .uitable in sheltered areas of the Calamianes Islands judging from the 2,859 hectares currently devoted to this practice. This subject is discussed in more detail below (see "Issues and Problems of the Calamianes Fishery"). Attempts to cultivate seaweed are underway and approximately 10 hectares are devoted to a pilot culture. *Kappaphycus alvarezii* is being tested using the Line method. however, initial results were discouraging.

Status of Fisheries of the Calamianes Islands

Palawan waters (including West Palawan waters, Cuyo Pass and West Sulu Sea in statistical listings) remain the number one supplier of fish in the country, contributing 250,402 metric tons or 14.6% of the total marine fisheries production in 1996 (BAS, 1997). Of this amount, over four-fifths (83.1%) was taken by the commercial fishing sector while only 42,411 metric tons (16.9%) were landed by small-scale fishing operations (municipal sector). In ascending order of contribution to total production, commercial fishing gear used in the study area are as follows: purse seine, ring net, hook-and-line, bagnet. muro-ami, trawl. Danish seine and tuna longline. The total number of units operating within the study area cannot be accurately determined because the commercial fishing fleet is highly migratory. The fishing fleets operate mostly on the northwestern and western parts of Busuanga and also on the northeastern side including the eastern and western passes of Cuyo.

The fishery production of the Calamianes Group is mainly included with that of Cuyo Pass (Busuanga, Culion, Linapacan), whereas landings of northern Palawan (El Nido) are listed under western Palawan waters. The islands included under Cuyo Pass may be considered ecologically similar to those of the Calamianes Group and support similar types of fishery activities. Therefore any statistical trends shown for Cuyo Pass represent trends for the Calamianes Islands in general.

Production figures for Cuyo Pass from the last 10 years (Table 6) reveal a declining trend for both small- and large-scale fishery sectors. The total fish production in 1995 represented only 57.8% of the production level in 1986. The reduced production is largely the result of decreased catch of demersal and pelagic resources. Demersal fish production declined significantly with the demise of trawls and Danish seines. The number of bagnets operating likewise declined. The commercial fish production of the area is supported mainly by catches made using purse seines, ring nets and *muro-ami*.

In 1997 the fisheries production of Coron, Busuanga and Culion was estimated to be 5,735 metric tons. The contribution of the three municipalities to the total fisheries production of northern Palawan are as follows: Coron - 4,617 tons, Busuanga - 555 tons, and Culion - 563 tons. Fisheries production in the municipalities of Busuanga and Culion represent the artisanal sector's catch. However, 3,093 tons or 67.0% of Coron's production was taken by the commercial sector (particularly by *largo viaje*, Danish seine, small-scale *muro-ami*

Table 6. Latest available figures on fishery production from Cuyo Pass. Small-scale refers to municipal production (omitting inland waters). Source: Bureau of Agricultural Statistics (1990–1995).

YEAR	SMALL SCALE	LARGE SCALE	TOTAL
1995	13,315	10,288	23,603
1994	12,732	10,680	23,412
1992 1991	*	20,393 22,561	
1990 1989	*	35,665 32,436	
1988 1987	26,582 21,584	22.841 20,449	49,423 42,033
1986	21,700	19,073	40,773

called *lintig* and bagnet) based in the municipality. Part of the catch from these vessels may have been taken outside municipal waters.

Coron's fish production has shown a decline similar to that of Cuyo Pass. In 1991, its reported catch was 9,248 metric tons with the municipal sector accounting for 5,122 tons (55.4%) and the commercial sector 4,126 tons (MERF, 1994). Thus, Coron's fish production declined by half (50.1%) in a span of six years. While both fishing sectors showed significant decline, the municipal sector registered a 70.0% reduction compared to the commercial sector's 25.4%.

The commercial sector's decline resulted from a reduction in the number of fishing boats operating in the area due to reduced catch. Moreover, many commercial boats left the area, apparently as a result of an effective campaign against poaching within municipal waters. Forced to operate in distant areas of doubtful productivity, many vessels transferred operations to other areas (e.g., Mindoro and San Vicente, Palawan) and others simply went out of business.

The main reason for declining production of the municipal sector was the dwindling catch. Table 7 shows the catch rates of artisanal fishing gear for various years. The values were based on interviews conducted during the Marine RAP survey. It appears that a significant reduction in catch rates is a general trend for most types of gear. Hook-and-line, spear fishing and use of octopus lures all registered significant declines in catch rates. Interestingly, the use of fish traps appears to be a recent development. The catch from this method, designed for exploiting threadfin bream (Nemipteridae) remains very high. First introduced in northern Busuanga (Cheey, Okam-okam), this gear is gaining popularity and has spread to Concepcion and Salvacion (western Busuanga), but has not yet spread to Culion.

The obvious consequence of decreased catch is reduced income. Over two decades ago, Baum and Maynard (1976) concluded that Coron-based fishers had very high catch rates yet remained poor because of inadequate marketing support. As a consequence, fish simply rotted along the beach. Today, fishers remain poor due to depleted resources stemming from lack of adequate fisheries management. **Table 7** Catch rates of common fishing gear used in the study area based on interview information Legend ¹lean season, ²peak season: ³reef based, 'northeast monsoon, 'southwest monsoon Catch rates for commercial gear in tons/one lunar cycle

GEAR TYPE	i Argeni Traduc	CATC	H RATES	(KILOG	RAM PER	DAY PEI	Risher)	LOCALITY
	1980	1985	1988	1993	1995	1996	1997	1998	
Artisanal Gear Octopus lure Bottom set gillnet Bottom set gillnet Bottom set longline ¹ Bottom set longline ² Bottom set longline Hook and Line Hook and Line Hook and Line Hook and Line Hook and Line Fish pots for bisugo ¹ Fish pots for bisugo ² Fish pots for bisugo ² Fish pots for bisugo Buhay-buhay ⁴ Buhay-buhay ⁵ Trammel Net Trammel Net	25.0	22.0	70.0 10.0 25.0	5.0 25.0	3.00 20.00 4.00 5.00 15.00	10.0	3.00	$\begin{array}{c} 3 \ 0 \\ 4.0 \\ 0.8 \\ 3.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 6.0 \\ 10.0 \\ 4.0 \\ 1.5 \\ 7.5 \\ 15.0 \\ 15.0 \\ 8.5 \\ 20.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 0.1 \\ 1.0 \\ 5.0 \\ 10.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 25.0 \\ 10.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 25.0 \\ 10.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 25.0 \\ 10.$	Tara, Coron Tara, Coron Dimipak, Buluang Cheey, Busuanga Galoc, Culion Turda, Buenavista Tara, Coron Dimipak, Buluang Buluang, Busuanga Buluang, Busuanga Buluang, Busuanga Okam okam Galoc, Culion Tagumpay, Coron Panlaytan, Busuanga Panlaytan, Busuanga Panlaytan, Busuanga Lajala, Coron Maquinit, Coron Bulalacao & Malpok
Compressor	-	50.0		300			oliobali and economic company	35.0	Tagumpay, Coron
Commercial Gear Bagnet Purse seine Muro-ami			10-20		10.00		0.5	$0.2 \\ 15.0 \\ 42.0$	Coron Bay West Busuanga West Palawan

Fisheries Resources

Soft bottom habitats and pelagic waters formed the basis of the fisheries during the initial phase of its development in the Calamianes Group Table 8 gives cine mor: important fish resources caught within the study area for different time periods. The contribution represented by each species α fish group over time vanes significantly according to the dominant type of fishing gear used.

Existing fisheries are mainly supported by coral reef species due to the collapse of demersal fish populations and the significant decrease in pelagic catches Reef fishes dominate the catch sold at the market Pelagic species are represented only by anchovies (*Stolephorus* spp), round scads (*Decapterus* spp), and Indian mackerels (*Rastrelliger* spp), whereas demersal fishes included slipmouths (Leiognathidae), mojarras (Gerreidae), breams (Nemipteridae), goatfishes (Mullidae) and snappers (Lutjanidae) These groups are caught by bottom set gillnets The quality of fishes observed *in the* market was poor. as the higher quality individuals are brought directly to merchants for export to Manila
 Table 8. Percentage of total catch of various fish groups

 taken from Coron Bay. Data for recent years are unavail

 able
 Source. BFAR statistics (various years)

GROUP	1955	1960	1965	1970	1974
Anchovies	71.20	8.84	'38.28	87.95	40.28
Threadfin breams		4.36			0.11
Round scads		40.60		2.36	8 14
Sardines	0.164	15.11		3.35	7.32
Shrimps		0.20			3.7
Slipmouths	0.117	2.65		1.99	8 89
Squids]			112	1.46
Big-eyed 5cad					13.7
Chub mackerels	0 001				0.198
Snappers	0 007	I.53			
Fusiliers		12.72			
Groupers		1.49			
Tunas	0 23	0.59			2.94
Lizardfish		0.50			
Rabbitfishes	1	0.45			
Surgeonfishes	I	8.07			
Others	28 30	10.43	172	3.23	13.24

Other Fishery Resources

Seaweed (e.g., *Caulerpa* spp. and *Kappaphycus* spp.) is naturally occurring and harvested in the area. Some 40 ha in Coron and another 10 ha in Culion are devoted to culture of algae for carageenan production using the line method. However, recent reports reveal that some of these endeavors have not been prosperous.

Holothurians (or sea cucumbers) and seahorses are also harvested from wild populations in barangay Concepcion, Busuanga. These are dried and exported to Manila. Sea cucumbers (called *trepang* locally) are used mainly as food, while the Chinese use dried seahorses for medicinal purposes.

Milkfish fry, which are collected seasonally during the northeast monsoon using fine-meshed pushnets, are another fishery resource. The fry are reared in earthen fishponds and form the basis of the aquaculture sector. Fry collection grounds include practically the entire northern and western part of Busuanga Island. The privilege of buying fry in the area is awarded to the highest bidder. In Coron, the minimum bid price of P15,000 per zone per year is set by local ordinance (Municipality of Coron, 1995).

Octopus is another resource that is heavily exploited for export to Taiwan end Japan. The indigenous Tagbanua people play a significant role in the octopus fishery.

Reef Fisheries

Seven of the 13 artisanal fishing gear types listed in Table 2 and 85.9% of the total gear counted operate in reef areas. The reef fishery is presently the *most* important component of the artisanal sector and its contribution to overall production is estimated to be over 90%.

In the commercial sector, *muro-ami* and *largo viaje* methods are also utilized on reefs. However, *muro-ami* fishing areas are mainly on reef patches and shoals on the western side of Palawan and in the Kalayaan Group. Similarly, the *largo viaje* fleet visits these areas only during the Philippine summer (March-May). At other times, the fishing ground is located around Linapacan and southern Culion.

Status of Coral Reefs

Thirty coral reef stations (see map) distributed around

Busuanga, Culion and Coron Islands were assessed. Data were recorded on percentage of live coral cover, reef fish biomass, and general reef condition. The fisheries team operated independent of the biological team. Although we endeavoured to visit sites in the same general areas our transect site was often separated from the biological teams inventory site by a distance of up to several hundred meters. Therefore, values relating to benthic cover (Table 10) do not usually correspond with the values in the Sites Description portion of the previous Overview section. Of the thirty stations surveyed, based on their percentage of live coral cover, two (6.7%) were in excellent condition, six (20%) were in good condition, eight (27%) were considered fair and 14 sites or almost half (47%) were in poor condition (Table 9). The overall average cover for all stations surveyed was 35.9% (fair category). The relative degree of destruction of the corals is best described by the mortality index which is the ratio of dead corals to the total coral cover [(dead + rubble)/(live + dead + rubble)]. High mortality indices of 75% or greater were observed on almost half (14) of the 30 sites while only three sites had a low index of less than 25% (Table 10). The overall average mortality index was computed at 60.9 suggesting severe destruction.

Among the areas with severely impacted reefs were sites on the western side of Culion (Site 23), the sites inside Research Bay

CLASS LIMITS	NUMBER OF SITES	CLASSIFICATION
1-25	14	Poor
26-50	8	Fair
51-75	6	Good
76-100	2	Excellent
Total	30	
Overall Avera	ge = 35.9%	Fair

 Table 9. Classification and distribution of coral reef sites

 surveyed based on live coral cover.

in Halsey Harbor (Sites 24 and 25), the tip of Coron Island (Site 17) and near Lajo Island (Site 13). Areas with minimal amount of coral destruction included the site west of Talampulan Island (Site 11), the southern end of Galoc Island (Site 14) and Saddle Rock, West Culion (Site 27).

Table 10.	Mortality index [=	:100 x (dead +	+ rubble)/(live +	- dead + rubble)] and coral cover of
30 coral rea	ef sites at Busuanga	and Culion Is	lands.		

SITE NO.	% HARD CORAL	% SOFT CORAL	% DEAD CORAL & ALGAE	% RUBBLE	% SAND	MORTALITY INDEX
1 3 4 6 7 8 9 10 12 14 17 18 9 20 21 22 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 32 33 34 35 36 37 38	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\ 20\\ 25\\ 30\\ 13\\ 40\\ 15\\ 10\\ 10\\ 15\\ 40\\ 13\\ 5\\ 10\\ 23\\ 33\\ 5\\ 20\\ 50\\ 20\\ 60\\ 55\\ 5\\ 10\\ 10\\ 5\\ 80\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35$	$\begin{array}{c} 2\\ 0\\ 25\\ 30\\ 5\\ 15\\ 30\\ 0\\ 5\\ 15\\ 20\\ 10\\ 0\\ 70\\ 20\\ 30\\ 5\\ 5\\ 15\\ 0\\ 10\\ 6\\ e\\ 6\\ 8\\ 0\\ 0\\ 5\\ 15\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 52\\ 60\\ 30\\ 40\\ 35\\ 20\\ 15\\ 35\\ 30\\ 50\\ 20\\ 40\\ 50\\ 20\\ 50\\ 20\\ 50\\ 30\\ 60\\ 40\\ 30\\ 0\\ 20\\ 35\\ 95\\ 65\\ 30\\ 65\\ 55\\ 60\\ 35\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\ 10\\ 15\\ 0\\ 35\\ 20\\ 20\\ 25\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 0\\ 10\\ 10\\ 20\\ 25\\ 5\\ 40\\ 10\\ 3\\ 0\\ 15\\ 60\\ 15\\ 5\\ 10\\ 0\\ 5\\ 10\\ 0\\ 5\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6\\ 10\\ 5\\ 0\\ 15\\ 5\\ 45\\ 20\\ 10\\ 15\\ 40\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0$	77 78 47 40 82 42 44 80 77 70 25 71 92 20 64 40 89 72 35 67 30 42 95 89 90 84 11 65 60 50

Status of the Reef Fisheries

Fish biomass

Fish counts taken during the visual fish census were converted into weights per unit area and expressed in tons/km². The commercially important fishes were separated from the noncommercial species, which also included commercial species that are below marketable length (< 6 cm). The computed biomass (Table 11) clearly shows that there are few marketable fishes remaining in many of the reef areas of the Calamianes Group. The biomass ranges from 3.44-57.6 tons/km², with many sites showing biomass values under 10 tons/km². Clearly, the fish productivity of these reefs is low. From a fisheries point of view. these data are very discouraging as the majority of reef fish biomass consists of non-commercial species,

SITE NO.	COM (= TOTAL - NC)	NC	TOTAL NO.	NO. FAMILIE	S .
1	10.19	2.68	12.87	7	
3	24.99	6.03	31.02	10	
4	8.32	10.31	18.63	13	
6	5.61	0.78	6.39	haran f	
7	26.70	22.60	49.20	13	
8	3.14	2.15	5.28	15	
9	2.65	1.30	3.95	9	
10	æ				
12	17.90	18.90	36.80	10	
14	7.04	1.43	8.46	9	
17	23.50	1.95	25.40	6	
18	20.80	3.00	23.80	9	
19	4.40	2.49	6.89		
20	10.90	1.00	11.90	7	
21	1.74	1.99	<u>3</u> .72	9	
22	16.71	0.69	17.40	7	
24	2.49	0.95	3.44	7	
25	4.83	0.69	5.52	5	
26	51.60	5.90	57.60	5	
27	16.00	6.20	22.20	8	
28	25.00	2.57	27.50	8	
29	6.77	I.08	7.85	7	
30	9.76	2.10	11.90	7	
32	10.70	1.12	11.90	7	
33	4.61	0.58	5.19	5	
34	6.20	1.84	8.04	9	
35	1.81	2.17	3.98	8	
36	10.30	8.88	19.20	9	
37	10.30	8.88	19.20	8	
38	24.90	0.95	25.90	9	

Table 11. Biomass (in tons/km^s) of reef fishes from 30 sites surveyed at Busuanga and Culion Islands in February 1998. NC - non-commercial fishes; COM - commercial fishes.

There is no apparent correlation between fish productivity and amount of coral cover or degree of destruction of the coral reefs surveyed. However, it appears that higher fish biomass occurs on reefs where some degree of protection from fishing exists. For example, reefs located near the Club Paradise beach resort (Site 5) and the protected area in Calauit Bay (Site 9) showed higher biomass of commercially important species. At seven other reefs where the biomass exceeded 20 tons/km² (Sites 2, 11, 12, 19, 20, 21 and 30), the small, noncommercially important species made up most of the available fish biomass. For example, at Twin Peaks (Site 19) where a fish biomass of 57.8 ton/km² was computed, only 10.5% of the biomass was considered commercially important.

Large piscivorous, reef-associated species such as barracudas, jacks and sharks were notably absent on Calamianes reefs. Likewise, the normally abundant schooling species such as surgeonfishes and fusiliers were observed singly or in small aggregations. Few sites yielded large schools of commercially important reef fishes. Such schools are generally observed in areas protected from fishing.

The above findings indicate that massive fish extraction has

taken place on the surveyed reefs. Previous studies in the same area (MERF 1994) showed much higher estimates of fish-biomass (Table 12). The MERF study's station at Calauit, Busuanga and Site 11 of this survey are almost the exact same location. Since both surveys used the same methods, a direct comparison can be made. The 1994 survey showed a biomass estimate of 19.5 tons/km², compared to a slightly higher value of 25.4 tons/km² during the present survey. During the 1994 survey commercially important species comprised half (49.4%) of the biomass compared to only 7.68% during the present one. Moreover, surgeonfishes and wrasses accounted for 35% of the biomass in 1994 compared to the presently computed value of only 7.07%.

Based on these two studies alone, there appears to be significant differences in reef fish biomass, particularly in the commercially important fish groups. It is interesting to note that the high fish productivity of the Linapacan and El Nido areas represent by far the highest ever recorded for Philippine waters (Table 12). It is also interesting to point out that since the time of this study fishing on El Nido reefs has become highly regulated and existing laws are now rigidly enforced.

SITES	BIOMASS (TONS/km ²)	NO. OF SPP.	NO. OF FAMILIES
Calauit. Busuanga	19.5	113	20
Galoc Is. Culion	66.8	114	14
Calion	33.6	128	26
Cagdanao, Linapacan	105.4	125	18
Libro Point	19.2	87	:4
Inambuyod, El Nido	183.4	143	22
Tres Marias, El Nido	97.8	142	22
Matinloc, El Nido	216.5	128	21
Shimzu, El Nido	111.3	148	22

Table 12. Fish biomass estimates for nine coral reef sites in northern Palawan in 1994.Source: MERF (1994).

Unfortunately, no recent estimates of fish biomass have been made in these areas. It is highly likely that new surveys would demonstrate the effects of unregulated fishing on fish biomass, particularly in the Linapacan area where, as is the case on Calion and Busuanga, there are no existing regulations. In fact, based on interviews, Linapacan appears to be the present favorite fishing ground for both the artisanal and commercial fishing sectors.

Density of indicator species

For this particular measurement, three fishing indicator taxa were used: groupers, lobsters and octopus. Each group forms a specific fishery. Although taken using most types of fishing gear, groupers are targeted by the live-fish trade and are primarily caught using either hook-and-line or poison. Lobsters are traditionally harvested using traps and spears, and more recently with *hookah*. Octopus, on the other hand, are caught using lures (locally called *bitsoy*) dragged from the surface by fishers aboard a small raft (or sometimes a boat). These three groups are intensively fished primarily because of their high value. Groupers, lobsters and octopus are sold locally at P800-1,200, P900-1,500, and P80-120 per kg, respectively.

Based on counts made at each dive site, the density of groupers ranged from 0-8.0 individuals per 1,000 m² (Table 13). The highest grouper densities were recorded at Sites 4, 6 and 11. Groupers were absent from Sites 22, 24 and 26, all located north and west of Culion Island. Higher grouper den-

sity appears to be associated more with the complexity of reef morphology rather than the existing coral cover. This is expected considering the highly territorial behavior of most species. Low grouper counts or their absence, particularly west of Culion, may be attributed to the greater accessibility of these reefs. Hookah and live fish catching activities are mainly based at Marily Malaki and Inoron, Culion. In summary, there are significantly more reef areas with very low grouper density (34.5%) than reefs with high grouper density (6.90% - see Figure 2). Unfortunately, there are no available production figures for groupers from the study area. However, one of the fish merchants stated that in 1996 two DC-3 cargo planes were used to ferry live groupers to Manila each week. Groupers were observed at depths between 3-16 m (10-50 feet) with the larger ones (>20 cm) generally seen in deeper water. Size of observed groupers ranged from 12-80 cm in total length with the majority of individuals below 20 cm. Note that the preferred size range for the live fish trade is 25-40 cm.

The species of groupers identified included *Cephalopholis* merra, C. boenak, C. argus, C. cyanostigma, Plectropomus leopardus, Epinephelus fasciatus, E. malabaricus, Anyperodon leucogrammicus, Chromileptes altivelis and Variola louti.

Lobsters appear to have been fished to extinction on most reefs. There were only four sightings made during 30 dives, all below three meters depth. The observed species included *Panulirus ornatus* and *P. versicolor*.

Table 13. Density of groupers for 30 survey sites at Busuanga, Culion, and Coron Islands in February 1998. Density is expressed as the number of individuals per $1,000 \text{ m}^2$.

SITE NO.	DENSITY	SITE NO.	DENSITY	SITE NO.	DENSITY
1 3 4 6 7 8 9 10 12 14	2.00 0.80 0.80 8.00 4.00 8.00 2.00 no transect 4.00 2.67	17 18 19 20 21 22 24 25 26 27	8.00 4.00 5.33 2.00 2.67 2.67 4.00 2.67 5.33 4.00	28 29 30 32 33 34 35 36 37 38	2.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 1.20 0.80 0.80 0.80 2.40



Figure 2. Frequency distribution of grouper density for the 30 reef sites surveyed in February 1998 at Buscanga, Culion, and Coron Islands.

Similarly, no octopuses were observed despite the presence of octopus fishing operations throughout the survey.

Issues and Problems of the Calamianes Fishery

Legal fishing

Fishing represents one of the most intrusive forms of human intervention in the marine environment. However, proper management and diligent monitoring can result in fisheries resources being kept within sustainable levels through regulation and curbing of unsustainable fishing practices.

As is the case with most other areas of the country, the study area is an open access fishery. The resource belongs to the people (Smith *et al.*, 1980) and anyone is free to fish with practically no regulation on resource extraction. While national laws define fishing grounds for all fishing sectors, there are no laws governing fisheries extraction. Local fishery laws deal mainly with the determination of license fees for each gear type or the zoning or assignment of specific areas for a particular usage (e.g., fry collection, protected reserves).

There are few local laws that support the establishment of protected areas. However, some initial activity has taken place. For example, Coron's plan for water use divides the waters into different fishery zones and also designates several protected areas. What is lacking, however, are laws that regulate fishing activities such as the quantity of gear allowed to be used and catch quotas. In practice, fishery policies are formulated as a reaction to the current fisheries situation instead of taking into account future trends. Therefore, fisheries management as practiced in the Calamianes Croup is "self regulating~'If the resource collapses. *the* fishery simply stops.

Fisheries development in the area has been characterized by the gradual expansion of fishing grounds at a pace that is dictated by the rate of resource depletion. Viewed as a national trend, this is a consequence of the lack of pro-active management. As the available resources In the fishing areas decrease, the fishery simply adjusts by expanding the area that is fished. When no further expansion is possible, the fishery either shifts to the exploitation of different resources by adjusting fishing techniques, or continues as *is.* using non-sustainable fishing methods, In both cases, the fishery becomes a species-specific fishery. In northern Palawan, these two scenarios occur simultaneously.

These two scenarios characterize the current fishery in the area. The depletion of both demersal and higher value reef fish stocks resulted in exploitation of lesser-known groups such as surgeonfishes and fusiliers. These two groups were the last to be exploited because of their low consumer acceptability and low price. Both groups cannot be harvested using *the* traditional trap, hook-and-line. or spear fishing methods. However, they car be and are exploited using gillnets.

Introduction of new technology allowed the continuation of fishing despite serious signs of over-harvesting. This situation is best exemplified by the use of air compressors for spear fishing. Commonly known as *hookah*, the use of this underwater breathing apparatus permitted access to reef fishes living below depths normally frequented by spear fishers. It also provided a more effective method of using poison (sodium cyanide and potassium cyanide) to catch live fish. Thus the use of ais compressors has markedly contributed to *the* decimation of reef fish stocks, which is reflected in the low biomass estimates on many reefs of *the* Calamianes.

Extreme poverty forces people to fish despite resource depletion. As the situation worsens, fishers will use any method to catch fish even if such practices *are* known to decimate stocks ewer further, This scenario was aptly called Malthusian overfishing by Pauly *et al.* (1998).

The impact of fishing activities on the coral reefs of Busuanga, Coron and Culion Islands is presented in Table 14. Evidence of detrimental fishing activities that were documented included blast marks on coral heads. bleaching of corals suspected as a result of exposure to cyanide, overturned coral heads and boulders due to spear-fishing activities, and anchor damage. Other negative impacts observed underwater included the presence of ropes, twines, fishing paraphernalia and other items thrown overboard (e.g., batteries, bottles). One or more forms of these desultory impacts as a result of fishing activities were observed at all surveyed sites. Table 14. Assessment of the impact of fishing on the surveyed reef sites. (0-5 = degree of impact with 0 being none and 5 representing the highest; x = effects unknown; * effects not of recent origin).

SITE NO.	BLASTED CORALS	OVERTURNED CORAL HEADS	BLEACHING OF CORALS	DISCARDED FISHING PARAPHERNALIA	CROWN OF THORNS	SEDIMENTATION	MORTALITY INDEX
1	2	x	1	x	0	0	76.6
3	$\overline{2}$	1	2	Ô	ŏ	Õ	7718
4	2	2	_	Ō	0	õ	47.4
6	2	1*	1	1	0	ŏ	40.0
7	1	0	2	1	0	0	82.4
8	2	3	2	1	0	Õ	42.1
9	1	2	2	1	0	0	43.8
10	I X	0	Х	х	0	4	80.0
12	2	2	1	х	0	2	76.9
14	. 3	2		1	0	0	70.0
17	2		*	0	0	0	25.0
18	3*	2	2	1	0	0	7 ï. 4
19	1	2		2	0	2	92.3
20	1*	L	2		0	0	20.0
21	3*	2"	1	2	0	2	63.6
22	2*	1	1	1	0	0	40.0
24	3*	2	2	2	1	0	88.9
25	4	3	2	3	1	0	72.2
20	2*	27	2	2	0	0	35.0
2/	4	2 1	3	U 1	· U	0	55.7
20	3	l	L		0		30.0
29	1	1	1	0	2	2	42.1
30	+ 1	1	1	0	0	. V .	95.0
34	0		1	0	0	U	88.9
34	0	0	2	1	o o	4	90.0
35	4*	0	3	Ó	0	0	04.2
36	ñ		0	Ň	0	U C	65 0
37	ŏ	1	Ň	3	i û	0	60.0
38	1	7	ĩ	õ	ů 0	1	50.0

Illegal fishing

The use of non-sustainable fishing methods are rampant throughout the Philippines including northern Palawan. The *best* known and perhaps the worst illegal fishing method is the use of explosives, which is certainly **not** a recent development. Villadolid and Buñag (1953) listed the use of blast fishing and application oS noxious substances as the primary causes of fish depletion in the Visayas in the early 195 i's. The use of explosives is an integral part of bagnet-fishing operations. The school of fish is "stunned" with an explosive charge prior to hauling in the net in order to prevent them from escaping. Explosives were seen as a solution to the inefficiency of the bagnet technique. Their use *has* gradually spread to compliment other fishing techniques.

Another form of unsustainablefishing is the use of toxic substances. Poison (potassium cyanide and sodium cyanide) is used extensively for catching live groupers (locally called *buhay-buhay*) and ornamental fishes for the aquarium fish trade. Additionally, commercial vessels operate illegally in municipal waters. According to police, the numbers of apprehensions related to illegal fishing appear to have declined over the past two years. However, the data presented in Table 15 do not support this statement.

Table 15. Number of apprehen	isions due to illegal	fishing.	Data for 1993-1995	from
JICA-DOT (1997). *Data for 1	998 to 20 February	only.		

A CONTRACTOR OF				A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR
MUNICIPALITY	1993	1994	1995	1998*
Busuanga Coron Culion Linapacan	2 5 1	-21	2 18 4	0 2 0 nd
El Nido	3	1	2	nd

Records of apprehensions for illegal fishing activities, which should be kept by the Coast Guard and Philippine National Police as well as the Municipal Courts, were unavailable as they were apparently sent to the trial court in Puerto Princessa. However, according to the police, there were only two apprehensions this year in Coron Municipality that involved blast fishing.

Ecological Impact of Live Fish Trade

The very lucrative price of live groupers (P800-P1.200 per kilogram) is the compelling reason why many fishers resort to cyanide use. The use of this chemical is not only a health hazard to its users, but substantially contributes to the decimation of reef fish populations. The live fish industry mainly targets individuals of the required market size (between 0.5-1.0 kg and about 25.0-40.0 cm total length). Groupers (family Serranidae) are protandric hermaprodites-they transform from maies to females upon reaching maturity (30-45 cm total length depending on species). Therefore, the live fish trade exploits mostly males, thus preventing the eventual female sex transformation. The biological consequence of this practice is obvious if the current high level of fishing pressure is considered.

The grouper sightings recorded for each dive lends support to this observation. Of the 51 sightings, only four individuals (7.84%) were above 25 cm and only two exceeded a length of 40 cm. The abundance of small-sized individuals highlights the extreme fishing pressure currently applied to the population.

Proliferation of Pearl Farms

Culture of oysters (*Pinctada maxima* and *P. margaritifera*) for the production of pearls occupies a substantial area of the near-shore fishing grounds. Highly sheltered, relatively deep (at least eight meters), unpolluted, and readily accessible areas are suitable for pearl oyster culture. The Calamianes Islands offer an abundance of such areas. Several companies have established pearl farms in the area: three in Coron (Hikari, Ecofarm, and Coron Development Corporation); three in Culion (Sakura, Somaco and Hikari); and four in Busuanga (First Nature Products Inc., Surigao Marine Products Inc., Ecofarm and Hikari).

Presently, the combined total area occupied by these pearl farms is 2,859 hectares. With the addition of a further 1,200 ha for which applications have been submitted, this will bring the total area devoted to pearl farming to 4,059 ha.

The most obvious negative effect of pearl farms is the reduction of fishing grounds available to small-scale fishers. Although the lease contract with the local government does not explicitly prevent fishing in these areas, in practice pearl farms are off-limits to fishing. On a positive note, pearl farms may have become "*protected areas*" or fish refuges and may function as sources of fish recruits to nearby fishing grounds. Economically, it is interesting to consider the value of the fishing grounds removed from local fishers for pearl farming. Assuming a catch of 100 kg/yr/ha (highly conservative), the total harvest from all areas occupied by pearl farms would be 285 tons/yr. This amounts to P10.0 million per year, using a conservative price for fish of P35,000/ton. This amount is far more than the existing annual government revenue derived from the lease of these areas, which is fixed at P200/ha and thus yield a total of P 571,800 per year. Thus from an economic standpoint, the establishment of pearl farms appears to be detrimentai to the plight of small-scale fishers. However, it would be aseful to assess if there are actually higher fish yields resulting in the areas outside the pearl farms as a consequence of their role in stock replenishment, and subsequently what the economic benefit might be to fishers.

Pearl farms have certainly opened jobs in the area, however, the number of those directly employed and profiting from these establishments is small compared to the number of displaced fishers forced to operate farther from the shore. Moreover, losses from increased travel time and fuel costs to and from fishing grounds were not considered in the above computations. Revenues from taxes and gross earnings also were not included in the above figures because the pearl farms are still in the initial phase of development and pearls will not be harvested until the year 2000.

A considerable number of fishers interviewed oppose the policy of banning fishing activities within the leased area. Almost all areas occupied by the pearl farms are traditional fishing grounds, and in some cases possibly belong to the ancestral domain of ethnic minority groups. For instance, the area occupied by ECOFARM in Barangay Decabobo, Coron encompasses the traditional fishing grounds of the Tagbanuas.

A continued decline in the fishery resource, coupled with increases in the overhead cost of fishing operations, will eventually create a demand for access to the pearl farm areas. From the perspective of local fishers this seems justifiable, given the fact that some pearl farms have been protected from fishing for the last five years. Thus, fish populations within these areas have probably recovered to pre-fishing levels by now.

Tourism Development Plans

An on-going program involving the construction and renovation of fishing boats into tourists boats was recorded during interviews conducted at Barangay Tagumpay, Coron. While many of the boats used in bagnet (*basnig*) and Danish seine operation remained beached and exposed to the elements, three units were undergoing various stages of construction to cater to tourists. Apparently, some fishing operators see the booming tourism industry as a viable alternative to the fast-deteriorating fishing industry of Coron.

Local regulations reveal no standard rules for the safe operation of tour boats. For example, there is no monitoring of safety and health precautions including number of passengers allowed. number of life vests, and types of radio equipment and navigational lights. However, national maritime laws address all of these issues, and boat operators should be compelled to comply with safety regulations before the vessels are registered. Faced with a depleted catch and consequent marginalized income, local fishers view the development of tourism (as proposed in the JICA-DOT report) as a viable alternative for earning a livelihood rather than a threat. As mentioned earlier, land-based alternatives are limited owing to the poor quality of soil and unsuitable climate.

Several potential negative fisheries impacts were identified in reviewing the plan for sustainable tourism development at areas encompassing western Busuanga and El Nido. The first involved a possible conflict with the presence of pearl farms in the area. While these farms in themselves may become a tourist attraction, their presence in Gutob Bay (where major tourism development is envisioned) will certainly cause problems. Secondly, some small islands where development is planned (e.g., Kilampisauan, Buluang, and some near Busuanga) are currently used by purse seines, ring nets and carriers as sheltered anchorage during the fishing seasons. Therefore, tourism development might exclude commercial vessels from these refuges, which are especially useful during rough weather.

There are also existing plans to establish a water sports facility (with high-powered boats and jet skis) in New Busuanga. Such activities might create negative impacts for some marine life in the area. For instance, the sounds created by engines could conceivably disturb marine mammals in the area.

Fishery Laws and Policies

Fishery laws in the area are based on national laws, particularly Presidential Decree 704 of 1974 and its subsequent revisions including the Republic Act 8550 signed on February 25, 1998. Local fishery laws and policies exist only for the municipality of Coron and Busuanga. Culion has yet to formulate its own set of fishery rules and regulations.

But existing local fishery ordinances mainly reflect the revenue codes for the fishery sector (Coron Municipal Ordinance 11, series of 1995). Under this Ordinance, various zones are established for specific fishery-related activities including culture of milkfish (*Chanos chanos*) fry, pearl farms, oyster culture, and fish corrals, as well as government reserves. Unfortunately, the selection of the reserves is not based on supportive data.

In Coron, Palawan, the list of fisheries-related ordinances in the last four years includes a ban on certain kinds of fishing gear (Danish seine, beach seine, muro-ami, trawl) within municipal waters (Municipal Ordinance of Coron No. 7, 1994) as well as the use of excessive light for fishing (Resolution No. 3, series of 1994). Another law also provides monetary rewards to informers of violators (Ordinance 9, series of 1994).

Live-fish traders and fishers (Municipal Ordinance of Coron 3, series of 1995) as well as users of compressors for fishing purposes (Municipal Ordinance of Coron 4, series of 1994) are required to register with the local government. However, these laws do not regulate the number of operators but merely cover

the collection of revenues

The municipality of Culion, only recently established in 1994, still lacks fishery laws. Prior fisheries management fell under the Department of Health, which owns and manages the Leper Sanitarium in the area.

Of the three municipalities, only Coron appears to have pertinent local ordinances as well as a (newly developed) plan for water use. The local government has prepared a large color-coded map, on which both fishing and protected zones are clearly delineated. From a conservation perspective, the most important areas are "no take" core zones, which extend for 500 m from shore. All fishing activity is banned within this area. Designated core zones at the time of writing included: Tres Reyes Island, Malapuso Island, Siete Pecados-Parola, and Butulan Rocks near Tara Island.

Local fishery officers in Coron, Culion and Busuanga expressed full support for the development of comprehensive and common fisheries laws for the entire northern Palawan area because the three municipalities share the same fishing grounds which are exploited by seasonally migrating fishers.

Enforcement of fishing regulations is sometimes extremely difficult and complex due to the existence of inconsistent or contradicting laws between municipalities. For instance, the use of compressors (*hookah fishing*) is banned in San Vicente, Northern Palawan. Similarly the live fish trade is banned on Linapacan. However, both activities are allowed on Coron, Culion and Busuanga, thus opening the door to fishers from nearby areas where these methods are banned.

Conclusions

The fisheries of the study area face a bleak future mainly due to the heavy exploitation of local resources. This situation has resulted in reduced catch rates and consequent decline in total production. The 1997 fish production estimate is only 50% of the 1991 level and a further decline is anticipated.

The artisanal sector barely survives, but relies heavily on reefbased resources. It seems inevitable that it will suffer the same fate as the commercial sector due to the decreasing reef-fish biomass. This decline is particularly true for commercial species, whose numbers have been significantly reduced. In simple terms, reef fish resources are nearly decimated and the prospect of recovery is bleak unless fishing pressure is reduced or fishing is completely stopped. The latter scenario is contingent on the creation of alternative income sources. Without other options, fishing activities will continue causing further destruction to fishery resources and aquatic habitats.

Tourism development would appear to offer alternative sources of livelihood and a possible solution of existing problems due to overfishing. It could effectively reduce the number of fishers, thereby easing the pressure on reefs and help to conserve existing habitats. Hopefully this would allow at least some measure of recovery for the decimated fish population.

References

- Anon. (undated). Municipal profile of Busuanga, Palawan. Unpublished manuscript.
- Anon. 1997. Linapacan Municipal Profile. Linapacan Palawan. Unpublished manuscript.
- Aprieto, V. L., J. N. Patolot, and E. C. Flores. 1974. Echosurvey of Northwestern Palawan waters. Department of Marine Fisheries Technical Report, College of Fishers, University of the Philippines 1: 1-21.
- Armada, N. 1994. The Fisheries of Manila Bay. The Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources. Pp. 1-71.

Baum, G. A. and J. A. Maynard. 1976. Philippines: Coron/Tagumpay, Busuang2 Island/Calamianes Group, Palawan Province. a socio-economic study on two rural fishing populations in Northern Palawan in connection with the Municipal fisheries Pilot Programme. SCS/76/WP/33: 3-45.

- Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources (BFAR). 1955–1987. Fisheries Statistics. Bureau of Printing, Manila.
- Bureau of Agricultural Statistics (BAS). 1990-1997. Fishery Statistics, Department of Agriculture, Quezon City.

Cintas, D. 1975. Report of aerial surveys for schoolingpelagic fish. 1. Philipi ine Waters. South China Sea Fisheries Development Project and Coordinating Programme SCS'75/WP/21: 1-34.

English, S. C. Wilkinson, and V. Baker. 1994. Survey manna: for tropical marine resources, Townsville. Australia: Australian Institute of Marine Science.

Ingles, J. 1994. Chapter 4. The fisheries of Ormac Bay, Philippines. In: Resource and Ecological Assessment of Ormoc Bay, Philippines. University of the Philippines, Visayas, Miagao, Iloilo. 91 pp.

JICA-DOT Report. 1997. The study on environmentally sustainable tourism development plan for northern Palawan in the Republic of the Philippines. Supplemental Report No. 1. Marine Environment of Northern Palawan.

- Marine Environment and Resources Foundation Inc. (MERF). 1994. Study of environmentally sensitive resources in the northwestern Palawan area. Study commissioned by Shell Philippines Exploration. 78 pp.
- Manacop, P. and S. V. Laron. 4953. Two outstanding commercial fishing gears used in Philippine waters. Bulletin of the Fisheries Society of *the* Philippines 3-4: 73-84

Municipal Ordinance # 11. 1995. Revised revenue code of 1995. Municipality of Coron, Palawan, Philippines.

- Municipal Ordinance # 5. 1994. An ordinance banning the operation of Hulbot-hulbot, lintig/baby Muro-ami, Norway, Baling and other deleterious/destructive methods of fishing activities within the municipa' waters of Coron, Palawan. Municipality of Coron. Palawan, Philippines.
- Municipal Ordinance # 9. 1994. An ordinance granting reward in the amount of P5,000 to informer and arresting officer of any illegal fishing and/or marine operations within the municipality of Coron, Province of Palawan. Municipality of Coron, Palawan, Philippines.
- Municipal Ordinance #4. 1994. As ordinance requiring the registration of compressors used for fishing and or other underwater activities operating within the municipal waters of Coron. Palawan and providing penalty for violation thereof, Municipality of Coron, Palawan, Philippines.
- Municipal Ordinance # 3. 1994. An ordinance prohibiting fishing vessels operating within the municipal waters of Coron. Palawan to use excessive lighting or more than 6.000 watts of electricity, for 'their fishing operations and imposing penalties thereof. Municipality of Col-on, Palawan, Philippines.
- Municipal Ordinance # 3. 1995. An ordinance requiring all fishermen and fishing operators engaged in live fish trade, to accredit with the community fisheries board or its duly authorized representative. this municipality. Municipality of Coron. Palawan, Philippines.
- Munro, J. L. 1986. Marine fishery resources of the Philippines catches and potential. In: Pauly, D., J. Saeger and G. Silvestre (eds.). Resources management and socioeconomics of Philippine marine fisheries. Department of Marine Fisheries Technical Report 10: 19-45.
- Palawan Council for Sustainable Development (PCSD). 1997. Section 9.4 (Fishing). In: PCSD, Provincial Profile of Palawan. Unpublished manuscript. Pp. 169-174.
- Pauly, D., J. Saeger and M. Prein. 1998 Malthus und die Kuestenfischerei der Tropen: eine philippinische Fallstudie. Entwickl. Laendlicher Raum 32(2): 17–20.
- Smith, I., M. Y. Puzon, and C. V. Vidal-Libunao. 1980. Philippine municipal fisheries: a review of resources, technology and socio-economics. ICLARM Studies and Reviews No. 4: 1-87.
- Villadolid, D. ai and D. M. Buñag. 1953. Some important problems of the Philippine fisheries industry. Anniversary Handbook, BG and PIFT: 31-32. 62-63.

Morgan, J., and M. J. Valencia. 1983. Atlas for marine policy in Southeast Asian seas. Berkeley, USA: University of California Press.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1	Cord species recorded from the Philippines or likely to occur there
Appendix 2	Coral species recorded at individual sites
Appendix 3	Molluscs recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands
Appendix 4	Reef fishes recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands
Appendix 5	Recent developments

(compiled by J. E. N. Veron and D. Fenner). APPENDIX 1 Coral species recorded from the Philippines or likely to occur there

	Х		Acroport indonsk
		X	γειοbora μλαείπτρα
		X	silimuh prodorsh
			γειουοια μοιιήσα
	Х		provincia provincia priodocada
		X	sprans nodoran
		÷	nishunuas niodorov
			ncouvol nvodovov
			annot nadarov
	v		msmbra niodolov
	A V	신음 중 사람이 같다.	isasia modorov
	A V		sungan prodotok
	A V		человона количание и подолгу человона количание
	X Y		изиорога сопер
	25	v	τενορονά αινανιεαία
		Ŷ	עכגסלסגע קוצוואקגע
	x		nwinsborg brodorsh
	X		sisuəunмпләр плодолоу
	a	X	шпіриәр віодолуу
전문 전 문화 전 문화		X	Acropora danai
		x	γειοροια εγικέα
		X	pipəunə piodoləy
	Х		psojdov vlodolvy
		X	γειοbοια εισιμιατα
		X	supora ceredits
		X	вавітіють рэорогов
		X	snnpavə vaododəy
		X	<u>1</u> иитиэ88энлд плодолэу
		8	Acropora batunai
		X	Acropora austera
		X	Acropora aspera
		X	sistestatina anthocercis
internal de produced de la	Х		sisuənniimən nəndərəy
	Х		φτριτίπισα αστορ
2017년 22 대학교		X	snəjnən nodosəy
	Х		sisuesouloude protocore
- Contract of the second second second second			Papinoporadae
	X		Stylophore sp.
	Х		miniasqus moudolas
		X	ide n redem ree
	X		Serietane arease
	X		printais prodotnias
승규는 아파가 가지 않는다.	X		vincin prodomics
			minimus protototototo
		÷.	изаравдоо виодотрада
		.	Locuropoint versus
		$\dot{\mathbf{v}}$	пилтипаш плодотола
			ουτουτά τη
			ящоэнирр рлодотрод
			реошра ролгрира
		XX X	μασακαστε κηκρλι
			ramily Pochioporidae
		X	uəytuəng piləinəvəliki
	Х		รุเรนอรดออง ทุกอุกมอดอดไม่รู
		\mathbf{x}	SINIOCOGUIGIJA AIMAIA
			sebüneocorteA vlims?
68ESENT 10 8E BUT LIKELY RECORDED SPR NOT	BECOKD2 NEM 266	BREVIOUSLY RECORDED SPP	SPECIES

CONSERVATION INTERNATIONAL



APPENDIX 1 Coral species recorded from the Philippines or likely to occur there

SPECIES	SPP. RECORDED PREVIOUSLY	NEW SPP RECORDS	SPP. NOT RECORDED BUT LIKELY TO BE PRESENT
Anacropore en	All the set of a second of the second reproducts and a second second second second second second second second		
Astreopora cucullata		Х	
Astreopora expansa	\mathbf{x}		
Astreopora gracilis	\mathbf{x}		
Astreopora incrustans		Х	
Astreopora listeri	X		
Astreopora macrostoma		X	
Astreopora myriophthalma	X		
Astreopora occuata Astreopora succesta	\mathbf{X}		
Montipora aequituberculata	X		A CONTRACTOR
Montipora altasenta		X	
Montipora angulata	X	× 3	
Montipora australiensis		х	
Montipora cactus	\mathbf{X}		
Montipora caliculata	1992 - CASA SA		
Montipora capitata		Х	
Montipora capricornis			X
Montipora cebuensis Mantipora carfus	X		
Monupora conjusa Montinora corbettansis	$\sum_{\mathbf{x}} (\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{A})$		
Montinora crassinberculata			
Montipora danae			545 (14 See Arrest)
Montipora digitata	$\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{x}}$		
Montipora efflorescens	\mathbf{x}		
Montipora effusa			x
Montipora florid <u>a</u>	X		
Montipora floweri	\mathbf{X}		
Montipora foliosa	X		
Montipora joveolata	\mathbf{x}		
Montipora graduis Montipora gaimardi		v	\mathbf{x}
Montipora gaimara Montipora grisen		A	
Montipora hirsuta		x	
Montipora hispida	x	2.*	
Montipora hoffmeisteri	A State of the second		
Montipora incrassata	X		
Montipora informis	X		
Montipora mactanensis	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{x}}$		
Montipora malampaya Montipora millanana	\mathbf{X}		
Monupora mulepora Montinora mollic	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}$		
Montinora monasteriata	\mathbf{A}		
Montipora nodosa			
Montipora orientalis			$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$
Montipora peltiformis	X		
Montipora sumarensis	\mathbf{x}		
Montiopra setosa		Х	
Montipora spongodes		Х	
Montipora spumosa	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{x}}$		
Monipora sieliata Monipora tubacoloca			
Montinora turoescens			
Montipora turtlensis		x	
Montipora undata	\mathbf{X}	12	
Montipora venosa	\mathbf{x}		
Montipora verrucosa	X		
Montipora sp. 1		Х	11 - Charles (1997)
Montipora sp. 2		Х	
Montipora sp. 3		X	
monupora sp. 4	an a	Х	1999年1月1日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日
APPENDIX 1

Coral species recorded from the Philippines or likely to occur there

SPECIES	SPP RECORDED PREVIOUSLY	NEW SPP. RECORDS	SPP. NOT RECORDED BUT LIKELY TO BE PRESENT
Platygyra lamellina	x		
Platygyra pini	x		
Platygyra ryukyuensis	X		
Platygyra sinensis	X		
Platygyra verweyi			X
Platygyra yaeyamaensis			X
Plesiastrea versipora	X		
Family Trachyphyllidae			
Trachyphyllia geoffroyi	\sim 2 \times 2		
Family Caryophiliidae			
Catalaphyllia jardinei	X		
Euphyllia ancora	X		
Euphyllia cristata	X		
Euphyllia divisa	X		
Euphyllia glabrescens	X		
Euphyllia paraancora	X		
Euphyllia paradivisa			X
Euphyllia yaeyamaensis	X		
Heterocyathus aequicostatus	\mathbf{X} .		
Nemenzopphyllia turbida	X		
Physogyra exerta	X		
Physogyra lichtensteini	No. A State of the second s		
Plerogyra eurysepta	X		
Plerogyra simplex		Х	
Plerogyra sinuosa	X		
Family Dendrophylliidae			
Heteropsammia cochlea	X		
Turbinaria bifrons			\mathbb{R}^{n}
Turbinaria frondens	X		
Turbinaria heronensis		Х	
Turbinaria irregularis		Х	
Turbinaria mesenterina	\mathbf{x}_{i}		말 아님아님 않으면 .
Turbinaria patula	X		
Turbinaria peltata	\mathbf{x}		
Turbinaria radicalis		Х	
Turbinaria reniformis	$\mathbf{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_{i}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i}\}$		
Turbinaria stellulata	\mathbf{X} and \mathbf{X}		
TOTALS	349	113	37

Coral species recorded at individual sites (compiled by D. Fenner).

SPECIES	SITE NUMBERS
Family Astroceniidae	
Stylocoeniella armata	27, 29, 32
Stylocoeniella guentheri	5, 6, 15, 21, 24-27, 30, 32, 35, 36, 38
Stylocoeniella sp.	9, 13, 19, 21, 24, 35, 36, 38
Family Pocilloporidae	
Palauastrea ramosa	4, 6, 14, 26
Pocillopora damicornis	1, 4, 6-9, 12, 17, 18, 20-24, 26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38
Pocillopora evdouxi	2, 10, 12, 15, 17, 21, 23, 24, 29, 31, 34, 35
Pocillopora meandrina	1, 3, 10, 15, 17, 18, 20, 22, 24, 29, 34, 35
Pocillopora verrucosa	12-18, 20-22, 24-26, 28-32, 34, 35, 38
Seriatopora caliendrum	16, 19, 25, 29, 33, 36, 38
Seriatopora hystrix	1, 2, 4, 6-8, 13-15, 17-24, 26, 28, 31, 32, 35-38
Stylophora mordax	2, 12, 20-23, 30, 35
Stylophora vistillata	1-3, 5, 7, 9, 10, 13-15, 17, 18, 20, 24, 26-38
Family Acronoridae	
Acropora aculeus	2, 6, 7, 10, 21, 26, 28, 29, 31, 32, 34, 37, 38
Acronora anthocercis	13, 16, 20, 38
Acronara hrueggemanni	1, 4, 5, 7, 9, 13-16, 18, 21, 24-27, 29, 31-34, 37
Acconora sp. 1	2-6. 9. 10. 15. 17. 18. 20-23. 26. 27. 29. 31. 32. 34. 36
Aconora cuneata	22 24 34 38
Acronara outherea	2 10 24
Acropora divaricato	1 3 4 10 12-18 20 21 23 24 26 28-32 34-36
Actopora achinata	4.6
Acronora fastigata	1 2 6 17 18 20 21 28 30 31 34 36-38
Acropora florida	1 2 7 8 10 12-17 20 21 23 26 28-32 34 35
Acroporti formasa	26 28 29 38
Actopora joimosa	20, 20, 27, 50
Acropora granulosa	4 6 10 13 15-18 20-22 26-29 34-36
Acroporta granausta	1 2 4 7 8 10 12 14 15 17-20 23-25 28 30-38
Acroporta huggisthus	1.2, 4, 1, 0, 10, 12, 11, 10, 11, 20, 20, 20, 20, 00, 00
Acropora indonacia	1 4 12 13 16 17 20 21 26 28-30 35
Acroporta indionesia	3 5 6 12 15 10 21 27 20 31
Acropora Hisighis	3, 2, 0, 14, 12, 17, 24, 27, 27, 21
Actoporti Kirsiyi	7 4 8 10 12 18 21 23 26 28 31 35 36 38
Acropora lansiena	6 0 3/ 38
Actopora tongicyanas	1.5 10 12 14-20 22 23 25 26 28-32 34-38
Accoporation pes	21 22 26 20 31 32
	1, 44, 40, 69, 5. J., Jac
Actoporta microciados	1.4. 7. 8. 12-18. 21. 23-35. 34-38
Actopora manepora	3 0 10 12 13 15 17 18 21 30 31 34 35
	0 10 12 19 20 21 24 25
	1 4 12 17 28 31
Acropora nobilis	1, +, 12, 17, 29, 31
Acropora palyera	0 12 12 21 24
Acropora robusta	28
Acropora rosaria	20
Acropora samoensis	
Acropora selago	<u>1-5, 7, 12-16, 20, 25, 29, 54, 55</u>
	1 2 7 10 16 17 20 21 24 25 27
Acropora tenuts	1, 5, 7-10, 10, 17, 29-51, 54, 55, 57
Acropora teres	
Acropora valenciennesi	I, 2, 4, 0, 12, 10, 10, 20, 21, 23, 23, 27-31, 34, 33
Acropora valida	12, 14, 13, 17, 20-22, 23, 30, 34, 33
Acropora vaughani	<u>3, 12, 21</u>
Acropora verweyi	34, 33

APPENDIX 2 Coral species recorded at individual sites

SPECIES	SITE NUMBERS
Acropora yongei	7, 12, 17, 29, 30
Anacropora forbesi	21, 32, 33
Anacropora matthai	10, 13, 18, 21, 25, 31, 34
Anacroporu puertogalerae	10, 25, 28, 38
Anacropora reticulata	5, 21, 28, 31, 33, 38
Anacropora spinosa	1, 4, 21, 25, 28, 31, 32, 34, 38
Astreopora expansa	5, 25. 32
Astreopora gracilis	6, 7, 9, 13, 32
Astreopora sp. !	4, 5, 9, 20, 24, 26, 28, 29, 35
Astreopora myriophthalma	1-6, 8, 10, 14, 15, 17, 19-21, 23, 25, 26, 28-31, 35, 37
Astreopora ocellata	5, 24, 28, 31, 34, 35
Astreopora suggesta	21, 35
Montipora aequituberculata	3, 9, 12, 13, 15, 16, 35, 36
Montipora angulata	1, 3, 7, 9, 16, 31
Montipora cactus	2, 3
Montipora capitata	3
Montipora cebuensis	6, 7, 12, 13, 24, 25, 27, 28, 30
Montipora confusa	17, 20-22, 24-27, 29, 36
Montipora corbettensis	23, 29, 34, 38
Montipora crassituberculata	2
Montipora danae	5, 6, 8, 14, 16, 17, 20, 27, 28, 31, 36
Montipora digitata	3
Montipora florida	4, 6, 21, 24-28, 32, 33, 36-38
Montipora foliosa	3, 14, 16, 31
Montipora hirsuta	7, 9, 12, 13, 15, 17, 18, 21, 30-32, 35
Montipora hispida	3, 7, 14-16, 18, 35
Montipora hoffmeisteri	14-17, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27, 29, 31, 36
Montipora informis	1, 5, 9, 16, 20, 21, 23, 26, 31, 36
Montipora mactanensis	9. 24, 26, 38
Montipora mollis	15-17, 25, 28, 29
Montipora plateformis	34, 35, 38
Montipora plateformis?	3, 9, 13, 14, 17, 31, 33
Montipora stellata	3
Montipora undata	15, 20
Montipora verrucosa	4, 9, 16-18, 20, 22, 24, 28, 34
Family Poritidae	
Alveopora catalai	4. 5, 26, 27, 32, 33, 35-38
Goniopora pendulus	3, 12, 15, 20
Goniopora stokesi	24, 31, 34
Porites annae	2, 4, 13, 14, 19, 24, 27, 29, 34, 35
Porites attenuata	7
Porites cylindrica	2-4, 7-10, 12, 14, 15, 17-22, 24, 26, 28, 29, 31, 33, 34, 36-38
Porites evermanni	2, 3, 7, 10, 13, 15, 18, 20, 21, 24, 25, 27, 28, 32, 34, 36, 38
Porites sp. 1	10
Porites horizontalata	15, 30, 34
Porites latistella	2
Porites (Synaraea) monticulosa	12, 32
Porites nigrescens	1-10, 12-18, 21, 24-29, 31, 32, 34, 36, 38
Porites (Synaraea) rus	1, 3-5, 7-10, 12-14, 16, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24-32, 34-38
Family Siderastreidae	
Coscinaraea columna	1, 3, 4, 9, 12, 15-17, 21, 23-27, 29, 30, 32, 36-38
Psammocora contigua	1, 4, 6, 7, 9, 13, 17-22, 24, 26-28, 31, 32, 34, 36-38
Psammocora digitata	1, 3, 7, 10, 13, 18, 24, 26, 28-31, 35, 38
Psammocora nierstraszi	4, 10, 13, 15, 18, 21, 22, 24, 31, 35, 36, 38

susting animolaH	1-3' 6' 13-12' 14' 18' 51-53' 52' 58-31
pinomos aignui	2' 3' 10' 20' 23
psodnuos pi8ung	1' 3' 4' 6' 12' 19' 16' 55' 59' 51' 56' 30' 39-32
Fungia repanda	7, 12-14, 17, 34, 38
sisnotomund nignut	5-2' 6' 10' 15-19' 11' 18' 50-51' 56-31' 33' 39' 39' 38
in9gnishila klunishi kura	5' 2' 6' 15' 18' 18' 50' 51' 56
sbirvoh signu ³	1-4' 1' 9' 10' 12' 11' 18' 30-34' 39' 39-31' 34' 32' 31' 38
sivers again?	12-18' 51' 56-56' <u>91' 95' 96' 92</u>
กระอุเทนอ.48 บุธีนห.4	2' 3' 12' 16' 18' 50' 53' 52' 58' 56' 31' 34' 32
sətignul vigav	7-3, 5, 7, 9, 10, 13, 14, 17, 18, 20, 21, 23-26, 29-32, 34, 35, 37
apuiloit pigan i	81
ตนบวน0ว ทเริ่มก.4	5, 15, 20, 21, 32, 35
รพุรธิบร์ รนวรรษก	120 00 , 0 00 , 1 129
These areas	67 '17 '91 'CI
านชนชิทชุภ รณุสุรยาวจำว	
	v c cc c7 %7 °c
ensimile suasoio()	56 76 t C5 ⁶ 76
cannora a construction	50-55
Cichacomi conditios	
Cremers echipata	85-76 20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-2
Connection and a connection of the connection of	67.88.56
Clevach's albitentoculation	1 7 9 6 19 19 50 55 52 51 52 30 35
and the state of t	
solinox provo ^q	17.
USOUAA DUOADd	1-4-7-9-12-13-16-19-21-24-26-30-32-32-32
2 . os puovod	4, 21, 25, 32, 33, 37
sumua puoavd	1' 7' 1-10' 13' 16' 18-55' 57' 58' 30' 31' 32' 36
mmunu muoav _d	16, 21, 23-25, 29
Pavona frondifera	8' 15' 16' 56
bavona explanulata	5' 4' 6' 12' 16-55' 5+38
pavona décusara	2' 16' 59-58' 31' 38
snapjo duoadd	*' 2' 8-10' 52-52' 90' 95' 98
I .qs unova ^q	96'61
smono nuonnd	ל' 9' 6' 19' 18' 16' 51' 54-58' 30-34' 39' 34
ptimpqid pnovp ^q	58' 35' 38
Puchyseris speciosa	1' 3-6' 3' 15' 14-55' 56' 58-53' 31' 33-36' 38
pso8n1 s113sk4ppd	1-5, 7, 10, 12, 14-18, 20, 21, 23, 24, 26-32, 34, 37, 38
Pachyseris gemmae	1' 3' 4' 6' 10' 15' 14-11' 16-51' 56' 35' 34' 36
Pachyseris folios	4' 9' 14-19' 16' 31' 32-38' 31' 33' 34' 39-38
iəqvA suəsoidə7	5' \$' 6' 15-71' 50-55' 55' 59-30' 35' 32-38
ppyos suasoidar	
preprove stressores stre	I£ 'ŋ£' \$7.' وَالْحَالَةُ الْمُ
pəpp./kdpd_su.əso1də7	8° 3° 1° 23
z rebiosetasiasotasias	80' 00' 70' 70' 70' 70' 30' 38
รแรนอาการนอรองปอา	90 90 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0
uaunus suasadari	60 70 70 10 01 01 60 70 70 10 11 10
กรอบอโรบสรอเปลา	
οποιησειο ενδιατιστά Γελιαστά	05-06 100-16 147-07 17 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14
i antosono suosono i mmeris ensendore	
ได้เป็นการและเป็นการและเป็นการและเป็นการและเป็นการเป็นการเป็นการเป็นการเป็นการเป็นการเป็นการเป็นการเป็นการเป็น	98 18 96 18 61
รรุงหลุ่มอมุพย รันส่งบันตั ๆ	75
Gardineroseris planulutu	5-4' 6' 10' 11 16-53' 52-33' 32-34
H9VDM SH9201907	1-4" 6" 1" 6" 10" 15-12" 11" 18" 50" 51" 53-52" 51-34" 36-38
Family Agarichdae	
Psammosona subsistence and subsistence and subsistence of the subsiste	13' 30' 31' 39' 34' 39' 31
pppppppinfoid piosoutupsa	1' 5' 51' 54-51' 38' 38

APPENDIX 2 Coral species recorded at individual sites

SPECIES	SITE NUMBERS
Heliofungia actiniformis	1, 4, 8-10, 12, 13, 15-18, 21, 22, 24-29, 31-33, 36-38
Herpolitha limax	1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 9, 10, 12-17, 19-21, 23, 24, 26-32
Lithophyllon lobata	16, 21, 26, 27, 32, 33, 35-37
Lithophyllon mokai	26
Lithophyllon undulatum	5, 7, 19-21, 24, 26, 37, 31, 32
Podabacia crustacea	4, 6-10, 13-17, 19-21, 25-32, 34, 36-38
Podabacia motuporensis	9, 10, 14, 16, 18, 21, 22, 26, 27, 30, 34-36
Polyphyllia talpina	1-3, 7, 10, 12-18, 20, 21, 23, 24, 28-32, 34, 35, 38
Sandalolitha dentata	21, 31
Sandalolitha robusta	1, 5, 7-10, 13-32, 34, 35, 38
Zoopilus echinatus	4, 17, 18, 21, 25, 26, 31
Family Oculinidae	
Archelia horrescens	1-4, 6, 7, 13, 25, 26
Galaxea alta	3-5, 9, 21, 26, 33, 37, 38
Galaxea astreata	2, 4, 5, 13, 14, 21, 24-26, 28, 32, 34, 36-38
Galaxea fascicularis	1, 3, 4, 7, 8, 10, 12-24, 26-31, 33-38
Galaxea paucisepta	1, 4, 9, 14, 15, 24, 27, 29
Galaxea sp. 1	1, 4, 9, 21, 24, 25
Family Pectiniidae	
Echinophyllia aspera	4, 5, 7, 9, 15, 17, 20-22, 26, 29-31, 34, 37, 38
Echinophyllia echinata	26
Echinophyllia echinoporoides	6, 10, 13, 15, 18, 21-24, 27, 28, 30, 31, 35, 38
Echinophyllia nishihirai	14. 36
Echinophyllia patula	2, 15, 20-23, 27, 29, 31, 32, 34, 38
Mycedium elephatotus	3, 4, 7, 10, 13-24, 26-38
Mycedium robokaki	4. 5, 13-18, 20-23, 25, 26, 29-32, 36, 37
Mycedium sp. 1	34-36
Mycedium mancaoi	26, 30
Oxypora crassispinosa	2, 4, 6, 9, 10, 13-24, 26-30, 32, 34, 36-38
Oxypora glabra	25, 26, 32, 36, 37
Oxypora sp. 1	5, 26, 32, 34-38
Oxypora lacera	2, 4-7, 10, 13-19, 21-23, 25-30, 32
Pectinia alcicornis	4, 5, 13-19, 21-34, 36-38
Pectinia lactuca	2, 4, 13-18, 20, 22-26, 29-31, 34, 38
Pectinia maxima	19, 23, 26-28, 32, 33, 36, 38
Pectinia paeonia	3, 7, 9, 10, 14, 18, 29, 30
Family Mussidae	
Acanthastrea echinata	2, 7, 9, 13-19, 21-24, 26, 28-31, 34, 35
Acanthastrea hemprichii	9, 16, 17, 21, 22, 27-31, 34, 35
Acanthastrea ishigakiensis	7, 10, 13, 15, 22, 23, 30, 31, 34, 35
Acanthastrea lordhowensis	16, 19, 21, 23, 26, 27, 37
Acanthastrea rotundoflora	4, 14, 17, 19, 21, 25-30, 36
Australomussa rowleyensis	21, 32
Blastomussa merleti	21
Cynarina lacrymalis	4, 5, 16, 17, 19, 21, 26-29, 32, 36, 38
Lobophyllia corymbosa	2, 4, 7-10, 12, 15, 20-38
Lobophyllia hataii	3, 4, 9, 16, 21-23, 28-30, 36
Lobophyllia hemprichii	1-10, 12-29, 31, 33-38
Lobophyllia pachysepta	13, 27, 36, 37
Lobophyllia robusta	2, 3, 5, 10, 12, 15, 16, 20-22, 24-28, 31, 34, 36-38
Lobophyllia sp. 1	12, 22, 28, 31
Lobophyllia sp. 2	36
Lobophyllia sp. 3	21
Lobophyllia sp. 4	21, 28, 29, 36

SPECIES	SITE NUMBERS
Scolymia vitiensis	21, 23-28, 31-33, 36, 37
Symphyllia agaricia	8, 14-17, 20-22, 24, 25, 30, 35
Symphyllia radians	2, 4, 7, 10, 18, 20, 22, 23, 26, 28, 30-32, 35
Symphyllia recta	4, 6-8, 10, 13, 16-18, 20, 21, 23-27, 29-38
Symphyllia valenciennesii	16, 18, 21, 22, 26, 36
Family Merulinidae	
Hydnophora exesa	2, 3, 7-10, 12, 13, 15-24, 28-30, 34, 35, 37
Hydnophora grandis	13, 18, 23, 25, 28-31, 34, 35, 37
Hydnophora microconos	2, 3, 7, 10, 13, 17, 21-23, 31, 35
Hydnophora pilosa	1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 9, 10, 13-15, 17, 21, 22, 25, 29, 34, 37
Hydnophora rigida	1-5, 7, 9, 10, 12-22, 24, 26-34, 36-38
Merulina ampliata	1-10, 12-38
Merulina scabricula	1-3, 5, 7, 9, 12, 13, 15-18, 20-23, 26-35, 37, 38
Scapophyllia cylindrica	2, 4, 8, 17, 21-23, 25, 27-32, 34, 35, 38
Family Faviidae	
Barabattoia amicorum	24
Caulastrea curvata	10, 16, 18, 26
Caulastrea echinulata	27, 28. 30, 36
Caulastrea furcata	4, 5, 17, 18, 20, 24-26, 29, 31, 32, 34, 36, 38
Cyphastrea agassizi	24, 25, 35
Cyphastrea decadia	1, 6, 13, 17, 18, 21, 26, 28, 29, 37, 38
Diploastrea heliopora	1-4, 7, 9, 10, 12-24, 26-38
Echinopora ashmorensis	1-4, 7,9, 16, 13, 17, 26, 28, 29, 31, 32, 34-36, 38
Echinopora gemmacea	13, 15, 21, 22, 31, 32
Echinopora hirsuitissima	15, 20-22, 25, 29, 30, 34, 35
Echinopora lamellosa	1-4, 6, 9, 10, 12-15, 17, 18, 20-27, 29-32, 35, 37, 38
Echinopora mammiformis	2, 5, 13, 18, 19, 21, 26-28, 35-38
Echinopora pacificus	1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 9, 10, 14-17, 19, 21-20, 34-36
Favia laxa	10, 13
Favia matthali	4, 7, 9, 10, 13, 15, 16, 18-22, 24, 28, 30-32, 37
Favia maxima	22
Favia pallida	4, 9, 12, 13, 21, 30, 31, 34, 35, 37
Favia rotundata	1-3, 9, 10, 15, 16, 18-23, 25, 29, 30, 34-36
Favia sp. 1	13
Favia speciosa	4, 7-9, 12-15, 17-19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 29-31
Favia stelligera	1-3, 7, 10, 12, 13, 15, 17, 18, 21, 23, 24, 26, 25-31, 34, 35
Favites abdita	1, 3, 10, 13, 16-19, 21, 24, 30, 31, 34-38
Favites chinensis	8, 9, 16, 18, 19, 34, 36, 38
Favites flexuosa	24-?1
Favites halicora	1, 8-10, 13, 15, 17, 18, 22, 25, 28, 30, 31, 34, 35
Favites pentagona	1, 2, 12-16, 20, 21, 23, 24
Favites russelli	20-24, 25, 28, 30, 38
Goniastrea aspera	13, 14, 29, 35
Goniastrea edwardsi	7, 10, 13, 18, 30, 35, 37
Goniastrea palauensis	15
Goniastrea pectinata	2, 4, 10, 12-17, 19, 21, 24, 26, 30, 31, 34-38
Goniastrea retiformis	12, 13, 16-18, 21, 22, 24, 30-32, 34, 35, 38
Leptastrea bottae	1, 7, 10, 13, 15, 30, 31, 35, 36
Leptastrea pruinosa	28, 30
Leptastrea purpurea	4, 5, 8-10, 12, 13, 16-19, 21, 24-28, 30-33, 35-38
Leptastrea transversa	10, 21-23, 30, 35
Leptoria phrygia	1-4.7-10, 12-14.16-18, 20-25.29, 30.32.34, 35
Montastrea sp. 1	16, 22, 24, 30, 31, 34, 35
Montastrea curta	1, <i>3</i> , <i>7</i> , E. 13, 18, 24, 35

APPENDIX 2 Coral species recorded at individual sites

Distichopora violacea	13' 14
Styluster sp.	13' 12-12' 50' 51' 56' 31
υηλιμάλουνα bruyhya	1-3, 9, 12, 15, 17, 21, 25, 30, 32, 35
Millepora intricata	1' 3' 1' 6' 12-14' 18' 54' 56' 30' 34' 32
Millepora exaesa	1, 3, 7, 12, 13, 18, 24, 30-32, 35
motodoib proquilim	1, 8, 9, 12, 16
Hydrocorals	
E.qs progidul	s, 9, 25
Tubipora sp. 2	13' 11' 18' 50' 54' 58' 53' 31' 33' 36
I ,qs proqual l	12' 19' 51' 52' 53' 30' 34' 39' 31
pəisnu proqidul	1' 1' 10' 19-18' 50-55' 56' 58-30' 38
Heliopva sp. 1	5' \$'.1, 10, 12-14, 16-24, 29-32, 34, 36
Heliopora coerulea	1' 10' 15-16' 5 ⁻¹ ' 5 ⁺ ' 5 ⁺ ' 2 ⁺ ' 2 ⁺ 2 ⁺ 2 ⁺ 2 ⁺ 2 ⁺
Ociocoralita	
111.1.1.3. MUUDS do 2144	96 '76 '67-97 '17 '07 '61
รานเอโนอเ บนขนเลเทา	77 '07 ' 1
oppued pupping.mj	05 05 77 '07 '61 '91 '71
рицэшэгэш ририалт	00-00 10-01 101 00-00 10-01 101
supm8әлл таршалт	
ระบารที่มวน อนอนเฉมา	00 10 101 161
sisuauojau munuigini	00 10 10 91
รนองนุญโตนานอุเทา	17.30 17.8 ¹ TO
รทบบนการสาวารถาย	0, 7, 1 0, 7, 1 0, 2, 1 0, 2, 1
กลุ่มหารายสาวาร	
FIG08AG35.1	$l \sim 1.0$ M_{\odot}
raiduus nis ala	
Biorogram an User and Alexandra and Alexandr	
มนอนของเมาะ ที่เสียงมี เมื่อมีเป็นอนทาง ที่เสียงมี 1	3K
iciuanuodand mindudan	
nicount off multiplication of the second s	
Providence of the second secon	
numer of provide standing	
Propulsion autoria Professional autoria	
Bunhullio anovne Gammani i sem lanavne	88-90 PC-01 91-P1 CL UI-2 P C .
Californition carling	
ashiilydaoyre y vlimei	and the second secon
Indukyang biling and the second s	LE '9E '7E '1E 'LC '9E '7E '1E 'LC '9E '7E '
Parity Trachynthydae F	
and the second sec	10' 12' 19' 50-55' 58-30' 37' 39' 38
sisnanis prvavtaľą	6
plineting line	1-4, 8, 13-16, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 28-32, 37, 38
nshubadh areallea	1, 2, 7-10, 12-18, 20-24, 26, 28-32, 34-37
Planyayra contoria	5-7' 6-10' 13-18' 53' 54' 51' 56-31' 34' 42
Oulobhilia crispa	5-4-7, 15, 17, 18, 20-24, 26, 28-31, 34-36
Oulophytia bennettae	4' 6' 1' 12' 16' 18' 31' 31' 38' 30' 35' 34' 36' 31
Oulastrea crispata	5' 50' 51' 53-56' 30' 31' 34-36' 38
isənnələnələv vəlizatioM	12-12' 11-19' 31' 33' 34' 38' 36-35' 34' 32
atatzinugitlum usrtestara	16' 50
Montastrea magnistellata	13' 18' 51' 55' 58-35' 34' 32
Montastrea sp. 2	1-3' 10' 32
Montastrea magnistello:0 Montastrea magnistello:0	1-3' 10' 32 38'-35' 34' 32 1-3' 10' 32 2115 MANNERS

Molluscs recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands APPENDIX 3 (compiled by F. E. Wells).

SPECIES	SITES
CLASS BIVALVIA	
Family Arcidae	ֈֈ֎ֈ֎ֈ֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎֎
Anadara maculosa (Reeve, 1844)	4, 21, 37
Arca navicularis (Bruguiere, 1798)	1
Barbatia amygdalumtotsum (Roding, 1798)	6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 15, 18, 24, 26, 28, 29, 31-38
Barbatia foliata (Forsskal, 1775)	
Barbatia sp.	21. 24, 26. 29, 36
Barbatia ventricosa (Lamarck, 1819)	1, 3, 4, 7-10, 12, 14-19, 21, 24, 26, 28, 31-38
Family Cardiidae	
Acrosterigma fultoni (Sowerby, 1916)	5
Acrosterigma luteomarginata (Voskuil and Onverwagt, 1991)	28
Acrosterigma sp.	5, 32
Acrosterigma transcendens (Melvill and Standen, 1899)	5
Acrosterigma unicolor (Sowerby, 1834)	28
Corculum impressum (Lightfoot, 1786)	5. 21
Corculum laevigatum (Bartsch, 1947)	14, 24, 31
Fragum cf. scruposum (Deshaves, 1855)	19
Fragum fragum (Linnaeus, 1758)	1. 5. 6
Fragum uneda (Linnaeus, 1758)	27. 37
Laevicardium hiradiatum (Brosniere, 1789)	5 12 19 26 37
Trachycardium alternatum (Sowerby 1841)	4, 24, 26, 32, 38
Trachycardium elangatum (Brusniere 1789)	5 7 9 12 19
Trachycardium enode (Sowerby 1841)	5. 6. 12. 19. 24. 37. 38
Trachycardium flavum (Linnaeus, 1758)	4
Trachycardium mindanense (Reeve 1844)	36
Venricardium multisninosum (Sowerby 1841)	2 33
Family Carditidae	
Requina semiarbiculata (Linnaeus 1758)	5, 19, 32, 33, 34, 36, 37, 38
Cardita abyssicola (Hinds 1843)	19
Cardita variegata (Brugujere 1792)	16 17 19 26 28 30 31 32
Family Chamidae	a vy a zy zy wy wy wy zy z zo szanie wy zy z zy zw Na zy za zy wy zy wy zy zy zy wy zy
Chama limbula (Lamarck 1819)	5.6
Chama savioni (Lamy 1921)	14 18 21
Chama sp	2 7 10
Family Corhiculidae	
Polymesoda coarans (Gmelin 1791)	37
Family Corbulidae	
Corbula sp. 1	0.10
Corbula sp. 2	32
Family Donacidae	
Donar sp	
Family Fimbridae	
Fimbria fimbriata (Lippaeus, 1758)	5 7 9 37 38
Family Glycymerididae	
Glycymeris of holsericus (Reeve 1843)	16 19
Glycymeris reavel (Maver 1868)	4 8 15 37
Tucetona ambaiensis (Gmelin, 1791)	1 24
Family Isoanomonidae	3, v, for 🔽 2019/07/29/14/2010/2019/2010/2019/2019/2019/2019/2019
I anny isogravmonau	14 16 17 19 26 27 28 31 34-38
Family Limidae	- エリュンション・コリュンシュンシュンション ビリュンション フォレッション マンジョン
Ctenoides ales (Finlay 1927)	26 36
Ctenoides annulata (Lamarck, 1810)	1 5 26 33
Ctenoides philippingrum (Masshito and Habe 1972)	36
Lina cf. basilanica (A, Adams and Reeve. 1850)	8

APPENDIX 3 Moliuses recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands

SPECIES	SITES
Lima fragilis (Gmelin, 1791)	5
Lima lima (Link, 1807)	1, 2, 8, 12, 13, 16, 18, 19, 24, 26-30, 36-38
Family Lucinidae	
Anodontia edentula (Linnaeus, 1758)	19, 36
Divaricella ornata (Reeve, 1850)	21
Lucina cumingi (Adams and Angas, 1863)	37
Lucina reevei (Deshayes, 1863)	8, 9, 21, 32, 36, 37
Family Mactridae	
Lutraria impar (Reeve, 1854)	33
Lutraria sp.	19
Family Malleidae	
Malleus malleus (Linnaeus, 1758)	5, 19, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38
Vulsella vulsella (Linnaeus, 1758)	5, 7, 12, 14, 17, 19, 38
Family Mesodesmatidae	
Davila plana (Harley, 1843)	
Family Mytilidae	
Lithophaga sp.	1, 2, 3
Modiolus philippinarum (Hanley, 1843)	4, 5, 6, 9, 17, 18, 19, 24, 26, 36, 37
Modiolus sp.	4
Septifer bilocularis (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 19, 21, 26, 27, 32, 33, 36, 37
Family Ostreidae	
Hyotissa hyotis (Linnaeus, 1758)	25, 31
Lopha cristagalli (Linnaeus, 1758)	6, 7, 8, 25
Saccostrea cuccullata (Born, 1778)	1, 4, 10, 11, 14, 17, 23, 32, 33, 37, 38
Saccostrea sp.	1, 7, 8, 25, 28
Family Pectinidae	
Bractechlamys vexillum (Reeve,1853)	28
Chlamys corsucans (Hinds, 1845)	29
Chlamys irregularis (Sowerby, 1842)	16, 20
Chlamys lentiginosa (Reeve, 1865)	20, 36
Chlamys mollita (Reeve, 1853)	26
Chlamys squamata (Gmelin, 1791)	21, 33
Chlamys squamosa (Gmelin, 1791)	15, 27
Comptopallium radula (Linnaeus, 1758)	4, 8, 9, 12, 16, 24-29, 31, 32, 34-38
Excellichlamys histrionica (Gmelin, 1791)	29, 36
Gloripallium pallium (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 2, 5, 7, 8, 9, 15, 17, 19, 20, 24, 26-29, 38
Mimachlamys lentiginosa (Reeve, 1853)	19
Mirapecten rastellum (Lamarck, 1819)	26
Pedum spondyloidaeum (Gmelin, 1791)	1-10, 12-19, 21-37
Semipallium tigris (Lamarck, 1819)	2, 19, 21
Family Pinnidae	
Atrina vexillum (Born, 1778)	5, 8, 12, 19
Pinna bicolor (Gmelin, 1791)	1, 31
Streptopinna saccata (Linnaeus, 1758)	
Family Psammobiidae	
Asaphis violaceans (Forsskal, 1775)	14, 21
Gari amethystus (Wood, 1815)	19
Gari elongata (Lamarck, 1811)	19
Gari livida (Lamarck, 1818)	30, 36
Gari pulcherrimus (Deshayes, 1855)	26
Family Pteriidae	
Pinctada margaritifera (Linnaeus, 1758)	4, 5, 8, 14
Pteria pengiun (Roding, 1798)	7, 8, 9, 16, 20, 25, 27, 28

Fandly Securediae 9.32 Semele contrate (A, Adams end Reeve, 1848) 7 Semele functions (Keeve, 1853) 24 Semele functions (Soverby, 1840) 28, 33 Semele functions (Soverby, 1840) 28, 33 Semele functions (Soverby, 1840) 28, 33 Semele functions (Soverby, 1840) 24 Spondylas function (Reeve, 1856) 27, 78, 19, 21, 26 Spondylas sufficient (Reeve, 1852) 1, 13, 37 Spondylas sufficient (Schurbers, 1793) 1, 18, 19, 35 Spondylas sufficient (Schurbers, 1793) 5, 6 Tellina appadia (Lamarck, 1818) 20, 37 Tellina appadia (Lamarck, 1818) 20, 37 Tellina appadia (Lamarck, 1758) 5 Tellina appadia (Lamarck, 1758) 1 Tellina appadia (Lamarck, 1758) 1 Tellina nongadia (Lamarck, 1758) 1	SPECIES	SITES
Semele covia (A. Adams, 1833) 19, 32 Semele (acarata (Adams and Reeve, 1845) 7 Semele (acarata (Reeve, 1853) 28 Semele (acarata (Reeve, 1853) 28 Semele (acarata (Adams, 1853) 3 Family Spondylidae 5 Spondylis multimuricana (Reeve, 1856) 24 Spondylis multimuricana (Reeve, 1856) 3, 7, 8, 9, 21, 26 Spondylis multimuricana (Reeve, 1856) 3, 7, 8, 9, 21, 26 Spondylis multimuricana (Reeve, 1856) 3, 7, 8, 9, 21, 26 Spondylis mutificance (Dunker, 1852) 1, 3, 19, 35 Spondylis variant (Severity), 1829) 19 Family Tellinidae 5, 6 Spondylis variant (Severity), 1829) 19 Family Tellinidae 7 Filinia caraitae (Goada, 1850) 5 Tellinia caraitae (Goada, 1850) 5 Tellinia caraitae (Goada, 1850) 5 Tellinia acaraitae (Healey, 1917) 30 Tellinia caraitae (Healey, 1918) 10 Tellinia caraitae (Healey, 1918) 10 Tellinia caraitae (Healey, 1918) 10 Tellinia caraita (Healey, 1918	Family Semelidae	
Semele J. cararda (Adams and Reve, 18-8) 7 Semele Juniciani (Sowerby, 1830) 28 Semele Juniciani (Sowerby, 1830) 28, 33 Semele Juniciani (Sowerby, 1830) 24, 33 Semele Juniciani (Reve, 1853) 3 Semele Juniciani (Sowerby, 1830) 121, 26, 36 Spondylas matimurcans (Reve, 1852) 21, 35, 37 Spondylas matimurcans (Reve, 1852) 21, 35, 37 Spondylas sugarous (Schreibers, 1793) 1, 18, 10, 35 Spondylas sugarous (Schreibers, 1793) 1, 18, 10, 35 Spondylas sugarous (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondylas sugarous (Schreibers, 1793) 10 Fallina end (Helley, 1917) 30 Tellina end (Helley, 1918) 19 Tellina end (Helley, 1918) <	Semele casta (A. Adams, 1853)	19, 32
Semile lawellow (Sever, 183) 28 Semile lawellow (Sever, 183) 28, 33 Semile lawellow (Sever, 185) 2 Semile lawellow (Sever, 185) 2 Semile lawer, 185) 2 Semile lawer, 185) 2 Semile lawer, 185) 2 Semile lawer, 185) 2 Spendylas seniler (Reve, 185) 2 Spendylas seniler (Reve, 185) 1, 12, 25, 36 Spendylas seniler (Reve, 185) 2 Spendylas seniler (Reve, 185) 2 Spendylas seniler (Reve, 185) 3 Spendylas varians (Swerby, 182) 1 Spendylas varians (Swerby, 182) 19 Family Tellindee 7 Fellina cracitizer (Gaudi, 185) 5 Tellina cracitizer (Gaudi, 185) 10 Tellina cracitizer (Gaudi, 185) 10 Tellina cracitizer (Gaudi, 185) 10 Tellina cracitizer (Telinas serind (Gaudi, 185) 10 <t< td=""><td>Semele cf. exarata (Adams and Reeve, 1848)</td><td>7</td></t<>	Semele cf. exarata (Adams and Reeve, 1848)	7
Semele durolload (Sweety, 1830) 28, 33 Semele durolload (Adams, 1853) 3 Semele durolload (Reve, 1855) 24 Spondylas candida (Lamares, 1819) 1, 21, 26, 36 Spondylas candida (Lamares, 1819) 1, 12, 26, 36 Spondylas candida (Lamares, 1819) 1, 18, 19, 35 Spondylas sequences (Durker, 1852) 21, 35, 37 Spondylas sequences (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondylas sequences (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondylas sequences (Schreibers, 1793) 30 Family Tellindae 70 Tellina concider, (Lamarek, 1818) 29, 37 Tellina concide (Socida, 1850) 5 Tellina averatic (Gouda, 1850) 5 Tellina averatic (Scowerby, 1825) 24 Tellina averatic (Scowerby, 1825) 30 Tellina averatic (Scowerby, 1826) 15 Tellina a	Semele jukesii (Reeve, 1853)	28
Semele showski (Adams, 1853) 3 Family Spondylidae	Semele lamellosa (Sowerby, 1830)	28, 33
Family Spandylika 24 Spandylis barleri (Reeve, 1850) 24 Spandylis multinuricatus (Reeve, 1850) 3, 7, 8, 19, 21, 26 Spandylis significa (Reeve, 1850) 3, 7, 8, 19, 21, 26 Spandylis significas (Danker, 1822) 21, 35, 37 Spandylis significas (Sareliers, 1793) 1, 18, 19, 35 Spandylis signification (Sareliers, 1793) 5, 6 Spandylis signification (Sareliers, 1793) 5, 6 Spandylis signification (Sareliers, 1793) 5, 6 Tellina casua (Goldy, 197) 30 Tellina casua (Goldy, 197) 30 Tellina casua (Goldy, 197) 5 Tellina casua (Goldy, 1870) 5 Tellina practa (Ubacka, 1758) 1 Tellina practa (Ubacka, 1877) 30 Tellina practa (Ubacka, 1873) 30 Tellina practa (Ubacka, 1873) 30 Tellina practa (Ubacka, 1873) 30 Tellina practa (Ubacka, 1758) 15 Tellina practa (Ubacka, 1758)	Semele sinensis (Adams, 1853)	3
Spondylus butteri (Reeve. 1856) 24 Spondylus candidus (Lamarck. 1819) 1. 21, 26, 36 Spondylus mitmistratus (Reeve. 1856) 3, 7, 8, 19, 21, 26 Spondylus singaineus (Durker, 1882) 21, 35, 37 Spondylus singaineus (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondylus variants (Soverby, 1829) 19 Faulty Tellinder 70 Tellina carbia (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina carbia (Gouch, 1850) 5 Tellina carbia (Gouch, 1850) 5 Tellina around (Linnacus, 1758) 5 Tellina privata (Valencieneus, 1827) 30 Tellina around (Hedley, 1918) 19 Tellina around (Linnacus, 1758) 15 Tellina around (Linnacus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina around (Linnacus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina around (Linnacus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina around (Linnacus, 1758) 3, 2	Family Spondvlidae	
Spondylias candidus (Lamarck, 1819) 1, 21, 26, 36 Spondylis singatiras (Darker, 1850) 3, 7, 8, 19, 21, 26 Spondylis singatiras (Darker, 1852) 21, 35, 37 Spondylis singatiras (Darker, 1852) 21, 35, 37 Spondylis singatiras (Darker, 1852) 21, 35, 37 Spondylis singatiras (Darker, 1822) 19 Family Tollindiae 7 Tellina astain (Goola, 1830) 5 Tellina cartia (Goola, 1830) 5 Tellina astain (Goola, 1830) 5 Tellina gargadia (Linnaes, 1758) 5 Tellina gargadia (Linnaes, 1758) 1 Tellina soutia (Sowerby, 1825) 24 Tellina gargadia (Linnaes, 1758) 1 Tellina gargadia (Linnaes, 1758) 10 Tellina gargadia (Linnaes, 1758) 10 Tellina soutia (Sowerby, 1827) 30 Tellina soutia (Sowerby, 1827) 30 Tellina soutia (Linnaes, 1758) 15 Tellina soutia (Linnaes, 1758) 37 Tellina soutia (Linnaes, 1758) 36 Tellina soutia (Linnaes, 1758) 37 Tellina soutia (Linnaes, 1758)	Spondylus butleri (Reeve, 1856)	24
Spondylas multimuricatus (Reeve, 1856) 3, 7, 8, 19, 21, 26 Spondylas seguinteus (Dunker, 1852) 21, 33, 37 Spondylas seguinteus (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondylas varians (Sowerby, 1829) 19 Pamily Tellindage 7 Tellina canadi (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina caracigerum (Lamarek, 1818) 20, 37 Tellina caracigerum (Lamarek, 1758) 5 Tellina protection (Linaeus, 1758) 1 Tellina protection (Kaley, 1918) 19 Tellina protection (Kaley, 1918) 19 Tellina variat (Linaeus, 1758) 30 Tellina variat (Linaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina variat (Linaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina variat (Linaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina variat (Linaeus, 1758) 3, 7, 15	Spondylus candidus (Lamarck, 1819)	1, 21, 26, 36
Spondylus sanguineus (Durker, 1852) 21, 35, 37 Spondylus synemskis (Schreibers, 1793) 1, 18, 19, 35 Spondylus variant (Sowerby, 1829) 19 Family Tellinidae	Spondylus multimuricatus (Reeve. 1856)	3, 7, 8, 19, 21, 26
Spondylas sinemsis (Schreibers, 1793) 1, 18, 19, 35 Spondylas sigumösus (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondylas sigumösus (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondylas sigumösus (Schreibers, 1793) 30 Fallin a cardia (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina cardia (Linacus, 1818) 29, 37 Tellina cardia (Linacus, 1758) 5 Tellina inguagita (Linacus, 1758) 5 Tellina princi (Hedley, 1918) 19 Tellina princi (Hedley, 1918) 19 Tellina princi (Linacus, 1758) 30 Tellina raterilum (Healey, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina raterilum (Healey, 1984) 36 Tellina raterilum (Healey, 1758) 36 Tellina sopticata (Linacus, 1758) 37 Tellina sopticata (Linacus, 1758) 32 Tellina sopticata (Linacus, 1758) 32 Tellina sopticata (Linacus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Tametium bicanitation (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapere	Spondylus sanguineus (Dunker, 1852)	21. 35, 37
Spondyliks squamosus (Schreibers, 1793) 5, 6 Spondyliks varians (Sowerby, 1829) 19 Fallin Emilis 19 Fallins astula (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina castula (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina gragadia (Linnaeus, 1788) 5 Tellina gragadia (Linnaeus, 1758) 5 Tellina pratica (Hedley, 1918) 19 Tellina pratica (Hedley, 1918) 19 Tellina rosteliam (Henley, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina rosteliam (Henley, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina rosteriata (Uninaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina rosteriata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina rosteriata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 2 Tellina socionata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 2 Tellina socionata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 2 Tellina rosteriata (Nokonega, 1905) 7, 9 Tellina rosteriata (Instaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Tellina rosteriata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 3, 26, 37, 38 Trapezition bicarinatumi	Spondylus sinensis (Schreibers, 1793)	1. 18, 19, 35
Spondylas varians (Sowerby, 1829) 19 Family Tellinidae 7 Tellina cata (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina cracit (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina cracit (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina cracit (Gould, 1850) 5 Tellina cracit (Gould, 1850) 5 Tellina cracit (Gould, 1850) 5 Tellina digardia (Gould, 1850) 5 Tellina digardia (Gould, 1852) 24 Tellina calit (Sowerby, 1825) 24 Tellina calit (Sowerby, 1825) 24 Tellina plicat (Valenciennes, 1758) 19 Tellina rastrato (Linnaeus, 1758) 19 Tellina rastrato (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina rastrato (Linnaeus, 1758) 3.6 Tellina schitta (Linnaeus, 1758) 3.2 Tellina schitta (Linnaeus, 1758) 3.2 Tellina torgona (Quoy and Gaimard, 1825) 32 Tellina	Spondylus sauamosus (Schreibers, 1793)	5, 6
Family Tellinidae Tellina casula (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina casula (Hedley, 1917) 30 30 Tellina casula (Hedley, 1917) 30 30 Tellina casula (Lonzev, 1818) 29, 37 31 Tellina casula (Goxid, 1850) 5 5 Tellina languefits (Linnaeus, 1758) 5 7 Tellina inguefits (Linnaeus, 1758) 1 7 Tellina prainca (Hedley, 1918) 19 7 Tellina rastelium (Hanky, 1844) 2, 17 7 Tellina rastelium (Hanky, 1844) 2, 17 7 Tellina rastelium (Hanky, 1844) 2, 17 7 Tellina rastelium (Hanky, 1845) 30 7 Tellina rastelium (Hanky, 1845) 3, 6 7 Tellina rastelium (Hanky, 1845) 3, 6 7 Tellina rastelium (Hanky, 1845) 3, 6 7 Tellina rastelium (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 7 Tellina rastelium ingeneux, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 7 Trapezium obcarinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 7 Trapeziumo bear (Reeve, 18	Spondylus varians (Sowerby, 1829)	19
Tellina astula (Hedley, 1917) 30 Tellina capoides (Lamarck, 1818) 5, 7, 19, 32, 36, 37, 38 Tellina capoides (Lamarck, 1818) 29, 37 Tellina gargadia (Linnacus, 1758) 5 Tellina inguefelis (Linnacus, 1758) 5 Tellina inguefelis (Linnacus, 1758) 1 Tellina inguefelis (Linnacus, 1758) 1 Tellina inguefelis (Linnacus, 1758) 10 Tellina remies (Linnacus, 1758) 10 Tellina remies (Linnacus, 1758) 30 Tellina remies (Linnacus, 1758) 37 Tellina remies (Linnacus, 1758) 37 Tellina remies (Linnacus, 1758) 37 Tellina serricostata (Tokunga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina virgata (Linnacus, 1758) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnacus, 1758) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnacus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Tellina virgata (Linnacus, 1758) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnacus, 1758) 18, 21, 26 Trapeztim hicarinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapeztim virgata (Roding, 1798) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna gigea (Linnacus, 1758)	Family Tellinidae	
Tellina capsoides (Lamarck, 1818) 5, 7, 19, 32, 36, 37, 38 Tellina cracigerum (Lamarck, 1818) 29, 37 Tellina cracigerum (Limaeus, 1758) 5 Tellina inguadeis (Linnaeus, 1758) 1 Tellina provation (Value (V	Tellina astula (Hedley, 1917)	3()
Tellina crucigeram (Lamarck, 1818) 29, 37 Tellina exculta (Goak, 1850) 5 Tellina exculta (Goak, 1850) 5 Tellina linguigates (Linnaeus, 1758) 5 Tellina linguigates (Linnaeus, 1758) 1 Tellina (Kalepides (Linnaeus, 1758) 19 Tellina princia (Hedley, 1918) 19 Tellina princia (Valenciennes, 1827) 30 Tellina remies (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina remies (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 32 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 16 Trapezitin obesa (Reeve, 1843)	Telling cansoides (Lamarck, 1818)	5. 7. 19. 32. 36. 37. 38
Tellina exulta (Godić, 1850) 5 Telling gargadia (Linnaeus, 1758) 5 Tellina jungitis (Linnaeus, 1758) 1 Tellina piratica (Hediey, 1918) 19 Tellina piratica (Valenciennes, 1827) 30 Tellina piratica (Valenciennes, 1827) 30 Tellina piratica (Valenciennes, 1827) 30 Tellina renties (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina renties (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 32 Tellina sp: 2 Tellina spatica (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapezilindae 1 Trapezilindosea (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezilindosea (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezilindosea (Reeve, 1843) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) <t< td=""><td>Telling cruciperum (Lamarck, 1818)</td><td>29. 37</td></t<>	Telling cruciperum (Lamarck, 1818)	29. 37
Tellina grapidia (Linnaeus, 1758) 5 Tellina linguajefis (Linnaeus, 1758) 1 Tellina variai (Sowerby, 1825) 24 Tellina variai (Sowerby, 1825) 24 Tellina variai (Mediey, 1918) 19 Tellina variai (Hediey, 1918) 19 Tellina variai (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina servicostata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina servicostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina servicostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina servicostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapezilina 2 Trapezium bicarinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna asuamosa (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) <td>Tellina exculta (Gouló, 1850)</td> <td>5</td>	Tellina exculta (Gouló, 1850)	5
Totima Brogadetis (Linnaeus, 1758) 1 Teilina piratica (Hediey, 1918) 19 Teilina restriat (Valencienne, 1827) 30 Teilina restriat (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina restriat (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina serricostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina serricostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina serricostata (Tokunaga, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapezildae Trapezildae Trapezilum obearinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezilum obearinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezilum obearinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezilum obearinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezilum obearinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezilumose rebry (Hidago, 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 1, 6, 32, 38	Telling paroadia (Linnaeus, 1758)	5
Tellina availa (Sowerby, 1825) 24 Tellina piratica (Hedley, 1918) 19 Tellina pitcata (Valenciennes, 1827) 30 Tellina pitcata (Valenciennes, 1827) 30 Tellina remies (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina restricuta (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 32 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapezidae Trapezidae Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Chinaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna acunnosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32,	Tellina linguafelis (Linnaeus, 1758)	1
Tellina piratica (Hediy, 1918) 19 Tellina piratica (Hediy, 1918) 19 Tellina rastellam (Haniey, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina rastellam (Haniey, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina rastellam (Haniey, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina rastellam (Haniey, 1845) 15 Tellina servicostata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina servicostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapezildae Trapezildae Trapezilum obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezilum obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezilun obesa (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna suamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacne accocea (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9, 43-19, 22	Telling ovalis (Sowerby, 1825)	24
Tellina priority (Valenciennes, 1827) 30 Tellina rastellum (Hanley, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina remies (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina rostrata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 36 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 32 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapezidae Trapezidae Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Reove, 1843) 18, 21, 20, 36, 37, 38 Tridacnidae Hipopis hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 37 Tridacna souamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 37	Telling piratica (Hedley, 1918)	19
Tellina prastellum (Hanley, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina rastellum (Hanley, 1844) 2, 17 Tellina rostrata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina torgana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium popus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 <td< td=""><td>Tellina plicata (Valenciennes, 1827)</td><td>30</td></td<>	Tellina plicata (Valenciennes, 1827)	30
Tellina renies (Linnaeus, 1758) 15 Tellina rostrata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina serricostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina serricostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapeziidae 7 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1849) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1, 2, 6, 99, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna souranosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24, 36, 37 Tridacne acrocea (Lamarck, 1819) <t< td=""><td>Telling rostellum (Hanley, 1844)</td><td>2. 17</td></t<>	Telling rostellum (Hanley, 1844)	2. 17
Tellina sortrata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Tellina sortrata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina serricostata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina sortrata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina strata (Tokunaga, 1906) 7, 9 Tellina strata (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapezidae 7 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapeziumsowerbyi (Hidago, 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 7 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 2, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna suamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna suamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1, 9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 7 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32	Telling remies (Linnaeus, 1758)	15
Tellina cobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina scobinata (Linnaeus, 1758) 3, 6 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapeziidae Trapeziidae Trapezium bicarinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium bicarinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 18, 21, 26 Trapeziumsowerbyi (Hidalgo, 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 14, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 178) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 7 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia ingerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia pigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia pigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia pigerina (Linnaeus, 1758)	Tellina rostrata (Linnaeus, 1758)	37
Tellina storiositati (Tokunaga, 1905) 7, 9 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapeziidae 7 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium serbiy (Hidalgo, 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 1 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna asuamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacna acuamosa (Lamarck, 1849) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae	Tellina scabinata (Linnaeus, 1758)	3.6
Tellina sp. 2 Tellina sp. 2 Tellina virgata (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapeziidae 7rapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium schnnachen, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapezium schnnachen, 1817) 20 Family Tridacnidae 1 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna suumosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacna acuamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 2 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus,	Tellina serricostata (Tokunaga, 1906)	7. 9
Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 32 Tellina tongana (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) 1, 5, 7, 15 Family Trapeziidae 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium bicarinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapeziumsowerbyi (Hidalgo, 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna suamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 20 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia	Tellina sn	2
Trilden trigger (20) in the formation of th	Telling tongang (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835)	32
Family Trapezidae Iteration Trapezium bicarinaum (Schumacher, 1817) 16, 32, 36, 37, 38 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18, 21, 26 Trapeziumsowerbyi (Hidalgo, 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 14, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarek, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacnea crocea (Lamarek, 1819) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 7 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarek, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2	Telling virgata (Lingaeus, 1758)	1. 5. 7. 15
Trapezium bicarinatum (Schumacher, 1817) 16. 32. 36. 37. 38 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18. 21. 26 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 20 Family Tridacnidae 14. 20 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1. 4, 6. 12. 14, 18, 21, 29, 36. 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1. 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1. 2. 6, 29, 30. 32. 36 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1. 2. 6, 29, 30. 32. 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4. 6-9. 12. 13. 14. 18. 21. 22. 24-34. 36. 37 Tridacnea crocea (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9. 43-19. 22. 24. 25, 27, 29, 30. 32. 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 20 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, i4, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2	Family Transziidae	
Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18. 21. 26 Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843) 18. 21. 26 Trapeziumsow erbyi (Hidalgo. 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 1. 4, 6. 12. 14, 18, 21, 29, 36. 37, 38 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1. 4, 6. 12. 14, 18, 21, 29, 36. 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1. 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1. 2. 6, 29, 30. 32. 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4. 6-9. 12, 13. 14, 18, 21. 22. 24-34. 36. 37 Tridacnea crocea (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9, 43-19. 22. 24. 25, 27, 29, 30. 32. 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 7 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2	Trapezium bicarinatum (Schumacher, 1817)	16. 32. 36. 37. 38
Trapeziumsow erbyi (Hidalgo, 1903) 20 Family Tridacnidae 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 4, 6, 12, 14, 18, 21, 29, 36, 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacnea crocca (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigoniidae 20 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona chemitzii (Hanley, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona chatara (Linsus, 1771) 26	Trapezium obesa (Reeve, 1843)	18, 21, 26
Family Tridacnidae 20 Finily Tridacnidae 1.4, 6. 12. 14, 18, 21, 29, 36. 37, 38 Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna agigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1. 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1. 2. 6, 29, 30. 32. 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4. 6-9. 12, 13. 14. 18. 21. 22. 24-34. 36. 37 Tridacna crocea (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9. 43-19. 22. 24. 25, 27, 29, 30. 32. 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 20 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nummera (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Trapeziumsowerbyi (Hidalgo 1903)	20
Hing Frideridate Hippopus hippopus (Linnaeus, 1758) Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1, 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacnea crocea (Lamarck, 1849) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nummerea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Family Tridacnidae	0 0
Importation inportation (1907) Importation (1907) Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798) 9, 36 Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) I. 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 7 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 7 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nummera (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Hinnonus hinnonus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1 4 6 12 14 18 21 29 36 37 38
Tridacna gigas (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 6, 32, 38 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) I. 2, 6, 29, 30, 32, 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4, 6-9, 12, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 24-34, 36, 37 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9, 43-19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigoniidae 7 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 7 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Tridacna derasa (Roding, 1798)	9.36
Tridacta grgeb (alification, 1790) 110, 02, 00 Tridacna maxima (Roding, 1798) 1. 2. 6, 29, 30. 32. 36 Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819) 1-4. 6-9. 12, 13. 14, 18, 21. 22. 24-34. 36. 37 Tridacnea crocea (Lamarck, 1819) 1-9. 43-19. 22. 24.25, 27, 29, 30. 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigoniidae 37 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Tridacna vivas (Linnaeus 1758)	1.6.32.38
Tridacria individual (roting) (1750) 1.16, 9.12, 56, 61, 60, 61, 61, 61, 61, 61, 61, 61, 61, 61, 61	Tridaena marima (Roding, 1798)	L 2 6 29 30 32 36
Tridacea crocea (Lamarck, 1849) 1-9. 43-19. 22. 24.25, 27, 29, 30. 32, 34, 36-38 Family Trigonidae 37 Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurge (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Tridacna sauamosa (Lamarck, 1819)	1-4 6-9 12 13 14 18 21 22 24-34 36 37
Family Trigonidae 77, 15 17, 22, 21, 25, 55, 25, 55, 55, 55, 55, 55, 55, 55	Tridacnea crocea (Lamarck, 1849)	
Codakia punctata (Linnaeus, 1758) 37 Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Family Veneridae 4 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Family Trigoniidae	1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1
Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758) 57 Family Veneridae 9, 14, 17, 19, 32 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Codakia nunctata (Linnaeus 1758)	27
Family Veneridae 35 Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarek, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Codakia tigerina (Linnaeus, 1758)	9 14 17 19 32
Antigona cf. corbis (Lamarck, 1818) 35 Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Family Veneridae	
Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley, 1844) 10, 28 Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Antigona cf. corbis (I smarck, 1818)	<u></u>
Antigona clathrata (Deshayes, 1854) 1, 2 Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1771) 26	Antigona chemnitzii (Hanley 1844)	10. 28
Aptiona numurea (Linnaeus 1771) 26	Antioona clathrata (Deshaves 1854)	1.2
	Antigona nurnurea (Linnaeus, 1007)	26
Antigona restriculata (Sowerby 1853) 1 2 3 4 5 10 21 23 25 33	Antioona restriculato (Sowerby 1853)	1 2 3 4 5 19 21 23 25 33
Antigona reticulata (Linnaeus 1758) 2 4 5 14 18 19 23 30 32 34	Antigona reticulata (Linnaeus, 1758)	2 4 5 14 18 19 23 30 32 34
Callista semisulcata (Sowerby, 1851) 19	Callista semisulcata (Sowerby 1851)	19

05 '57 '61 '91 '71 '8 '†	Ayy cylindircus (Heipling: ۱/۱۷)
	SBDIŲA AJIMIR I
***************************************	PLANCUELLE STATES
	'ds 1112901077
	asbiry Aurile a
500 + 5 5	$h_{\rm constraints and the state of the stat$
CC '17	ç 'ds panuagaista
2 τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ τ	7 'ds panuopijau'
00	r ds panuopnau
	Cheridonura hirundinina (Quoy and Gaimard, 1834)
01 01 00 190 100 161 101	Ciriti amosina (pergui (pergui (acc))
	camiy Agiahaze
0004.5.5.4.5.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4	780010 Sp. 1 2015 1 2015
	аврынат Анне і
	EURIN FORMUSE
	VIODOBLSV J SSV 1J 7 :ds mdac
10 17 '9 '0	T ide mdae
	(cool 'orfoll Hallaid marman
	2000000 (2881 eivel) inefficia viaesotava
	veropus 20. Veropus 20.
	Panko op. Panko Artanovica
	US OSIO A describer a describer a A describer a d
	ashirioifa i vime'i
	(857: statenti [] pointa palooni]]
88 22	(Tapes sulcarius (1.9818)
S Les tors for the	(389), emisine (389), series radius
<u>EE LC 90 6. 81</u>	(8771 susanti) sutarati sanal
52	(2581 vdrøm)
19.31	(0601 beedatidW bue listome.) incom antig
61.5	Pilar prora (Conrad, 1837)
05	Pitar nancyae (Learning Mana Mattehead, 1990)
<u>Ş</u> [Pitar lineolatus (Sowerby, 1854)
<u>0€</u>	Pitar japonicus (Kuroda and Kawamoto, 1956)
4	Meretrix meretrix (Linnaeus, 1758)
6' 33	Marcia japonica (Gmelia, 1791)
	'ds <i>by3u03017</i>
L'S	Lioconcha polita (Roding, 1798)
	Lioconcha ornata (Dillwyn, 1817)
98	Lioconcha fastigtata (Sower'əy, 1851)
7, 19, 32, 38, 32, 38	Lioconcha castrensis (Linnaeus, 1758)
5' 2' 16' 51' 58	Lioconcha annettae (Lamprell and Whitehead, 1990)
1, 2, 3, 5, 9, 15-17, 19, 22-24, 27-29, 31-37	Globivenus toreuma (Gould, 1850)
7 [₄ 44]	Gafrarium tumidum (Roding, 1798)
	Gafrarium transversarium (Deshayes, 1854)
30, 32	Gafrarium equivocum (Holten, 1802)
71	Gafrarium dispar (Holten, 1802)
5, 30	.qs pinisoO
61	(č451 (YalneH) induse indused
Ş	Dosinia juvenilis (Gmelia, 1991)
61	Dosinia iwakawai (Oyama and Habe, 1971)
Ξ.	Clementia papyracea (Gray, 1825)
	Circe sp.
6	Circe personata (Desheyes, 1854)
ZILLES	SPECIES

SPECIES	SITES
Atys naucum (Linneeus, 1758)	4, 6, 8, 12, 32, 33, 36, 37, 38
Family Buccinidae	
Cantharus fumosus (Dillwyn, 1817)	
Cantharus iostomus (Gray, 1834)	37
Cantharus leucotaeniatus (Kosuge, 1985)	9
Cantharus pulcher (Reeve, 1846)	9, 12, 21, 30, 32, 34, 35
Cantharus subrubiginosus (E.A. Smith, 1879)	17
Cantharus undosus (Linnaeus, 1758)	5, 10, 16, 24, 28, 29
Cantharus wagneri (Anton, 1839)	1, 2, 3, 35
Engina alveolata (Kiener, 1836)	10, 22
Engina incarnata (Deshayes, 1834)	7, 8, 9
Engina lineata (Reeve, 1846)	1, 4, 6, 7, 9, 10, 14, 15, 23, 29, 34
Engina zonalis (Lamarck, 1822)	22
Phos textum (Gmelin, 1791)	9, 12, 13, 32, 33, 36
Pisania gracilis (Reeve, 1846)	3, 15, 23, 24, 32
Pisania ignea (Gmelin, 1791)	20
Family Bursidae	
Bursa granularis (Roding, 1798)	1, 12, 15, 35
Bursa lamarckii (Deshayes, 1853)	18, 25
Bursa leo Shikama, 1964	4
Bursa rosa (Perry, 1811)	31
Bursa tuberossissima (Reeve, 1844)	35
Tutufa rubeta (Linnaeus, 1758)	25
Family Calyptraeidae	
Calyptraea sp.	9
Family Cassidae	
Casmaria erinaceus (Linnaeus, 1758)	4, 7, 28, 37
Cassis cornuta (Linnaeus, 1758)	8, 34
Family Cerithlidae	
Cerithium balteatum (Philippi, 1848)	7.10
Cerithium batillariaeformis (Habe and Kosuge, 1966)	8, 17
Cerithium citrinum (Sowerby, 1855)	1, 4
Cerithium columna (Sowerby, 1834)	9, 12, 14, 25, 28
Cerithium echinatum (Lamarck, 1822)	3, 9, 10, 17, 25, 29, 31, 35
Cerithium lifuense (Melvill and Standen, 1895)	10, 17, 25, 26, 28, 32, 33, 34
Cerithium moniliferum (Kiener, 1841)	1, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 14, 17, 38
Cerithium nesioticum (Pilsbry and Vanetta, 1906)	8, 9, 15, 16, 17, 23
Cerithium nodulosus (Braguiere, 1792)	1, 8, 9, 10, 13, 17, 27, 28, 32
Cerithium planum (Anton, 1839)	8, 12, 16, 26, 33, 36, 38
Cerithium rostratum (Sowerby, 1855)	15
Cerithium salebrosum (Sowerby, 1855)	14
Cerithium tenellum (Sowerby, 1855)	26, 28, 33
Cerithium tenuifilosum (Sowerby, 1866)	14
Cerithium trailli (Sowerby, 1855)	5, 10, 12, 14, 17
Cerithium zonatum (Wood, 1828)	2
Clypeomorus subbreviculus (Oostingh, 1925)	
Pseudovertagus aluco (Linnaeus, 1758)	5, 37
Rhinoclavis articulata (Adams and Reeve, 1850)	10, 17, 22, 24, 29, 30
Rhinoclavis aspera (Linnaeus, 1758)	1-3, 5-9, 12, 13, 15-17, 19, 21, 22, 24, 27-29, 31-33, 36-38
Rhinoclavis sinensis (Graelin, 1791)	1, 3, 10, 13, 24, 35
Rhinoclavis vertagus (Linnaeus, 1767)	5.37
Family Chromodorididae	
Mexichromis sp.	23

SPECIES	SITES
Chromodoris aff. aureopurpurea (Collingwood, 1881)	23
Chromodoris africana (Elliot, 1904)	28
Chromodoris bullocki (Collingwood, 1857)	10, 22, 31, 37
Chromodoris coi (Risbec, 1956)	12, 13
Chromodoris elisabethina (Bergh, 1877)	1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 13-17, 20, 21, 22, 31, 35
Chromodoris sp. 1 (C. elisabethina complex)	17
Chromodoris sp. 2 (C. elisabethina complex)	16
Chromodoris sp. 3	
Chromodoris sp. 4	22
Chromodoris striatella (Bergh, 1877)	37
Chromodoris tinctoria (Ruppell and Leuckart, 1824)	23
Glossodoris atromarginata (Cuvier, 1804)	9, 17
Glossodoris hikuerensis (Pruvot-Fol, 1954)	13
Family Colubrariidae	
Colubraria antiquata (Hinds, 1844)	
Colubraria nitidula (Sowerby, 1833)	31
Colubraria souverbii (Reeve, 1844)	25
Family Columbellidae	
Mitrella albina (Kiener, 1841)	2, 3, 8, 9, 10, 20, 22, 23
Mitrella ligula (Duclos, 1840)	8, 16
Mitrella sp.	22
Pyrene deshayesii (Crosse, 1859)	25, 26, 27
Pyrene ocellata (Link, 1807)	10, 14, 17, 21, 32
Pyrene punctata (Bruguiere, 1789)	9, 10, 12, 15, 16, 17, 21, 22, 31, 32, 34, 35
Pyrene scripta (Lamarck, 1822)	4. 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 17, 21, 30, 31, 33
Pyrene testudinaria (Link, 1807)	2, 6, 10, 15, 17, 22, 24, 32, 33, 38
Pyrene turturina (Lamarck, 1822)	1, 7, 9, 10, 15, 16, 21, 24, 34, 35, 37
Family Conidae	
Conus arenatus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	3, 7, 8, 9, 10, 13, 23, 24, 32, 36, 38
Conus aulicus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1
Conus boeticus (Reeve, 1844)	29, 30, 31, 37
Conus capitaneus (Linnaeus, 1758)	6, 15, 23, 36, 38
Conus ceylanensis (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	6, 7, 10
Conus cf. striatellus (Link, 1807)	24
Conus chaldeus (Roding, 1798)	10
Conus circumactus (Iredale, 1929)	10
Conus consors (Sowerby, 1833)	1
Conus coronatus (Gmelin, 1791)	1, 17
Conus distans (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	10, 19, 23
Conus ebraeus (Linnaeus, 1758)	10, 17
Conus eburneus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	7
Conus emaciatus (Reeve, 1849)	10, 21, 37
Conus flavidus (Lamarck, 1810)	2, 9, 10, 17, 23, 34
Conus frigidus (Reeve, 1848)	2, 36
Conus furvus (Reeve, 1843)	5, 16, 17, 33, 36
Conus generalis (Linnaeus, 1767)	
Conus glans (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	4, 6, 8, 13, 15, 29
Conus imperialis (Linnaeus, 1758)	2, 3, 17, 38
Conus lividus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	10, 23, 30, 34
Conus magus (Linnaeus, 1758)	27
Conus marmoreus (Linnaeus, 1758)	4, 13, IS, 21, 32
Conus miles (Linnaeus, 1758)	8, 9, 13. 15. IT. 20. 23. 27. 30, 35
Conus miliaris (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	10, 17. 38
Conus mucronatus (Reeve, 1843)	32. 37

Molluses recorded during the KAP survey of the Calamianes Islands ~~ APPEN PIN 3 3 $^{\circ}$

Cypraea asellus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1. 2, 3, 9, 12, 13, 15, 21, 25, 32
Cypraea argus (Linnaeus, 1758)	I € ° I
Cypraea arabica (Linnaeus, 1758)	
Cypraea annulus (Linnzeus, 1758)	1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14, 17, 19, 31, 32
Family Cypraeidae	
(SC/] (Subsection of the second of the secon	7, 18, 21, 30, 37
Cuputus tiperatus Fease, 1868	67
Family Urepidulidae	
Vexillum Zebuense (Keeve, 1845)	\mathbb{Z}^{+}
(Sci 1, Singer Minn (Linnaeus, 178)	
Vextilium unifascialis (Lamarck, 1811)	C 1
(1101 (11101), 111), 111 / 11 / 111 /	۲
λεχιιιαν εικιδητικ (κεελε: 1845)	
(0061 '330502 EUR 2000) (HEDE SOLO (1200)	/ [
Veximum paindirmans (Omenia, 177)	
(1021 - 1020) unsiliand universe (1021)	+7 'C7 'I
Veximum Oberiscus (Neeve, 1846)	71 71
Verilium nurue (Fedans, 1601)	
Verillium microconnes (connellex, 1017)	91 61 8 6 9
(C+O1 (270207) MARIAN MARINA (C+O1 (270207) (MARIAN) MARIAN	
(201 (201 (201 (201 (201 (201 (201 (201	81
(107) million (107) million (million)	
(U881 - Source)) rantinsocial annihizar	Li
(1901 promition) mutorogroup mullivel	
(118) Agene D munoco mullical	
(1)01 (2000) (1000) (1000) (1000) (1000)	
(2712 (2000) answarpho anility	75
Verillum hernhording (Roding 1798)	
active and a start of the second start of the	
(1971 allows) ways	
Corolling high respect (Kiener 1959)	96 76-66 56 76 66 16 81 51 51 61 6-7
(2201 (Kire 1976)	9¢
Comilionalia erosa (Rodine, 1798)	
Family Coralliophilidae	
Conus vulpinus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	12
Conus vivgo (Linnaeus, 1758)	53, 27, 38
Conus vexillum (Graelin, 1791)	£
Conus textile (Linnaeus, 1758)	10' 12' 21' 29
Conus terebra (Botn, 1780)	5, 25
Conus striatus (Limaeus, 1758)	۶ <u>۲٬۶۶٬۶۲</u>
Conus sterrmuscarum (Linnaeus, 1758)	13' 34
Conus scabriusculus (DIIIwyn, 1817)	53' 54
Conus sanguinolentus (Quoy and Gaimard, 1834)	٤' ٤
Conus rattus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	55
Conus quercinus (Solender, 1786)	51
Conus pulicarius (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792)	8' 6' 10' 51' 35
Conus parius (Reeve, 1844)	77 OT CT 77
COMBS OMBLIG (TTMESS IN TURBRICIC' 1177)	
10071 ensummed at assured ninouro augo	58' 23 S8' 32
Conus obscurus (Sowerby, 1833)	58' 32 12 12
Conus nussatella (Linnaeus, 1758) Conus obscurus (Sowerby, 1833) Conus opscurus (Huner in Rataniera 1702)	55' 57 58' 32 11 55' 57
Conus mussatelinus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792) Conus nussatella (Linnaeus, 1758) Conus obscurus (Sowerby, 1833)	25' 32 55' 32 11 1' 8' 34' 32
Conus musicus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792) Conus mustelinus (Hwass in Bruguiere, 1792) Conus nussatella (Linnaeus, 1758) Conus obscurus (Sowerby, 1833)	13 13 13 13 13 58' 32 11 12 12 12 57' 57 57' 52' 52' 51-52' 51-52' 54' 34' 34' 34' 34' 34' 38 12

APPENDIX 3 Molluscs recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands

Latirus lanceolatus (Reeve, 1847)	51
Latirus kandai (Kuroda, 1950)	38
Latirus irus (Lightfoot, 1786)	SI
Latirus gibbulus (Greelin, 1791)	34
Latirus craticularis (Linnaeus, 1758)	÷ 9
Latirolagena smaragdula (Linnaeus, 1758)	50
Dolicholativus lancea (Gmelin, 1911)	21, 22, 35
Family Fasciolarlidae	
Eulimid sp.	
Family Fulimidae	
.qs allibrudī	2' 8' 6' 10' 13' 19' 55' 51
Placobranchus ocellatus (van Hasseit, 1824)	5' 2' 9' 1' 8' 19' 59' 31
Ge biski S	EI
Elysia aff. ornata (Swainson, 1840)	SE
sebiizy Elysidae	
Platydoris scabra (Cuvier, 1804)	
Iorunna funebris (Kelaart, 1838)	LZ
·ds snioupi	61
.ds pµaßerda sp.	L£
Discodoris boholensis (Bergh, 1817)	01
.çs siroboləndi	se 'te
samily Dorididae	
Cypraea vitellus (Linnaeus, 1758)	10' 14' 19' 53
Opraea ursellus (Gmelin, 1791)	31
Cypraea tigris (Linnaeus, 1758)	3, 17, 24, 36, 37
Spraea testudinaria (Linnaeus, 1758)	71
Sypraea teres (Gmelin, 1791)	01 '6
Sypraea staphylaea (Linnaeus, 1758)	55
Sypraeu saulae (Gaskoin, 1843)	EE.
ypraea quadrimaculata (Gray, 1824)	72
Sypraea punciata (Linnaeus, 1771)	ב, ל, 17
ypraea pallidula (Gaskoin, 1849)	55
Sypraea nucleus (Linnaeus, 1758)	7, 8, 9, 10, 12
Sypraea moneta (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 14, 16, 18, 27
Cypraea microdon (Gray, 1828)	21, 32
ypruea margarita (Dillwyn, 1817)	6[
Sypraea maculifera (Schilder, 1932)	IE
Sypraea lynx (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 3, 4, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14, 15, 17, 18, 22, 23
Sypraea labrolineata (Gaskoin, 1848)	6'£
ypraea kieneri (Hidalgo, 1906)	18
Spruea isabella (Linnaeus, 1758)	7, 9, 18, 24, 28, 29
Typraea helvola (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 2, 3, 10, 13, 23, 24, 29, 35
ypraeu hammondae (Iredaie, 1939)	8
ypraea globulus (Linnaeus, 1758)	L
(1911, 1990)) Spraea fimbriata (Graelin, 1951)	0£
Spraea errones (Linnaeus, 1758)	[Z
Spraea erosa (Linnaeus, 1758)	2' 2' 9' 12' 19' 50' 53' 57' 52' 38
Spraea eglantina (Duclos, 1833)	I' 3' 9' 6' 6' 10' 17' 18' 51' 53' 56' 30' 32' 31
Spraea dayritiana (Cate, 1963)	L£
ypraea cylindrica (Born, 1778)	Z, S, 6, 8, 12, 19, 19, 21, 28, 32
ypraea cribraria (Linnaeus, 1758)	ZU '6 'L
ypraea cicercula (Linnzeus, 1758)	
ypraea cameola (Linnaeus, 1758)	5, 7, 16, 18, 24, 32
(Straed caputserpentis (Linnaeus, 1758)	23, 25, 23 23

Lanca andquin (Carelin, 1791) 20, 23, 30 Latters programs (Smedis, 1391) 2, 10 Latters and (Carelin, 1791) 5, 23, 20, 22, 33, 34 Peristerial (Carelin, 1791) 5, 23, 20, 22, 33, 34 Peristerial (Carelin, 1791) 5, 23, 20, 22, 33, 34 Peristerial (Carelin, 1791) 5, 23, 20, 22, 33, 34 Peristerial (Carelin, 1791) 5, 23, 20, 23, 33, 34 Peristerial (Carelin, 1791) 5, 23, 20, 22, 33, 34 Peristerial (Carelin, 1882) 24, 28 Peristerial (Carelin, 1822) 25, 27 Peristerial (Carelin, 182) 15, 17, 3, 34, 35 Promplex trapection (Lintraces, 1758) 8, 9 Family Fiscarelldas 22 Henridona parkin (Qever, 1850) 23 Peresolidita institution (Angan, 1642) 21 Peristry Hamily Hamologide 24 Hallistitutis summa (Carelin, 1791	SPECIES	SITES
Latters networksin (Checkin, 1791) 2, 10 Latters networksin (Schuber and Wegaer, 1829) 17 Laiturs networksin (Schuber and Wegaer, 1820) 28, 34, 35 Persistenta variation (Devinges, 1830) 28, 34, 35 Persistenta variation (Review, 1842) 24, 28 Persistenta philotin (Review, 1842) 24, 23 Persistenta philoting 15, 17, 37, 34, 35 Personploat transport (Review, 1850) 22 Hennitome parkit (Review, 1850) 22 Personploat transport (Quey and Calmard, 1854) 21 Fundy [Huloidia 17 Fallotist submits (Linaces, 1758) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Haltotist submits (Linaces, 1758) 1, 7, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Haltotist submits (Linaces, 1758) 17 Haltoti	Latirus nodatus (Gmelin, 1791)	20, 23. 30
Lates neuroins encorrenta (Constitut, 192) 5, 22, 30, 32, 33, 34 Peristerina incarata (Constitut, 192) 5, 22, 30, 32, 33, 34 Peristerina incarata (Constitut, 1803) 28, 34, 35 Peristerina incarata (Constitut, 1803) 24, 28 Peristerina incarata (Constitut, 1803) 24, 28 Peristerina incarata (Constitut, 1803) 24, 28 Peristerina incarata (Constitut, 1802) 23, 27 Peristerina incarata (Charasta, 1723) 8, 9 Perandly Elsaverina (Constitut, 1844) 4, 6, 10, 14, 17, 18, 19, 28 Perandy Elsaverina (Constitut, 1834) 21 Pandly Elsaverina (Constitut, 1834) 21 Perandiati institut (Lanaros, 1758) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Perandiati institut (Lanaros, 1758) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 24, 25, 38 Hallotts institut (Lanaros, 1758) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 24, 25, 38 Hallotts institut (Rever, 1845) 17 Hallotts institut (Rever, 1845) 17 Hallotts institut (Rever, 1845) 17 Hallotts institut (Rever, 1845) 14, 12 Hallotts institut (Rever, 1845) 17 Hallotts institut (Rever, 1845) 17 Hallotts institut	Latirus polygonus (Gmelin, 1791)	2,10
Lativas nortus (Gracita, 1991) 5, 23, 26, 32, 33, 34 Peristernia incarnata (Dechaves, 1850) 24, 35 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1868) 24, 28 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1869) 24, 28 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1869) 24 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1869) 22 Panity Fisserellidae 24 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1869) 22 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1869) 22 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1869) 24 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1869) 24 Panity Glavidae 10 Peristernia frada (Pase, 1865) 24 Haliotis (Pase, 1758) 24, 48, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Haliotis (Pase, 1853) 4 Haliotis (Pase, 1855)	Latirus recurvirostris (Schuber: and Wagner, 1829)	17
Persistemia incarque (Deckarys, 1830) 28, 34, 35 Perinternia intrata (Passe, 1868) 24, 28 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1822) 23, 27 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1822) 23, 27 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1822) 23, 27 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1823) 23, 27 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1788) 8, 9 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1788) 8, 9 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1788) 8, 9 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1788) 21 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1788) 21 Persistemia assaulta (Lanseck, 1788) 24, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Persistemia assaulta (Linseck, 1788) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Halloti solution (Ange, 1864) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Persistemia (Social Consella, 1791) 12, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Halloti solution (Ange, 1864) 6 Halloti solution (Ange, 1864) 7 Hallotis solution (Ange, 1864) 7 Hallotis solution (Consella, 1781) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallotis solution (Ange, 1878) 20 Family Hiloponicidae Family Hiloponicidae	Latirus turritus (G:nelin, 1791)	5, 23, 30, 32, 33, 34
Personal literat (Peace, 1988) 24, 28 Peristernia nursatal (Lanuezi, 1982) 23, 27 Peristernia nursatal (Lanuezi, 1981) 15, 17, 2, 34, 35 Perasternia philoetti (Rechar, 1984) 4, 6, 10, 14, 17, 18, 19, 28 Perasternia philoetti (Rechar, 1984) 15, 17, 2, 34, 35 Perasternia philoetti (Rechar, 1984) 21 Pearollo Reve, 1850) 22 Hennitoma paubli (Quoy and Calmard, 1834) 21 Pernedital institution (Angus, 1864) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Panity Chaucidae	Peristernia incarnata (Deshayes, 1830)	28, 34, 35
Perssenia nassaula (Lanacsk, 1822) 23, 27 Peristernia philherii (Reciuz, 1844) 4, 6, (0, 14, 17, 18, 19, 28 Peranglicar fingenias (Reciur, 1850) 8, 9 Perandy Fisserrellidae —————————————————————— Dodore mas (Reve, 1850) 22 Perandy Fisserrellidae ————————————————————————————— Perandicilae Landinia (Angus, 1864) 21 Perandicilae Landinia (Angus, 1864) 21 Perandicilae Landinia (Angus, 1864) 9, (0, 15, 19, 28, 29 Pandly Haudicilae ————————————————————————————————————	Peristernia lirata (Pease, 1868)	24, 28
Persternin philherri (Beckinz, 1944) 4, 6, 10, 14, 17, 18, 19, 28 Pleurophoca filomentona (Roding, 1798) 15, 17, 37, 34, 35 Prinnylbea transpiration (Linzacus, 1758) 8, 9 Family Fissurellidae	Peristernia nassatula (Lamarck, 1822)	23. 27
Pleuroplace Information (Linnaeus, 1758) 15, 17, 3, 34, 35 Primpipose Impectant (Linnaeus, 1758) 8, 9 Dadors mus (Reeve, 1850) 22 Fearing Fisser (Eds) 21 Fearing Fisser (Eds) 21 Fearing Heiner (Linnaeus, 1758) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Fearing Hallowiddae 7 Family Hallowiddae 7 Hallowiddae 7 <	Peristernia philberti (Recluz, 1844)	4, 6, 10, 14, 17, 18, 19, 28
Pleuroplece trapezium (Lineacus, 1758) 8, 9 Family Fissurellidae	Pleuroploca filamentosa (Roding, 1798)	15, 17, 31, 34, 35
Fundity Fisurellidae 22 Didors mis (Reve, 1859) 22 Family Glaucidae 21 Family Glaucidae 21 Family Glaucidae 21 Family Faliotidae 23 Hallott glabar, 1758) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Hallott glabar, Gomein, 1791) 23 Hallott glabar, Gomein, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallott system (Green, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallott system (Green, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallott system (Green, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallott system (Green, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallott system (Green, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallott system (Reve, 1845) 17 Hallott system (Reve, 1845) 17 Hallott system (Reve, 1857) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Family Libpoolidae 1 Hipponix coricus (Schumacher, 1817) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Early Librahy schube (Linnaeus, 1775) 4, 10, 14 Librahy schube (Linnaeus, 1771) 8, 38 Concilla practical (Green, 1827) 2, 2 Inbricaria conso	Pleuroploca trapezium (Linnaeus, 1758)	8,9
Diodora mus (Reeve, 1850) 22 Hernitoma ponki (Quoy and Caimard, 1834) 21 Fernily Glauciclae	Family Fissurellidae	
Hemitroma panhi (Qaoy and Caimard. 1834) 21 Family Glaucidae Perseelidia unthina (Anga, 1864) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Family Haliotidae Perseelidia unthina (Anga, 1864) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Family Haliotidae 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Halioti subra (Gmein, 1791) 2,3 Halioti sovina (Gmein, 1791) 1,2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Halioti sovina (Gmein, 1791) 2,3 Halioti sovina (Gmein, 1791) 1,2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Halioti squamata (Reeve, 1845) 17 Halioti squamata (Reeve, 1847) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Family Hipponicidae 11 Hipponic sociae (Gmelin, 1791) 4, 10, 14 Litterina sociae (Gmelin, 1791) 4, 10, 14 Litterina cocciae (Gmelin, 1791) 8, 38 Cancilla pracematistica (Alumaeus, 1775) 11, 37 Nodilitorina millegrand (Philippi, 1848) 1, 4, 14 Family Mitridae 20 Cancilla pracestantissing (Roding, 1798) 5	Diodora mus (Reeve, 1850)	
Family Glaccidae Percecilia insthine (Argas, 1864) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Percecilia insthine (Argas, 1864) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Halloti science, 1758) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Halloti science, Graedin, 1791) 23 Halloti science, Graedin, 1791) 23 Halloti science, Graedin, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Halloti science, Graedin, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Halloti science, Graedin, 1791) 4 Halloti science, Graedin, 1785) 20 Family Haminoediae	Hemitoma panhi (Ouov and Gaimard, 1834)	21
Prenezidia ianthina (Angas, 1864) 9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29 Family Halloidae Eanity Halloidae Eanity Halloidae Eanity Halloidae Halloit sightara (Gmelin, 1791) 23 Halloit sightara (Gmelin, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Halloit sightara (Sowerb, 1833) 4 Family Hipponicidae 4 Haponix Conicas (Schumacher, 1817) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Family Hittorinalae 11 Earnity Mitriciae 11, 37 Cancilla pracestaritising (Dingle, 1848) 1, 4, 14 Family Mitriciae 5 Cancilla pracestaritising (Roling, 1798) 5 Cancilla pracestaritising (Roling, 1798) 5 Imbricaria convalta (Qov and Gaimach, 333) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria convalta (Qov and Gaimach, 333	Family Glaucidae	
Family Haltotidae Family Haltotidae Halloti sashina (Linnacus, 1758) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Halloti sashina (Gmelin, 1791) 2, 3 Halloti si planata (Goveriy, 1833) 4 Halloti si guardia (Everiy, 1845) 17 Halloti Si guardia (Linnacus, 1758) 20 Family Hipponicidae	Pteraeolidia janthina (Angas, 1864)	9, 10, 15, 19, 28, 29
Hallotis asinina (Littaneus, 1758) 2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38 Hallotis glabra (Gmelin, 1791) 2, 3 Hallotis glabra (Gmelin, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallotis glabra (Sowerby, 1833) 4 Hallotis glabra (Sowerby, 1833) 4 Hallotis glabra (Sowerby, 1833) 4 Hallotis glabra (Linnaeus, 1758) 20 Family Haminookdae	Family Haliotidae	
Hallotis glabra (Gmelin, 1791) 23 Hallotis ovina (Gmelin, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallotis splanata (Sewerby, 1833) 4 Hallotis varia (Linnacis, 1758) 20 Family Linnoisciae	Haliotis asining (Linnaeus, 1758)	2, 4, 8, 16, 19, 34, 35, 38
Hallotis ovina (Gnedin, 1791) 1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35 Hallotis planata (Soverby, 1833) 4 Hallotis squamata (Reeve, 1846) 17 Hallotis squamata (Reeve, 1846) 17 Hallotis viria (Linnaeus, 1758) 20 Family Higponicidae 4 Haminoeidae 4 Hipponix conicus (Schumacher, 1817) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Family Higponicidae 4 Hipponix conicus (Schumacher, 1817) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Family Miritae 4 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1758) 11, 37 Nodificaria nullegrana (Philippi, 1848) 1, 4, 14 Family Miridae 5 Cancilla praestantisina (Roding, 1798) 5 Imbricaria convada (Qaoy and Gaimach, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria oncovada (Qaoy and Gaimach, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 22 Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra aurantia (Gnedin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurantia (Gnedin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurantia (Gnedin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35	Haliotis elabra (Gmelin, 1791)	23
Haltotis squamata (Reeve, 1845) 4 Haltotis squamata (Reeve, 1845) 17 Haltotis squamata (Linnaeus, 1758) 20 Family Haminoeidae	Haliatis oving (Gmelin, 1791)	1, 2, 3, 17, 18, 24, 35
Haltoris sumatai (Revel 1845) 17 Haltoris varia (Linnaeus, 1758) 20 Family Haminoeldae	Haliotis nlanata (Sowerby, 1833)	
Minor System State Haliotis varia (Linnaeus, 1758) 20 Family Haminoeidae 4 Haminoeid sp. 4 Family Elyponicidae 4 Hipponix conicus (Schumacher, 1817) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Family Elitorinidae 4 Littorina coccinea (Gmelin, 1791) 4, 10, 14 Littorina scalar (Linnaeus, 1758) 11, 37 Nodilitorina millegrana (Philippi, 1848) 1, 4, 14 Family Mitridae 6 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) 8, 38 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) 8, 38 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) 8, 28 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) 8, 28 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1791) 1, 4, 14 Family Elyponieus 5 Imbricaria onovula (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra aurona (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra confea (Reeve, 1844) 27 Mitra confea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra confea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21	Haliotis sauamata (Reeve 1846)	
Family Haminooidae 4 Family Hipponicidae	Haliotis varia (Linnaeus, 1758)	2()
Annine Haminedia 4 Family Hipponicidae	Family Haminacidae	
Image of the second s	Haminooid sn	
Import Reported Import Reported Hipponix concises (Schumacher, 1817) 3, 10, 14, 15, 20 Family Littorina coccines (Ginelin, 1791) 4, 10, 14 Littorina scabra (Linnaeus, 1758) 11, 37 Nodilitorina millegrana (Philippi, 1848) 1, 4, 14 Family Mitridae	Family Himonicidae	
Import Contract Import Import Littorina coccinea (Gmelin, 1791) 4, 40, 14 Littorina coccinea (Gmelin, 1791) 4, 10, 14 Littorina scabra (Linnaeus, 1758) 11, 37 Nodilitorina millegrana (Philippi, 1848) 1, 4, 14 Family Mitridae Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) Cancilla praestantissima (Roding, 1798) 5 Inbricaria conovula (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 22 Inbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra aurantia (Gmelin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra auranta (Gwerby, 1874) 1 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra confea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fuetuosa (A, Acans, 1833) 2	Hinnonir conicus (Schumacher 1817)	3, 10, 14, 15, 20
Interime acceleral (Greein, 1791) 4, 10, 14 Littorina coccinea (Greein, 1791) 11, 37 Nodilittorina millegrana (Philippi, 1848) 1, 4, 14 Family Mitridae	Family Littorinidae	
Interview Contents 11.37 Nodilitorina millegrana (Philippi, 1848) 1.4, 14 Family Mitridae	Littarina coccinea (Gmelin 1791)	4. 10. 14
Internet (Construction) 1.4.14 Family Mitridae 2 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) 8.38 Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) 8.38 Cancilla praestantissima (Roding, 1798) 5 Imbricaria conovula (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 22 Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra auronta (Gmeila, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurona (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra nubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra nubriti (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 <td>Littoring scabra (Litraeus 1758)</td> <td>11.37</td>	Littoring scabra (Litraeus 1758)	11.37
Normonia Paris Normalization Family Mitridae Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus, 1771) 8, 38 Cancilla praestantissima (Roding, 1798) 5 Imbricaria conovula (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria olivaeformis (Swainson, 1821) 22 Imbricaria punctata (Sweinson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra aurona (Gonelin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mira aurona (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mira aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mira aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mira chrysalis (Reeve, 1844) 27 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra decongata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra aubarula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) <	Nodilittoring millegrang (Philippi 1848)	1. 4. 14
Ministry (Ministry Signal	Family Mitridae	
Cancilla praestantissina (Roding, 1798) 5 Cancilla praestantissina (Roding, 1798) 5 Imbricaria conovula (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra aurantia (Gmelin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurantia (Gmelin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra coffee (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra coffee (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1821) 23 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 12, 15, 21 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A, Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844)<	Cancilla filaris (Linnaeus 1771)	
Control practional processing of Control (Stating) 0 Imbricaria conovula (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 4, 7, 8 Imbricaria olivaciornis (Swainson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra aurantia (Gruelia, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra confracta (Sweinson, 1820) 21 Mitra confracta (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra confracta (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra confracta (Severe, 1845) 12 Mitra confracta (Severe, 1844) 27 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 12, 15, 21 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra taconica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Mitra taconica (Reeve, 1844) 21	Cancilla proestantissima (Roding 1798)	5
Individual conversional co	Imbricaria conovula (Ousy and Gaimard 1833)	4. 7. 8
Imbritaria divergionali (Swainson, 1821) 23, 27 Mitra aurona (Gowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra chrysalis (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra coffea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra coronata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra tiaconica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neoconcilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Imbricaria alivasfarmis (Swainson, 1821)	22
Mitra aurantia (Gnelin, 1791) 1, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 Mitra aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra chrysalis (Reeve, 1844) 27 Mitra coffea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra coronata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 18:1) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21	Imbricaria punctata (Swainson, 1621)	23 27
Mitra aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra aurora (Sowerby, 1874) 1 Mitra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra chrysalis (Reeve, 1844) 27 Mitra coffea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra coronata (Lamarek, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra sp. 21 Mitra talaanula (Lamarek, 1811) 32 Mitra talaanula (Lamarek, 1811) 32 Mitra nubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra talaanula (Lamarek, 1811) 32 Mitra talaanula (Lamarek, 184) 21	Mitra aurantia (Gmelia, 1791)	1 14 15 17 18 20
Mirra avenacea (Reeve, 1845) 12 Mitra chrysalis (Reeve, 1844) 27 Mitra coffea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra coronata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra nubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra sp. 21 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neoconcilla clatinus (Gmein, 1791) 7	Mitra aurora (Sowerby 1874)	
Mirra decendered (Reeve, 1813) 12 Mitra chrysalis (Reeve, 1844) 27 Mitra coffea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra coronata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra nubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra sp. 21 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra tabanula (Lemarck, 1811) 32 Mitra tabanula (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra avenacea (Reeve 1845)	: 2
Mitra coffea (Schubert and Wagner, 1829) 21 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra coronata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra huctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra chrysalis (Reeve 1844)	27
Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820) 21, 29, 31, 35 Mitra coronata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 18:1) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra coffee (Schubert and Wagner 1829)	21
Mitra connata (Lamarck, 1811) 23 Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1798) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra nubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 18:1) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 7 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844)<	Mitra contracta (Swainson, 1820)	21, 29, 31, 35
Mitra eremitarum (Roding, 1793) 12, 15, 21 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Necompcilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra coronata (Lawarek 1811)	23
Mira continger (Roung) (1950) 2 Mitra fraga (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833) 2 Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra eremitarum (Roding 1798)	12. 15. 21
Mitra luctuosa (A. Adams, 1853) 18, 23 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra sp. 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1841) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neccancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra fraga (Onov and Gaimard 1833)	2
Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra lugubris (Swainson, 1821) 7, 34 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra sp. 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra hatuasa (A. Adams 1853)	18.23
Mitra ingabis (ordanio), 1021) 1, 24 Mitra paupercula (Linnaeus, 1758) 1, 24 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra isp. 21 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra hundris (Swainson 1821)	7.34
Mira rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra rubritincta (Reeve, 1844) 7, 12 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 1811) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra naunarcula (Linnaeus 1758)	1. 24
Mitra sp. 21 Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 18:1) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra rubritincta (Reeve 1844)	7. 12
Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 18:1) 32 Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitro sp	21
Mitra ticaonica (Reeve, 1844) 21 Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra tabanula (Lamarck, 18:1)	32
Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791) 7	Mitra ticagnica (Reeve 1844)	21
	Neocancilla clathrus (Gmelin, 1791)	7

APPENDIX 3

Molluscs recorded during the RAP survey of the Calamianes Islands

SPECIES	SITES
Neocancilla papilio (Link, 1807)	7
Pterygia crenulata (Gmelin, 1791)	
Family Modulidae	
Modulus tectum (Graelin, 1791)	1, 13, 15, 18, 24, 29, 32, 37
Family Muricidae	
Chicoreus axicornis (Lamarck, 1822)	579-178-178-178-178-178-178-178-178-178-178
Chicoreus brunneus (Link, 1810)	4, 8, 12, 13, 16, 17, 19, 21, 23, 32, 34, 38
Chicoreus microphyllus (Lamarck, 1816)	22
Chicoreus penchinati (Crosse, 1861)	
Chicoreus rubiginosus (Reeve, 1845)	7, 21
Chicoreus trigonulus (Lamarck, 1816)	3
Homalocantha scorpio (Linnaeus, 1758)	12, 16, 19
Murex aduncospinosus (Beck, 1841)	1 1 1
Pterynotus barclayanus (A. Adams, 1873)	21, 24, 27, 29
Pterynotus bipinnatus (Reeve, 1845)	22
Family Nassariidae	
Hebra horrida (Dunker, 1847)	ý
Nassarius albescens (Dunker, 1846)	1. 10, 12, 24
Nassarius arcularis (Linnaeus, 1758)	4
Nassarius coronatus (Bruguiere, 1789)	21
Nassarius dorsatus (Roding, 1798)	19
Nassarius glans (Linnaeus, 1758)	24
Nassarius papillosus (Linnaeus, 1758)	15
Nassarius pauperus (Gould, 1850)	10, 26
Nassarius vitiensis (Hombron and Jaccuinot, 1853)	1 1
Family Naticidae	
Eunaticina papilla (Gmelin, 1791)	
Globularia fluctuata (Sowerby, 1825)	9
Natica alapapilionis (Roding, 1798)	8
Natica euzona (Recluz, 1844)	24
Natica gualtieriana (Recluz, 1844)	14
Natica onca (Roding, 1798)	12, 16
Natica stellata (Hedley, 1913)	19
Polinices fibrosus (Souleyet, 1852)	30
Polinices melanostomus (Gmelin, 1791)	4, 8
Polinices sebae (Recluz, 1844)	8, 12, 32
Polinices sordidus (Swainson, 1821)	6
Polinices tumidus (Swainson, 1840)	1, 8, 12, 14, 26, 30
Family Neritidae	
Nerita albicilla (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 4, 9, 10, 14, 17
Nerita balteata (Reeve, 1855)	37
Nerita costata (Gmelin, 1791)	4, 23
Nerita plicata (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 21
Nerita polita (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 10, 14
Nerita reticulata (Karsten, 1789)	
Nerita undata (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 4, 10, 14, 17, 27, 38
Family Olividae	
Oliva annulata (Gmeiin, 1791)	1, 3, 4, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 15, 16, 21-23, 36
Oliva carneola (Gmelin, 1791)	5, 7, 8, 9, 12, 17, 24
Oliva oliva (Linnaeus, 1758)	9
Olivella sp. 1	8, 9, 30
Olivella sp. 2	15
Family Ovulidae	
Calpurnus lacteus (Lamarck, 1810)	22. 24

SPECIES	SITES
Calpurnus verrucosus (Linnaeus, 1758)	4, 8, 15
Ovula ovum (Linnaeus, 1758)	2, 8, 15, 17
Primovula pudica wilsoniana (Cate, 1973)	13
Family Patellidae	
Cellana grata (Gould, 1859)	23
Cellana rota (Gmelin, 1791)	23, 35
Patella flexuosa (Quoy and Gaimard, 1834)	1. 4, 14, 17
Patelloida saccharina (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 4, 10, 14, 17
Patelloida striata (Quoy and Gaimard, 1834)	1, 4, 10, 14, 17
Family Phyllidiidae	
Phyllidia aff. nobilis (Bergh, 1869)	19, 23, 26, 31, 35
Phyllidia coelestis (Bergh, 1905)	7, 20
Phyllidia elegans (Bergh, 1869)	2, 3, 6, 22, 35
Phyllidia nobilis (Bergh, 1869)	9, 10, 16, 17, 19, 20, 23, 24
Phyllidia pustulosa (Cuvier, 1804)	1,4
Phyllidia sp. 1	2, 10, 32
Phyllidia sp. 2	2, 4, 16, 17, 18, 20, 29
Phyllidia zeylanica (Kelaart, 1859)	6
Phyllidiopsis striata (Bergh, 1889)	10
Family Planaxidae	
Planaxis niger (Quoy and Gaimard, 1834)	21
Family Pleurobranchidae	
Pleurobranchus forsskali (Ruppell and Leuckart, 1828)	24
Pleurobranchus sp. 1	13
Pleurobranchus sp. 2	
Family Polyceridae	
Nembrotha cf. kubaryana (Bergh, 1877)	17, 22
Nembrotha lineolata (Bergh, 1905)	6
Tambja affinis (Elliot, 1904)	6, 9, 10, 13, 14, 15, 17, 21, 22, 35, 36, 38
Tambja morosa (Bergh, 1877)	20
Family Pyramidellidae	
Otopleura auriscati (Holten, 1802)	5,7
Otopleura glans (Reeve, 1843)	17
Pyramidella acus (Gmelin, 1791)	22
Pyramidella ventricosa (Guerin, 1831)	12
Family Ranellidae	
Cymatium gutturnium (Roding, 1798)	16
Cymatium hepaticum (Roding, 1798)	22
Cymatium labiosum (Wood, 1828)	7
Cymatium nicobaricum (Roding, 1798)	10
Cymatium pileare (Linnaeus, 1758)	33
Cymatium pyrum (Linnaeus, 1758)	<u>4</u>
Cymatium rubeculum (Linnaeus, 1758)	23, 35
Distorsio anus (Linnaeus, 1758)	10
Gyrineum bituberculare (Lamarck, 1816)	30
Gyrineum cf. jucundum (A. Adams, 1854)	9
Gyrineum gyrineum (Linnaeus, 1758)	5, 4, 7, 8, 16, 21, 22, 28, 29, 31-33, 35, 38
Linatella succincta (Linnaeus, 1771)	20
Septa vespacea (Lamarck, 1822)	1,9
ramily Kissoidae	
Rissoina reticulata (Sowerby, 1824)	<i>LL</i>
Zebina gigantea (Deshayes, 1850)	7, 22

SPECIES	SITES
Family Siliquariidae	
Siliquaria sp.	1999 - 199
Family Stomatellidae	
Stomatella auricula (Lamarek, 1816)	20, 22
Stomatella papyracea (Gmelin, 1791)	22.31.34
Stomatella varia (Adams, 1850)	9.17
Stomatia phymotis (Helpling, 1779)	
Family Strombidae	
Lambis chiragra (Linnaeus, 1758)	2. 9. 13. 16, 18, 20, 29, 34, 35
Lambis lambis (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 3-10, 12, 14-16, 18, 19, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29-32, 34
Lambis millepedes (Linnaeus, 1758)	2, 6, 8, 9, 12, 24, 25, 27, 28, 29
Strombus aurisdianae (Linnaeus, 1758)	8
Strombus bulla (Roding, 1798)	
Strombus canarium (Linnaeus, 1758)	5
Strombus dentatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	20, 22
Strombus dilatatus (Swainson, 1821)	5. 16. 30
Strombus fragilis (Roding, 1798)	31
Strombus gibberulus (Linnaeus, 1758)	38
Strombus lentiginosus (Linnaeus, 1758)	3. 9. 17. 24
Strombus luhuanus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1. 3-10. 14. 17. 27. 32. 33. 38
Strombus microurceus (Kira, 1959)	1, 6, 9, 10, 12, 22, 23, 24, 26, 32, 34
Strombus sinuatus (Humphrey, 1785)	20
Strombus terebellatus (Sowerby, 1842)	7
Strombus urseus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 2, 4-6, 8, 9, 12, 13, 19, 27, 33, 36, 37, 38
Terebellum terebellum (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 3, 5, 9, 15, 18, 30, 31, 33, 37, 38
Family Terehridae	
Terebra affinis (Grav. 1834)	7, 10, 14, 16, 22, 24, 29
Terebra amanda (Hinds, 1844)	4 7 26
Terebra areolata (Link, 1807)	27
Terebra argus (Hinds, 1844)	29
Terebra babylonia (Lemarck, 1822)	27.32
Terebra cumingi (Deshaves, 1857)	16. 17. 32
Terebra felina (Dillwyn, 1817)	10, 13
Terebra funiculata (Hinds, 1844)	12
Terebra guttata (Roding, 1798)	7. 22
Terebra jenningsi (Burch, 1965)	7
Terebra maculata (Linnaens, 1758)	29
Terebra montgomervi (Burch, 1965)	32
Terebra nunctostriata (Grav 1834)	
Terebra auoveaimardi (Cernohorsky and Bratcher 1976)	7
Terebra subulata (Linnaeus, 1767)	5
Terebra undulata (Grav. 1834)	13
Family Thaididae	
Cronia fenestrata (Blainville, 1832)	
Cronia fiscella (Graelin, 1791)	2.1
Cronia funiculus (Wood, 1828)	27. 32
Cronia margariticola (Spring) (Broderin, 1833)	10, 17, 26, 29, 32, 36
Drupa prossularia (Roding, 1798)	2 3 4 13 15-18 20 23 24 29 30 34 36
Drupa marum (Roding, 1798)	22, 23, 35
Drupa ricinus (Linnaeus, 1758)	14. 16. 17. 18. 20. 22. 23. 30. 35
Drupa rubusidaeus (Roding, 1798)	3, 10, 14, 15, 16, 20, 22, 23, 30, 35
Drupella cariosa (Wood, 1828)	2.8
Drupella cornus (Roding, 1798)	1-3. 7, 8, 10, 12, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 22, 24, 26-38
Drupella ochrostoma (Blainville, 1832)	2, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 21, 28

(SCIT 'SUBBRING (ALTONOMORY)	A' 11' 14' 19' 1/
Monodonia calafera (Lamarck, 1816)	()['t
Bolma persica (Dall, 1907)	
Bolma erectospinosa (Habe and Okutan, 1980)	
Astralium calcar (Linnaeus, 1/28)	86, 24, 34, 38
Astraea haemotragum (Menke, 1829)	4' 18' 22' 28' 31' 34' 32
samity Turbinidae	
(1971, 1972) (Gmelin, 1791)	
(1961, 1962) Inocum rota (Dunker, 1962)	/£.17
Trochus maculatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	14' 10' 12' 28' 35
lectus triserialis (Lamarck, 1822)	Ş., A
lectus pyramis (Botn, 1778)	1-3, 7-9, 12, 19, 21, 26-31, 34
Tectus niloticus (Linnaeus, 1767)	SE 'LE '6Z 'LZ '1Z '8
Teerus fenestratus (Gmelin, 1790)	<i>Γ</i> ξ ' <i>Γ</i> Ι ' <i>Α</i> Ι
l'ectus conus (Gmella, 1791)	L1 'SI
Monilea nucleus (Philippi, 1849)	
Euchelus instructus (Gouid, 1849)	I£ '0E
Clunculus sp. 2	SI
Clanculus support	5]
Clanculus atropurpureus (Gould, 1849)	17, 22, 24, 30
Cantharidus picturatus (Adams, 1851)	15, 31
Angaria delphinus (Linnaeus, 1758)	4, 8, 17, 20, 27
sabidiooT ylimsF	
Wvia oryza (Lamarck, 1810)	5' 3' 13' 13' 13' 18' 58' 31' 3 '
əsbiivirf ylims?	
Triphora sp. 1 (red)	
(pink lined)	
Eamily Triphoridae	
ds puuoj	
(8271 submanil) xibroq annol	
fonna galea (Linnaeus, 1758)	
fonna chinensis (D'Ilwyn, 1817)	55
Tonna allium (Dillwyn, 1817)	71
Malea pomum (Linnaeus, 1758)	6
ssbinnoT ylims?	
Viularia milaris (Gmelin, 1791)	25° 36, 35°
Thais tuberosa (Roding, 1798)	18, 20
.ge eiod	
Thais savignyi (Deshayes, 1844)	1
Phais mancinella (Linnaeus, 1758)	20, 23, 27
Thais kieneri (Deshzyes, 1844)	0€
Phais armigera (Link, 1807)	50
Phuis aculeata (Deshayes, 1844)	10, 27
^o urpura persica (Linnacus, 1758)	53
oinaxia versicolor (Gray, 1839)	
Vassa francolina (Brugulere, 1789)	12, 20
Norula uva (Roding, 1798)	3' 10' 11' 18' 53' 56' 30
(SSSI, sunsbA) psonigs phinol	14, 17, 18, 21, 29, 30, 31, 34, 35
Morula parva (Reeve. 1846)	15' 53
Morula nodicostata (Pease, 1868)	
Morula granulata (Ducios, 1832)	01 '1
dorula biconica (Blzinville, 1832)	1, 14, 23
daculoiriton serriale (Deshayes, 1831)	51, 32
Orupella rugosa (Born, 1778)	4, 12, 15
salday	SINS

APPENDIX 3

SPECIES	SITES
Phasianella aff. solida (Born, 1778)	21
Phasianella modesta (Gould, 1861)	24
Turbo argyrostomus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 2, 15, 16, 18, 19, 25, 27, 38
Turbo bruneus (Roding, 1798)	22
Turbo chrysostoma (Linnaeus, 1758)	4, 6, 12, 15, 17, 18, 20, 23, 24, 29-31, 34, 35, 38
Turbo cinereus (Born, 1778)	19, 36
Turbo petholatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 21, 22, 26, 28, 32, 34
Family Turridae	
Clavus lamberti (Montrouzier, 1860)	8
Clavus sp. 1	9
Clavus sp. 2	29
Clavus unizonalis (Lamarck, 1822)	22
Gemmula sp.	36
Lophiotoma acuta (Perry, 1811)	5
Turridrupa astricta consorbrina (Powell, 1967)	15, 21
Turridrupa bijubata (Reeve, 1843)	8
Turridrupa cerithina (Anton, 1839)	22, 27
Turris babylonia (Linnaeus, 1758)	12
Xenoturris cingulifera (Lamarck, 1822)	1, 7, 38
Family Turritellidae	
Archimediella sp.	1, 4, 19, 26, 32, 36
Family Vanikoridae	
Vanikoro cancellata (Lamarck, 1822)	12, 20, 21, 29, 30
Vanikoro helicoidea (Le Guillou, 1842)	32
Family Vasidae	
Vasum ceramicum (Linnaeus, 1758)	14, 18, 20, 22, 23, 32, 36
Vasum turbinellus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1-3, 8-10, 13, 16, 17, 18, 23, 29, 30, 34, 35
Family Vermetidae	
Serpulorbis colubrina (Roding, 1798)	1, 4, 9, 10, 13
Family Volutidae	
Cymbiola rutila (Broderip, 1826)	14, 15
Cymbiola vespertilio (Linnaeus, 1758)	10, 19, 36
CLASS POLYPLACOPHORA	
Family Chitonidae	
Acanthopleura gemmata (Blainville, 1825)	1, 4
Chiton sp. 1	13, 22
Chiton sp. 2	23
Family Cryptoplacidae	
Cryptoplax larvaeformis (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835)	22 32
Cryptoplax sp.	7, 25
Family Ischnochitonidae	
Ischnochiton sp. 1	
Ischnochiton sp. 2	18
CLASS PULMONATA	₩1.9₩9,00%,00%,00%,00%,00%,00%,00%,00%,00%,00
Family Onchidiidae	
Onchidium sp.	17,21
Family Siphonariidae	
Siphonaria javanica (Lamarck, 1819)	4, 17
CLASS SCAPHOPODA	
Family Dentaliidae	
Antalis sp.	12
Dentalium sp.	13

.qs midligO	21	Two specimens collected with rotenone.	<u>\$~0</u>
Brosmophyciops pautzkei Schultz, 1960	34	A single specimen collected with rotenone.	\$\$ \$
BALHILIDVE			
Synodus variegatus (Lacepède, 1803)	5' 3' 1' 6' 10' 51' 51' 30' 35' 33	Moderately common.	OS-S
	55' 53' 52' 56' 58' 31-32' 38		
Synodus dermatogenys Fowler, 1912	1' 3' 4' 9'8' 10' 15-12' 12-50'	Moderately common.	52-1
Saurida gracilis (Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)	9't	Rate, only two seen.	SEI-1
AND			
Plotosus lineatus (Thunberg, 1787)	5" 1" 10" 15" 55" 53" 56" 30" 35	Schools of juveniles occasionally seen.	1-50
HADISOTO,19			
Spratelloides gracilis (Temminck and Schlegel, 1846)	24 1 15 14 11	Abundant at several sites.	≉-0
CUUPEIDAE			A President
Gorgasia sp.	01	Colony containing about 100 fish seen.	કદ કા
CONCREDVE			
		from the sand.	The second of
.qs suthrindQ	51	gaiburrord bash ati ditw bangia laubivibni saO	
Muraenichthys gymnotus Bleeker, 1864	L1	A single specimen collected with rotenone.	\$-0
OPHICHTUDAE			
Rhinomuraena quaesita Garman, 1888	SE	Rare, one individual seen.	05-1
Gynnothorutx Sp. 2		A single specimen collected with rotenone.	10.20
[ds холоцюшия9	<u>. 17</u>	A single specimen collected with rotenone.	6-3
Gymnothorax meleagris (Shaw and Nodder, 1795)	01	Rare, one individual seen.	01:1
Gymnothorax Javanicus (Bleeker, 1865)	10, 24	Rare, only two adults seen.	05-5.0
Gymnothorux fimbriatus (Bennett, 1831)	t/	A single specimen collected with rotenone.	0:30
Echidna nebulosa (Thunberg, 1789)	14	Several small juveniles collected with rotenone.	01-1
WORKENIDAE			
Movingua microchir Bleeker, 1853	L1	A single specimen collected with rotenone.	3-20
MORINGUIDAE			
Manta birostris (Walbaum, 1792)	3' 50	Rare, two seen on the surface.	001:0
MOBULIDAE			
Taeniura lymma (Forsskål, 1775)	30	Rare, a single individual sighted.	5 30
Dasyatis kuhili (Müller and Henle, 1841)	5" +" 12" 11" 50" 58	Occasional.	0\$ Z
DVSAVLIDIDVE			
SPECIES	SULE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

Aulostomus chinensis (Linnaeus, 1766)	1"+", "," 10, 17, 20, 28		2155
ANDAROALSOAN			and the second second second
Sargocentron spiniferum (Forsskål, 1775)	4' 1-10' 55' 53' 31' 35' 34	Occasional.	2-155
Sargocentron rubrum (Forsskål, 1775)	15' 18' 51' 54' 90' 31' 33' 34	Occasional.	0+0
Sargocentron melanospilos (Bleeker, 1858)	1, 10, 13, 18, 34	Occassional.	81-6
Sargocentron diadema (Lacepède, 1802)	The second se	Rare, only one seen.	2-30
Sargocentron corrutum (Bleeker, 1853)	1, 14, 17, 22	Occasional.	05-9
Sargocentron caudimaculatum (Rüppell, 1835)	02	Rare, only one seen.	
Neoniphon sammara (l'orsskål, 1775)	J-3* 8' 10' 1+' 36	Occasional.	5-20
Neoniphon opercularis (Valenciennes, 1831)	<u>t'I</u>	Rare, only five seen.	3-50
Myripristis violacea Bleeker, 1851	5" 1" 8" 10" 13-11 30" 53" 51 30" 31	Occasional.	0E-E
Myripristis murdjan (Forsskâl, 1775)	1' 11' 50' 55 54' 30' 31' 34	Occasional.	071
Myripristis kuntee Valenciennes, 1831	1' 5' 14' 50-55' 56	Occasional.	08-5
Myripristis hexagona (Lacepède, 1802)	5+1 11' 50-35" 54' 52" 58' 30' 31	Occasional.	0+01
Myripristis berndti Jordan and Evermann, 1902	50	Rare, about five seen.	\$ 5 -8
HOLOCENTRIDAE			
Zenarchopterus dispar (Valenciennes, 1847)	56° ZE *6E *92	Occasional on edge of mangroves or in brackish water.	0.5
Hyporhamphus dussumieri (Valenciennes, 1846)	2 [°] 34	Occasional.	Jounniws oberine
		rarchy seen.	vert gesternet ge
Hemirhamphus far (Forsekål, 1775)	8£ "cc	A school of 300-400 fish seen at site 22, otherwise	surface swittener
HEMIKVMBHIDVE			
Tylosurus crocodilus (Lesuer, 1821)	1' 4' 9' 11' 55' 38	Occasional.	surface waters
		30 individuals seen.	
Strongylura leiura (Bleeker, 1850)	6' 51' 36' 38	Occasional, several schools containing up to about	surface swittenter
BELOUIDAE			and a part of the
Veostethus borneensis Herre, 1939	<u>it</u>	Common among mangroves at one site.	sumers where
PHALLOSTETHIDAE			
Hypoathevina temminckii (Bleeker, 1853)	/£'†I	Common next to mangroves at Site 37.	0-1
ATHERINIDAE			
Diademichthys lineatus (Sauvage, 1883)	61 '91 '9	Rare, only three individuals seen.	3*50
COBIESOCIDVE			
anna an an ann an ann an ann ann ann an		with rotenone.	an a
Histiophryne cryptacanthus (Weber, 1913)	LZ	bstooffoo deft laneaun bus one sidt to nomicoge olgnis Λ	-06-1
Antennarius dorehensis Bleeker, 1859	11	A single specimen collected with rotenone.	6-1
VALEANVEILDAE			
SPECIES	SULE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	(m) HI93U

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	86-96 '96-16		
(Sephalopholis microprion (Bleeker, 1852)	27-57 77 11 17 17 18 25 57 52	Moderately common.	3-30
(Kuhl and Van Hasselt, 1828)	38° 'SE 'PE		
Cephalopholis examsiseme	1* 5* 4* 2* 10* 14' 35* 54' 59' 58'	Occasional	S€-7
Cephalopholis boenack (Bloch, 1790)	5" 1" 8" 6" 19" 18" 51-53" 56-38	Moderately common.	1-50
Anyperodon leucogrammicus (Valenciennes, 1828)	2' 9' 8' 16' 59	Occasional.	0S-S
Aethaloperca rogga (Forsskäl, 1775)	01 <i>°L</i>	Rare, only two seen.	1-22
SERRANDAE			
Psammoperca waigiensis (Cuvier, 1828)	\$1	Rare, a single fish sighted.	5-30
CENTROPOMIDAE			
Cymbacephalus beauforti Knapp, 1973	61	Rare, only one seen.	5-15
BEVLAGEBHVEIDVE			e en
Synanceja verrucosa Bloch and Schneider, 1801	14	One specimen collected with rotenone.	\$1-F
SYNANCEIIDAE			
Synanceja verrucosa Bloch and Schneider, 1801	14	One specimen collected with rotenone.	SI-1
Scorpaenopsis oxycephala (Bleeker, 1849)	87	Rare, only one seen, but very difficult to detect.	012-1
Prevois volitans (Linnaeus, 1758)	1' 8' 6' 52' 58-30' 35' 34' 38	Occasional and always in small numbers.	05-2
Pterois antennata (Bloch, 1787)	4' 9' 10' 50' 51	Occasional and always in small numbers.	(15) (15)
Parascorpaena picta (Cuvier, 1829)	12, 51	Two specimens collected with rotenone.	¢1-0
Dendrochirus zebru (Cuvier, 1829)	8' 16' 54' 52' 36	Occasional.	02-1
SCORPAENIDAE			
		during night dive.	
Trachyrhamphus bicoarctata (Bleeker, 1857)	30	Rare, a single specuren captured with dip net	CI-1
ds sndwooddy.	13	Rare, one specimen collected by hand.	01-7
Doryrhamphus daetyliophorus (Bleeker, 1853)	12.'61	Rare, two individuals seen.	96-1
Corythoichthys ocellatus Herald, 1953	95' 33	Rare, only five seen.	DE-7
Corythoichthys intestinulis (Ramsay, 1881)	50	Rare, one pair sighted.	67-1
Acentronura tentaculata Günther, 1870	15	A single specimen collected by hand.	71-7
HAGHTIANONYS	- Charles and the second s		
Centriscus scutatus I innaeus, 1758	21, 38	Two schools signed, each containing 20-20 fish.	
Aeoliscus strigatus (Günther, 1860)	4 31	Kare, only about 10 seen on all dives.	08-1
CENTRISCIDAE			
Fistularia commersoni Rüppell, 1835	86.6	Karc, only two scen.	
EISTULARIDAE			OULU
SHECIES		THERMORY	

67

	сопестео агелиной такие, любе то полновых яглесо сопестео агелиной такие, яюбе то полновых яглесо during survey, регизание агели		
J-t	An extremely rare species known only from the holotype	<i>L</i> Z '61	Labracinus atvofasciatus (Hette, 1933)
Contraction of the second			BSEADOCHROWIDVE
SET	Rafte.	3, 10	Paracirrhites forsteri (Schneider, 1801)
58-1	Rare.	1-3' 6' 10	Paracirrhites arcatus (Cuvier, 1829)
6 -0	Rate.	10' 13' 50' 51' 56	Cirrhitus pinnulatus (Schneider, 1801)
Şirt	Down only one seen.	33	Cirrhitichthys falco Randall, 1963
5-12	uəəs əuo Aluo		1) K ¹¹ snishnøl) ulunnnnid snithvinyldmh
			CIRRHITTDAE
\$778	Rare, several adults seen.	2	Pseudanthias tuka (Herre and Montalban, 1927)
7-50	Rare, an aggregation with about 10 fish seen	1)2	Pseudanthias squanipinnis (Peters, 1855)
081-\$1	Rare, a solitary juvenile seen.	zero literatura esta de la composición en estas de la composición de la composicinde la composición de	Pseudanthias pleurotaenia (Bleeker, 1857)
01-01	Rate, only a few juveniles seen.	KO O K	Pseudanthias hypselosoma Bleeker, 1878
30-00	Rare, an aggregation of about 10 fish seen.	50	Pseudanthias hutomoi Allen, 1976
		52' 56' 31' 34' 32	
4-50	Moderately common.	1' 3' 4' 4-10' 13' 14' 19' 50' 51'	Pseudanthias huchtü (Bleeker, 1857)
1×10	Rare, less than 10 seen.		Plectropomus oligocanthus (Blecker, 1854)
5:30	Occasional, only juveniles seen.	1, 2, 16, 28, 37	Plectropomus maculatus (Bloch, 1790)
		341.32	
3-100	Moderately common, but only juveniles seen.	4' 6-8' 13-12' 11' 50' 51' 53-31'	Plectropomus leopardus (Lacepède, 1802)
06-50	Rare, only two seen.	. 30' 33	Grammistes sextimentus (Thunberg, 1792)
06.0	Rare, a single adult seen during night div	<u>30</u>	Epinephelus undulosus (Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)
- 373 6 -	Rare, only one seen.	- [3	E201 , 21 and 2 an
	Rare, less than 10 seen.	5' 4' 14' 19' 38	Ppinephelus ongus (Bloch, 1790)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Occasional,	5" 3" 6" 10" 15" 13" 16" 11" 50" 55" 56	Еріперіешя тета Віосі, 1793
3-10	Rare, less than 10 seen.	<u> 6' 10' 11' 30' 33</u>	Epinephelus hexagonatus (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)
091-1	Occasional,	3' 6' 10' 13' 18' 50' 53' 54' 59	Epinephelus fasciatus (Forsskäl, 1775)
SIR .	Rate, only one seen.	4	Epinephelus corallicola (Kuhl and Van Hasselt, 1828)
9-300	Rare, only two seen.	55' 30	Epinephelus areolatus (Forsekål, 1775)
5.72	Common.	+ 9-10, 17-22, 26-32, 35-37	Diploprion bifasciatum Cuvier, 1828
5-40	Rare, less than six juvenile fish sighted.	16'06'30	Cromileptes altivelis (Valenciennes, 1828)
95.1	Rare, only two seen.	01.0	Cephalopholis urodeta (Schneider, 1801)
051.5	Rare, only one seen.	2	Cephalopholis miniata (Forsskill, 1775)
DEPTH (m)		SILE RECORDS	SPECIES

CONTRACTOR AND A CONTRACT	607 417 507 10 401 101 101 107 50 50	TO THE REPORT OF	07-7
			01-1
FI 61 PS81 13433[<u>8</u> shundoshidy hosody	SE YE LE OL VI CL	Moderately common in mangrove menue in one suc	7-0
C281 radeal8 visuances nosonA	<u></u>	Moderately common this management with an one site	<u> </u>
86.01 (7001, anearray?] bue nebrol.) sizmaiuwa mason	86.61	Rare only a few second	
Aposon bandanensis Bleeker, 1854	81 91 11 92 12 91 8	Occasional but locally common	01.5
VEOCONIDVE		an in also it with the test with the last the base weather the statement of the statements of the	- Andrews Williamster and an and an
Priacanthus hamrur (Forsskål, 1775)	LLLLLLL	Rare, only three seen.	08.5
BRICANTHIDAE	and the second	anna an an Anna	
61 2. ds suthangoisigo	61	Rare, only one seen.	10:30
H. C. 2 1. ds surfimugotsidO	5' 3' 39	Rare.	05-01
(8061	and the second		STATES OF STREET, STRE
Opistognathus dendriticus (Jordan and Richardson, 2, 6-8,	7' 9'8' 14' 19' 11' 36' 30' 31	Occasional.	07-0
OPISTOGNATHIDAE			
Plesiops coeruleolineatus Rüppell, 1835	14, 12, 34	Several collected with rotenone.	1:15
Calloplesiops altivelis (Steindachner, 1903) [4, 19	61 '71	Rare, only two seen.	St-5
PLESIOPIDAE			
Pseudoplesiops knighti Allen, nolla intgind sqoisolqobuse	17	Several collected with rotenone.	<u>55-25</u>
Pseudoplesiops annae (Weber, 1913) 21, 34	51" 34	Several collected with rotenone.	\$C*P
Pseudochromis tapeinosoma Bleeket, 1853	<u></u>	Several collected with rotenone.	8.0
Pseudochronits sp. 2.42	34	A single juvenile seen.	\$7-\$
		Islands and the northwest tip of Panay Island. Common in rubble habitats below 20 m depth on the west side of the Calamianes.	
CC-81 I. ds simord sobus?	18-55, 27-31, 36, 38	An undescribed species known only from the Calamianes	01-51
Pseudochromis ransonneti Steindachner, 1870 19 28	86 '96 '87 '61	Rare.	57.5
Pseudochromis perspicillatus Günther, 1862	2' 15' 19' 55' 30' 33	Occasional.	3 30
Pseudochromis moorei Fowler, [93]	5.8	Rare, only two seen.	01-01
SE-DE	\$0 ⁻ 05		
Pseudochromis fuscus (Müller and Troschel, 1849) 4,2,4	1' 5' + 6' 15' 14' 19' 19' 51' 51' 51'	Moderately common.	1-30
96 °th	34, 36 38		
Pseudochronnis diadema Lubbock and Randall. 1978 1.4, 8-	1-4' 8-10' 19' 11' 55-54' 59' 58 35'	Moderately common around ledges at the base of slopes.	05/01
Pseudochromis cyanotuenia Bleeker, 1857	50	Rarely seen, but cryptic.	3°50
Pseudochronus bitaeniatus (Fowler, 1931) 1.3,4,	1'3' 4' 8' 13' 34	Occasional.	08-2
Labracinus cyclophthalmus (Müller and Troschel, 1849)	.5' 1' 8' 13-12' 11-54' 56' 56-31' 38	Moderately common.	97-1
SPECIES SPECIES	SITE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

Pogon sealei (Howler, 1918)	7' 15' 12' 10' 50' 30	Occasional	215
Apogon sangiensis Bleeker, 1857	15 77 31	Occasional, usually near or among seagrass.	\$1-50
Apogon parvulus (Smith and Radeliffe, 1912)	1' 2' 8' 15' 14-19' 31' 50' 38' 30-33	Occasional, but locally common.	1-50
Apogon ocellicaudus Allen, Kuiter, and Randall, 1994		Rare, a group of about 10 seen.	\$\$-11
E201, Schuhz Schuhz, 1953	lγ.	Rue, only one scen.	56-7
		of Lake Cayangan.	
		egbe off grote reserves to strong of a second of the second strong the second	이 가 가 많다. 것이 같이
1910 South and Radeliffe, 1912		vləvitanət (Al mə 4 ylətamizotqqa) dail əvit modA	06-1
	37 33 36 38		
1994 Allen, Kuiter, and Randall, 1994	5' TC 15' 18' 18' 18' 51' 51' 51' 71'	Moderately common.	\$2:01
Apogon nanus Allen, Kuiter, and Randall, 1994	10' 51' 53' 30' 33	Occasional, but locally common.	07-5
Apogon multilineatus Bleeker, 1865	£1	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	Sec. 54
Apogon moluccensis Valenciennes, 1832	SE	Rate.	SE-S
Apogon margaritophorus Bleeker, 1854	82 'Z?	Occasional, close to shore among Sargassum clumps.	191
Apogon leptacanthus Blecker, 1856	90 'S	Occasional among branching corals.	ZI-1
Ppogon lateralis Valenciennes, 1832	33	Rate.	7-50
1005on kiensis Jordon and Snyder, 1901	31	Kare.	ς ς -ς
Apogon kallopterus Bleeket, 1856	05.01.11	Rare.	\$ 5 2
		at three sites. Mainly juveniles seen.	an a
pogon hoeveni Bleeker, 1854	12'51'30	Occasional, but locally common in sand-tubble babilat	SC-1
Apogon hartzfeldi Bleeker, 1852	34	Rare, only four seen.	01-1
Apogon guamensis Valenciennes, 1832	14, 11, 29	Several specimens collected with rolenone.	8-0
(0161, sheet) inifiting nogod	78-30	Rare, about 10 seen.	**************************************
100800 franssedar Allen. Kuiter, and Randall, 1995	85	Rare, two specimens collected with multi-prong spear.	0t~E1
1961, thim? silizary nogod	2'8'15'19'54'30	Occasional.	<u>51-1</u>
1998 Martines Valenciennes. 1832	+ 1.2° 15' 12' 30' 35	Occasional.	Sec. 6. 56-6
		juveniles seen.	
Apogon fleurieu (Lacepède, 1802)	16'77'31	Moderately common at some sites, but usually	06-5
10080n exostigma Jordan and Starks, 1906	t 1	Kare.	50.5
Apogon endektaenia Bleeker, 1852	38	Rate, about five seen.	06-5
(pogon doryssa (Jordan and Seale, 1906)	34	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	02-5
1908on crassiceps Garman, 1903		Several specimens collected with rotenone.	<u>\$1-0</u>
1989 rookii Macleay, 1881	IS '65 'L1 'P1	Several specimens collected with rotemone.	8-1
becies	SILE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	(พ) ผมสก

SE'S.	Occasional.	35, 75	Siphamia elongata Lachner, 1953
2-50	Occasional.	12 12 91 11 6 8 5 7	Rhabdamia gravilis (Blecker, 1856)
and the second			Lachner and Fraser, 1985
7-01	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	51	Pseudamia hayashi Randall.
- 01-1	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	12	Pseudamia gelatinosa Smith, 1955
\$1-1	Two specimens collected with rotenone.	13	Gymnupogon philippinus (Herre, 1939)
S1-0	Several specimens collected with rotenone.		Fowleria aurita (Valenciennes, 1831)
01+\$0	Rare, only one seen.	71	Foa brachysramma (Jenkins, 1903)
		85-96 76-16	
	Moderately common.	4' 2' 1' 14' 16' 31' 34' 39' 38'	Cheilodipterus zonatus Sinith and Radeliffe, 1912
519	Rare, only one seen next to mangroves.	30	Cheilodipterus singapurensis Bleeker, 1859
	Calamian Group: also present in Lake Cayangan.		
0 2-1	Common, the most abundant species of cardinalitish in the	1-10' 15-16' 31' 53-34' 26-38	Cheiledipterus quinquelineatus Cuvier, 1828
		36, 28, 32, 34, 36, 38	• Provide Contraction (Contraction) (Cont
4-30	Moderacty common.	5-4' 8' 10' 15-18' 11' 18' 50' 55-54	Cheilodipterus macrodon Lacepède, 1801
		<u>31' 35' 38</u>	
SI-E	Moderately common.	4.6.14-16, 21, 22, 24, 26, 28, 29	Cheilodipterus artus Smith, 1961
\$7 I	Rare.	1, 4, 21, 31	Cheilodipterus alleni Gon, 1993
	shehering among branching corals.	86 '69 '76	
51.7	Occasional, but sometimes seen in large numbers	21 1 81 151 141 161 511 562 511 56	Archumia zosterophora (Bleeker, 1858)
SI-S	Rare.	15	Archania macropterus (Cuvier, 1828)
09-6	Occasional, but locally common.	# 1. 15' 14' 19' 50' 21' 50 34' 31' 38	Archamia fucata (Cantor, 1850)
81-\$	Oceasional.	15, 31	Archamia biguttata Lachner, 1951
		\$0-35° 34	
0 1 -£	Oceasional.	¢' \0° 15' 12' 19' 51-5¢' 59' 58'	Apogon wassinki Bleeker, 1860
			Allen, Kuiter, and Randall, 1994
\$£-\$	Rare.	\$1 °71	sm p is p finnən no $8 o d \gamma$
5-10	Occasional.	06, 35, 25, 12, 81, 71, 51, 6, 10	Apogon trimaculatus Cuvier, 1828
0-0	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	11	Apogon timorensis Bleeker, 1873
7°50	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	-44	8001 taeniophorus Regan, 1908
17-52	Kare, two specimens collected with rotenone.	51	7 ds no8ody
5.5	Occasional.	35* 33* 30=38	[∙ds uo8odγ
		86 'ZE ' TE CE	
\$£ 07	Moderately common,	4' J 14' 19' 51' 55' 58' 30'	Apogon selas Randall and Hayashi. 1990
DEALH (m)	VBUNDANCE	SITE RECORDS	SHECIES

rewrded

RAP

101

		at one site.	
Lutjanus rufolineutus (Valenciennes, 1830)	G T	Rarely seen, but aggregation of about 30 fish seen	05-21
Lutjanus rivulatus (Cuvier, 1828)		Rare, only one seen.	5-100
		.noos slaubivibui llame	
(0071, doola) sutus anno (0071, 1700)	4, 8, 12, 21	Occasional, but locally common, although only	06-8
Lutjams monostigma (Cuviet, 1828)	3° 13' 38	Rare, about six seen.	09-5
Lutjanus gibbus (Forsskål, 1775)	ν <i>č</i>	Rare, one adult seen.	01-9
Lutjanus fulvus (Schneider, 1801)		Rare, one adult seen.	01-2
(cll1 distriction (Forsekal, 1775)	06 '62 '42-12 '81 '51 '11 '6 '2 '4	Occasional	<u>56-1</u>
Lutjanus decussatus (Cuvier, 1828)	54° 97 76-13 61-71 01 '6 L'9 'F7	Moderately common.	08-3
Lutjanus carponotatus (Richwdson, 1842)	9-8' 19-50' 53-30' 35' 32-38	Moderately common.	55-2
Lutjanus bohar (Forskål, 1775)	10' 15' [4	Rare, three juveniles seen.	081-+
Lutjanus biguitatus (Valenciennes, 1830)	3-6, 8, 17, 21, 22, 24 30, 36 38	Модегансту соттор.	07.5
Aprion virescens Valenciennes, 1830	<u> </u>	Rare, a single adult seen.	3-100
TUTIAN	and the second	андарны аланан алана _{и с} ар сайлана су жи самаса с 1979 жили на актиристи и техники с 1979 жили техника то с 2079 жили с	
na analasha 1947 - Tapara a samma a sama ar saran an ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang an		in 20 depth.	an a suite de la constante de La constante de la constante de
.ds snihnnsvis I	\mathcal{B}	beingis resident beniumstehen na to selinevul laves.	57-1
TEIOCAVLHIDVE		антанан та тараларията с саланарията параметрика даранан кака саланан кака кака кака кака кака кака как	
Selar crumenophthalmus (Bloch, 1793)		A single school containing over 1000 half grown fish scen.	021-1
Caranx melampygus Cuviet, 1833	13	Rare, only two adults seen.	061-1
адарын 201 каналдан улушунун кау кулатанын жиландуууу каналыкан каланалыктаа таталарын каналыкан каланалык. Кат		during the survey, except for manta rays.	in a la serie de la serie La serie de la s
Carunx ignobilis (Forsekäl, 1775)	6	One sighted, about 100 cm length; the largest fish seen	5-80
Carangoides plagiotaenia Bleeker, 1857	3'4' 9' 8' 14' 59' 37' 39	Occasional, usually half grown fish encountered.	002-5
(Jordan and Gilbert, 1882)	an a	ананананан соот соотвение со живолисто – Иническо нима россиро, с ослотите селиманение у соотвение с живалисто с	
summazothvo vəbiognava.)	3* 50	Two adults seen.	3-168
Carangoides ferdau (Forsekål, 1775)	8	One school containing six fish sighted.	5 40
Carangoides bajad (Forsekål, 1775)	8, 12, 20	Rare, and only small fish seen.	06-5
Atule mate (Cuvier, 1833)	51	A school containing about 200 adults sighted.	05-2
CVBVNCIDVE			
Echeneis naucrates Linnaeus, 1758	<u>06</u>	Rare, only one seen.	0-30
ECHENEIDVE		an former of the second s	
Sphaerwnin orbicularis (Cuvier, 1828)	86 ZE EE	Occasional among mangrove roots; common at site 37.	£-0
Sphueramia nematoptera (Bleeker, 1856)	2* 56' 51' 33' 36' 31	Occasional, but locally common, especially at sites 36-37.	8-1
Siphamia versicolor (Smith and Radclifte, 1911)	66	Common at one site among spines of Asthenosomu varium.	\$£-5
SPECIES	SILE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

Lethrinus atkinsoni Seale, 1909	10' 19' 18' 18' 16' 31' 30' 35' 32	Occasional, mainly juveniles seen.	\$1°£
Cymnocranius griseus (Schlegel, 1841)	06.001.11	Rare.	08-01
		.¢1 site 14.	
Gnathodentex aurolineatus Lacepède, 1802	11.14	Occasional, one aggregation containing 30-40 fish	1-30
TELHBINDVE			
Plectorhinchus polytaenia (Bleeker, 1852)	38, 38	Rare, only two seen.	Str 8
Plectorhinchus orientalis (Bloch, 1793)	05, , 11	Rare, only two seen.	0E-E
Plectorhinchus lineatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	2' 10' 14' 58	Rare, only five seen.	5-40
Plectorhinchus lessoni (Cuvier, 1830)	7, 8, 14, 22, 30, 31, 38	Occasional.	<u>Ş£-Ş</u>
Plectorhinchus chaetodontoides (Lacepède, 1800)	5' 10' 14' 12' 16' 51' 31	Occasional.	01-1
.ds munusmid	8' 15' 12 13' 39	Occasional.	0£ #
IVEMENDVE			
Gerres overa (Forsekál, 1775)	<u>6</u>	Rare, only three seen.	0-10
Gerres argyreus (Schneider, 1801)	35' 31	Occasional on sand bottoms.	⊊-0
CERREIDAE			Wales as described
Pterocuesio trilineata Carpenter, 1987	01	A single school with about 20-30 fish scen.	061
Prerocaesio tile (Cuviet, 1830)	11 10: 501 30	Occasional, four schools seen.	09-1
Pterocaesio tessellata Carpenter, 1987	52	Rare, several seen at one site.	SC-T
Pterocaesio randulli Carpenter, 1987	86	Rare, several juveniles seen in 35 m depth.	58-S
Plenocaesio pisang (Bleeker, 1853)	91.1	Two schools encountered.	SS-1
Prenocaesio marvi Schultz, 1953	1*3*1/10*30	Occasional, but locally common.	SE-I
Pterocaesio digramma (Bleeker, 1865)	86 '56 '36' 31' 34' 33' 38	Occasional, but locally common.	1-52
Plerocuesto chrysozonus (Cuvier, 1830)	0 6	A single school with about 30 individuals encountered.	(Mr-S
Caesio teres Scale, 1906	6' 10	Occasional, two schools sighted.	01/1
Caesio hunaris Cuvier, 1830	4	Rare, only a few juveniles seen.	SE-I
Caesio cuning (Bloch, 1791)	3-8' 15-19' 16-51' 23-35' 32-38	Common, usually seen in schools.	08-1
		juveniles seen.	
Caesio caerulaurea Lacepède, 1802	8' 10' 14' 54' 58' 39	Occasional, but sometimes locally common; usually	06-1
CVERIONIDAE			and a second
Symphorus nematophorus (Bleeket, 1860)	35	Rare, only one seen.	05-5
Macolor macularis Fowler, 1931	5.41.201.61.21	Occasional	0 5 -£
Lutjanus vitta (Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)	££	Rare, only one seen.	01-8
Lutjanus russelli (Blecket, 1849)	<u>/E 'tE '06 "17</u>	Occasional	08-1
SPECIES	SILE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	(w) HI930

103

Reef fishes

(1081, ebboqerus (1.acepeder)) sumrodub anonyu	56-37' 34' 32' 38 1-7' 10' 14' 14' 19' 18' 50-55' 54'	Moderately common.	001-1
arupeneus barberinoides (Lacepède, 1801)	1" 5" 1" 14" 54" 58" 56" 35" 33" 38	Occasional, except relatively common at site 28.	02-1
Aultoidichthys vanicolensis (Valenciennes, 1831)	£1	Rate, only two seen.	EI11
Aulloidichthys flavolineatus (Lacepède, 1802)	4' 9' 8' 15' 12' 19' 35' 35' 38	Occasional.	0Þ~l
MITTOVE		999-1499-1499 - 2017 - 999-1499-1499-1499-1499-1499-1499-149	
Анбананан (4). ИМ <u>аналагын СОМОН А</u> лалан Албай Байлан (10) уууу сайтаган тоолоо байлар ууу ууулар (10) болоо тоолоо байлар байлага (10)	and the second	below 20 m depth.	
colopsis xenochrous (Günther, 1792)	se '21	Occasional on mainly rubble bottoms, usually	0S-S
Kuhl and Van Hasselt, 1830)		ан таланан канан талан талан талан талан талар улан талан	
sistopos	95 '05 '57 '57' 58' 30' 30	Occasional.	05-5
colopsis margaritifer (Cuvier, 1830)	1-3" 2-8" 13" 14" 16-55" 54-30" 32-38	Common.	5.20
	Þ£	areas exposed to moderate surge.	
colopsis lineatus Quoy and Gaimard, 1824	1-3' 6' 6' 1+18' 33-54' 56' 38-31'	Common in very shallow water near shore in	01-0
	35-34' 36-38		
colopsis ciliatus (Lacepède, 1802)	4" 8' 15' 14-16' 51' 55' 54' 59-30'	Common on silted reefs.	061
colopsis bilineatus (Bloch, 1793)	1-10' 15-38	Common.	3-30
	36 31 38		
scolopsis affinis Peters, 1876	5' 4' 8-10' 12' 14-16' 55' 54' 59'	Moderately common in sand-rubble environment.	89 -5
(1971, Asolatus trivitatus (Bloch, 1991)	1' 5' 2-1' 0' 10' 15-54' 56-34' 36-38	Moderately common.	<u>91-1</u>
	35° 36°31° 34°39		
entapodus sp. (see Russell, 1990, page 91)	1-4' 6' 1' 15-14' 11' 18' 55'	Moderately common.	SZ 8.
² entapodus setosus (Valenciennes, 1830)	1, 10, 55, 54, 58, 59	Occasional and always in small numbers.	2~#0
Pentapodus bifasciatus (Bleeker, 1848)	86-96 "26" 16" 16"	Occasional and always in small numbers.	5-15
NEWILLEKIDVE			
Monotaxis grandoculis (Forsekål. 1775)	6-9 °t °1	Occasional.	001-1
0E81 , sonnoionoleV sutugoinne sunintia.	8	Rare, but its habitat (sand-weed) not properly surveyed.	1-10
ethrinus ornatus Valenciennes, 1830	11, 35	Rare, less than five seen.	3150
Athrinus obsoletus (Forsskäl, 1775)	86, 15, 16, 38	Occasional.	5 30
ethrinus microdon Valenciennes, 1830	[[9]	Rare, only two seen.	0.8
ethrinus harak (Porsskål, 1775)	EE 'LZ '77 '81 '6 'S '9 'S	Occasional.	07~1
	86-96 °76 '82		
Lethrinus erythropterus Valenciennes, 1830	'92 'SZ 'EZ '12 '61 '81 't1 '8 '9 t	моцегаеју соштов.	5-30
ethrinus erythracanthus Valenciennes, 1830	5	Rare, only one seen.	12-150
iteries	SILE KECOKD2	JONMUNDER	(W) 121,320
	₩C-115		
---	--	---	---
Chaetodon lunula Lacepède. 1803	77 1210 14 12 12 12 12	Occasional.	01-1
[158] Tojan lineolatus Cuvier. 183]	<u>\$1:E1:7</u>	Rare, only live seen.	0/1-7
аналаган у толтоналаган жалаан к _{ал} уу ултондаган ултондаган ултондог онын онын онын калан култондог алагын калан жалан	31 32 38	Calamian Group.	
Chaetodon kleinii Bloch, 1790	1412 610 13-18130 241 28 30	Common, the second most abundant butterflyfish in the	09-9
Chaetodon ephippium Cuvier, 1831	С.С.	Rare, only one subadult seen.	NS-1
		except relatively common at Site 10.	
Chuetodon citrinellus Cuviet, 1831	1' 5' 10' 13' 12' 11' 50-53' 32	Occasional in shallow coral-poor areas affected by surge.	1-15
Chaetodon bennetti Cuviet, 1831	1' 3' 2' 51' 56' 58	Rare, about eight seen.	0F*\$
	56-35' 34' 32' 38		
Chaetodon baronessa Cuvier, 1831	1-4 (9-10, 13-18, 20-24, 24, 24,	Moderately common in rich coral areas.	5-12
Chaetodon auriga Porsskål, 1775	5-10-15-52 30 33 34	тананан кала калалыкан калалыкан калалыкан калалыкан тарылык калалыкын калалыкан калалыкан калалыкан тарылыкан Калалыкан	· 1-30
Chaetodon adiergastos Seale, 1910	5' + 1' 0' 10' 19' 30' 30' 33' 38	Occasional.	1-52
CHVELODONLIDVE			
Kyphosus vaigiensis (Quoy and Claimard, 1825)	13' 12' 18' 51-53' 50	Occasional in shallow water near shore.	1-50
Kyphosus bigibbus Lacepède, 1801	<u>06</u>	Rare, only one fish positively identified.	5.13
КАБНОЗПУК			
Toxotes jaculatrix (Pallas, 1767)		Several seen in front of Bayside Divers Lodge at Coron.	2-0
LOXOLIDVE		- Commence of the memory of the second of the	
22222224.479344666664637741.477779229222346664727724696727725474644444666664747.4444746772507236644446699999796	and the second	crevices and caves during the day.	
Pempheris vanicolensis Cuvier, 1831		Rarely seen, but probably more common; hides in	97.5
анан, ит тарыландагы ки — «Малан Алананданан к. с. () баланан ка аналгандардан ки — т тарараларга аналар _{жыл} уу _к «Аланандан ка ки	16'05'62	energy a submanife a second	an an an Araba an Ar Araba
Pempheris oualensis Cuvier, 1831	3"8" 10" Pt" 19" 11" 30-35" 54"	Moderately common.	RE-C
Parapriacanthus ransonneti Steindachner, 1870	e na seren en e	One aggregation of about 50 fish seen.	05-5
DEWAHERDVE	ne har se		
###^.info11011188808098096094444880969444488809200429940400000000000000000000	95 '61' 76		and the second second
Upeneus tragula Richardson, 1846	4' 2' X 13' 16' 16' 51' 33' 58' 58'	Occasional	0:0
Parupeneus pleurostigma (Benneu, 1830)	01 '6 '6'1	Occasional.	9 6- 5
Parupeneus multifasciatus Blecker, 1873	96-62 227-51 201-1	Common.	0.14
Parupeneus indicus (Shaw, 1803)	82'77'8	Kare, about 10 seen.	07-1
Parupeneus hepiacanthus (Lacepede, 1801)	15, 05, 42, 27, 21, 2	()ccastonal.	09-1
	CC IC AZ	annear anna 1990 an 199 Annear an 1990 a	
Partpeneus cyclosionus (Lacepede, 1802)	77 102 191 101 101 101 10	CCCR2IOLESI	76-7
Larupeneus bijasciatus (Lacepede, 1801)	CC 1F 0F 17772 101 16 10 17	Occasional	02-1
CTA1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		1010000	ini uu mer

SPECIES	SITE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)
Chaetodon lunulatus Quoy and Gaimard, 1824	1-5, 9, 10, 12-22, 28, 29, 32, 34-36, 38	Moderately common in rich coral areas.	1-25
Chaetodon melannotus Schneider, 1801	1, 2, 5, 8, 9, 13-18, 20, 22, 24, 30, 34, 38	Occasional.	2-15
Chaetodon ocellicaudus Cuvier, 1831	28	Rare, only one seen.	1-15
Chaetodon octofasciatus Bloch, 1787	1, 2, 4-7, 13-19, 21-38	Common, the most abundant butterflyfish in the Calamian Group.	3-20
Chaetodon ornatissimus Cuvier, 1831	1, 7, 10, 15, 20	Rare, less than 10 seen.	1-36
Chaetodon oxycephalus Blecker, 1853	3	Rare, one pair seen.	8-30
Chaetodon punctatofasciatus Cuvier, 1831	2, 9, 10, 13	Rare, about 10 seen and mainly confined to islands off. NE Busuanga	6-45
Chaetodon rafflesi Bennett, 1830	2, 4, 7, 9, 10, 15, 18, 22-24, 26, 28, 32, 34, 35	Occasional.	1+15
Chaetodon speculum Cuvier, 1831	8, 15-18, 22, 24, 28, 31, 34, 38	Occasional.	3-20
Chaetodon trifascialis Quoy and Gaimard, 1824	1-4, 6, 7, 9, 10, 13-18, 20-23, 29, 35	Occasional.	2-30
Chaetodon ulietensis Cuvier, 1831	- 5, 10, 31, 33	Rare, about 8-10 seen.	8-30
Chaetodon unimaculatus Bloch, 1787	14	Rare, only one seen.	5-60
Chaetodon vagabundus Linnaeus, 1758	1-4, 6-10, 12 25, 27, 29, 30	Moderately common.	1-30
Chaetodon xanthurus Bleeker, 1857	1, 10, 13-15, 20, 23	Occasional.	10-40
Chelmon rostratus (Linnaeus, 1758)	7, 14, 16, 18-21, 25-28, 31-33, 35-38	Occasional.	1-15
Coradion chrysozonus Cuvier, 1831	1-6, 10, 16, 17, 20, 21, 26, 28, 29, 31, 35, 36, 38	Occasional.	5.60
Coradion melanopus (Cuvier, 1831)	2,7	Rare, only two seen.	10-30
Forcipiger flavissimus Jordan and McGregor, 1898	3, 4, 10	Rare, about three pairs seen.	2-114
Heniochus acuminatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	5, 38	Rare, only two seen.	2-75
Heniochus chrysostomus Cuvier, 1831	4-4, 6-10, 12-18, 20, 22, 23, 26, 29-32, 34, 35, 38	Common.	5-40
Heniochus diphreutes Jordan, 1903	- 10	Rarely seen, only one aggregation containing about 30 fish encountcred.	15-210
Heniochus singularius Smith and Radcliffe, 1911	4, 5, 7, 8, 14, 15, 22, 26, 28, 33, 35, 38	Occasional.	12-45
Heniochus varius (Cuvier, 1829)	1-4, 6-10, 12-18, 20-29, 31, 34, 35, 38	Moderately common.	2-30
Parachaetodon ocellatus (Cuvier, 1831)	5, 21, 28, 37	Rare, about six seen.	5-40

fishes

the

of the

APPENDIX 4

2001, nəllA innund nobobidqy18yldmA	2" 6" 16" 54" 56-56" 25" 23" 39-38	Moderately common.	č1-7
Amblyglyphidodon aureus (Cuvier, 1830)	1' 4' 56-58' 31' 38	Rare, less than 10 individuals seen.	\$5:01
annan a san a san an a		Pairs guard nest of 10-40 young; no pelagic stage.	
		PAR some and species discovered during the Calamianes RAP.	
		with branching coral cover. A recently described new	
6661 ,nollA summer syntheside	2" 50" 51' 30" 31' 38	Moderately common, locally abundant in sheltered areas	01-0
		10-40 young; no pelagie stage.	
		with branching coval cover. Pairs gaard nest of	
Mirichthys azurelineatus (Fowler and Bean, 1928)	1' 2' 9' 19' 16' 50-50' 30-38	Moderately common, locally abundant in sheltered areas	1-10
Acanthochromis polyacantha (Bleeker, 1855)	1-10, 12, 14-38	. Common	5-1
	SE 'FE '16 '02 '62	and the second	
Abudefduf vaigiensis (Quoy and Gaimard, 1825)	1-1' 6' 10' 13' 12-14' 50-53' 59'	Moderately common.	1-15
Abudefduf sordidus Forsekäl, 1775	56 16 18 51 56 17 81 01 6	Occasional	<u>8-1</u>
	36' 36'31	anny and a submitted a submitted as an one submitted as and a submitted as a s	
Abudefduf sexfasciatus Lacepède, 1802	5' 4' 9' 8' 12' 19' 18' 51' 55' 54'	Occasional	SP-1
Abudefduf septemfasciatus (Cuvier, 1830)	16 '62 '53' '57' '51 '01 '6	Occasional.	£1
Abudefduf notatus (Day, 1869)	56 77 91	Rare, only three seen.	5-0
Abudefduf bengulensis (Bloch, 1787)	1' 9' 14-18' 51' 52-31' 39	Occasional.	1-9
BOMVCENIBIDVE		анын салаануун улаанда балушдаг. ««««Аналады улаанды «««Аналады ««Аналады «Аналады «Аналады «Аналады улаанды ула	
дана (*1887) "Рутратина, Слека и (***********************************	t nevez (remainder of survey.	
Pygoplites diacambus (Boddaert, 1772)	SE 'FE 'IE '81 'LI 'EI '01-9 'F-1	Moderately common at sites 1-10, but rare during	0\$°€
Pomacanhus xanthometopon (Bleeker, 1853)		Rare, one adult seen.	08-5
Pomacanthus sexstriaus Cuvier, 1831	11' 50' 56-58' 31' 34' 38	Occasional.	05-5
Pomacanthus semicirculatus Cuviet, 1831	5' 1' 11' 35' 34' 36' 31' 32	Occasional.	01-5
Pomacanhus imperator (Bloch, 1787)	5' 14' 56	Rare, only three seen.	<u>9-20</u>
Contraction Con		Calamian Group.	
Chaetodontoplus mesoleucus (Bloch, 1787)	85-91 '#1 '£1 '01 '6 '2-5 '£-1	Common, by far the most abundant angelfish in the	1-30
Centropyge wrolki (Bleeker, 1853)	1-3" 1-10" 19" 50	Occasional, but most common off NE Busuanga.	57 Y
Centropyse tibicen (Cuvier, 1831)	1' 4' 8' 10' 19' 30	Rare, less than 10 seen.	07-5
анан такан так		.bnslsl sgnsusuff to sbis EN	
Centropyge nox (Bleeker, 1853)	6 'E-1	Moderately common, but seen at only a few sites on the	02-01
Centropyge bispinosus (Günther, 1860)	1° 3' 1' 2' 0' 10	Occasional.	St-01
Centropyse bicolor (Bloch, 1798)	01 °C	Rare, only three seen.	SE-S
FOMACANTHIDAE			
SPECIES	SILE RECORDS	VBUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

Program

108

an analysis sector sense in And a set of the sense sector of the sector sector and the sector secto		Island and offshore islands.	
Chromis ovaliformes Fowler, 1946	1' 3' 4' 6' 10' 18' 54	Occasional, but mainly seen on ME side of Busnanga	01-01
		and offshore islands.	
Chromis margaritifer Fowler, 1946	01.'6''5'1	Occasional, but only seen on NE side of Busuanga Island	5-30
		and offshore islands.	en se este area est
Chromis lineata Fowler and Bean, 1928	01 '6 '1	Occasional, but only seen on NE side of Busanga Island	5 10
Chromis lepidolepis Bleeker, 1877	1-4' 1-10' 13' 12' 50	Occasional.	07-7
Chromis elevae Fowler and Bean, 1928	ter	Rare.	07-21
		. It shis m	영상 이상 전 영상 관계
		seen at site 28, and another containing about 30 fish seen	
Chromis cinerascens (Cavier, 1830)	58° 31° 39	olube 001 ylatemizorqqa to noitegargga tud ,lanoiseaaO	3.22
отополникана и чист накак т. т. т. на и т. т. на и т. накат на протополните части области т. т. т. на на полника протополни и т. т.		and offshore islands.	
Chromis atripes Fowler and Bean, 1928	5' 6' 10	Occasional, but only seen on NE side of Busuanga Island	\$£:01
	38'31' 34' 31' 38		
Chromis atripectoralis Welander and Schultz, 1521	1-4' 1' 6' 10' 15-14' 19-18' 50' 51'	МодетаеЈу соттоп.	51.2
		and offshore islands.	
Chromis amboinensis (Bleeker, 1873)	01-6 7-1	Occasional, but only seen on NE side of Busuanga Island	\$9-S
Chromis alpha Randall, 1988	<u> </u>	Rare, only one seen.	\$6-81
Chelloprion labiants (Day, 1877)	6' 14' 18' 31' 34' 39' 36' 34' 39' 31	Occasional, in tich areas of branching coral.	Conserver C.F.
Amphiprion sandaracinos Allen, 1972	86 76 67 17 21 1	Occessional.	3-50-
(8271 , susanni) summing norigidan	8 15' 30' 31	Occasional, on open sand bottoms.	3-30
Amphiprion pevideraion Bleeker, 1855	5' 1' 12' 35' 32	Occasional.	9-50
	8E-9E 'FE		
Amphiprion ocellaris (Cuvier, 1830)	t 9' 8' 11-18' 52' 50' 50' 30' 35'	Occasional	\$1-1
	38' ' 16 ' '37' '38		
Amphiprion fremuns Brevoort, 1856	17 5' 2' 8' 10' 15' 16' 12' 18' 25'	Occasional.	51-71
	36-36-38	אין	나는 다 가 같은 것 같아?
Amphiprion clarkii (Bennett, 1830)	16 '06 '27-17 '21-51 '01 '6 '5 '5-1	Occasional, but relatively common at Site 9.	ક્કન
(Schlegel and Müller, 1839–14)		seagrass beds.	
sdəəjaənq smituəəmuodsfquiq	26 '06 ' 1 2 '61 '91 '51 '5	Occasional, in open sandy areas or sand parches among	5732 ·····
Amblyglyphidodon ternatensis (Bleeker, 1853)	61 '91 '5	Occasional, mainly juveniles seen.	5-13
	86,386		
Amblyglyphidodon leucogaster (Bleeker, 1847)	1 4' 9 10' 13-18' 30-34' 39-31'	Common.	SP-7
Amblyglyphidodon curacao (Bloch, 1787)	8E-721 '01-1	Common.	SI-(
26ECLE2	ZHE KECOKD2	ADNAUNUAA	(m) HI430

the

SPECIES	SITE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)
Chromis retrofasciata Weber, 1913	1-4, 8-10, 13, 17, 18, 24	Occasional.	5-65
Chromis ternatensis (Bleeker, 1856)	1-4, 7-10, 13, 14, 16-18, 21-23,	Moderately common in rich coral areas.	2-15.
Chromis viridis (Cuvier, 1830)	1-3, 7-10, 12, 14, 21, 24, 26, 28-31, 37, 38	Moderately common.	1-12
Chromis weberi Fowler and Bean, 1928	1-3, 10, 18, 20, 23, 31, 35	Occasional.	3-25
Chromis xanthura (Bleeker, 1854)	1-3, 7, 9, 10, 13, 20	Occasional, but mainly seen on NE side of Busuanga.	3-40
		Island and offshore islands.	
Chrysiptera cyanea (Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)	2, 9, 16, 18, 24, 29, 31, 34	Occasional.	0-10
Chrysiptera leucopoma (Lesson, 1830)	2, 9, 10, 13, 15, 17, 18, 20-23, 29, . 30, 35	Occasional.	0-2
Chrysiptera oxycephala (Bleeker, 1877)	5, 6, 8, 26, 32, 33, 37, 38	Occasional.	1-16
Chrysiptera parasema (Fowler, 1918)	6, 8, 12, 13, 14, 16-19, 21, 25-34, 36-38	Common in rich coral areas.	1-16
Chrysiptera rex (Snyder, 1909)	1, 2, 7, 9, 10, 13-15, 17, 18, 20-24, 29-31, 34-36	Moderately common in areas exposed to moderate surge activity.	1-6
Chrysiptera rollandi (Whitley, 1961)	1 -4, 6-10, 12-37	Common on silty reefs.	2-35
Chrysiptera springeri Allen and Lubbock, 1976	1-9, 16, 18, 19, 21-34, 36-38	Common in rich coral areas.	5-30
Chrysiptera talboti (Allen, 1975)	2-4, 8, 9, 20, 21, 29, 31, 34, 35	Occasional.	6-35
Chrysiptera unimaculata (Cuvier, 1830)	2, 3, 9, 10, 14, 16, 18, 21, 22, 29, 31, 34	Occasional.	0-2
Dascyllus aruanus (Linnaeus, 1758)	14, 7-10, 12-18, 21, 24, 26, 27,	Moderately common.	1-12
annan a fhair ann a bhair ann ann ann ann ann ann ann ann ann an			
Dascyllus melanurus Bleeker, 1854	9, 16, 18, 24, 27, 29	Occasional.	1-10
Dascyllus reticulatus (Richardson, 1846)	1-4, 7-10, 12-18, 20, 22, 23, 28,	Moderately common.	1-50
	30, 31, 34, 35		
Dascyllus trimaculatus (Rüppell, 1928)	1-4, 7-10, 12, 18, 21-36, 38	Moderately common.	1-55
Dischistodus chrysopoecilus	6, 16, 19, 24, 26, 27, 29, 32, 33,	Occasional near shore in sand-weed areas.	1-5
(Schlegel and Müller, 1839)			
Dischistodus fasciatus (Cuvier, 1830)	14, 16, 18, 29, 32, 36, 38	Occasional near shore in sand-weed areas.	1-8
Dischistodus melanotus (Bleeker, 1858)	1, 2, 4, 6-9, 12, 13, 16, 18, 19, 21, 24, 26-29	Occasional.	1-10. Manual III.
Dischistodus perspicillatus (Cuvier, 1830)	5, 6, 12, 16, 19, 21, 24, 26, 29, 31-33, 37, 38	Occasional on sand bottoms.	1-10

SPECIES	SITE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)
Dischistodus prosopotaenia (Bleeker, 1852)	2, 5, 6, 12, 14, 16, 19, 21, 26, 27-29, 37, 38	Moderately common.	1-12
Dischistodus pseudochrysopoecilus	1, 9, 21, 24	Rare, less than 10 seen.	1-5
Allen and Robertson, 1974			
Hemiglyphidodon plagiometopon (Bleeker, 1852)	5, 6, 8, 12, 19, 26-29, 32, 33, 36, 38	Occasional, but locally common.	1-20
Neoglyphidodon melas (Cuvier, 1830)	1-4; 6-10, 12-38	Moderately common, but always in small numbers.	1-12
Neoglyphidodon nigroris (Cuvier, 1830)	1-4, 6-10, 12-38	Common.	2-23
Neoglyphidodon oxyodon (Bleeker, 1857)	6, 9, 13-19, 21, 22, 24, 29, 31, 34, 36	Occasional, but locally common.	0-4
Neoglyphidodon thoracotaeniatus	2, 4, 9, 18, 22	Occasional, but most seen on NE side of	15-45
(Fowler and Bean, 1928)		Busuanaga and offshore islands.	
Neopomacentrus anabatoides (Bleeker, 1847)	8, 12, 14, 21, 26, 27, 30, 31, 34, 36-38	Moderately common.	2-15
Neopomacentrus bankieri (Richardson, 1846)	28, 38	Occasional, but locally common.	3-30
Neopomacentrus filamentosus (Macleay, 1833)	5, 19, 20, 26-28, 32, 33, 35-38	Moderately common.	5-15
Plectroglyphidodon dickii (Lienard, 1839)	1, 2, 4, 7, 9, 10, 13-15, 17, 20-24, 29-31, 34, 35	Moderately common among <i>Pocillopora</i> in areas exposed to mild wave action.	1-12
Plectroglyphidodon lacrymatus	1-3, 6-10, 12-27, 29-32, 34-36, 38	Moderately common.	2-12
(Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)			
Plectroglyphidodon leucozonus (Bleeker, 1859)	1, 2, 10, 13, 15, 17, 18, 20-23, 29-31, 34, 35	Common in shallow surge areas.	0-2
Pomacentrus adelus Allen, 1991	1-4, 6, 7, 9, 12, 14-19, 21, 24, 26, 32, 35, 36, 38	Common.	0-8
Pomacentrus alexanderae Evermann and Seale, 1907	1-10, 12-38	Abundant, perhaps the most common fish in the Calamian	5-30
···· ·		Group.	
Pomacentrus amboinensis Bleeker, 1868	1-4, 7-10, 12-38	Common on reefs with extensive sand-rubble habitat.	2-40
Pomacentrus armillatus Allen, 1993	5, 6, 8, 13-16, 19, 21, 24, 26-34, 36-38	Moderately common.	5-20
Pomacentrus bankanensis Bleeker, 1853	1-3, 7, 9, 10, 14-18, 20-24, 29, 31, 34, 35	Moderately common.	0-12
Pomacentrus brachialis Cuvier, 1830	1-3, 10, 12, 13, 16, 20, 23, 25, 26	Occasional, but common at sites around Tara Island.	6-40 :
Pomacentrus burroughi Fowler, 1918	4-6, 8, 14, 18, 19, 21, 24-34, 36-38	Common on sheltered reefs.	2-16
Pomacentrus chrysurus Cuvier, 1830	1, 3, 6, 9, 12, 14, 16-19, 21, 24, 29-31, 34	Occasional.	0-3
Pomacentrus coelestis Jordan and Starks, 1901	1-3, 7, 8, 10, 13-15, 17, 18, 20-25, 30, 31, 34, 35	Common.	1-12

0ኮ*ይ	Rare, one adult seen.	50	Bodiums loxozonus (Snyder, 1908)
5 +0	Occasional.	5" 3" 10" 11 50" 54" 31	Bodianus axillaris (Benneu, 1831)
5-30	Rare, only five seen.	1-3' 10	Anampses twistil Bleeker, 1856
15-40	Rare, only four seen.	1' 4' 10' 50	Anampses melanurus Bleeker, 1857
ST-5	Rare, only four seen.	5' 8' 50' 54	Anampses geographicus Valenciennes, 1840
08-7	Rare, only five seen.	8-10, 20, 30	Anampses caeruleopunctatus Rüppell, 1828
			I.ABRIDAE
	in 20 depth.		
15,52	Rare, one colony containing about 10 fish encountered	51	Acanthocepola abbreviata (Valenciennes, 1835)
			CEPOLIDAE
5-6	Occasional	SE 'FE '0E '62 TC-12 81-51 '8	Stegastes obreptus (Whitley, 1948)
	encountered.		
S-1	Rately seen, one colony of about 30-40 individuals	58	Stegastes lividus (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)
<u>\$-0</u>	Occasional.	1-3' 6' 10' 13'12' 55' 32	(9881 , ydligO) suhniostal satsagat.
08-\$	Rare, a group of eight seen.	90	Pristotis obtusivostris (Günther, 1862)
9-1	Occasional.	- 2' 15' 51' 50	Premnas biaculeatus (Bloch, 1790)
가지 않는 것은 것은 가지 않는다. 사람들은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것을 같이 있는다.		SE 77E 11E 0E	
3-42	Moderately common.	1-4" J 10" 13" 12" 11" 50" 55" 53'	Pomneentrus vaiuli Jordan and Seale, 1906
c-n	iew wolling yrov ni lenoises y	<u> </u>	Pomacentrus tripunctatus Cuvier, 1830
07.	Common.	1 7 9 10 13 30 35 37 39 38	Pomacentrus stigma Fowler and Bean, 1928
7°14	Moderately common, but abundant at Sites 25 and 26.	8 9 12 52 50 30 30 35 37 37	Pomacentrus smithi Fowler and Bean, 1928
01-0	Moderately common, most abundant at Sites 33 and 37.	2' 9' 13' 16' 39' 36' 35' 33' 39' 38	Pomacentrus simsiang Bleeker, 1856
		SE 'tE 'lE 62 '97	
1-15	Moderately common.	1-4" 6-10" 13-13" 11" 18" 50-54"	Ponucentrus philippinus Evermann and Seale, 1907
110	Rare, only a few individuals signted.	15-54	Pomacentrus pavo (Bloch, 1878)
515	Rare, only one seen.	26	Pomacentrus opishthostigma Fowler, 1918
	scattered rock and coral outcrops.	95°7E	
06-5	Moderately common on sand bottoms with	T 5' 4' 1-6' [2-18' 55' 54' 58-35'	Pomacentrus nagasakiensis Tanaka, 1917
ti -1 -	Common.	1-1* 2-10 15-31* 31-38	Pomacentrus moluccensis Bleeker, 1853
0:3	Occasional in silty near-shore habitats.	ZE '91 'S	Pomacentrus littoralis Cuvier, 1830
¢1 '	Common.	4 9-10 17 51 56 31 34 38	Pomacentrus lepidogenys Fowler and Bean, 1928
5.15	Occasional	9-58, 55-34	Pomacentrus grammorhynchus Fowler, 1918
1-30	Moderately common.	2 9 14 18 54 59 31 32 38	Pomacentrus geminospilus Allen, 1993
	Sites 19, 27, and 28.		
9-1	Moderately common, especially common at	15' 10' 16' 51' 50-30' 30-38	Pomacentrus cuneatus Allen, 1991
DEPTH (m)	ABUNDANCE	SILE BECOBDS	SPECIES

		previously known only from Papua New Guinea.	
4.001, Habiter and Railer and Randall, 1994	$L\tilde{\iota}$	Rate, only one seen. A new record for the Philippines	07-01
Halichoeves binotopsis (Bleeker, 1849)	5	Rare, a single juvenile sighted.	5-50
Halichoeres biocellatus Schultz, 1960	SE	Rare, only three seen.	\$£-9
Halichoeres bicolor (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	<u>Ş</u>	Rare, only two seen.	8-1
(71-73" 22		
Halichoeres areas (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	<u>F 6 6 15 10 18 16 51 56</u>	Moderately common.	
Gomphosus varius Lacepède, 1801	34" 22 1-4" (9-10" 13-18" 51-54" 56-31"	Moderately common.	0671
Epibulus insidiator (Pallas, 1770)	86 '96 02 '81-61 '01-1	Moderately common	0114
Diproctacanthus xanthurus (Bleeker, 1856)	85 71 '01' 1	Common.	γ ι , Γ,
Coris pictoides Randall and Kuiter, 1982	16-55, 51, 58, 30, 31	Occasional.	8-30
Coris gaimardi (Quoy and Caimard, 1824)	1' 1' 0' 10' 11 18' 30' 35' 54' 31' 32	Occasional.	05.1
Coris batuensis (Bleeker, 1862)	1-4' 1-10' 15-18' 50-58' 30-39	Moderately common.	57-C
	58° 76° 18' 87	nagangan man n	
Cirrhilabrus temmincki Bleeker, 1853	1, 2, 4, 9, 13, 17, 20, 22, 24, 25,	Moderately common.	01*01
Cirrhilabrus cyanopleura (Blecket, 1851)	3+31 1+1 0-10' 13' 10-18' 30 53' 52-35'	Солнов.	ØE S
	86,96,36	արտերը։ Հայաստանություն է հայուն է հայուն հայորը հայորը։ Հայաստանի հայունը հայորը հայորը հայորը հայորը է չին հերդում արտեսին։ Դ.Գ.Գ.Գ.Գ.	
Choerodon zosterophorus (Bleeket, 1868)	3' 9' 10' 19' 11' 30' 33' 31' 38-31'	Occasional.	01-01
Choerodon schoenleinii (Valenciennes, 1839)	16, 17, 32	Rare, about five subadults seen.	Ú9-5
Choevodon oligoconthus (Bleeker, 1851)	15' 12' 12' 14' 31' 35' 58' 56' 31' 38	Occasional.	3.32
Choerodon jordani (Snyder, 1908)		Rare, one adult seen.	10-50
Choevodon anchorago (Bloch, 1791)	11 3 6 8 10, 12 38	Moderately common.	\$7-1
Cheilio inermis Forsskål, 1775	12 37 81 19 51 31 34	Occasional.	- Contraction of the Second Second
Cheilinus unifasciatus Sureets, 1878	1, 10, 17, 20, 22	Rate, only five seen.	091-1
		one 50 cm individual at Site 38.	
Cheilinus undulatus Rüppell, 1835	86 °LC '66 .	Rare, about five seen, all juveniles less than 15 cm except	5-60
Cheilinus trilobatus Lacepède, 1802	5' 9 10' 11' 12' 20' 31	Occasional.	05-1
Cheilinus oxycephalus Bleeker, 1853	5' 8' 18' 50 51' 50-31	Occasional.	SC-S
	54' 59 56' 31' 35' 34 39' 38		
Cheilinus fasciatus (Bloch, 1791)	1' 3-3' 6' 15' 13' 19' 13' 50' 51'	Moderately common.	0t-10
Cheilinus chlorurus (Bloch, 1791)	1" 5" 10-18" 55-54" 50-35" 34 30" 38	Moderately common.	30 States 20 Sta
Bodianus mesothorax Schneider, 1801	1-1" 9-10" 13-18' 50-39	Moderately common.	2·30
SPECIES	SILE BECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

Ssenius monoculus Springer, 1988	05 57 53	Occasional.	5-8
scsenius lividonalis Chapman and Schultz, 1952	567.317.34	Rare, about six seen.	5-10
csenius lineatus Klausewitz, 1962	13° 53° 38	Occasional	2-50
Services knew Springer, 1988	8' 17' 14' 12' 50' 51' 30' 31	Occasional.	01-1
sesenius bicolor (Day, 1888)	SE 7E 1E ET 07	Occasional in surge-affected areas.	wo 52-2
		Поцицоэ	
Sirripectes springeri Williams, 1988	5	Rare, only one positively identified, but probably more	81-1
		more common.	
Cirripectes polyzona (Bleeker, 1868)	14	Rare, only one positively identified, but probably	6-3
Cirripectes filamentosus (Alleyne and Macleay, 1877)	SE '#E '0E '81 'EI '01	Occasional	06-1
анала каланаланан или полониминину — 2000-жылдаруу — жалаларынан туу уларуунардаруун 450 жылдараларын туу кала		more common.	
Urvipectes castaneus Valenciennes, 1836	μ.	Rare, only one positively identified, but probably	<u>\$1</u>
Benniella chrysospilos (Blocker, 1857)	57	Rare, only one sighted, but cryptic and difficult to detect.	60
(SE81 , Hoppell, 1835)	21' 38' 31' 35' 34	Occasional.	ZI-1
Indamia tetradactylus (Bleeker, 1858)	ti.	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	2-0
HEANDAR			
Lela xenogrammus Holleman, 1993	05-81-3	Occasional.	0†-7
Velcogramma striata Hansen, 1986	<u>\$£</u>	Rately seen, but relatively common at one site.	1-30
felcogramma rhinoceros Hansen, 1986	- 35	Rare, only one seen, but relatively cryptic.	817
Aelcogrammu fuscopinna Holleman, 1982	35	Collected with rotenone.	1-10
ds snigtietherver	4.1	Rare, male and female.	\$-0
Enneapterygius minutus (Günther, 1877)	14:13	Collected with rotenone.	\$-0
Kner and Steindachner, 1866)			
รชาวแบบอยุ รทุ8ภ.ภาสบวนแบ	\mathcal{L}	Collected with rotenone.	0f-0
INHLERACHDVE			
na n		encountered at Site 38.	
		hand juveniles seen, but "nesting" 10-12 cm fish	
9281 holidichthys leucotaenia Bleeker, 1856	1' 9' 1' 12' 11' 30' 33' 33' 30' 34' 38	Occasional, but sometimes in large numbers, mainly	07-1
PHOLIDICHTHYIDAE			
parapercis xanthozona (Bleeker, 1849)	12/1	Rare, about six seen.	S1-1
2 .qs simoqnuu ^q	54' 59-56' 31' 39' 38	Occasional.	\$555
1 ds sinəqunu ^q	91	Rare, about six seen.	SCC
Parapercis millepunctata (Günther, 1860)	53" 31" 35" 38	Occasional.	05-6
SPECIES	SILE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

DEPTH(m)	ABUNDANCE	SILE BECOBDS	SPECIES
00-1	Occasional	1. 7. 4. 1. 8. 12. 20. 21. 23. 24. 58. 31	Cetoscarus bicolor (Rüppell, 1828)
0E*Z-	Moderately common.	5-10' 13' 16' 18' 51' 53-58' 30'	Chlorurus bleekeri (de Beaufort, 1940)
		86 SE 1E	
5:32	Occasional.	1, 15, 28, 30	Chlorurus microrhinos (Bleeker, 1854)
52-1	Common.	1-3' 0-10' 15' 12' 11' 18' 50-32	Chlorurus sordidus (Forsekal, 1775)
0±-C	Kare, less than 10 seen.	<u>1'5</u>	Hipposcarus longiceps (Bleeker, 1862)
CI-I	Kare, one adult seen.		Leptoscarus vaigiensis (Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)
Cl-f	Rare, only three seen.	12: 30: 33	Scarus chameleon (Choat and Randall, 1986)
si 1	Moderately common.	57 77 17 97 '476' 12' 13' 14' 13' 14' 16' 12' 19' 1-1	Scarus dimidiatus Bleeker, 1859
UV 3	Ienoisevo()	001.9.1 00-60110.07	8501 Millios Silvertording millios
	Theorem and the second		Sectral furtheering semant, 1936
	MORENER'S CONTROLS	SE 'FE 'IE '09	Sound Jorsen (Biceket, 1901)
SZ-K	Rare, less than 10 seen.	L[\$1.1	Scarus frenatus Lacepède, 1802
0£°£	Occasional	86-S6 '66-95 '72-b1 '8 b	Scarus ghobban Forsekâl, 1775
0£ F	Rare, only two terminal phase fish seen.	1.17	Scarus hypselopierus Bleeker, 1853
077	Occasional.	06 '92' 07 '81' 51 '61' 11' 11'	Scorus niger Forsekål, 1775
6.1 E		<u>ναι</u> γε'τε'+ε 'τε	0001
>1 () 	Kale, several seen at one sue.	01 C C C C C	Scars overege valencientes, 1830
24 K	. Buoing Contractor		Scan Startogram Start 191 1916
06.8	Pere only one terring after fich seen	96.62 57 77 11 (0) 1	Seams primers Forskal, 1172
01 I 07-C	Common conscient initial phase field		(0061 'SIESE DIE HEDIOF) STATUMÁŘ STATUS
	Compost espectany mitta puase risit.	96 02 '57 '17 '61 '71 371 '9'0 'C '1	COLURA AND ASIGUCICINICS' 19-40
00.1	Dote three adults seen	+c '0C'+++ '1 'C' '9 '1	Cabita Manialita Valenciennes, 1640
57 1 0/5 1	Marc, and a scon.		
81.6	IenoizervO		Scores spins (Kner 1868)
	n an		LEICHOROLIDVE
512	Innisepo	<u>it 10</u>	1081 rabiordo2 bre doolff rabites sutonology
nan ar ann an ann an ann an an an an an an an			EINIGE STORE STORE STORE STORE
<u>3°20.</u>	Rare, only one seen	<u></u>	1161 vilia proving sizeary
0-50	IsnoisexoO	61 91 51 5	(70/1 doold) pointain involution
And a second			

Program
Assessment
Rapid

(Salotomus carolinus (Valenciennes, 1839)	5" 1' 10' 11	Rare, about 6-8 fish seen.	06:4
		seen at Site 38.	
Bolbometopon muricatum (Valenciennes, 1840)	50, 56, 38	Occasional, about 12 small adults (approximately 100 cm)	1-30
SCARIDAE			
Xyrichtys aneitensis (Günther, 1862)	6	Rare, about six seen.	01-01
Thalassoma quinquevittatum (Lay and Bennett, 1839)	6' 10' 13' 12' 11' 50' 55' 53' 31	Occasional in surge areas.	81-0
Halassoma purpureum (Forsskål, 1775)	F 34	Rare, only two seen.	3-30
Ihalussonua lunare (Linnaeus, 1758)	1.10,12,31,33-38	Common, one of most abundant wrasses in Calamian Group.	08-1
Thalassoma jansenii Bleeker, 1856	÷£.	Rare, one adult scen.	ST-0
Thulassonia hardwicke (Bennett, 1828)	56 '96 '16 87 50 54 58 31' 24' 34' 36	Moderately common.	\$1.0
Thalassoma amblycephalum (Bleeker, 1856)	1' 5' 10' 12' 11' 50' 53' 34	Occasional	St-1
	98-18-66 120		Allen er bas horrig
Stethojulis trilineata (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	1' 5' †' 6-6' 15-14' 16-18' 55' 5†'	Moderately common.	01-1
Stethojulis strigiventer (Bennett, 1832)	9' 34' 56' 38	Occasional.	9-0
	15-67		
Stethojulis bandanensis (Bleeker, 1851)	1-3' 6' 10' 13-18' 51' 53' 54' 59'	Moderately common.	0.30
Pieragogus flagellifera (Valenciennes, 1839)	35	Rare, but difficult to detect due to cryptic habits.	01-1
Pterugogus enneucamhus (Bleeker, 1856)	1.2.10.21.27,31,38	Occasional, but difficult to detect due to cryptic habits.	S12
Pseudodax moluccanus (Valenciennes, 1840)	37,10	Rare, only two seen.	01-6
Pseudocoris yamashiroi (Schmidt, 1930)	£	Rare, about five seen.	06-01
Pseudocheilinus hexataenia (Bleeker, 1857)	5' 3' 8' 10' 5+' 52' 31' 35' 32	Occasional.	SE-C
Pseudochellinus evanidus Jordan and Evermann, 1902	F-3' 10' 3†	Rare, less than 10 seen.	(i) - 9
Paracheliuus filamentosus Allen, 1914	1' 13' 13' 55' 54 56' 31' 32	Moderately common.	05-01
Purachelinus angulatus Randall and Lubbock, 1981	13' 35' 34	Occasional.	01-51
Oxycheilinus orientalis (Günther, 1862)	1" 5" 1-10" 19" 1.1" 55" 52" 56"31" 32	Occasional.	01-51
Oxycheilinus diagrammus (Lacepède, 1802)	¢' 1' 10' 13-12' 11' 38	Occasional	3-150
Oxycheilinus celebicus Bleeker, 1853	5-8' 11' 10' 51-38	Moderately common.	3-30
Oxycheilinus bimaculatus Valenciennes, 1840	5' 3' 2' 13' 55' 54' 59' 56	Occasional	011-2
Novaculichthys taeniourus (Lacepède, 1802)	1, 2, 9, 17, 18	Rare, about six seen.	71-1
Macropharyngodon negrosensis Hette, 1932	6 10 13 14 31 32	Occasional	06-8
	55 54' 50' 51' 56' 31' 34' 32		
Маскорћанупводоп теleaguis (Уъlenciennes, 1839)	1-4' 1' 8' 10' 14' 12' 11' 18' 50'	Модегаеђу соттоп.	06-1
		usualty juveniles and initial phase fish seen.	2000 SUB
Lepujulis cyanopleura (Bleeker, 1853)	15' 5+' 58' 30' 31' 39	Occasional, except common at sites 28 and 30,	SS-S
SPECIES		VBUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

<u>\$E-04</u>	Occasional.	1" 3" 1" 10' 12" 11" 54" 59" 31" 32	Labropsis manubei Schmidt, 1930
0 1 -1	Moderately common.	86 21 301 + 5-1	Labroides dimidiatus (Valenciennes, 1839)
3*40	Rare, six seen.	1' 3' 1' 10' 54' 56	Lubroides bicolor Fowler and Bean, 1928
1-50	Moderately common.	1-3' 1-10' 15-18' 50-51' 50-31' 34-38	Labrichthys unilineatus (Guichenot, 1847)
06-5	Rare, about five seen.	SE '02	Hologymnosus annulatus (Lacepède, 1801)
<u>5+30</u>	Moderately common.	85 75 15-21 01-9 7-1	Hemigymmus melapterus Bloch, 1791
07-1	MODELEICIÁ COUNILOIT.	96-75 16-37 b7 77-07 \$81 1/1 51-51 (0) b7	16 1 (1000) Testanta Bloch, 1 (1000)
	Occasional, bui locally common.	10.00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	Halichoeres Sp.
	DELIGE DOOM MOLEUS UL IPUOISEDOO	96.16.26	Halichoeres schwarzi (Bleeker, 1849)
CLO	Occasional.	11 7 6 10 17 14 19 14 19	Hallehoeves scapularis Benned, 1832
		86-06-76	
1-30	Occasional.	5' 2' 6' 8' 10' 16' 51' 52-58' 35'	Ilalichoeves purpurescens (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)
		55-54, 56-31, 34	
0 1- 5	Moderately common.	1-4° 1, 9° 10° 13° 13° 11° 11° 18° 50°	Halichoeves prosopeion Bleeker, 1853
8-1	Occasional.	1. 2. 9. 17. 21. 24. 28, 29	Halichoeres podostigma (Bleeker, 1854)
<u>\$1:0</u>	Moderately common.	1' 6' 16' 51' 56-56' 31-34' 32' 38	Ilalichoeres nigrescens Bleeker. 1862
Ötr i	Occasional.	16-18, 24, 29	Halichoeves nebulosus Valenciennes, 1839
, daga ng kanalang ka	shallows at one site.		
8-0	Rarely encountered, but relatively common in	34	Halichoeres miniatus Kuhl and Van Hasselt, 1839
<u>515</u>	Common, the most abundant wrasse.	86-46 10 15-18 50-54 50 31 6 21	Halichoeves melanurus Bleeker, 1853
		56 ⁻ 52	
S1-0	Moderately common.	1, 2, 4, 6, 7, 9, 10, 14-18, 20-26,	Halichoeves melanochir Fowler and Bean, 1928
08-1	Occasional.	1 4' 9-10' 14-18' 55 54' 56-31' 34' 32	Halichoeves marginatus (Rüppell, 1835)
		SE '7E	
0:3	Moderately common.	1-3' 6' 10' 13-18' 30-34' 56-31'	Halichoeves margaritaceus (Valenciennes, 1839)
\$ 1 7	Rare, about cight seen.	4' 15' 58	Halichoeres leucurus (Walbaum, 1792)
	na na ang sa na mang na	58 °PE EZ	
08-1	Occasional.	1-4, 7-10, 13-15, 17, 18, 20, 22,	Halichoeres hortulanus (Lacepède, 1802)
06-01	Occasional.	16' 33' 34' 30	Halichoeves hartzfeldi Bleeker, 1852
09 ⁻ L	Rare, mainly juveniles seen.	3' 6' 34' 59	Halichoeres chrysus Randall, 1980
- Contraction of the second		36, 37	
01-0	Moderately common.	4-1, 9, 12, 14, 16-19, 21, 24, 26-34.	Ilalichoeres chloropterus (Bloch, 1791)
DEPTH (m)	BUNDANCE	SILE RECORDS	SECIES

		cryptic habits.	
. "		bus axis lieus of oub Arow variable and	
Anuora tentaculata Oray. 1835	5	Rare, noticed on only one occasion, but difficult to detect	
AVGIWANOFT'IV.	and the state of the second state of the secon		
Salarias segmentatus Bath and Randall, 1991	51* 35* 33	Occasional.	5*30
Salarias rumosus Bath, 1992	30	Rare, only one seen.	5.13
Salarias patzneri Badı, 1992	19 [°] 30	.lenoisecco.	m i -
Salurias obscurus Bath. 1992	to 51	Rate, only five seen.	Sec. 2-1
	<u>SE "ÞE</u>		
Salarias fasciatus (Bioch, 1786)	6' 0' 14' 16-16' 51' 54' 51' 56' 21'	Moderately common.	8.0
Plagiotremus thinothymchus (Bleeker, 1852)	12-31	Rare, only two seen.	07-40
Plagiotremus laudandus (Whitley, 1961)	5' 9' 34	Rare, only three seen.	5-32
Meiacanthus grammistes (Valenciennes, 1836)	1" 3" 6" 12" 35" 30" 31	Occasional.	1-30
ступа и то со соловите повина со на и и и и и и и и повина пора у ступа — повина то пора на пред со разу на предократни на ступа и то ст	26' 38' 30' 31' 39' 31'	νη του το το του το παρατοποιούταιο το το το πολογοριατός που ματά το του το το ποροτοριστικού του το το ποροτ Τα παρά το παρατοποιούται το ποροτοριστικό το ποροτοριστικό το ποροτοριστικό το ποροτοριστικού το ποροτοριστικό	
df91 ,smbV-dime sutanimes entimosoisM	7 3' 8' 8' 15' 19' 17' 18' 18' 18' 17'	Moderately common.	5.30
Meicuanthus atrodorsalis (Chinther, 1877)	5' 710' 12-11' 51' 54-58' 31-34' 38	Occasional	UE-1
Стануаранан калана к		with rolenone.	
Istiplennus dussumers (Valencience, 1836)	14	Possibly common; several collected from interlidal zone	Z-0
		We fear it may be extinct.	
		common species has not been re-collected.	
		seems amazing that this clearly shallow dwelling, once	
		has occurred in the Philippines in the past 20 years, it	
		50 years ago. Considering all the collecting activity that	
		series of its two nominal synonyms, collected more than	
		Williams (1994) "this species is known only from the type	
		rocky intertidal habitat. According to Springer and	
Istiblennius colei (Herre, 1934)	N	One adult collected with rotenone during the survey from	0.5
Exullias brevis (Kner, 1868)	01 .	Rare, only one seen.	07:1
Entomacrodus striatus (Quoy and Gaimard, 1836)	H	Several collected with rotenone.	2 -0 -2
Entomacrodus decussatus (Bleeker, 1858)	31* 34	Occasional	0-5
Ecsenius yaeyamensis (Aoyagi, 1954)	1' 5' 8' 15' 55'54' 30' 31' 34' 32	Occasional.	SU1
		restricted to the Calamians and N Palawan.	
ds smuəsəy	86-96 '75-16' 51-51 '8 '2 '5 '7	Common, apparently an undescribed species that may be	SET
SPECIES	SILE RECORDS	ASUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

during the RAP

. . . .

, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	kerat soule offer tot		(9. qs HHO) qs suidogythba
j. j.	loisea	5C 1Z 8	79901 Abbaul bas nalle sutur exceptionatel
ĎÍ I	Rarety seen, but common in 1.2 m depth at one site.		Asterropteryx semipunctatus Ruppell, 1830
01-51	One specimen collected with rotenone.	98	Asterropterys bipunctatus Allen and Munday, 1996
9°f	Rare, but typical seagrass habitat not properly surveyed.	85	(TE81, sonnoisnoist) knyhys suidogyldmA
0251	1. OSB001	9' 15' 16' 30	(7581 ·····) pnsnlpnd suidosyldmA
	OISBOO	LE 'EE 'S	(\$\$61 UPH) snumpou smqo8AquuV
	and the second sec	1* 5 + 6 8 10 15 - 12 14 14 51 - 71 - 18	times) instant suidosydanA
		76-33' 31	
02-5	Moderately common.	1' 4' 8' 15' 18' 19' 10' 51' 55' 54'	Amblygobius decussatus (Blecker, 1855)
<u><u> </u></u>	Occasional.	<u>86 '75 '55' 38</u>	Amblygobius buanensis (Herre, 1927)
a na sana a na sana sa sana sa	stided griffowb-bues		
02°5	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	56 75' 53' 51' 97' 32	Amblyeleotris wheeleri (Polunin and Lubbock, 1977)
	.stided grillowb bares		ма мала на се
-06-9	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	1' 3' 6' 13' 12' 57' 57' 30' 33' 39	Amblyeleotris steinitzi (Klausewitz, 1974)
	.stidsrl guillewb-busz		<mark>dem never anne en </mark>
\$1-8	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	96 '66' '87 '61 '8 '5	Amblyeleotris periophthalma (Blecker, 1853)
	.sidad guillewb-bnez		рани ин каконски интерналистика и каконски стала со то то то то то и каконски и каконски и каконски и наконски Прими интерналистика 1 1
an a chailtean chuiseachailte	usavatins TR 1010 10 1 1000000 1		626 p d ministrifue osperiore
	sand dwelling habits.		
2-30	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	96'\$	Amblyeleotvis gymnocephalus (Bleeker, 1853)
	saiden gnillowb-bnez		gene ander an die dele eine eine eine eine eine eine eine e
52 tra	t tona 👘 t not properly surveyed due t		886 second worting Mostyldink
	.stiden guillowb-base		
2-52	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	33° 31	Amblyeleotris fontanesii (Bleekec, 1852)
	.stidsh gaillowb-braz		Man angenes of the last range of the last of the property of the last of the second device of the
\$E-9	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	54' 30	Amblyeleotris diagonalis Polunia and Lubbock, 1979
0-4	Rare, a single specimen in Lake Cayangan.	6	Acentrogobius viganensis (Steindachner, 1893)
			COBIDVE
	.SHOBI		
	during visual survey work due to small size and cryptic		
5°50	Rare, noticed on only two occasions, but difficult to detect	55° 51	Callionymus ennactis Bleeker, 1879
	, stidsd		
	during visual survey work due to small size and cryptic		
06.8	Rare, noticed on only one occasion, but difficult to detect		Callionymus delicatulus Sinith, 1963
DEPTH (m)	VBUNDANCE	CITE RECORDS	SECIES
	<u> </u>	And a second a second s	A subsection in the subsection of the

. . . .

₽∀₽

EE91 , Yulion nigriventris Giltay, 1933	8E 'EE	Occasional	tic t
мань санавла, алеменны, саны с онимона социалься и нименны размения санимона, институт в волем разли наложност 3 		due to thiny size.	
Evious melasma Lachner and Karanella, 1980	1, 17, 18, 20, 24	Occasional, but no doubt more common; difficult to detect	3-50
да на примати на видат и примати и и издор и типора се радини на примати и издор и полити на примати на примати на примати и Од 1 1		to detect due to tiny size.	
Wiota guttata Lachner and Karanella, 1978	FE '16 '06' 91	Occasional, but no doubt more common; difficult	SIE
Дана анынана отологон аланыш аланын колана каланын коланын коланындар жалык тологон коланындар олон жала болоо 2. 2. 2.	86-96 746:05		
Sviota bifasciata Lachner and Karnella. 1980	1-1.9, 10, 13-15, 21, 22, 24-27,	Сонтоп.	2:52
17701 , ninulod bns Aboddu.I autoitamog aquidogonat	8' 55' 30' 33	Occasional.	5.50
7701 .ninulog bus Jooddu J sulvoors J squidogonst	1 9' 15' 16' 59' 35' 31' 39'38	Moderately common.	5-12
ny - permanent series in program. La serie finite se company transmission series communications and a series in the ser		.stidert gnillowb-bres	
0201 , think runions regidener?	6.27	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	ni-£
анианти. Соласни силани странались паралого полинись жилист полиности раждини наполности салара на наполно с на С		stiderl guillawb-bins	
Cryptocentrus strigilliceps (Jordan and Seale, 1906)	8' 15' 14' 19' 51' 55' 35' 33	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	9-1
Cryptocentrus sp. 4	<u>5. 11. 27. 36. 37</u>	Occasional, but locally common.	<u>\$-1</u>
S. qs sn.iusvoida.	12.11.21	Rare, less than 10 seen.	\$-1
Cryptocentrus sp. 2	££	Raire, several seen.	5:10
Cryptocentrus sp. 1	32	Rare, but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits.	14
yangan - anamanin ngilangi - nomenon ni anamani - anamani - namanin - hamani - namani - namani - namani - nama I S		sand-dwelling habits.	
S001 , megast anofesciatus Regan, 1908	33	Rare, but not properly surveyed due to	\$°I
geografia contenente interprete a terminaria desenta a companya a sentencia companya desente desente a contenen 1997 - Provincia desente a contenente desente a companya desente companya desente desente a contenente a contenente desente de 1997 - Provincia desente desente desente a companya desente desente desente desente desente a contenente de sente		sand-dwelling habits.	
Cryptocentrus leucostictus (Günther, 1871)	23" 32 E	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	21-2
n yang pananan yang colonati calan , tambulan kalan i camana kananan yanan kalanan i tambula kalan i tambula ka J		sand-dwelling habits.	
Cryptocentrus leptocephalus Blecker, 1876	EE TI	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	5-10
		sudenting habits.	
Cryptocentrus fasciatus (Playtair and Günther, 1867)	9 23' 39	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	S-1
		sand-dwelling habits.	
Cryptocentrus cinctus (Herre, 1936)	LE 'CE'S	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	5-12
(allogobius okinawae (Snyder, 1908)	M	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	\$10
		detect due to tiny size and camouflage.	
Brywninops yongei (Davis and Cohen, 1968)	<u>J</u> ' 39	Rarely seen, but no doubt more common; difficult to	St-C
0891 ,norus Larson, 1986	75 '57 '57 '21 '11 ' 1 ' 1	Occasional	· 9 51
		detect due to tiny size and camouflage.	n an
817 Soli Larson, 1985		Rarely seen, but no doubt more common: difficult to	\$ 7 -9
5861 , trosto Larson 1 200	5" 1" 1" 11 54 32	Occasional	01-01
SPECIES	SILE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	(w) HI930

		sand dwelling habits.	
Wyersina nigrivirgata Akihito and Meguro, 1983	- 11°33	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	5-12
		sand-dwelling habits.	
Mahidolia mystacina (Valenciennes, 1837)	23° 33' 32	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	1-30
Macrodontogobius wilburi Hette, 1936	2' 15' 51' 35' 34	Occasional.	5-12
lstigobius rigilius (Herre, 1953)	75 * 17 * 51	Occasional.	0:30
Istigobius ornatus (Rüppell, 1830)	2' 9' 8' 15' 14' 51' 33	Occasional, also collected with rotenone at Site 14.	<u>\$~0</u>
lstigobius goldmanii (Bleeker, 1852)	16 DE	Occasional.	S-1
Istigobius decoratus (Herre, 1927)	16' 55' 53' 33	Occasional.	81-1
Istigobius decoratus (Herre, 1927)	FE 'EE 'EE '61	Occasional.	81-1
Heteroplopomus barbatus (Tomiyama, 1936)	<u></u>	Common on open sand at one site.	10-50
Gobiopsis bravoi (Herre, 1927)	14' 13	Several collected with rotenone.	t-0
		cryptic habits.	
(7681, esincionalev) eutogineeunee, 1837)	SE	Rate one seem out difficult to detect in the	ći u
Gobiodon okinawae Sawada, Arai and Abe, 1973	35*33	Occasional	<u>i 15</u>
.qs biidoĐ		Rare, only one specimen taken with rotenone.	65
		due to small size and cryptic habits.	
Guatholepis sp.	13	Rare, but no doubt more common; difficult to detect	\$2-1
		due to small size and cryptic habits.	
Gnatholepis cauerensis Bleeker, 1853	5	Rare, but no doubt more common; difficult to detect	0E-E
.qs suidosisu'i	87	Rare, only one seen.	\$7.5
	SE'TE'2E'0E'6Z		
Fusigobius signipinnis Hoese and Obika. 1988	1-4' 6' 10' 12' 11' 18' 50-55' 34'	Moderately common.	08-01
Vusigobius neophytus (Günther, 1877)	e' 5e' 51' ¥t	Occassional.	5172
189 usie duospilus Hoese and Reader 198	12	Several collected with rotenon	SE E
ds spirit	16 or 18 70	Occasional on silty reefs.	\$7-F
(9, 91, inime) sumisilled spirged	/ 1 39£ 385 21 / 7 39Z 5 g (G	Occasional on silty recfs.	\$Z-1
F80 100 I bns Howel as a point		two specimens collected with roten	52.6
Eviota sebreei Jordan and Seale, 1906	56 '45' 12' 11' 51 53' 38' 30' 35' 34' 35	Occasional.	02-5
		due to tiny size.	
Evious prusites Jordan and Scale, 190	81 '6	Occasional, but no doubt more common; difficult to detect	SI-E
Eviota prasina (Klunžinger, 1871)	61 't1	Two specimens collected with rotenone.	\$-0
Eviola pellucida Larson, 1976	4-6' 9' 16-18' 51 53' 52 33' 36' 34	Common.	3-50
SPECIES	SHE RECORDS	JANMANAAW	Inthe Los into

Islands

during the

Valenciennea randalli Hocse and Larson, 1994	2' 16-18' 51' 55' 51' 58' 31' 33' 38	Occasional.	06-8
Valenciennea puellaris (Tomiyama, 1936)	3° 12° 16° 55° 53° 51-33° 39° 38	Occasional.	5-30
Valenciennea parva Hoese and Larson, 1994	51, 52, 30	Occasional.	SI-1
Valenciennea muralis (Valenciennes, 1837)	16, 31, 33	Occasional.	SI-1
1861 (gnoY iN sutatusanin nonnoise)	3	Rare, about 10 seen.	£-0.
Valenciennea bella Hoese and Larson, 1994	11, 18, 33, 31	Occasional on flat rubble bottoms between 20-30 m depth.	15-32
	<u>76 '16</u>		
Trimma tevegae Cohen and Davis, 1969	4' 9' 6' 12' 13' 18' 51' 55' 54' 52'	Moderately common.	St-8
Trimma striata (Herre, 1945)	31	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	5-52
(Vimma sp. 5 (DFH sp. 18)	51 [°] 34	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	08-30
1 .qs ommi d	51	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	2-50
E. qe namiri	51	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	'ST-8
lrimma sp. 2 (DFH sp. 36)	51° 31	Several specimens collected with rotenone.	8-40
I.qs pmmiri	51' 53' 54' 31' 35	Occasional, also collected with rotenone at Sites 21 and 22.	4.20
Trimma rubromaculata Allen and Munday, 1995	31	Rare, about 10 seen in 20 m depth.	\$£*07
Fimma naudei Smith, 1956	51	Several collected with rotenone.	2-30
Vimma griffihsi Winterbottom, 1984	6, 24, 25, 32	Occasional.	20-40
Trimma grammistes (Tomiyama, 1936)	4	Rarely seen, but common in 30 m depth at one site.	01-51
l'rimma caesiura (Jordan and Seale, 1906)	12-18' 51' 55' 51' 30' 31' 34	Occasional.	5~13
-ds sλημοιμολημο	<u>ee</u>	Rare, one seen.	15-53
Tomiyamichthys oni (Tomiyama, 1936)	30, 33	Rare, 3-4 pairs seen, but sand habitat insufficiently surveyed.	56-01
Stonogobiops nematodes Hoese and Randall, 1982	31	Rare, only one seen.	52-01
Signigobius biocellanus Hoese and Allen, 1977	4' 8' 15' 14' 12' 16' 51' 58' 33	Occasional.	7-30
		unicates living on a bare sand slope in 18 m depth.	A Contractor
		habits; observed specimens were commensal on stalked	
9291 , dime poidmossom pyoisoruol9	31	Rare, only a few seen, but difficult to detect due to cryptic	06-6
		cryptic habits.	
Pleurosicya labiata (Weber, 1913)	82	Rare, only a few seen, but difficult to detect due to	3-52
Phyllogobius platycephalops (Smith, 1964)	82'12'1	Occasional.	81-2
		cryptic habits.	
Paragobiodon echinocephalus Rüppell, 1830	çe	Rare, only one seen, but difficult to detect due to	71 3
		present in Lake Cayangan.	
andaka pygmaea Herre, 1927	23° 31' 30	Moderately common, confined to mangrove habitat; also	0.2
		.sudsd Band-dwelling habits.	en huga sa na kaza
(721) (721) (721) (721) (721) (721) (721) (721)	Π 'S	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	5-52
SPECIES	SILE KECOKDS	PRONDANCE	ในปี เป็นสุสภา

$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	(4481 animit (Schlegel and Müller, 1844)	8E .7E .8E .EE EI .01-1	Moderately common.	08-1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Siganus virgatus (Valenciennes, 1835)	88-61_01-6	Common, the most abundant siganid in the Calamianes.	57.72
Signue syntau diversion antigue (Ponscore, 1783) $1, 2, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3,$			near shore.	
Systems or nuclear array and the contrained standard (Paylair, 1847) $1, 21, 24, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50$	(8271, enaber (Linnaeus, 1758)	t£ '18-62 't2-22 '81 '\$1 '01-8 '€ '1	Moderately common in shallow wave-affected areas	z1-1
Maintenium avegating (Pointanue Samith, 1782) 5.5,1,23,35 Occasional, Inter or property surveyed due to state, a single pair score in 25 m depth on sand slope. 1.5,1,24,34 Vanderbarvata mereta (Pointanout, 1973) 1,2,1,24,34 Occasional, Inter or property surveyed due to surveyed due to surveyeto surveyed surveyeto surveyeto surveyeto surveyeto surve	Siganus punctatissimus Fowler and Rean, 1929	5 4' 9' 12' 12' 12' 50' 58' 31' 38	Occasional.	05-5
Signute consultants (Procedim Remeasing, 1974) 5,5,1,28,30 Occasional, Interferent in 200 in 25, 1,24,30 Occasional, Interferent in 25 in depth on sand slope. 1,24,0 Vinteriorum angle signiful to consoner, 1783) 1,2,1,24,30 0,2,1,24,34 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,1,25,37,37 5,2,3,33 0,2,2,30 5,2,3,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,33 5,5,5,5,33 5,5,5,5,33 5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5 5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,	Signus guntatus (Bloch, 1787)	<u> </u>	Rare, about five seen.	<u>51-1</u>
Weinscience strigtly (Borscone, 1882) 1, 21, 23, 20, 21, 23, 20, 21, 23, 20, 21, 23, 20, 21, 23, 20, 21, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23	Siganus corallinus (Valenciennes, 1835)	17 17 3, 13, 20 24	Occasional.	\$Z-\$
Segments and for the first (173) $5.1, 51, 59, 53, 50$ Occasional 1.35 Vanderinentee as straid (Phytic, 1867) $5.1, 51, 59, 53, 50$ Cocasional in continue as straid of phytic, 1867) $5.1, 50, 51, 59, 53, 50$ Vanderinente as straid (Phytic, 1867) $5.1, 59, 53, 53$ Cocasional in an properly surveyed due to sand decelling labits. 5.40 Vanderinente as straid macrons (Forskill, 1775) $5.1, 59, 53, 53, 53, 53, 53, 53, 53, 53, 53, 53$			pə&əлms	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Siganus canaliculatus (Park, 1797)	37 33	Occasional, but typical seagrass habitat insufficiently	05-0
SiGANIDAE 3, 3, 1, 29, 32, 33 Occasional 1, 21, 24, 34 Whencienteed stright (Processet, 1782) 1, 21, 24, 33 Occasional 1, 21, 24, 34 Whencienteed stright (Brotscenet, 1782) 1, 21, 24, 33 Occasional 1, 24, 24, 35 Whencientee stright (Brotscenet, 1782) 1, 21, 24, 33 Occasional 4, 20 Whencientee stright (Brotscenet, 1867) 1, 21, 24, 33 Occasional, but of properly surveyed due to sand dwelling habits. 4, 20 Whencientee stright of stright a group of free stright (Brotscenet, 1973) 2, 1, 24, 29, 32, 33 Occasional, but of properly surveyed due to sand dwelling habits. 4, 20 Whencientee stright of stright a group of free stright (Brotscenet, 1852) 3, 17, 24, 29, 32, 33, 30 Occasional, but on sect. 2, 15 Plance borers intercopied (Brotscer, 1853) 1, 21, 24, 20, 31, 33, 0 Occasional, but on sect. 1, 20 Plance borers intercopied (Brotscer, 1857) 3, 17, 24, 29, 31, 33 Occasional, but on sect. 1, 20 Plance borers intercopied (Brotscer, 1857) 3, 17, 24, 29, 31, 33 Occasional, but on sect. 1, 20 Plance borers intercopied (Brotscer, 1857) 3, 17, 24, 29, 31, 35 Occasional, but on sect. 2, 15 Plance borers intercopied (Brotscer, 1857)	Signmus argenteus (Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)	1 4' 1' 6' 13' 50' 54	Occasional.	P-30
Planterionnee arrgaut (Phytiar, 1867) 3, 3, 1, 24, 25, 35, 35, 35, 35, 35, 35, 35, 35, 35, 3	HVGINVOIS		нама усто славанны на само с положится видаль с положими на устории и воду с положится сладущих у налижи и на начиние положится на	
Metricrimere avuel (Parlan, 1382) 2,5,5,2,5,2,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5,5	Platax teira (Forsskål, 1775)	ł	Rare, only one seen.	01-1
Pidencienneu drugnu (Broussoner, 1782) 1, 2, 4, 14, 18, 20, 21, 23, 23, 35 Occasional 1, 25 Videncienneu drugnu (Broussoner, 1867) 3, 12, 24, 34 Occasional 1, 25 Videncienneu drugnu (Broussoner, 1872) 1, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand slope. 15, 24, 40 Videncienneu wurdt (Playfair, 1867) 31, 31, 32 Sare, but not properly surveyed due to sand dwelling labhis. 2, 6 Videncienneu wurdt (Playfair, 1974) 31, 32, 33, 33 Sare, but not properly surveyed due to sand dwelling labhis. 2, 6 Videncienneu wurdt (Playfair, 1974) 31, 33 Sare, and dwelling labhis. 2, 56 Videncienneu wurdt (Playfair, 1974) 31, 32, 33, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand dwelling labhis. 2, 56 Videncienneu wurdt (Playfair, 1974) 31, 32, 33, 33 Sare, and dwelling labhis. 2, 56 Videncienneu eriter, 1978 31, 31, 33, 34 Moderately surveyed due to sand dwelling labhis. 2, 56 Videncienneu eriter, 1953) 1, 51, 52, 33, 35 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand slope. 1, 20 Videncientie retroprier (Playfair, 1953) 1, 51, 52, 33, 35 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand slope. 1, 20 Videncins filteropr		86 '9£	anna	
Planax orbitration de stregation (Foreskin, 1775) 5, 5, 1, 24, 25 Occasional. 1, 25 Planax orbitration de finascone, 1782) 1, 21, 24 Occasional. 1, 25 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1775) 2, 1, 24, 24 Same, a single pair scen in 25 m depth on sand slope. 15, 40 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1782) 1, 21, 24, 24 Same, a single pair scen in 25 m depth on sand slope. 15, 40 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1782) 21, 35, 33, 33 Occasional. 420 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1987) 17, 24, 29, 35, 33 Occasional. 420 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1987) 11, 25, 28, 31 Occasional. 420 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1987) 16, 18, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 420 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1987) 16, 18, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 420 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1987) 16, 18, 21, 29, 28, 31 0ccasional. 420 Valenciennez arrigation (Foreskin, 1987) 16, 21, 20, 21, 20, 31, 33, 34 0ccasional. 420 Valencienter arrige pairie 10, 00 for secon. 5, 43 20 Valencienter arrin (Interenez, 1987) 5, 43, 25, 34, 35 <t< td=""><td>(8271, subsential) sutanting xatal</td><td>1, 2, 4, 14, 18, 20, 21, 23, 24, 35,</td><td>Occasional, the most common battlish in the Calamians.</td><td>SC*1</td></t<>	(8271, subsential) sutanting xatal	1, 2, 4, 14, 18, 20, 21, 23, 24, 35,	Occasional, the most common battlish in the Calamians.	SC*1
Wilencienned strigdu (Natencienned and Valencienned Strigdu (Natencienned Strig	Platax orbicularis (Forsskål, 1775)	6	Rare, a group of five fish seen.	08-1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			5-15 fisht a group of 15 subadults seen at Site 21.	
EPHIPPIDAEVelocienter artigui d'houssoner, 1832)5,1,2,4,20Occasional6-50Velocienter artigui d'houssoner, 1832)5,1,2,2,2,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3,3	Platax boersi Bleeker, 1852	13, 21, 28, 31	Occasional, usually in small groups containing about	1-30
Pereferentied argandal (Valuaconde, 1782)3, 2, 1, 2, 4, 35Occasional.1, 25Videnciented argandal (Naluaconde, 1782)2,1, 24, 23, 33, 34Occasional.1, 25Videnciented argandal mercelum (Portaconde, 1977)3, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.1, 15, 40Videnciented arganda mercelum (Portaconde, 1977)3, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.1, 15, 40Videnciented arganda mercelum (Portaconde, 1977)8, 21, 29, 32, 33, 33Moderately common.1, 25, 30Videnciented arganda mercelum (Portaconde, 1977)3, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.1, 10Videnciented arganda mercelum (Portaconde, 1974)31, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Moderately common.1, 15Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.4, 20Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.1, 10Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.1, 12, 40Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.1, 12, 40Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 17, 24, 29, 33, 34Occasional.1, 12, 40Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1987)51, 45, 24, 29, 35, 33361, 101, 15, 40Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 11, 24, 29, 35, 33, 340ccasional.1, 101, 15Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 11, 24, 29, 35, 33, 340ccasional.1, 101, 15Videnciented arganda (Portaconde, 1974)31, 15, 24, 29, 33, 340	ернерок		на на парт на порядели и продели	
Pereference average figure (Fourmanoir, 1957) 5,5,5,4,5,5 Occasional 1,35 Valenciennea strigata (Fourmanoir, 1957) 2,5,4,5,4,5,5 Occasional 1,35 Valenciennea strigata (Fourmanoir, 1957) 1,21,34 Occasional 1,35 Valenciennea strigata (Fourmanoir, 1957) 3,17,24,39 3,17,24,39 1,35 Vanderhorstia methensi Klausowitz, 1974 21,33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 4,20 Vanderhorstia methensi Klausowitz, 1973 5,6,8,14,16,19 21,33,34 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 2,6 Vanderhorstia methensi Klausowitz, 1973 31,33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 2,6 Vanderhorstia methensi Klausowitz, 1973 31,33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 2,6 Vanderhorstia methensi Klausowitz, 1974 31,33 37,33 36 3,40 Vanderhorstia methensi Klausowitz, 1973 31,33 0ccasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 1,26 Nanderhorstia methensi Klausowitz, 1974 31,33 38 0ccasional, but not properly surveyed due to 5,24 2,66 Nanderhorstia methensi Kleure, 1953 3,4	Prevelentris herevopreva (Bleeker, 1855)	SE	Rare, only one seen in 20 m depth.	-05*9
Valencienned strgati (Broussone, 1782) 5,5,1,72,24,50 Occasional. 1,25,24,50 Valencienned strgati (Broussone, 1782) 5,5,1,22,24,50 Occasional. 1,25,24,50 Valencienned strgati (Broussone, 1782) 21, 24, 20 Occasional. 1,25,24,50 Valencienned strrgati (Broussone, 1782) 21, 23, 33, 33 Occasional. 1,25,40 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 8, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 1,20,50 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 8, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 4,20 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 8, 21, 32 31, 33 Moderately common. 15,40 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 51, 33 Occasional. but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 1,20 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 51, 33 Occasional. but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 1,21, 24, 25, 33, 33 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 51, 32, 33 Occasional. but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 1,21, 24, 24, 25 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 51, 33 Moderately common. 20 5,24 Vanderhovsta ambanov (Fourmanoti, 1957) 51, 33 <td< td=""><td>Preveleotris hanae (Jordan and Snyder, 1901)</td><td>16, 18, 21, 26, 27, 30, 31, 33, 34</td><td>Occasional.</td><td>3-43</td></td<>	Preveleotris hanae (Jordan and Snyder, 1901)	16, 18, 21, 26, 27, 30, 31, 33, 34	Occasional.	3-43
Valenciemed systemed filtoussonet, 1782) 3, 5, 12, 24, 55 Occasional 1, 25 Valenciemed systemed filtoussonet, 1782) 1, 21, 34 Occasional 1, 25 Valenciemed systemed filtoussonet, 1782) 1, 21, 34 Occasional 1, 25 Valenciemed wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 5, 12, 24, 33 Occasional 1, 25 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 8, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand dwelling habits. 4, 20 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 8, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 8, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 5, 21, 32, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 8, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 5, 21, 23, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 5, 14, 16, 19, 24, 29, 31, 38 Moderately common 4, 20 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 5, 14, 16, 19, 24, 29, 31, 38 <td>Ptereleotris evides (Jordan and Hubbs, 1925)</td> <td>0£ 67 17 L1 'E</td> <td>Occasional</td> <td>5-12</td>	Ptereleotris evides (Jordan and Hubbs, 1925)	0£ 67 17 L1 'E	Occasional	5-12
Valenciemed systemed in (Bayfair, 1867) 5, 5, 12, 24, 55 Occasional 1, 25 Valenciemed systemed in (Bayfair, 1867) 2, 5, 12, 24, 55 Occasional 1, 25 Valenciemed wordi (Playfair, 1867) 2, 5, 12, 24, 55 Occasional 1, 25 Vanderhorstia ambarovo (Fourmanoir, 1957) 8, 21, 29, 32, 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to sand dwelling habits. 4, 20 Vanderhorstia merfensi Klausewitz, 1974 21, 32 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia merfensi Klausewitz, 1974 21, 32 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia merfensi Klausewitz, 1974 21, 32 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia merfensi Klausewitz, 1974 21, 32 33 Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia merfensi Klausewitz, 1974 21, 32 33 Moderately surveyed due to 4, 20 Vanderhorstia merfensi Klausewitz, 1974 21, 32 33 Moderately common. 1, 20 2, 25 Vanderhorstia merfensi Klausewitz, 1974 21, 32 33 Moderately common. 1, 20 2, 25 Vanderhorsti	Parioglossus palustris (Herre, 1945)	W	Rarely seen, but common in mangroves at one site.	0-5
Valenciemed systemed systemed (Parocelemics, 1857) 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5	Сштейский ситеяня Dawson, 1968	01	Rare, only one seen.	5:30
Valencienned sexguindu (valencienned sexguindu (valencienned sexguindu (valencienned sexguindu (valencienned sexguindu (valencienned i 1382)) 5, 21, 34 0006636001 1, 25 Valencienned sexguindu (valencienned i 1382) 1, 21, 34 000636001 1, 25 1, 25 Valencienned sexguindu (valencienned i 1867) 3, 5, 12, 34, 33 000636001 1, 25 1, 25 Valencienned valui (Playlair, 1867) 21, 32 33, 33 000636001 1, 240 4, 20 Valencienned valui (Playlair, 1974) 21, 32 32, 33 00031 1, 25 4, 20 Valencienned valui (Playlair, 1974) 21, 32 32, 33 00031 1, 25 4, 20 Valencienned valui (Playlair, 1974) 21, 32 32, 33 00031 1, 25 4, 20 Valderhorvila neurooro (Pountanoir, 1957) 21, 32 32, 33 000031 4, 20 2, 4 Valderhorvila neurooro (Pountanoir, 1974) 21, 32 21, 32 2, 5 2, 5 2, 5 Valderhorvila neurooro (Pountanoir, 1974) 21, 32 21, 32 2, 5 2, 5 2, 5 Valderhorvila neurooro (Pountania neuro) 1, 20 2, 3 2, 4 2, 4 2, 4 2, 4<	7801 ozent bin Rennis and Hoese, 1987	2' 9' 8' 11' 19' 16' 51-56' 31' 38	Moderately common.	SI-I
Valencienned sexguindu (Valencienne, 1827) 52, 54, 55 Occasional. 1,25 Valencienned sexguindu (Valencienne, 1827) 1,21, 34, 55 Occasional. 1,25 Valencienned sexguindu (Valencienne, 1827) 21, 32, 33, 33 Occasional. 1,25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 31 21, 32, 33, 33 0ccasional. 1,25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32, 33, 33 Occasional. 1,25 4,20 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32, 33, 33 Occasional. 1,25 20 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 32, 33 0ccasional. 1,25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 32, 33 0ccasional. 1,25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 32, 33 0ccasional. 1,25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 32, 33 0ccasional. 1,25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 32, 33 0ccasional. 1,25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 21, 32 25 26 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 21, 32 26	AICRODESMIDVE			
Valencienned sexguindid (valenciennee, 182) 5, 5, 12, 24, 55 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned single differented striggtad (Broussoner, 1782) 1, 21, 34 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned striggtad (Broussoner, 1782) 1, 21, 34 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 33 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 33 Occasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 31 0ccasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 33 0ccasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 32, 33 0ccasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 32, 33 0ccasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 33 0ccasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1974) 21, 32 33 0ccasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 34 0ccasional. 4,00 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21, 32 21, 32 36 36	9201 , dime some sentence of the sentence of t	II.	Rare, but not properly surveyed due to sand dwelling habits.	07-1
Valencienned sexguindii (Valencienne, 1827) 53, 54, 55 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned sixguindii (Valencienne, 1782) 1, 21, 34 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned singula (Broussoner, 1782) 1, 21, 34 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 1, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 1, 29, 33, 33 Occasional. 1, 20 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 1, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 1, 20 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 1, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 1, 20 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 1, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 1, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 1, 25 Valencienned wordi (Playfair, 1867) 3, 1, 29, 32, 33 Occasional. 1, 26 Vanderhorvalu Vanveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 2, 6 2, 6 Vanderhorvalu Vanveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 2, 56 2, 6 Vanderhorvalu Vanveyed due to sand-dwelling habits. 2, 56 2, 55			stidsh gnillowb-buse	an a
Valenciennea sexguindu (Valenciennes, 1857) 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5	Vanderhorstia mertensi Klausewitz, 1974	<u>51/</u> 35	Occasional, but not properly surveyed due to	17.5
Valenciennea sexgunda (Valenciennes, 1557) 5, 5, 12, 24, 55 Occasional. 1, 25 Valenciennea surgata (Broussoner, 1782) 1, 21, 34 Occasional. 1, 25 Valenciennea wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21 3, 31, 24, 33 0ccasional. Valenciennea wordi (Playfair, 1867) 21 33, 33 0ccasional. Valenciennea moro (Fournanovi (Flayfair, 1867) 21 6, 20, 32, 33 4, 20	8701 , Ewesigener Vandorva hisrorhabmov	tr	Rare, but not properly surveyed due to sand-dwelling habits.	9-7
Valenciennea sexgundu (Valenciennes, 1537) 5, 5, 12, 24, 55 Occasional. Valenciennea surgata (Broussoner, 1782) 1, 21, 24 0 Valenciennea wardi (Playfair, 1867) 21 Rare, a single pair scen in 25 m depth on sand slope.	Vanderhorstia ambanoro (Pournanoir, 1957)	8' 11' 16' 37' 33	Occasional.	02-7
Adjencienned sexgnindid (Americennes, 1857) 1, 21, 24 Occasional 1-25	Valenciennea wardi (Playfair, 1867)	31	Rare, a single pair seen in 25 m depth on sand slope.	01-51
Adjeucienned sexsundid (valenciennes, 1857) (C.C. 45, 25	Valenciennea strigata (Broussonet, 1782)	W. 12'1	Occasional.	52-1
	Valenciennea sexguitata (Valenciennes, 1837)	3' 2' 15' 54' 32	Occasional.	01-1
SPECIES SPECIES ABUNDANCE DEPTH (m)	<u>SPECIES</u>	SILE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)

CONSERVATION INTERNATIONAL

		individuals encountered.	
Rastrelliger kanagurta (Cuvier, 1816)	2	Rately seen, but one school containing at least one hundred	0.30
(Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)			
supənilid sunyərətmasıD	6*8	Rare, four individuals seen.	10-40
SCOMBRIDAE			
Sphyraena flavicauda Rüppell, 1838	4° 11' 39	Occassional, usually in schools of up to 100 fish.	1-30
Sphyraena barracuda (Walbaum, 1792)	14° 50° 31° 38	Rare, only 5-6 seen.	07-1
Sphyraena acutipinnis Day, 1876	8' 6' 58' 35	Occasional.	SZ-1
SPHYRAENIDAE			
Zebrasoma veliferum Bloch, 1797	2'8' 14' 12'18' 31	Occasional.	4-30
		but occasional elsewhere.	
Zebrasoma scopas Cuvier, 1829	1-4' 9-10' 13' 30' 33	Common on NE side of Busuanga and offshore islands,	09-1
Naso unicornis Forszkål, 1775	9° 1' 12° 11' 33° 33° 38° 30° 33° 39	Occasional.	08-7
(300 (300 (300 (300 (300 (300 (300 (300	3	Rately observed, one school containing about 50 fish seen.	05-01
Naso lopezi Herre, 1927	E	Rarely observed, one school containing about 20 fish seen.	02-9
Naso lituratus (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	5 4' 1-10' 15-53' 58-31' 32	Moderately common.	06-5
Clenochaetus striatus (Quoy and Gaimard, 1824)	SE '+E '1E-EI '01-9 '+ 1	Common, the most abundant surgeonfish in the Calamians.	5.30
Ctenochaetus binotatus Randall, 1955	1-4' 9' 10' 13-51' 56' 30' 34-39' 38	Conunon.	\$\$-01
Acanthurus xanthopterus Valenciennes, 1835	y show the second s	Rare, a few subadults scen	065
Commune trioslegus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1' 6 10' 12 12 8 21 24' 36' 31' 3	Moderately common in wave-affected shallows near shore	06.0
		offshore íslands.	
Acamburus pyroferus Kimhiz, 1834	SE '72 '9' 10' 13' 14' 23' 38	Occasional, more common on NE side of Busuanga and	09**
Acamburus olivaceus Bloch and Schneider, 1801	<u>, 2' 10</u>	Rare, about eight seen.	Str-S
Acamburus nigrovis Valenciennes, 1835	10' 12' 50' 55' 53' 30' 31	Occasional.	06-1
Acunthurus nigrofuscus (Forsekål, 1775)	1' 5' 1' 6' 10' 13' 14' 55' 32	Occasional.	5~50
Acanthurus nigricaudus Duncker and Mohr, 1929	12, 26, 30	Occasional.	3-30
Acanthurus mata (Cuvier, 1829)	4' (' 3 1' 38	Occasional, mostly juveniles or subadults seen.	08-30
	56-11-34-32		
Acanthurus lineatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1-3' 1' 6' 10' 13-12' 11' 18' 50 54'	Moderately common in wave affected shallows near shore.	SI-E
Acamhurus japonicus (Fowler, 1936)	3' 3' 10' 12' 11' 50' 53' 31	. Occasional.	01-£
Acamhurus blochi Valenciennes, 1835	10' 14' 12' 73' 30	Occasional.	3-50
ACANTHURIDAE		антанан калан к	
Zanchus cornutus Linnaeus, 1758	1-1 9-10 15 35 31-39 38	Common.	081*1
ZVACI/IDAF			
SPECIES		VBDUDDACE	DEVIH

с.

9. G

		Acropora plate.	
Venturon caeruleopunciatus Matsuura, 1994	38	Rare, one large adult seen shehering under an	DL 1
I.E.L.KVODOMLIDVE		() () () () () () () () () () () () () (
Ostracion solorensis Blecker, 1853	T.	Kare, only seen.	X-1
Ostracion meleagris Shaw, 1796	2' 3' L' 10' 13' 18	Occasional.	02-30
Ostracion cubicus Linnaeus, 1758	15 15 36 51 6 8 9 6 1	Densistration	0r-L
OSTRACHDAE			
(ТСӨТ этэН) гитьтіочзіп годогод	D1	Rare, only an adult pair seen.	5-12
Pervagor melanocephalus (Blocket, 1853)	re we we	Rare, only four seen.	07-01
Pervagor junthinosoma (Blecker, 1854)	e 13' 11' 50' 51' 53	()ccasional.	
Paramonacanthus japonicus (Tilesius, 1801)	<u> </u>	Rare, only one seen.	Υ
Paraluleres prionurus (Blecker, 1851)	87.01.8 €	Rare, about six seen.	3:32
Bloch and Schneider, 1801	an a		Alter Steel Street Street
sintsonignol sultanomyxO	12.16-1	Moderately common at Tara Island, rare elsewhere.	i.
	TE 15		
Camberines fronticinctus (Günther, 1866)	1-3" 8-10" 13' 17' 17' 17' 30' 35-54'	Janoisacco .	በታ-ፖ
(1, :• ·. , spdoss sosubuly	3' t' 6' 13' 13' '31' '35' '34' 31	Occasional	(57×C
Acreichthys tomentosus (Linnaeus, 1758)	86-96 '87 '97 '77 '61	Occassional	
MONACANTHIDAE	······		
Sufflamen fraenatus (Latreille, 1804)	6	Kare, only one seen.	OP-ST
	53' 54' 58-31' 34-39	triggerfish in the Calamans.	
Sufflamen chrysoptera (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	3' 9' 2' 6' 10' 14' 12' 17' 30' 37'	Moderately commo	Cir-I
Sufflamen bursa (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	95 77 01 06 2 77 39	Occasional.	16-5
Rhinecanthus vervucosus (Linnaeus, 1758)	8 6 15 14 19 51 56 31 38	Occasional	
Rhinecanthus rectangulus (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	15 21 20 10 19 31	Occasional	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Rhinecanthus acuteatus (Lumaeus, 1/28)	18, 24	Rare, only four seen.	6-0
Pseudobalistes flavimarginatus (Rüppell, 1828)	~1107 12 61 11 51 51 8 1	Occasional.	0617
Odonus niger Rüppell, 1836	*C'01'6	Occessional.	OB-F
	53' 56' 58' 30' 31' 38' 38	triggerfish in the Calautans.	
Balistoides viridescens (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	1' 3' 3' 6' 10' 14' 13' 13' 13' 13' 55'	Moderately common, the second most abundant	Ct+C
Balistoides conspicillum (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	5	Kare, one adult seen.	00-01
		slands, but rarely seen clsewhere.	
Balistopus undulatus (Park, 1797)	17 法部務 第 6 1 1	Moderately common on NE Busuanga and offshore	0 6- 5
Abalistes stellatus (Lacepède, 1798)		Rare, one adult and several juveniles seen.	071-01
BALISTIN	·····		Mar P. S. P.
SPECIES	SILE RECORDS	VRONDVACE	DESIH (m)

SPECIES	SITE RECORDS	ABUNDANCE	DEPTH (m)
Arothron hispidus (Linnacus, 1758)	32, 36	Rare, two adults seen.	1-50
Arothron munilensis (de Proce, 1822)	22, 37, 38	Rare, three adults seen.	1-20
Arothron mappa (Lesson, 1830)	4, 15, 16, 20	Rare, four adults seen.	4-40
Arothron nigropunctatus (Bloch and Schneider, 1801)	1, 4-10, 13-15, 17, 18, 21-29, 32	Moderately common, a few seen on most dives.	2.35
Arothron stellatus (Schneider, 1801)	31 States and State	Rare, one adult seen.	3-58
Canthigaster compressa Proce, 1822.	30	Rare, one seen during night dive.	1-20
Canthigaster solandri (Richardson, 1844)	1-4, 6, 7, 10, 16, 21, 24, 26, 32	Occasional.	1-36
Canthigaster valentini (Blocker, 1853)	1, 3, 12, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20-28,	Occasional.	3-55
	30, 34, 35, 38		
Chelonodon patoca (Hamilton-Buchanan, 1822)	29	Rare, one adult seen in 22 m depth, an unusual record	0.5 (2010) 40 (2010)
		considering it is usually associated with shallow mangrove	
		habitat	

The phylogenetic sequence of the families appearing in this list follows Eschmeyer (Catalog of Fishes, California Academy of Sciences, 08) with slight modification (e.g., placement of Cirrhitidae). Genera and species are arranged alphabetically within cach family.

family, especially if a large family is involved. *Moderately common* - not necessarily seen on most dives, but may be relatively common when the correct habitat conditions are encountered. *Occasional -* infrequently sighted and usually in small numbers, but may be relatively common in a very limited habitat Terms relating to relative abundance are as follows: Abundant - Common at most sites in a variety of habitats with up to several hundred individuals being routinely observed on each dive. Common - seen at the majority of sites in numbers that are relatively high in relation to other members of a particular

Recent Developments (S. A. McKenna)

In June 1998, bleaching occurred on several reefs throughout the Philippines, including reefs in Palawan (Chou, 2000). Some sites that were recommended for protection were briefly revisited over a two-day period in December 2000. The locality of these revisited sites are approximate as no GPS was available. Observations of these reef sites are reported below. Time constraints did not allow follow up visits to the other survey sites.

26. Twin Peak Islands, West Coron Island 12/10/00 Sedimentation stress was evident on the reef with suspended sediment in the water column as well as a layer of sediment covering the reef. Dead coral skeletons of *Porites, Acropora, Pavona*, mussids and fungiids (presumably as a result of bleaching) were overgrown with algae (mostly *Padina*), cyanobacteria, and the encrusting sponge *Terpios* sp. Other noted marine fauna included comb jellies, numerous aggregations (approximately 8) of the black spine sea urchin *Diadema setosum* and a school of Maori wrasse. Evidence of dynamite blasting and cyanide fishing was observed on the south end of the reef (confirmed by local dive shop operators).

38. Siete Pecados Islands, Coron Island/Pinnacles 12/10/00

Sedimentation stress was evident on the reef with suspended sediment in the water column as well as a layer of sediment covering the reef. Dead coral skeletons and reef substrata were overgrown with algae, mostly *Padina* and *Halimeda*. Numerous (approximately 7) aggregations of *Diadema setosum* noted on the reef. Cyanide and blast fishing noted on section of reef near shallows as well.

13. South side of Kalampisauan Island 12/11/00 No dead coral skeletons were observed as with Sites 26 & 38. This is possibly evidence that bleaching was not as extensive here as it was at Sites 26 & 38. Patches of *Padina* algae were only observed inshore (less than 0.5m depth). Other noted flora included cyanobacteria, *Terpios* sp. and red algae.

14. Buluang Bay, Bususanga Island 12/11/00

Large stands of branching *Porites* and *Acropora* skeletons (possibly a result of bleaching) were covered with algae, mostly *Padina* and cyanobacteria. Some overgrowth of the coral skeletons by the encrusting sponge *Terpios* noted as well. *Acropora* species noted to have tumors or neoplasms (calicoblastic epithelioma; see Peters *et al.*, 1986; Coles and Seapy, 1998).

15. West side of Gutob Peninsula, Bususanga Island 12/11/00

Mixed stands of branching *Acropora* and *Porites* skeletons (possibly due to bleaching) were overgrown with *Padina*. Living stands of *Acropora* and *Porites* noted as well with *Padina* growing over some portions of the coral tissue. White band disease was evident on several branching *Acropora* and *Porites*. Numerous blennies and juvenile groupers observed on the reef.

References

- Chou, L. M. 2000. Southeast Asian reefs-status update: Cambodia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam 117-129. In: Wilkinson, C. (ed.). Status of coral reefs of the world: 2000. Cape Ferguson, Australia: Australian Institute of Marine Science.
- Coles, S. L., and D. G. Seapy. 1998. Ultra-violet absorbing compounds and tumorous growths on acroporid corals from Bandar Khayran, Gulf of Oman, Indian Ocean. Coral Reefs 17(2): 195-198.
- Peters, E. C., J. C. Halas, and H. B. McCarty. 1986. Calicoblastic neoplasms in *Acropora palmata*, with a review of reports on anomalies of growth and form in corals. Journal of National Cancer Institute 76(5): 895-912.



·

A Rapid Marine Biodiversity Assessment of the Calamianes Islands, Palawan Province, Philippines

- 4 Participants
- 5 Organizational Profiles
- 6 Acknowledgments
- 7 Executive Summary
- 10 Overview
- 24 Technical Reports
- 65 Appendices
- 129 Map

Conservation International (CI) believes that the Earth's natural heritage must be maintained if future generations are to thrive spiritually, culturally and economically.

Our mission is to conserve the Earth's living heritage, our global biodiversity, and to demonstrate that human societies are able to live harmoniously with nature.



CONSERVATION INTERNATIONAL

1919 M Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DC 20037 T 202.912.1000 F 202.912.0772 www.conservation.org



Palawan Council for Sustainable Development

